MEDICAL PHYSICS International

History of Medical Ultrasound - Part II Editorial History of Medical Ultrasound – Introduction History of Medical Ultrasound – Imaging The Diasonograph Story Hewlett Packard- Innovations that Transformed Diagnostic Ultrasound Imaging History of Doppler Ultrasound History of HIFU Therapy Appendix: Diasonograph





The Journal of the International Organization for Medical Physics Special Issue 6, May 2021



MPI

MEDICAL PHYSICS INTERNATIONAL

THE JOURNAL OF

THE INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION FOR MEDICAL PHYSICS



MEDICAL PHYSICS INTERNATIONAL Journal, Special Issue, History of Medical Physics 6, 2021

MEDICAL PHYSICS INTERNATIONAL

The Journal of the International Organization for Medical Physics

Aims and Coverage:

Medical Physics International (MPI) is the official IOMP journal. The journal provides a new platform for medical physicists to share their experience, ideas and new information generated from their work of scientific, educational and professional nature. The e- journal is available free of charge to IOMP members.

MPI Co-Editors in Chief

Slavik Tabakov, IOMP Past-President (2018-2021), IOMP President (2015-2018), UK

Perry Sprawls, Atlanta, USA

Editorial Board

KY Cheung, IUPESM Previous President (2018-2021), IOMP President (2012-2015), Hong Kong, China

Madan Rehani, IOMP President (2018-2021), Boston, USA

John Damilakis, IOMP Vice-President (2018-2021), EFOMP Past-President, Greece

Eva Bezak, IOMP Secretary General (2019-2021), Australia

Ibrahim Duhaini, IOMP Treasurer (2018-2021), MEFOMP Past-President, Lebanon

Geoffrey Ibbott, IOMP Scientific Com Chair (2018-2021), Texas, USA

Paulo Russo, IOMP Publication Com Chair (2018-2021), Italy

Yakov Pipman, IOMP PRC Chair (2018-2021), New York, USA

Arun Chougule, IOMP ETC Chair (2018-2021), AFOMP President, India

Simone Kodlulovich Renha, IOMP Awards Committee Chair (2018-2021), ALFIM Past President, Brazil

Taofeeq Ige, FAMPO President, Nigeria

Marco Brambilla, EFOMP President, Italy

Anchali Krisanachinda, SEAFOMP Past President, Thailand

Renato Padovani, EFOMP Past Secretary General, ICTP, Italy

Colin Orton, IOMP Previous President (2000-2003), AAPM Past-President, Michigan, USA

Magdalena Stoeva, IOMP Chair Medical Physics World Board (2015-2021), Bulgaria

Medical Physics History Project Editors: Slavik Tabakov, Perry Sprawls and Geoffrey Ibbott

Technical Editors: Magdalena Stoeva & Asen Cvetkov, Bulgaria

Editorial Assistant: Vassilka Tabakova, UK

MPI web address: www.mpijournal.org

Published by: The International Organization for Medical Physics (IOMP), web address: www.iomp.org ; post address: IOMP c/o IPEM, 230 Tadcaster Road, York YO24 1ES, UK.

Copyright ©2013 International Organisation Medical Physics. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored, transmitted or disseminated in any form, or by any means, without prior permission from the Editors-in-Chief of the Journal, to whom all request to reproduce copyright material should be directed in writing.

All opinions expressed in the Medical Physics International Journal are those of the respective authors and not the Publisher. The Editorial Board makes every effort to ensure the information and data contained in this Journal are as accurate as possible at the time of going to press. However IOMP makes no warranties as to the accuracy, completeness or suitability for any purpose of the content and disclaim all such representations and warranties whether expressed or implied.

ISSN 2306 - 4609

CONTENTS

Contents	
EDITORIAL	554
Slavik Tabakov, Perry Sprawls and Geoffrey Ibbott	
A HISTORY OF MEDICAL ULTRASOUND PHYSICS: PART II INTRODUCTION	555
Francis Duck	
HISTORY OF MEDICAL ULTRASOUND	557
WN McDicken and CM Moran	
THE DIASONOGRAPH STORY	565
Tony Whittingham	
HEWLETT PACKARD - INNOVATIONS THAT TRANSFORMED DIAGNOSTIC ULTRASOUND	602
IMAGING	
Thomas L. Szabo	
HISTORY OF DOPPLER ULTRASOUND	622
Peter R. Hoskins	
A HISTORY OF HIGH INTENSITY FOCUSED ULTRASOUND (HIFU) THERAPY	643
G.R. ter Haar	
APPENDIX	
THE DIASONOGRAPH STORY	660
Tony Whittingham	
Information for authors	731

EDITORIAL

Slavik Tabakov, Perry Sprawls and Geoffrey Ibbott

MPI Special Issues Co-Editors

This Special Issue dedicated to Medical Physics History includes five new articles from the IOMP History Project. It continues the coverage of the History of Medical Ultrasound. Part II of this history, published here, covers the diagnostic ultrasound imaging, Doppler ultrasound and some therapeutic uses of ultrasound. An interesting part of this Special issue is the description of the difficulties that faced engineers and developers in creating equipment for the healthcare market. This is supported by a case study with the Diasonograph. In order to see the link between this Special Issue and the previous one (also related to Ultrasound), we have re-published here the introduction to the Ultrasound History Part I, made by Dr. Francis Duck, MBE, who coordinated both parts of this Medical Ultrasound History project.

We are very happy to see that the overall popularity of the History Project is growing - each MPI Special Issues has over 10,000 downloads. This is a clear indication of the value that the profession sees in the project. All of the medical physics history articles can be accessed through: http://www.mpijournal.org/history.aspx

The History topics extensively covered in MPI so far include:

Special issue 1- http://www.mpijournal.org/pdf/2018-SI-01/MPI-2018-SI-01.pdf

*X-ray Tubes Development; *Film-Screen Radiography Receptor Development; *History of Medical Physics e-Learning Introduction and First Steps

Special issue 2 - http://www.mpijournal.org/pdf/2019-SI-02/MPI-2019-SI-02.pdf

*Fluoroscopic Technology from 1895 to 2019; *The Scientific and Technological Developments in Mammography;

*Review of the Physics of Mammography

Special issue 3 - http://www.mpijournal.org/pdf/2020-SI-03/MPI-2020-SI-03.pdf

*History of Dental Radiography; *The History of Contrast Media Development in X-Ray Diagnostic Radiology;

*Medical Physics Development in Africa

Special issue 4 - http://www.mpijournal.org/pdf/2020-SI-04/MPI-2020-SI-04.pdf

*A Retrospective of Cobalt-60 Radiation Therapy; *The Many Steps and Evolution in the Development of Computed Tomography; *Medical Physics Development in South-East Asia; *History of Medical Physics Education and Training in Central and Eastern Europe

Special issue 5 - http://www.mpijournal.org/pdf/2021-SI-05/MPI-2021-SI-05.pdf

* Ultrasound – The First Fifty Years; *Measurement of Acoustic Pressure and Intensity Using Hydrophones; * Measurement of Acoustic Power and Intensity Using Radiation Force; *Development of Thermal Methods for Ultrasound Measurement

Additionally, we have published summative papers related to the development of medical physics in the Middle East (A Niroomand-Rad et al, MPI vol.5 No.2, 2017) and in Central America (W Chanta et al, MPI vol.7 No1, 2019). In the MPI Issue of June 2020 we included a paper related to the History of IUPESM. In the coming regular issue of the MPI Journal we include papers describing the MEFOMP activities, etc.

The Content of the Special History Issues of the Medical Physics International (MPI) Journal supports the objective of the History project: to research, organize, preserve, and publish on the evolution and developments of medical physics and clinical applications that are the foundations of our profession.

We welcome contributions of colleagues from all societies, organizations and companies who would like to join the History project with articles on specific topics. We look forward to receiving your suggestions.



Prof. Slavik Tabakov





Prof. Geoffrey Ibbott

A HISTORY OF MEDICAL ULTRASOUND PHYSICS: PART II – INTRODUCTION

Francis Duck

Formerly, University of Bath

Ultrasound scanning now probably contributes at least 30% of all medical imaging worldwide. By 2014, the year that the UK NHS stopped gathering imaging statistics, the number of ultrasound scans in England was approaching ten million, of a total imaging of 43 million, well exceeding the combined totals of CT and MRI. It is a technology that is used far beyond the confines of departments of imaging and radiology. The technology is so ubiquitous that it has been suggested as a replacement for the stethoscope for every junior doctor. How have we reached this astonishing position? First and foremost it is because ultrasound scanning is clinically useful. Many new medical technologies never emerge beyond the headline-grabbing launch phase, and others only find permanent homes in niche areas of medicine. Not only is ultrasound widely diagnostically valuable, it is cost-effective, safe, small-scale and, in particular, it is kind to the patient.

Earlier this year, we presented the first four articles of a history of medical ultrasound physics in a special supplement of Medical Physics International: http://www.mpijournal.org/pdf/2021-SI-05/MPI-2021-SI-05.pdf. These articles formed the first of a series intended to document the contributions of physicists and engineers to the application of ultrasound to clinical medicine. They are part of the broader initiative of the International Organisation of Medical Physics to document the history of medical physics in all its aspects. The first article documented the first fifty years of ultrasound up to 1950, during which time a few pioneers explored its destructive power, and the only serious established medical application was at the end of this period, for therapy. It was a time that encompassed the two world wars, both driving developments in ultrasound that were necessary before medical uses could follow. The remaining three articles in this first supplement cover a central function of most medical physicists, the measurement of radiation. From the earliest years it was necessary to quantify the acoustic power, acoustic intensity and acoustic pressure in the beams being generated by the new ultrasonic transducers. The methods that evolved in the laboratory, using thermometry, radiation force and hydrophones, were given impetus once medical applications emerged. They were used for the measurement of the ultrasonic properties of tissue, for the development and testing therapeutic ultrasound systems, for quantifying high intensities for surgery and finally to ensure safe output from diagnostic ultrasound equipment. These measurement techniques now underpin all medical uses of ultrasound. Manufacturers must ensure calibration and safety, set by international and national standards. National standards laboratories establish reference measurements, cross-calibration honing precision. Medical physicists make measurements to evaluate conformance and stability of output, and to educate clinical colleagues. Modern ultrasonic metrology is based on the slow evolution that is described in these articles.

This second supplement includes five more articles on medical ultrasound, which move the history towards its clinical exploitation. In the first, Norman McDicken and Carmel Moran give a succinct overview of some early developments, which emphasises the unique aspects that were recognised by the early pioneers, namely precise dimensional measurement, an inherent ability to create slice images with a high frame rate and the ability to track structural movements in real-time, all attributes that were challenging to achieve using x-ray imaging at the time. The next two articles take a more detailed look at the difficulties that faced engineers and commercial companies in translating this potential into financially successful equipment. Tony Whittingham gives a detailed historical account of the creation and development of the Diasonograph, a unique ultrasound B-scanner, designed and developed in Scotland, that established ultrasound imaging as an integral part of modern gynaecological and obstetric care. Tom Szabo brings his personal knowledge as a research engineer to the description of the creation of Hewlett Packard's phased array cardiac scanner. Both these accounts record the contributions of the many talented engineers whose design skills broke new ground and continued to innovate. Also, independently, both narratives address the enlightened management approach that created time and finance for an enterprise whose outcome was still uncertain. The fourth article, by Peter Hoskins, takes a look at the history of another aspect of ultrasound, the use of Doppler shift in evaluating haemodynamics in normal and diseased cardiovascular structures. At first separate from imaging, Doppler brought new diagnostic information in the audio Dopplershifted spectrum, and eventually pulsed Doppler opened the door to colour Doppler imaging in which anatomical and physiological information merged. Finally, Gail ter Haar's article is a reminder that, during the same period

of time that saw advances in ultrasound applications for diagnosis and for therapy, challenges were also being met and overcome for exploiting the destructive power of high intensity ultrasound for surgery and ablative therapy

You will find many details of the history of medical ultrasound in these articles that have not been documented elsewhere. Many histories start with the first arrival of an ultrasound instrument in the hands of a creative clinical user, and appropriately celebrate their achievements. Here, we look behind the scenes to those whose prior engineering skills and vision placed new tools in the hands of these clinicians.

I would like to thank Slavik Tabakov most sincerely for his original invitation to participate in this project and his quiet guidance and support in reaching this stage. In addition, may I add my personal thanks to Kevin Martin for his careful editorial scrutiny of these articles, helping to reduce to a minimum the residual errors that can inevitably slip though.

HISTORY OF MEDICAL ULTRASOUND

WN McDicken and CM Moran

Medical Physics, Centre for Cardiovascular Sciences, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, Scotland, UK

I. INTRODUCTION

This section deals with the technology that used single piezoelectric ceramic transducers to obtain information on soft tissues. It also seeks to identify lessons learned from applications as techniques advanced to multi-element array transducers. In the early days, engineering and clinical projects were pursued in universities and companies throughout the world. It is worth remembering that ultrasound technology was developed at the end of the vacuum tube valve era. Stability and reliability were problematic with valve circuitry as was the shear bulk of the instruments. Not surprisingly, digital technology impacted the field in an ever- increasing way.

To explore the very large output of scientific work, use has been made of bibliographies in text books and international conferences proceedings. Several text books with a historical content provide extensive bibliographies of medical ultrasound [1-7]. Reference 3 is a very large cumulative bibliography with 19,453 entries from pre-1950 up to 1978 [3]. These publications also give an appreciation of the large amount of biological research which was a feature of that era. International conferences, although they are selective in content, convey the range and enthusiasm of participants around the world and a flavour of early research both technical and clinical [4]. The internet also provides many scientific papers and excellent reviews but the amount can be overwhelming, but usually worth pursuing. All figures are reproduced from McDicken (1991) [8].

II. A-MODE AND M-MODE SCANNERS

A basic instrument used initially in medical ultrasound was called an A-scanner. With this type of unit, a single piezoelectric ceramic transducer was employed to transmit a short pulse of ultrasound, typically 2 or 3 cycles in length, along a narrow directional beam into the body. After transmission, this unit then quickly switched to a reception mode using the same transducer to detect echoes from targets of interest. The very high speed of ultrasound in tissue resulted in a rapid collection of echo data e.g. in 130 microseconds for a target at a depth in tissue of 10 cm. This rapid data collection is central to all pulse imaging techniques which can therefore operate at high frame rates. High frame rates are a very valuable feature of medical ultrasound. Using an average speed of sound in soft tissue of 1540 m/sec to calibrate scanners gives acceptable errors for range measurement in virtually all clinical applications.

There were a large number of A-scan instruments available in the 1960s since in the engineering industry they were manufactured for detecting echoes from flaws in engineering components – they often went by the name of 'flaw detectors'. They were basically oscilloscopes with a pulse generator and receiver added. Part of the folklore of ultrasound is that engineering apprentices immersed their feet in buckets of water and used the flaw detectors to detect their bones. A few clinical applications were developed for example measurement of shift of the brain midline due to head injury or measurement of eye-ball length (Figure 1).



Fig. 1 An A-scan trace from the head. The echoes from the midbrain are positioned between the strong echoes from the skull. An A-scan trace from the eye shows cornea and lens echoes on the left and orbital echoes on the right.

A-scanners are no longer purchased as stand-alone clinical instruments. Pioneering applications of engineering in medicine were often not complex but were difficult to interpret. The A-scan facility remained a feature of imaging machines for around 30 years and were widely used to make biparietal diameter measurements in obstetrics. It was felt that greater accuracy of measurement could be obtained with it rather than with a B-scan image. High quality image storage displays had still to be incorporated into scanners.

The A-scan mode was considered to be safe for both the operator and the patient since MHz frequencies are rapidly attenuated in air and there had been no reports of harmful effects. Studies of bio-effects of ultrasound ran in parallel with development of imaging technology.

Early A-scan applications showed that it was essential to exclude even a very thin film of air at the transducer/tissue interface. Exclusion was readily achieved with oil or gel in the interface. This simple means of exclusion permitted good acoustic coupling of single element or array transducers. Ease of coupling made contact scanning possible even when the transducer was moved across the skin. Stand-alone A-scan units never found much routine clinical application but they did provide a means of gaining experience of the use of ultrasound in tissue. Echoes from static structures remain fixed on a display. Motion of structures such as heart walls and valves could be observed and recorded (Figure 2). The latter technique, known as an 'M-mode', is fast and is still a feature of modern echocardiography. M-mode traces can be presented simultaneously with other physiological signals such as an ECG, phonocardiogram and Doppler ultrasound flow spectrograms (Figure 3).



Fig. 2 Principle of M-scanning. (a) Transducer directed at moving structure of interest and held fixed, (b) echoes may be observed on an A-scan display but this does not give a record of motion, (c) echo dots sweep up the screen to provide a trace of position versus time.



Fig. 3 Adult heart action recorded by M-scanning: write-out on a fibre-optic chart recorder. The direction of the beam was slowly altered during the recording.

III. WATER-BATH B-MODE SCANNERS

Early ultrasound imaging scanners often employed water-baths to couple the machines to the patient. In a waterbath scanner, a depth of water was interposed between the transducer and the patient either by immersion of the patient or by enabling access via a thin membrane on the side of the tank (Figure 4).



Fig. 4 Water-bath coupling techniques.

To avoid multiple reflection echoes in the water overlapping in time with echoes from tissue, the depth of water had to be greater than the depth in tissue of the structures of interest. The walls of the bath were often lined with rubber which was an excellent acoustic absorber reducing weak background multiple reflection signals. Water is a uniform low attenuation medium in which a transmitted field could form with good focusing. The velocity of ultrasound in water at room temperature is close to the average velocity of ultrasound in soft tissue i.e. 1540 m/s. It is easy to appreciate why water was used as the coupling medium in the first imaging machines. Water-bath scanners were popular for scanning soft tissues which were mobile such as breasts, eyes, testicles and infants.

As technology developed, lessons were learned which benefitted the next generation of scanners. A water-bath scanner, known as the 'Octoson' is a particularly good example of this process (Figure 5). In this machine, 8 large saucer-shaped transducers, each of diameter 7 cm, were mounted on a cradle in a water-bath. The position of the cradle could be altered by a drive mechanism to select the scan-plane. The 8 transducers could oscillate singly or collectively to perform a simple or compound scan. In a later version of this machine, the single-element transducers were replaced by annular array transducers to give an extended focal range. The large aperture transducers provided well-focused beams. The patient lay on a membrane across the top of the water-bath (Figure 6).



Fig. 5 Basic structure of the UI Octoson scanner.



Fig. 6 The UI Octoson scanner (courtesy of Ausonics).

A large part of the success of the Octoson was due to the grey-scale images resulting from the electronic processing of the echo signals. This grey-scale processing preserved the weak echoes which had been removed as noise in most scanners. The preservation of weak echoes in an image demonstrated that they were generated by weakly scattering targets in the parenchyma of tissue. As a result of this preservation, the images looked like slices through tissue and did not just show boundaries (Figure 7).



Fig. 7 Image from UI Octoson scanner (courtesy of Kossoff G).

These images improved the reputation of ultrasound imaging when X-ray CT and MRI imaging were making a significant impact. Compound scanning had been developed to accurately show distinct tissue boundaries and

anatomical boundaries such as the fetal head and the liver/kidney interface. Simple sweep grey-scale images demonstrated that it was often better to have a small amount of local image distortion rather than blurring due to misregistration in compound scanning. The importance of well-focused beams, both on transmission and reception, was illustrated by the clarity of small liquid-filled structures (e.g. cysts and blood vessels). Improved transducers and grey-scale signal processing handled boundary and parenchymal echoes well. In other words, full use was made of the dynamic range of the echo signals. The speckle pattern of the weak echoes gave some information on the nature of the scanned tissue but it is probably of more value for assessing tissue motion such as that of the myocardium. Complete images produced by single sweep scans showed that compound scanning is not essential. This had major implications for hand-held, real-time scanners which were starting to be developed.

Grey-scale images were initially recorded using photographic film which did not allow the build-up of the image to be observed as the echoes were received and was therefore inconvenient to use. The advent of grey-scale scan converters, with which the build-up of the echoes in the image could be observed, provided the technology that ultrasound imaging required. Today echo signals are stored in digital memory which permits imaging processing. For a few years bi-stable display cathode ray tubes had been employed since they presented the large structures clearly but they were essentially a blind alley.

IV. REAL-TIME MECHANICAL SCANNERS

It became obvious in the early 1970's that if fleeting structures like heart valves could be presented in an image to the operator, interpretation of cardiac echoes would be greatly facilitated. The simplest approaches were to make a single-element transducer rotate (Figure 8), rock (Figure 9) or oscillate (Figure 10) with the transducer closely coupled to the skin surface. With a careful choice of casing plastic, oil and structural design, the transmitted pulse was not degraded compared to an M-mode or B-mode and hence image resolution was preserved. The image sector angle of a rocking transducer was usually kept below 90° to minimise vibrations. Rotating transducers could readily produce a large 180° field-of-view with a high line density at low frame rates, giving a quality of image similar to that of a B-scanner. This was a goal of real-time scanners since, understandably, there was a reluctance to accept lower quality images. Oscillating transducers, angular or linear, performed well up to about 30 frames/sec, above which vibrations became problematic. The rotating transducer approach was therefore preferred at higher frame rates. An example of a commercially produced transducer consisting of four transducers on a rotating wheel is presented in Figure 11. A linear oscillation with a rectangular field-of-view suited some applications and a number of elegant devices were produced.



Fig. 8 A schematic diagram of a rotating transducer, real-time B-scanner.



Fig. 9 A schematic diagram of an oscillating transducer, real-time B-scanner. The oscillations produce a sector scan.



Fig. 10 A schematic diagram of an oscillating transducer, real-time B-scanner. The oscillations produce a linear scan.



Fig. 11 A mechanical transducer assembly in which four transducers rotate in a thin-walled oil-bath (courtesy of BCF).

The advent of hand-held imaging transducers, which gave good image quality, made scanning quicker and easier. Imaging moving structures and changing scan-planes meant that the sensitivity controls (Gain, Time-gain-compensation – TGC, Power) were difficult to optimise with manual controls. Approaches to automatic control were introduced whereby information, related to echo signal magnitudes and rates of attenuation, was used to set the sensitivity in different regions of the image. After some initial concerns about loss of control, expressed by clinical users, it was demonstrated that well-balanced reliable images could be quickly produced.

There were attempts at mechanical 3D imaging at this time. However clinical operators with hand-held transducers developed skills in mentally imaging 3D anatomy as they viewed changing planes of scan. This

removed the immediate need for 3D real-time imaging. The latter awaited the demands of heart scanning where changing volumes are of interest and these demands were accommodated by 2D phased arrays.

The versatility of real-time ultrasound technology is amply exhibited by a range of special invasive devices which have been developed. Over the history of medical ultrasound both real-time mechanical and electronic array technologies have been used. This versatility continues to be exploited in Doppler duplex, tissue biopsy and contrast agent applications. The new equipment remains relatively inexpensive.

IV. PLAN POSITION INDICATOR (PPI) IMAGING

In PPI, a transducer rotates and scans through 360^o at right angles to the axis of a rod which is inserted into the body (Figure 12). Since the transducer can be placed close to the site of interest, high frequencies can be used. The transducer is contained in a shallow oil bath or balloon to avoid friction at the tissue. The transducers are often labelled 'transrectal', 'transvaginal', 'transuretheral' or 'transoesophageal'. Transoesophageal probes give good access to the heart by avoiding lung and bone. As for rotating element B-mode scanners, careful choice of oil and window plastic results in little distortion of the transmitted ultrasound pulse. Rotating transducers are also employed in flexible endoscopes.



Fig. 12 Transducer for 360° radial invasive scanning.

V. CATHETER SCANNERS

Reducing the diameter size of PPI endoscopes from say 15 mm to 2 mm and increasing the frequency from 3 MHz to 30 MHz gave rotating element catheters a 360^o field-of-view. Such catheters continue to be applied to the study of artery walls. Again liquid-filled balloons are used to make good acoustic coupling. This catheter technique is known as intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) [9]. Due to the risk of infection, catheters are required to be disposable and hence inexpensive. A concern using catheters which viewed only sideways and not forwards was that they may block a stenosed artery. Forward-viewing oscillating-transducer catheters were produced which demonstrated that easily understood images, pulse-echo and Doppler, could be produced of structures ahead of the catheter tip.

VI. BIOPSY NEEDLE GUIDANCE

A big attraction of real-time ultrasonic imaging was that the tip of a fine needle could be observed and followed to the tissue site of interest. The needle may or may not be passed through a guide channel or attached to the transducer. Again sterility must be retained. This continues to be a very valuable technique since a collected tissue sample can then be passed to the pathology laboratory. This method of getting an accurate diagnosis has in many cases removed the need to try to interpret ultrasound signals from tissue.

It is possible to attach a small piezoelectric element to the tip of the needle and get a signal which identifies it accurately in the real-time image. To avoid expense, most operators work with a normal needle and rely on identifying the tip echo signal. However there can be ambiguity as to the exact source of the tip echo.

References

1, Gordon D. Ultrasound as diagnostic and surgical tool. E & S Livingston Ltd, Edinburgh & London. 1964

2, Wells PNT. Physical principles of ultrasonic diagnosis. Academic Press London & New York. 1964

3. White D, Clark G, Carson J, White E. Ultrasound in biomedicine. Cumulative bibliography of the world literature in ultrasound in medicine and biology to 1978. Pergamon Press, Oxford. 1982.

 Bock J and Ossoinig K. Ultrasono Graphia Medica Vols 1,2,3. 1st World Congress on Ultrasonic Diagnostics in Medicine and SIDUO III, Vienna. 1960

5. Holm HH and Kristensen JK. Ultrasonically guided puncture techniques. Munksgaard, Copenhagen. 1980

6. Nicolson M and Fleming JEE. Imaging and Imagining the Fetus. The John Hopkins University Press, Baltimore. 2013

7. Cobbold RSC. Foundations of biomedical ultrasound. Oxford University Press, Toronto, 2007.

8. McDicken WN. Diagnostic ultrasonics. Principles and use of instruments. Churchill Livingstone. 3rd edition. 1991

9. Intravascular Ultrasound. Techniques, developments and clinical perspectives. Eds: Bom N and Roelandt JR. Kluwer Academic Publishers. Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 1989.

AUTHOR BIOGRAPHY



Professor William Norman McDicken graduated from University of Glasgow with a BSc in physics in 1962 and a PhD in nuclear physics in 1965. He was an assistant lecturer for one year at University of Glasgow before becoming a medical physicist for the West Regional Hospital Board in Glasgow (1966-1974). During this time he organised and ran a new course on medical ultrasound. In 1974 he became a medical physicist in Lothian Regional Hospital Board, Edinburgh becoming the Professor of Medical Physics and Medical Engineering at University of Edinburgh in 1988. He held this role until 2005 whereupon he became Emeritus Professor of Medical Physics and Medical Engineering, University of Edinburgh, a post he still retains. Professor McDicken is a past president of British Medical Ultrasound Society and a winner of the Hospital Physicists' Association's Manufacturers' prize.



Professor Carmel Mary Moran BSc MSc PhD FInstP FIPEM graduated in Physics and Applied Maths from Queen's University Belfast in 1986, MSc from University of Aberdeen in 1988 and PhD from Institute of Cancer Research, University of London in 1991. From 1991, she has worked at the University of Edinburgh, formerly in Medical Physics and latterly in the Centre for Cardiovascular Science. Her research interests include the development and characterisation of ultrasonic contrast agents for diagnosis and therapy and the applications of high frequency ultrasound. She established, and currently directs, the preclinical ultrasound imaging facility at the University of Edinburgh. She is a member of the EFSUMB safety committee and is a Past-President of the British Medical Ultrasound Society.

THE DIASONOGRAPH STORY

Tony Whittingham

Formerly Regional Medical Physics Department, Newcastle upon Tyne NHS Trust, UK and Newcastle University

I. BACKGROUND.

Up to the time when Ian Donald started to experiment with ultrasound in Glasgow there had already been many significant developments in diagnostic applications of ultrasound around the world. A number of researchers had managed to acquire industrial flaw detectors and publish the results of their A-mode investigations of tissues. In 1949, R P McLaughlin and G N Guastavino at the Argentinian laboratory of the American electronics company RCA, published a paper describing their own pulse echo instrument for detecting foreign objects in tissue, including the example of a stone embedded in an excised kidney [1]. In the same year, George Ludwig, a medical officer, and Francis Struthers, a physicist, both at the Naval Medical Research Institute in Bethseda, Maryland, measured the acoustic properties of a range of tissues and demonstrated gallstones implanted in dogs [2]. Also in 1949, John Wild, an English surgeon working at the University of Minnesota in the USA, measured changes in bowel wall thickness [3]. In 1953, cardiologist Inge Edler and physicist Hellmuth Hertz, in Lund, Sweden, experimented with an industrial flaw detector, borrowed from a shipyard, and interpreted moving echoes from within the heart. By 1954, they had invented the M-mode technique for recording and measuring echo movements and had published M-mode echo recordings of the hearts of living patients, establishing what was to become the diagnostic technique of echocardiography [4]. In 1956, G Mundt and W Hughes described their use of a flaw detector for A-mode examination of in vitro enucleated eyes and patients with intraocular tumours [5].



Fig. 1 The Kelvin and Hughes Mark IIb Flaw Detector.

In the late 1940s, Valentine Mayneord, Professor of Physics as Applied to Medicine, at the Royal Cancer (later Marsden) Hospital in London, picked up on Wild's early work and started to investigate the application of ultrasound A-scans to the brain, a very challenging organ to study with ultrasound due to attenuation, reflection

and refraction by the skull. R C Turner, an electronic engineer in Mayneord's department, using a Kelvin and Hughes Mark IIb industrial flaw detector (Figure 1), was sometimes able to show that an echo from the midline of the brain could be displaced towards or away from the probe if there was a space occupying lesion in either hemisphere [6]. Turner demonstrated his findings to Swedish neurosurgeon Lars Leksell during a visit by the latter to Mayneord's department [7][8]. Later, in 1950, Leksell borrowed a similar Kelvin and Hughes Mk IIb flaw detector but failed to improve much on Turner's patchy success [9]. However, when he replaced the Kelvin and Hughes instrument with the Siemens flaw detector that his cardiologist colleague Elder had used, he found



Fig. 2 Water bath compound scanning system of Howry et al., c 1957. This water-bath was based on the gun turret of a WW2 B-29 bomber. Photo courtesy of AIUM.

he could demonstrate shifts of the midline echo more clearly. His results, published in 1955 [10], led to the establishment of echoencephalography as a valuable diagnostic tool.

Cross-sectional (B-mode) images of human subjects were first achieved by two groups in the USA. One group was led by radiologist Douglass Howry, in Denver, USA, while the other consisted of Wild, mentioned above, and his electronic engineer colleague, John Reid, in Minneapolis. Between 1949 and 1954, Howry's group constructed a number of 'Somascope' instruments which required the subject to sit in a water bath, across or around which an ultrasound transducer was automatically scanned [11]. In the later versions, the direction of the ultrasound beam was changed between passes of the transducer, producing 'spatially compounded' images in



Fig. 3 John Wild (left) demonstrating the hand-held 15 MHz contact scanner developed by himself and John Reid (right) c 1953. From the front cover of Electronics magazine, March 1955.

which each anatomical target was insonated from several directions and the echoes summed [12] (Figure 2). This resulted in improved spatial resolution and better delineation of specularly reflecting tissue interfaces. The need for immersion was avoided by Wild and Reid who, in 1953, built the world's first hand-held ultrasound contact scanner, which they used successfully to produce grey-scale images of breast tumours [13]. This 'Two-dimensional Echoscope', as Wild called it, had a small water-filled chamber with a flexible rubber membrane forming its base, mounted beneath it (Figure 3). A 15 MHz transducer was driven back and forth within this chamber by an electric motor and worm screw drive.

II. IAN DONALD.

Before his move to Glasgow, Ian Donald (Figure 4) held the post of Reader at the Institute of Obstetrics and Gynaecology at the Royal Postgraduate Medical School, Hammersmith Hospital, London. During his previous clinical career, he had demonstrated a talent and enthusiasm for innovation by developing improved mechanical devices for the diagnosis and treatment of respiratory problems in neonates. Donald had read Wild's 1951 paper in the Lancet [14] and was able to speak with him directly when Wild visited the Royal Postgraduate Medical School during an extended visit to London to deliver the University Lecture in Medicine. Wild showed Donald slides of some of his A-mode and cross-sectional (B-scan) ultrasound images. They also discussed [15] the possibility of using ultrasound to image the gravid uterus, Wild indicating that, in view of its cystic nature, a lower frequency would be more appropriate than the 15 MHz that he had been using. Wild had also visited Mayneord to hear of his work with the brain, so he knew of the Kelvin and Hughes flaw detector and suggested something similar might be suitable if Donald wanted to take further the possibility of obstetric applications. Donald was unable to attend Wild's lecture himself, but Mayneord, who Donald knew through his interest in his work, gave him an account of it [15]. Apart from describing his ultrasound breast imaging work in his lecture, Wild had included a discussion of how ultrasound might be applied to the lower abdomen. He had also commented on the safety of using ultrasound on live subjects, advising that a positive but cautious approach to safety was justified, given the absence of evidence of tissue damage at the ultrasound intensities used.



Fig. 4 Ian Donald. Photo courtesy of the BMUS Historical Collection. Photograph held in NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde Archives.

In September 1954, Ian Donald took up his post as the Regius Professor in Obstetrics and Gynaecology at the University of Glasgow. For a while he collaborated with John Lenihan, of the Western Hospital Board's Regional Department of Medical Physics, and in particular with physicist and engineer Ronald Greer, continuing his efforts to develop novel respiratory equipment and to investigate the respiratory changes during the first breath of the newborn. However, it proved difficult to make further substantial progress into the problem of neonatal respiratory distress [16] and Donald realized a change to a new project might be timely. He was aware that differentiation between ovarian cysts and fibroids was an important clinical problem, with potentially life-threatening consequences for the patient, so he decided to experiment with ultrasound to see if it could help.

One of the first things he did was to borrow a powerful ultrasound generator "from a friend of a friend in a scientific instrument factory near Paisley" [17] and noted that red cell destruction depended on exposure time. He concluded that the degree of cell damage was directly proportional to the heat generated [18] and considered that the use of ultrasound would be safe as long as no significant heating occurred. In the spring of 1955, through an introduction by a grateful patient, he was invited to the Renfrew factory of the boiler making company, Babcock and Wilcox, where he was given a demonstration of a flaw detector, made by Kelvin Hughes Ltd [18]. Although Donald was probably not aware of the significance, this was their latest, much improved, Mark IV model with a single hand-held probe containing two piezoelectric transducers, one for pulse transmission and one for echo reception; these were arranged in a shallow 'V' configuration so the crossover region of their beams extended several centimetres from the probe [19]. He noticed that the technicians used their thumbs several times a day to check that the instrument was working satisfactorily, reinforcing his opinion that there was no significant hazard from ultrasound exposure. A technician also demonstrated that the echo from the bone could be identified and that its position along the time-base trace on the A-scan display shifted back and forth as the probe was pressed in and out against the thumb.

In July 1955, Donald arranged a second visit to Babcock and Wilcox, this time using the flaw detector himself to examine uterine fibroids and a large ovarian cyst, freshly removed from patients that morning. Donald reported that the results from the flaw detector were as he had expected from his reading of the published literature [18]. This gave him encouragement, although Fleming and Nicholson have since argued that his interpretation of the echo patterns may have involved a degree of wishful thinking and that he may have been lucky to find the controls already set appropriately [20]. Shortly afterwards, Donald visited Prof. Mayneord at the Marsden Hospital. He found the team somewhat discouraged by the difficulties they had encountered, to the extent that they had decided to replace their Kelvin and Hughes flaw detector with an A-scan machine they were building themselves. They were, therefore, in a position to offer their Kelvin and Hughes Mk IIb flaw detector as a loan to Donald [21].

On his return to the Western Infirmary, Donald enlisted the help of Greer and, together, they tried to reproduce the results that Donald had achieved during his second visit to Babcock and Wilcox and to move on to investigating the intact abdomen. Unfortunately, they had little success, largely because the Mk IIb flaw detector they were using was inferior to the later, Mk IV, model that Donald had used at Babcock and Wilcox. Its performance had been further compromised by a modification made by Turner, while working on the midline shift project in Mayneord's Department. In its original form, the Mk IIb machine had separate transmit and receive probes in order to prevent the large excitation voltage applied to the transmit transducer from temporarily overloading and paralyzing the receiving amplifier. Unfortunately, it proved extremely difficult to hold these two probes close together on the curved skull of the patient. By replacing the two probes with a single probe for both transmission and reception, Turner had solved this ergonomic problem but in so doing he had reintroduced the paralysis problem, making it impossible to detect echoes from within 8 cm of the probe face. Donald and Greer tried introducing water offsets between the probe and the patient in order to overcome this serious limitation, both in the form of open-ended tubes with a rubber membrane at the patient end [22] and in the form of waterfilled sealed condoms[18], but these did not prove to be suitable as a long term solution for clinical use. Despite further help when obstetrician John MacVicar (seen on the right in Figure 12), then a registrar in the Department of Midwifery, joined the team sometime in 1956, they still could not obtain consistent echo patterns from within the abdomen, nor reliably interpret them.

III. TOM BROWN AND KELVIN AND HUGHES LTD.

This rather unsatisfactory state of affairs continued until Tom Brown (Figure 5), a twenty-three-year-old engineer with Kelvin and Hughes Ltd, at Hillington, Glasgow, heard that a professor was using one of the company's flaw detectors to examine patients. Brown had previously impressed his employers by his work in helping to develop a semi-automatic flaw detecting system to the extent that they had sponsored him for a course in applied physics at the Royal College for Science and Technology in Glasgow (now Strathclyde University). Unfortunately, the mathematical content of the course had proven too challenging for Brown and he had to drop out after one year [23]. As he said himself: "I spent too much time playing snooker and generally enjoying the student lifestyle" [24]. His employers took him back, but he was now looking for a way to redeem himself in their eyes. The idea of applying ultrasound to medical diagnosis appealed to him so, one evening in late 1956, he telephoned Donald; his boldness was rewarded by an invitation to visit Donald at the Western Infirmary. Despite what he called a "rather comical demonstration with the water stand-off and all the rest of it" [24], Brown could see there were echoes coming back from within the patient's body, so he called his boss, Alex Rankin, Head of

Applications Engineering, to tell him of the potential new application. Rankin was already well disposed towards medical projects involving ultrasound, having provided support to Leksell in Sweden. He immediately arranged for a brand-new Mk IV flaw detector to be delivered to Donald [23].



Fig. 5 Tom Brown, pictured around the time he built the bed-table scanner. Photo courtesy of the BMUS Historical Collection.

The new instrument made all the difference to the success of Donald and MacVicar's A-scanning efforts (Figure 6). Probes were provided at ⁵/₈ MHz, 1.25 MHz, 2.5 MHz and 5 MHz, but they soon established that a frequency of 2.5 MHz gave the best compromise between penetration and spatial resolution for obstetric patients. In addition, Brown's company was able to provide them with a Cossor oscilloscope camera to record the A-scans on 35 mm film [23]. Hitherto, their only means of recording A-scan traces had been by sketching them. Donald was very pleased, as the ability to produce accurate photographic records of the traces was important for publication of any noteworthy results.



Fig. 6 A-scan of a simple ovarian cyst, c 1956. Photo courtesy of Tansey and Christie [24].

Donald also appreciated the involvement of an engineer with substantial practical experience of the most recent developments in industrial ultrasound technology. As a result, Brown was welcomed into the fold whilst Greer's involvement came to an end [23]. At first, Brown's involvement was purely informal, with him going to the Western Infirmary in the evenings, after his day's work at Kevin and Hughes at Hillington. There, he would perform any necessary maintenance and help MacVicar develop and analyse film from the day's clinical work. In order to learn how to interpret the echo traces, they would experiment by applying the probe to their own

bodies, as well as to rubber membrane acoustic windows built into the walls of water tanks containing surgically removed cysts and tumours [25]. Donald, however, had little time for such in-vitro experimentation, preferring that the probe be applied directly to real patients [26].

Donald was happy to arrange an abundant supply of patients and he drove the project forward with characteristic energy. By mid-1957, with Brown's assistance, he and MacVicar were providing a clinically useful service to gynaecological patients and starting to look at obstetric patients. Through their hard-won and growing expertise in interpreting the A-scans, they had largely solved the original challenge of differentiating cysts from solid tumours and they could even differentiate between different types of cysts. There had been occasional mistakes, as when a highly vascular fibroid had been mistaken for a cyst [27], but this all contributed to the learning process; consequently, the initial scepticism amongst Donald's clinical colleagues at the Western Infirmary was disappearing. The much-quoted turning point in the acceptance of the technique was when a swollen abdomen, thought by the Regius Professor of Medicine to be due to ascites, secondary to inoperable and terminal cancer, was being ultrasonically examined by Donald. Looking over Donald's shoulder, MacVicar, commented that the trace looked like that of an ovarian cyst. Although MacVicar was rewarded by an unseen kick from Donald for contradicting the Professor of Medicine's diagnosis, Donald accepted that an ovarian cyst was a possibility and arranged for a laparotomy, which confirmed that the mass was indeed a very large ovarian cyst. This was duly removed and, instead of being allowed to die, the patient made a full recovery [24][28].

A. The Bed-table Scanner

Notwithstanding Donald and MacVicar's satisfaction and excitement with the clinical value of A-scanning using the Mk IV flaw detector, Brown was convinced that a display that showed the positions of each reflecting interface was needed to fully exploit the potential of the ultrasound pulse-echo technique. He felt that, ideally, since the human body was three dimensional there should be a 3D representation of the echo sources. This was to remain his ambition throughout his life [23] [24] but, for now, he accepted that an image of a 2D crosssectional slice of the patient would have to suffice. According to Brown [23], Donald was initially less enthusiastic about what 2D imaging could offer. This was despite the interest Donald had shown in radar and sonar during his wartime military service and the 2D ultrasound images he had seen in the publications of Howry's team in Denver and of Wild and Reid in Minnesota. He had even attempted, unsuccessfully, to build a 2D ultrasound system himself in his early days in Glasgow, although very little is known about it [22]. He felt the detailed echo information from within organs and other body masses that he was now obtaining had more diagnostic value than knowing the position of a reflecting interface [29]. For whatever reason, Donald chose not to show Howry's or Wild's cross-sectional images to Brown. Years later, Brown said "I think that had we been aware of what Howry was doing and had set out our stall to improve on Howry's work, we would have been stuck with immersion scanning" [24]. Having seen the trouble caused by attempts to use water offsets when he first visited Donald, Brown was very keen to avoid using water, either for partial immersion of, or acoustic coupling to, the patient in a hospital environment. He also wanted a system that could be used at the patient's bedside, as was possible with the A-scan unit. It is a matter of conjecture what the outcome would have been if Brown had known of Wild and Reid's relatively compact hand-held contact scanning system: perhaps he might have been inspired to try to build a low frequency development of it.

From his knowledge of the radar work undertaken by Kelvin and Hughes, Brown was familiar with "True Motion" radar displays, in which the screen acted as a fixed map on which the position of the transmitting aircraft or ship, as well as the positions of echo-returning targets, were updated after every sweep of the beam. He considered applying the technology of this technique to the medical situation [23] but radar experts at Kelvin and Hughes quickly made him realize this approach would be unnecessarily complex. Whereas, in the case of radar, the position of the transmitting ship or aeroplane had to be calculated from the echo data returning from land-based targets, in the medical situation the position of the probe could be measured directly by mounting it on a support arm or mechanism from a fixed point. From the known transducer position, the positions of echoproducing targets could be plotted on the screen of a cathode ray tube (CRT) using the standard 'plan position indicator (PPI)' method of radar displays. Brown's proposal was supported by his managers at Kelvin and Hughes, including the company's Chief Scientist, Bill Halliday. However, the crucial move was made by Donald, who was keen to put Brown's input on a formal footing [23]. Donald arranged to meet William Slater, Deputy Managing Director of Kelvin and Hughes, impressing him with his account of the clinical value of the project and its potential. The result was that half a day per week of Brown's time was allocated to working with Donald, along with a budget of £500 to make the first machine. Brown later said this figure turned out to be very elastic [23].

During 1957, Brown designed and built his prototype system [30] [23] in the research department of the Kelvin and Hughes factory at Hillington. He felt that a system in which the probe was in direct contact with the patient was required, in the same way that the probe of a flaw detector was applied directly to the test piece in an industrial setting. Mindful of the convenience of being able to use the system on a patient in a hospital ward, he chose to build his prototype around a wheeled bed table. A photograph of the resulting 'Bed-table scanner' being used by MacVicar to scan Brown's abdomen is shown in Figure 7.



Fig. 7 Tom Brown's bed-table scanner, c 1957. Note the restricted room for the operator's forearm and hand (seen lower left). Photo courtesy of the BMUS Historical Collection

The user could move the transducer by hand anywhere within a fixed vertical transverse 'scan plane', keeping the transducer face lightly pressed against the patient's skin, which was kept lubricated with vegetable oil. The scan plane was defined by the position of a wheeled carriage that could be moved transversely on rails across the bed table. At any position within this plane, the transducer could be rotated or rocked through a large range of angles, thus giving the benefit of compound scanning, mentioned previously in connection with Howry's system. The scan plane could be moved longitudinally by simply moving the bed table above and along the bed on which the patient was lying. Three displays were provided: an A-mode display, at that time still considered essential by Donald and MacVicar: a B-mode display on a long persistence CRT screen, which the user could monitor as he moved the probe around in an exploratory fashion; a second B-mode display, this time on a short persistence CRT fitted with a camera for when the user had found a particular cross-sectional view that he wished to record. Figure 8 shows two of these displays: on the left is a Mark IV flaw detector used to display A-scans and, on the right, is a CRT with a Thompson-Polaroid Land camera attached for recording B-scans.



Fig. 8 Displays and camera from the bed-table scanner. Photo courtesy of the BMUS Historical Collection.

The hand-guided probe could be rotated about a horizontal spindle whose X and Y coordinates were measured by means of a system of wires and pulleys connected to the shafts of wire-wound X and Y linear potentiometers. The angle of the probe, and hence the ultrasound beam, to the Y axis of the measuring frame was measured by linking the rotation of the probe to the shaft of a sine-cosine potentiometer (Figure 9). By applying stable positive and negative voltages of equal magnitude (+v and -v) respectively to the diametrically opposite sides of the potentiometer's circular track, the resistance per unit length of which varied sinusoidally, the two wipers, arranged 90° apart on the potentiometer shaft, picked off voltages of v $\cos\theta$ and v $\sin\theta$ respectively, where θ was the angle of the probe to the Y axis of the measuring frame. Each of these voltages was applied to its own integrator circuit, producing two voltage ramps with slopes proportional to v $\cos\theta$ and v $\sin\theta$ respectively. A voltage proportional to the Y coordinate of the probe spindle was added to the v $\cos\theta$ ramp and a voltage proportional to the X coordinate of the spindle was added to the v sin θ ramp. This provided vertical and horizontal voltage drives, respectively, for the time-base on the CRT used for the display. When the time-base had swept across the screen to reach a point corresponding to the probe face (with a correction to allow for the perspex block in front of the transducer) the transmitter was triggered. From this moment on, the position and orientation of the time-base trace on the CRT screen matched the position and orientation of the transmit-receive ultrasound beam within the scan plane. The speed at which the time-base spot of light was swept across the screen depended on the magnification required.

For unity magnification, for example, echoes from two targets a certain distance apart, both lying on the axis



Fig. 9 Left: Measurement of probe angle Θ relative to the Y axis of the scan plane. Right: The 'cosine' wiper of the sine-cosine potentiometer is at the same angle as the principal axis of the probe.

of the beam, must be represented by echoes the same distance apart along the CRT time-base. In order to allow for the two-way travel of the sound pulse in the body, this requires the spot of light to be swept along the time-base trace at half the speed of sound in the body (approximately 1540 ms⁻¹). For a magnification of one half, the spot of light would have to be swept across the screen at one quarter of the speed of sound, and so on. This arrangement was similar to the measuring system used later in the Diasonograph machines. A then popular construction kit known as 'Meccano' was used to provide many of the smaller components, such as chains, sprockets and pulley wheels, but some of the larger and more critical components were manufactured by technicians in the model shop at the Hillington factory.

The probe was that of the Mark IV flaw detector. It housed two rectangular, 10 x 7 mm, unfocussed, airbacked barium titanate transducers, one for transmission and one for reception. They were mounted, side by side with their shorter sides adjacent, on one of the flat faces of a one inch (25.4 mm) thick cylindrical Perspex block, the opposite flat face being in contact with the patient [30]. As mentioned earlier, the use of separate transducers for transmission and reception avoided the problem of paralysis encountered in the modified Mk II flaw detector initially used by Donald. The transducer dimensions were chosen to give a compromise between beam width in the near field and angular divergence in the far field. Another consequence of using two transducer elements side by side was that the overlap of their beams increased with distance from the probe face, producing a twoway sensitivity that increased progressively with depth. This provided a degree of compensation for the effect of attenuation on echo strength from deeper targets and explained why swept gain (later often called TGC - time gain compensation) was not considered a high priority. A resonant frequency of 2.5 MHz was chosen for the transducers, corresponding to a transducer thickness of approximately 1 mm, as the earlier in-vitro experiments made by Brown and MacVicar had indicated that this frequency would give an optimum compromise between spatial resolution and penetration for use in the lower abdomen. The transmission pulse generator and receiver were those of the Mark IV flaw detector [31]. The transmission transducer was shock excited by a pulse of approximately 2 µs duration, generated by charging a 100 pF capacitor to about 1.4 kV through a high resistance

and then triggering a thyratron to discharge it though the primary winding of a pulse transformer, across the secondary winding of which was connected the transducer in parallel with a 50 ohm damping resistor [30].

The other electronic circuits and components were also largely those used in the Mark IV instrument. Brown chose a pulse repetition frequency (PRF) of 50 Hz, partly because this was one of the standard PRFs of the Mark IV and partly because it represented what he considered to be a prudent compromise between safety and performance. A higher PRF would have allowed the probe to be scanned across the abdomen more quickly, without increasing the gaps between lines of echoes on the display, but it would also have meant that the patient would have received more ultrasound energy. On testing an early version of the apparatus by scanning a grapefruit suspended on a wire in a water tank, Brown realized the signal processor stage, the output of which was used to brightness modulate the time-base trace on a CRT, needed to be more sensitive. He described this circuit as being "where art and science tended to co-exist" [23], but he nevertheless managed to achieve a very acceptable dynamic range of the order of 60 dB.

The increased receiver sensitivity allowed him to introduce another safety feature in the form of a switched attenuator in the transmit voltage drive to the transducer. If the displayed echoes were too strong, the operator could reduce their amplitude by means of the attenuator, leaving the receiver sensitivity (gain) at its high level. He recommended that the operator should start with a high transmitter attenuation setting and, only if necessary, reduce it to the level needed to achieve a useful image, thus helping to ensure that the patient received no more ultrasound power or intensity than was necessary. Brown's estimate of the maximum acoustic intensity that his scanner was capable of producing in the patient was 1.5 mW cm⁻² and the maximum acoustic power was approximately 1.0 mW [30]. These values are tiny in comparison to the corresponding figures for obstetric ultrasound scanners post-1990 [32] and were considerably less than those of either Howry [33] or Wild [34].



Fig. 10 Example of a scan produced by the bed table scanner. It shows a uterus containing a fetus (left) and a fibroid (right). Reproduced from Figure 17 of Donald, MacVicar and Brown, The Lancet, 1958 [30].

In late 1957, the machine was sufficiently developed to be put into use in the Western Infirmary, but Brown admitted to some disappointment at the quality of the images [35]. Figure 10 shows the scan of a uterus, obtained with the scanner, with barely recognizable echoes from an early stage fetus on the left and what was thought to be a fibroid on the right [30]. Brown and MacVicar frequently scanned each other to discover the limitations of the apparatus, how to get the best out of it, and which aspects of it required improvement. In observing clinicians using the system on patients, Brown recognized that the scanning technique varied considerably between operators and this had a large effect on image quality. Operator skill was not helped by the poor ergonomics of the system, which, Brown later admitted, had not been given much consideration during the design; in fact he described it as "ergonomically horrific", but added "it was all done, after all, on a £500 budget" [24]. For example, the user had to reach into the narrow space between the table and the patient (Figure 7) to manipulate the probe whilst turning their head away to see the display screens. Brown was able to improve results by making further modifications, including the updating of the amplifier with one from his company's new Mark V flaw detector which gave superior performance [31]. In order to overcome the restriction of being able to scan only in transverse vertical planes he later replaced the bed-table with another over-bed, structure, in the form of a wheeled steel framework. This allowed the operator to scan in planes perpendicular or parallel to the longitudinal axis of the patient's body, and in planes inclined to the vertical, as desired [36]. Another later improvement was the replacement of the Cossor oscilloscope camera with a Thompson-Polaroid Land camera. This allowed photographic records of scans to be viewed in the scan room within minutes, rather than having to

wait for a full roll of film to be exposed and then waiting a further period of hours for it to taken away, processed and returned. A potential disadvantage of Polaroid film was that it was less sensitive than conventional film. Initially, this resulted in the loss of weaker echoes but, after carefully reading Polaroid's technical literature, Brown solved the problem by designing an illumination box in which the Polaroid film could be briefly pre-exposed, increasing its sensitivity. These improvements all helped to foster marked and growing enthusiasm from Donald for the B-mode technique. By the time of submitting their June 1958 publication 'Investigation of abdominal masses by pulsed ultrasound' in The Lancet, Donald and MacVicar, with Brown's technical input, had used the bed-table scanner on 100 patients and had made 275 B-scan recordings [30].

In 1959, physicist Tom Duggan joined Donald's team to work on ultrasound, his salary being paid from a Scottish Hospital Endowment Research Trust grant that was intended to finance neonatal respiratory studies [31]. Between 1961 and 1962 he developed a fetal ultrasonic cephalometer, by means of which two bright 'pips' could be superimposed on the A-mode trace on a Kelvin and Hughes flaw detector [37]. The instrument was described as portable but it weighed 30 kg and had to be pushed about on a trolley [31]. The bright pips were placed at the leading edges of the two echoes from opposite sides of the fetal skull at the level of the parietal eminences. These echoes corresponded to the outside of the nearer side of the skull and the inside of the far side. The time elapsed between the generation of these two pips was measured electronically and converted to an estimate of the distance across the outside of the fetal head at this level, called the bi-parietal diameter (BPD). This was achieved by multiplying by a factor of 0.080 cm μ s⁻¹, derived experimentally from measurements on neonates and post-mortem fetuses [38]. Because this conversion factor relates a distance to a (two-way) ultrasound time of flight, it is usually expressed by saying that the 'caliper velocity' is 1600 m s⁻¹.

The ultrasonic estimate of the BPD became an important index for monitoring fetal gestation and development, thanks to the efforts of John Willocks, a young doctor who had joined Donald's team about the same time as Duggan [37]. Later, Duggan joined Kelvin and Hughes, where he was involved with transducer developments, before moving on to an academic post at the University of Strathclyde and thence to the Regional Department of Medical Physics (now Clinical Physics and Bioengineering) at the West of Scotland Health Board. There, he was closely involved with the introduction of ultrasound teaching and development laboratories and with supervision of an ultrasound maintenance service [24].

Meanwhile, both Brown [23] and Donald [39] were frustrated by the variations between operators in probe manipulation, artefact avoidance and other scanning skills, as these were limiting the success of their cross-sectional imaging project. In Scotland in the mid-1950s, it was unthinkable that a young male engineer without any medical qualifications could be allowed to scan patients himself, particularly on gynaecology and obstetrics wards, so Brown was unable to demonstrate to others how to get more consistent results [23]. Mindful of his prior success in helping to develop an automatic industrial flaw detecting system, it seemed to Brown that an automatic clinical scanning system could provide the solution to the inconsistency problem as it would greatly reduce the influence of the operator on the scanning procedure. Even if it proved too complex and costly to consider as a prototype production machine, it would at least demonstrate the scanning action needed to produce good images. Donald agreed and asked Kelvin and Hughes if they could provide an "apparatus which automatically scanned the surface of the abdomen at a standard rate and rocking speed" [39].

B. The Automatic Scanner

Brown was aware that Kelvin and Hughes were investigating new probe designs in which the two rectangular transducer elements of the Mark IV design were replaced by a single disc-shaped transducer element, offering a much greater sensitivity than had been possible with the overlapping beam arrangement of the twin element probe. Also, by this time in the late 1950s, new, more sensitive, piezoelectrics such as lead zirconate titanate (PZT) were becoming available. Brown was keen to take advantage of these development as he was aware that attenuation, and hence signal loss, was very much more of a problem in tissues than in the metal structures for which flaw detecting technology had been developed. Not only would a higher sensitivity improve the dynamic range of the detected echo signals, but it would have safety implications as it would mean that pulses of lower energy could be transmitted. The large impedance mismatch between the transducer and the patient's tissue meant that the absorbing backing behind the transducer was more critical in suppressing 'ringing' than it was for industrial applications. This backing was normally made from epoxy resin in which dense metal particles were suspended but its performance could be degraded by gas bubbles trapped within it during the curing process. Brown and Clive Ross, a colleague at Kelvin and Hughes whom Brown described as "very gifted" [23], used a centrifuge to drive gas bubbles in the uncured epoxy resin away from the transducer as well as to give the backing an inclined rear surface. In Brown's own words, this allowed them to produce "some quite respectable single transducer probes" [40]. Brown was by now aware of the work of Howry's team, including their use of concave lenses to improve beam shape, so Ross experimented with different lens designs, finally settling on a conical design, having decided it gave better results than lenses with the more conventional spherical curvature. The new scanner was provided with a range of focused transducers, with the frequencies that were standard for Kelvin and Hughes flaw detectors, namely 1.5 MHz, 2.5 MHz and 5.0 MHz. Brown later said that perhaps a frequency of 3.5 MHz would have been optimum in terms of the compromise between spatial resolution and penetration for gynaecological and obstetric applications but that this omission was not too serious in view of the other limitations of the equipment at the time [40].

The electronics of the automatic machine were mostly identical to those of the updated bed-table scanner [40]. An important exception was that the receiver amplifier from the Mark IV flaw-detector could no longer be used as, following the change to single transducer element probes, the transmission pulse produced too much receiver paralysis. When developing the new Mark V flaw detector for Kelvin and Hughes, one of Brown's colleagues, John Woods, had found that the solution to this problem was to design a separate tuned RF amplifier for each probe frequency. Consequently, separate plug-in RF amplifiers were provided for use with each probe of the automatic scanner. A feature of the new amplifiers was that the amplifier gain could be made to increase with time after transmission at a rate set by the operator. Without this feature, attenuation due to scattering and absorption in tissue would mean that B-mode echoes produced by a single transducer element probe would exhibit a general trend to diminish in brightness with depth. The new feature, known as 'swept gain', meant that this attenuation could be compensated for in a controlled way by the operator. Previously, in the bed-table scanner, using probes containing two transducer elements, a fixed degree of such compensation had been provided by the increasing beam overlap with depth. Now, by judiciously adjusting the swept gain controls, the general brightness between a strong echo and a weak echo at similar depths).



Fig. 11. Drawing of the automatic scanner from Brown [23], showing all the motorized movements. Courtesy of the BMUS Historical Collection

A diagram of the automatic scanner is shown in Figure 11. The finished machine, being used by Donald and MacVicar; is shown in Figure 12; a clearer view of the silver ball probe is inset. The ingenious way in which the probe was scanned and rocked automatically across the curved form of the patient is, perhaps, best described in Brown's own words [23]:

"The 'business end' of the automatic scanner consisted of a probe holder in a 'silver ball' - which looked a little like the kind of soap dispenser once commonplace in public toilets. This was mounted on a vertical, telescoping motor-driven column, such that it moved up and down to keep the probe face in contact with the patient's skin. It too was shiny chromium plate. A pressure sensing switch ensured that it maintained contact with the skin, but with minimal pressure.

The silver ball rocked to-and-fro on an axle, driven by a system of cranks and connecting rods. Slightly indelicate looking soft plastic "nipples" on either side of the ball touched the skin when the probe axis had moved about 30 degrees to the perpendicular to it, and - almost as sensitive as the real thing - caused the rotary motion to stop and then reverse its direction.

Each time the nipple touched the patient's skin, another set of relays and motors were activated to inch the vertical column sideways. This, when combined with the compensating up/down motion to keep the probe in contact with the skin, caused about a 15 mm tangential displacement between successive "sweeps" of the rotating probe.

In this way the probe gradually 'walked' across the abdominal surface, rocking to-and-fro as it went, carrying out what was actually quite a thorough, and highly consistent compound scan.

Of course, it was not quite as simple as that. To enable it to work properly on the steep flanks of the often rotund ladies being examined, an automatic changeover mechanism operated at about the 45 degree point on either side of the vertical, so that the horizontal drive then controlled the pressure, and the vertical drive did the 'inching'. The distance the machine 'inched' each time was regulated by a profiled cam system, so that it remained constant, irrespective of the average angle of the probe to the vertical. Nowadays it would all be done by microprocessor, but then it had to depend on cams, switches and relays - and I guess it was the sort of thing which would have delighted Heath Robinson.

There was a 'joystick' controller in a box on the end of a cable, by means of which the operator could position the probe for the start of the scan, but when he had done so, his task was over. He simply pressed the 'Auto' button, and the machine did the rest.

When it had finished, (about 90 seconds later on a big lady), it would switch itself off, and then ring a bell to summon him back. It may seem unlikely, but such was the confidence which developed in the machine, and the pressures of nicotine addition, that the bell became a necessity."



Fig. 12 The automatic scanner being operated by Donald (left) and MacVicar (right). The ball probe, viewed from another angle, is inset. Photo courtesy of the BMUS Historical Collection.

The large size of the somewhat intimidating box suspended above the patient was, in part, due to building-in the capability to scan transverse, longitudinal and all intermediate planes, as well in planes tilted away from the vertical. The tilt facility was little used, however, as users were not practised in the interpretation of the anatomy in such oblique views. The other reason for the bulk and complexity of the system was the incorporation of an optional facility for automatically stepping the scan plane in small increments perpendicular to itself in order to

acquire a volume set of echo data. This reflected Brown's enduring ambition to produce a scanner incorporating both 3D echo acquisition and 3D display. In later years he was to work with Sonicaid Ltd, based in Bognor, UK, to produce the radical "3D Multiplanar Scanner", which produced three-dimensional stereoscopic virtual images of body tissue but met with little commercial success [41]. Conscious of the disastrous consequences if the heavy box ever were to fall onto a patient, Brown incorporated safety features such as ratchets and cams that would prevent it falling more than a few millimetres should its support chain break. As might be expected with such a complex mechanical system, malfunctions did sometimes occur. The most alarming being on one occasion while scanning a "very stout" patient. The silver ball "started to dig in because the soft flabby fat stopped progress across the abdomen and the probe oscillated on one spot, burrowing deeper into the six or eight inches of fat" [24]. This was attributed to the patient, understandably, drawing away from the advancing ball, thereby inviting it to advance further. A part may also have been played by congealed olive oil around the probe, inhibiting it from moving up and activating the pressure sensing switch [42]. A white nylon ring was fitted later around the ball, increasing its contact area and thus reducing the pressure experienced by the patient. Another problem was electrical 'snowstorm' interference over the screen, caused by sparking across the contacts in the DC electric motors. When this happened, somebody would be sent from Kelvin and Hughes to clean the contacts and to fit suppressors and electrical shielding, as necessary.

While work on the automatic scanner was proceeding, a financial crisis had to be overcome. The £500 budget Brown had been given by Kelvin and Hughes had already been spent many times over. In December 1959, without any immediate prospect of commercial sales, and in view of Donald's estimate that it could take a further 15 years for diagnostic ultrasound to become routine, Brown was told by his manager at Kelvin and Hughes that the company could not justify further financial backing for the project, although they had assured Donald that they would complete the automatic scanner. Donald promptly sought the support of the University of Glasgow and was immediately promised £750 towards the research project. Moreover, the University advised him to approach the Scottish Hospitals Endowments Research Trust, which he did with Slater, and was rewarded with a donation of £4,000. The Trust also advised him to apply to the National Research Development Corporation (NRDC), an organization set up to assist British industry to compete internationally. This resulted in the NRDC committing a total of £10,000 to Kelvin and Hughes towards the development of diagnostic ultrasonic scanning over several years [43]. The crisis was over.

In July 1960, the automatic scanner was exhibited at the Third International Conference of Medical Electronics, held at Olympia, London, but failed to attract any commercial interest. At this meeting, Donald and Brown met Howry for the first time, initiating a long lasting, mutually supportive collaboration. Despite there being no real hope of it being a marketable product, owing to its sheer complexity, Brown rightly described the automatic scanner as "a lovely machine" and felt it had established a benchmark in image quality. As he had hoped, it demonstrated effective scanning technique to trainee operators, helping to improve consistency of scanning expertise. It was the means by which Donald and MacVicar developed their image interpretation skills and understanding of the clinical role of diagnostic ultrasound, producing around 3,000 scans of reasonably



Fig. 13 Photographic record of the scan of an early pregnancy, obtained with the Automatic Scanner. Cards showing patient and scan details were included in the same exposure using an arrangement designed by Tom Brown. Photo courtesy of the BMUS Historical Collection.

consistent quality between 1959 and 1965 [24]. Figure 13 shows an example of an early pregnancy scan obtained

using the automatic scanner, together with scan and patient information written on cards that were included in the photographic record, a technique devised by Brown. It was replaced by the first manually operated Diasonograph (see Section IV below), but it went on to do non-obstetric/gynaecological service in the hands of radiologists Ellis Barnett and Pat Morley in the Glasgow Western Infirmary.

C. The 'Sundén' (Lund) machine.

Since 1953, Lund University had pioneered diagnostic applications of ultrasound, both to the brain by Leksell [9], and to the heart by Edler and Hertz [4]. Professor Alf Sjövall, Head of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, had taken an interest in this work and in May 1958 he had instructed a young doctor, Bertil Sundén, to use Leksell's equipment (a Krautkrämer flaw detector) to investigate the potential of ultrasound for his own discipline [44]. Donald visited Sjövall in June of that year to learn about the upcoming technique of laparoscopy and during his visit he spoke about his own ultrasound work. On hearing of the achievements in Glasgow, Sjövall arranged for Sundén to spend three weeks with Donald to learn what he could of the new ultrasound B-scan technique, which at that time was based on the bed-table scanner. On his return, Sundén obtained a grant from the Swedish Medical Council to buy a similar scanner for use in Lund. Much to the delight of Kelvin and Hughes, an order was placed in 1959 for an agreed cost of £2,500. Although, by this time, the automatic scanner was well advanced [23], Sundén requested a copy of the bed-table scanner he had used. This was never intended to be anything but a prototype and so a replica was out of the question. However, there was no doubt that only a machine with a hand-guided probe would be acceptable. Consequently, Brown and his managers at Kelvin and Hughes turned away from the automatic scanning approach for this and any future orders and decided to design a more refined manual contact scanner, with improved performance and ergonomics.



Fig. 14 Illustrating the principle of the system used to support and constrain the probe within the scan plane and to obtain the X,Y and angle coordinates of the probe relative to the scan plane.

Through his recent friendship with Howry, Brown was aware of the possibility of using an articulated arm (see section VIII *B*) to support the probe and measure its coordinates, but he continued to favour his original Cartesian coordinate method because of its intrinsically more rigid and accurate, albeit heavy and bulky, nature [23]. Figure 14 illustrates the general principle of the system of rails used to allow the probe free movement within a firmly defined scan plane and to measure the probe's X,Y coordinates and the angle of the probe to the Y axis. A photograph of the actual mechanics of a later version of the scanner (NE4102) is shown later in Figure 23b, but those in the Sundén scanner were basically similar. One of the designers at Kelvin and Hughes produced preliminary drawings of a machine to Brown's rough specification, but the company had a background in making equipment for industrial use and Brown felt the drawings did not suggest the kind of machine that would be appropriate for a clinical environment. Thanks to a mutual contact in the form of his sister in law, Brown met Dugald Cameron (Figure 15), a final year industrial design student at the Glasgow School of Art. Brown recognised that Cameron's talents and training could be just what was needed, so Cameron was commissioned to produce drawings showing how the aesthetics and the ergonomics of the design could be improved. Having first established that the machine should be planned around a single standing operator,

Cameron set about making the design, as far as possible, both ergonomically convenient for the operator and non-intimidating to the patient. An initial sketch by Cameron for the design is shown in Figure 16.





Fig. 15 Dugald Cameron, in the east basement of the Mackintosh Building of the Glasgow School of Art, using an air brush to produce presentation drawings for the Sundén scanner. Photo reproduced by the kind permission of Dugald Cameron.



Fig. 16 Original sketch by Dugald Cameron of Kelvin and Hughes' concept for the Sundén machine. The Glasgow School of Art. By kind permission of Dugald Cameron.

supported over the patient by a hinged arm from a substantial column standing to the side of the patient. The arm, and all it supported, could be moved up or down, counterbalanced by a weight inside the support column [23]. This hinged arm allowed the outer frame to be positioned, as required, transversely or longitudinally with respect to the patient. The outer frame was free to rotate about a vertical axis at the end of the hinged arm, allowing the user to select a transverse, sagittal or intermediate scan plane orientation.



Fig. 17 The only known photograph of the original Sundén prototype in use in Lund in 1962. Photographed by Clive Ross, soon after he had installed it. Reproduced by kind permission of Mrs J Ross.

A chain system kept the angle of the outer frame constant with respect to the patient's longitudinal axis as it was moved transversely or longitudinally. Between the vertical arms of the outer frame, was a relatively slim rectangular box, enclosing the probe coordinate measurement frame and support arm. The position and orientation of this conspicuous 'probe support box' left the operator in little doubt as to the position and orientation of the scan plane. The box could be tilted about a horizontal axis to allow non-vertical planes to be scanned, for example in order to scan from the surface of the abdomen up into the rib cage or down into the pelvis. From the bottom of the box emerged the probe support arm, at the lower end of which was the probe holder. One of a range of probes could be easily inserted into this by means of a simple bayonet fitting. The probe could be rotated through $\pm 135^{\circ}$ with respect to the 'Y' axis (scan plane vertical) within the scan plane by the operator, the rotation being transferred to, and measured by, a sine-cosine potentiometer located several centimetres above the probe on the same support arm. Separating the probe and the sine-cosine potentiometer in this way allowed the probe-holder to be smaller and neater, making it easier for the operator to grip and rotate the probe. The 'X' and 'Y' coordinates of the spindle, about which the probe rotated within the scan plane, were both measured by cable and pulley systems linking the spindle to linear potentiometers (Figure 14). The design also included the provision of accessible stowage for the range of probes and storage for the bottle of olive oil used for acoustic coupling. The job of overseeing the mechanical side of the project was entrusted to Brian Fraser, a senior development engineer within Kelvin & Hughes who had established a reputation as a practical designer in the field of marine instrumentation, leaving Brown free to concentrate on the electronics [23].

The electronics and their controls were housed in a console attached to the base of the support column on the side opposite the patient. A separate display console was suspended above the electronics console, on its own arm extending from the column. Although the structure was perfectly stable anyway, this gave the reassuring appearance of counterbalancing the heavy scanning frame suspended above the patient on the other side of the column. The display console accommodated two CRT screens for displaying B-mode scans, one with a long persistence phosphor for the operator to view and one with a short persistence phosphor for the Polaroid camera. This camera played a more fundamental role than simply providing a visual record of the images; it was intrinsic to the spatial compounding process since the final brightness of any target on the photograph was determined by the sum of several partial exposures, one for every time the ultrasound beam hit the target from a new direction [24]. It was, by now, considered that there was much less need for a dedicated A-mode display, although provision was made for an A-mode scan to be displayed on either of the B-mode screens if desired. As in the automatic scanner, Brown's continuing concern for safety meant that, as in the two previous scanners, the

receiver gain was set as high as electrical noise would allow and a switchable attenuator was provided that enabled the user to progressively increase the voltage drive to the transducer until usefully large echoes could be detected. Perhaps because this scanner was going out onto a world stage, his caution over safety was even greater and the PRF was reduced to 25 Hz, half that used in the automatic scanner [23]. An undesirable effect of this was the creation of gaps between lines of echoes whenever the probe was moved too quickly across the patient's skin; such gaps are evident in the B-scan of twins shown in Figure 18.



Fig. 18 Scan of a twin pregnancy clearly showing the two fetal heads, obtained using the Sundén machine in 1956. Photo courtesy of the BMUS Historical Collection.

After extensive testing by Donald and MacVicar at the Western Infirmary, the 700 kg machine was delivered to Lund, Ross travelling with it to install it. According to MacVicar, the date of delivery was 10th March 1962 [45], although according to Maršál and Sundén in Lund, it was in the autumn of 1961 [46]. Whatever the date, Sundén made good use of the machine, achieving impressive results and promoting the use of obstetric and gynaecological ultrasound in Europe as well as gathering material for an MD thesis "On the diagnostic value of ultrasound in obstetrics and gynaecology", which was examined by Donald and published in 1964 [47]. General maintenance was carried out by local engineers but, in March, 1964, John Fleming, an electrical engineer who joined the staff of the Hillington factory in 1962 as a development engineer on medical ultrasound projects, was sent to Lund to carry out a major overhaul [48]. Amongst the jobs needed was the replacement of the sine-cosine potentiometer used to measure the probe angle to the scan plane vertical. Wear of the wire-wound track due to the constant use of the machine and, it was suspected, poor standards of potentiometer manufacture, meant that echoes were being increasingly misplaced on the scan. Intimate acquaintance with the electronics of the Sundén machine and its limitations was to prove valuable to Fleming when helping to develop improvements for future commercial machines. Notwithstanding minor problems, the Sundén machine was much more refined than its two predecessors but, sadly, unlike them it was not destined to a final resting place in the Historical Collection of the British Medical Ultrasound Society (BMUS) but was to end its days in the hands of a scrap merchant [23].

IV. Smiths LTD.

Meanwhile, in the Hillington factory, gradual progress was being made towards a production version of the Sundén machine. Work was also proceeding towards the production of a portable A-scan instrument with electronic calipers, to meet an expected demand for fetal cephalometry arising from the work of Duggan and Willocks. For a while, progress was hindered by major organizational changes to the company. For several years, Smiths Group had held a controlling interest in the company. In 1961, this resulted in the name Kelvin and Hughes changing to Smiths Industries Ltd. Problems in other parts of the company were addressed at the same time and, in the words of Brown, "medical ultrasonics had to take a bit of back seat" [23] as he and his team were asked to spend most of their time working on the commercial version of the semi-automatic industrial testing system with which he had made his mark at the start of his career. However, overall, the takeover did

bring improvements to the resources needed to develop the new ultrasound production machines. These included the recruitment of two engineers, John Fleming and Angus Hall, to join Brown in 1962.

A. The Smiths' Diasonograph.

In 1963, Brown tasked Fleming with revising the electronics for the new production machine while he oversaw the redesign of the mechanical side. Brown again invited Cameron to be involved, this time formerly as an industrial design consultant, working with one of the company's mechanical engineers, David McNair. The brief was to design a scanner that was physically safe for the patient and straightforward to manufacture. Possibly mindful of Donald's preference for the term 'sonar' rather than 'ultrasound', Brown suggested that the new diagnostic scanner might be called the 'Diasonic Scanner' and that the A-scan instrument might be called the 'Diasonograph' for the B-scanner.



Fig. 19 One of the first production Diasonographs in Smiths' factory, Hillington, Glasgow, c 1963. Also pictured is Arthur Johnson, a draughtsman involved in the project. Photo courtesy of the BMUS Historical Collection.

A major change to the mechanics of what was to be known as the Smiths' Diasonograph was the replacement of the elegant hinged 'elbow, shoulder and wrist-joint' arm that supported the measuring frame on the Sundén scanner with something that was less difficult and costly to manufacture. As may be seen in Figure 19, in the new design the probe support box and its outer frame, above the patient, were mounted at the end of a pair of substantial parallel steel tubes which could slide in and out of the side of a heavy and very stable, slab-sided cabinet. Inside this cabinet, the linear bearings through which the tubes passed were mounted on a counterbalanced slide, which could be driven up and down by an electric motor in order to adjust the height of the measuring frame above the patient. Brown still had in mind an ambition for 3D scanning at some future time so he ensured the counterbalancing would be sufficient to cope with the extra weight if the probe movements were to be motorized at some stage. The outer frame and probe support box were designed on similar lines to those in the Sundén machine, although they, and indeed the whole machine, which weighed nearly a ton, had a greater bulk and a less elegant look. It was not long before the machine acquired the nickname 'Dinosaurograph'. Reflecting the technical background of its makers, measuring scales were attached to the outer frame and box so that the coordinates and orientation of the scan plane could be recorded. In practice, little use was made of these, as operators preferred to use anatomical features on the patient, such as the umbilicus or symphysis pubis, to record the position of the scan plane. Brown's original intention was that the new machine would have a motorized couch that could move the patient longitudinally beneath the scanning frame [24]. Apart from being more convenient for the operator, a motorized couch would also have made it easier to modify the machine to automatically acquire sets of closely spaced transverse scans, should there ever be sufficient interest in 3D scanning. However, cost considerations meant that a simple modified hospital trolley was used in the production version of the scanner.

The electronics of the Sundén machine were based on thermionic valves (vacuum tube devices). Fleming was aware of the recent progress in semiconductor devices and their many advantages, including greater robustness, smaller size and lower power consumption. He therefore offered to transistorize everything, but Brown felt such an undertaking would be too expensive and time consuming and instructed him to stick with valve technology. Fraser later commented [49] that the decision as to whether or not to adopt solid state technology around that time was difficult since, although manufacturers were aware that valves would soon be obsolete, solid state technology was not quite adequately developed. Fleming redesigned the power supplies from scratch, but in revising the timing and transmitting circuits he made direct use of circuits from the company's latest (Mark VII) flaw detector. The probe frequencies chosen were the same as used in the Mark VII flaw detector, namely 1.5 MHz, 2.5 MHz and 5 MHz, as this allowed him to use the new switchable amplifier of the Mark VII to replace the three separate plug-in amplifiers used in the Sundén machine. Besides being more convenient for the operator, this meant there was no need to provide protective storage for the amplifiers that were not plugged in. The probes were quick and easy to change, thanks to their simple bayonet fitting. Similar probe fittings were used on all subsequent evolutions of the Diasonograph; Figure 20 shows a photograph of the probe holder on the next incarnation, the NE4101 discussed in Section V *A*, below.



Fig. 20 The probe holder and probe storage facility on the NE 4101 Diasonograph. Photo courtesy of the Science Museum Group (https://collection.sciencemuseumgroup.org.uk/)

Cameron's original design for the Diasonograph was based on the assumption of a single operator, able to take advantage of a motorized couch. The decision not to incorporate a motorized couch meant that singlehanded operation became difficult, although not impossible, and that, normally, two operators would be required - one to scan with the probe and another to operate the controls. In keeping with Brown's philosophy of trying to keep the scanning process as 'doctor-proof' as possible [24], there were three sets of controls on the electronic console, each requiring a different level of expertise (Figure 21) [50]. Covers were provided so that only the appropriate level controls could be revealed. The rightmost control panel housed the primary controls, consisting of the on/off switch, the sensitivity switch (in the form of a variable transmitter voltage attenuator) and the frequency selection switch (which changed the frequency band of the receiver RF amplifier). To the left of this panel was the panel containing the secondary controls, intended for more experienced operators. The main control was a switch to select either A-mode, M-mode (known then as 'Time-Position' (TP) mode) or B-mode (known then as 'Cross-sectional Display' or 'Section Scan'). There were also controls specific to each mode, such as 'scale', 'vertical shift' and 'horizontal shift' for B-mode, 'gain', 'reject' (suppression of weak echoes) and baseline time 'delay' and 'expansion' for A-mode, and 'sweep start' and 'sweep rate' for M-mode. The tertiary controls were less accessible, behind a fold down flap below the primary and secondary control panels. These were primarily for use by service engineers when calibrating the equipment and for technically advanced users, for example if engaged in experiments and research. Surprisingly, to users of modern diagnostic scanners, these tertiary controls included those for adjusting the swept gain.

A 'probe dispenser' was built into the outer frame, with a socket for storing each of the three probes (Fig. 20). An interlock mechanism between the frequency selection switch and the probe dispenser ensured that only the

probe that matched the setting of the frequency selection switch could be released for use. Conversely, it ensured that the frequency selection switch could not be moved if the probe matching its current setting was absent from its socket on the probe dispenser.



Figure 21. The controls on the console of the Smiths' Diasonograph, with the three levels of control and Polaroid camera, designed by Dugald Cameron. Photo reproduced by the kind permission of Dugald Cameron

The Smiths' Diasonograph was the world's first production model of an obstetric ultrasonic scanner, producing images that were superior to those of the Sundén machine and its predecessors. The Ministry of Health helped to stimulate the market by placing an order for four machines for research into the clinical application of ultrasound in UK centres. The first was installed in Glasgow's soon to be opened Queen Mother's Maternity Hospital in December 1963. Donald enjoyed experimenting with all the controls, including the tertiary ones, to the extent that he trained an assistant to scan patients with the machine, while he operated the controls. That assistant was Mrs Ida Miller, the "very efficient" wife of a local GP of Donald's acquaintance, recruited by Donald to help organize the scanning department [22] [51]. Over time, he allowed Miller to scan patients without his being present, thereby making her possibly the first sonographer in the UK, if not the world. In view of her lack of any formal medical qualification, he arranged later for a CCTV link between the scan room and his office so that he could exercise at least a nominal degree of supervision [52].

In 1965, Smiths Industries underwent internal organizational and management changes which did not suit Brown [23]. He left to work as Chief Engineer of Honeywell's Medical Equipment Division in Hemel Hempstead, working on equipment associated with heart surgery and coronary care, but no ultrasound. Fraser took over from him as leader of Smiths' ultrasound department, continuing to produce Diasonographs, of which twelve were sold by 1966.

Despite the sale of Diasonographs, by this time the Hillington factory of Smiths was losing money. It had also suffered a blow in losing a legal dispute with Automation Industries (USA) over global rights to patents concerning contact transducer systems, included some naming Brown as inventor [23]. The outcome was that, in 1967, Smiths decided to close their Hillington factory, giving up their investment in medical ultrasound. Determined to protect the British lead in obstetric and gynaecological ultrasound that he had done so much to establish, Donald turned again to the University of Glasgow, asking for permission to employ electronic engineers to maintain and develop the ultrasound equipment in Queen Mother's Hospital [53]. Much to Donald's amazement, the Principal, then Sir Charles Wilson, authorized him to set up the University Department of Ultrasonic Technology, complete with two full-time staff.

Fleming was pleased to accept a post as Research Technologist in the new department and encouraged his former colleague, Angus Hall, who had left Smiths two months earlier, to join him. The third member of the team was Jonathan Powell, a technician whom Willocks described as a "mechanical wizard" [53]. As a bonus, a large quantity of instruments and electronic components were acquired from Smiths for a nominal sum. They set to work correcting a variety of small but troublesome problems with their Diasonograph [54]. As on the Sundén machine, the wire-wound sine-cosine potentiometer was giving trouble. They found a permanent solution to this by sourcing, from the USA, a sine-cosine potentiometer with a plastic conductive track. Earthing problems were

also addressed, thereby curing a problem of transient oscillation which had occasionally spoilt the images. This, in turn, allowed them to increase the receiver gain, resulting in improved penetration and sensitivity [55]. The Smiths' Diasonograph remained in service in Donald's department at the Queen Mother's Hospital until 1972, by which time an NE 4102 Diasonograph (see below) had been installed there [56]. About this time, Donald underwent a series of three major heart operations in a four-year period, retiring soon afterwards in 1976.

V. NUCLEAR ENTERPRISES LTD.

In 1967, after a period of competitive negotiations, during which Brown visited and briefed Sam Davis, Under-Secretary at the Ministry of Health in London [24], Smiths' interest in medical ultrasound was acquired by Nuclear Enterprises Ltd, a small but successful Edinburgh-based company that made gamma cameras, amongst other products. They immediately recruited Brown back from his position with Honeywell and also employed Fraser, who had been made redundant when Smiths had closed the Hillington factory. Donald was hired as a consultant.

A. The NE 4101.

The first Nuclear Enterprises version of the Smiths' Diasonograph was marketed as the NE 4101 [59]. Built with the help of stock inherited from Smiths, the mechanics and electronics were virtually identical to the Smiths' Diasonograph but the layout of the controls was different. There was no longer a distinction between 'primary' and 'secondary' controls, and the PRF was switchable between 50, 150 and 300 Hz. The NE 4101 had a superior performance to the Smith's Diasonograph, particularly in regard to registration (positional accuracy of targets on the B-scan image) when compounding (insonating from different directions). The improvement was due to the combination of many small factors, including the use of higher quality components and more careful assembly [57].

Around 1968, Brown started to go through what he described as "a difficult personal patch, probably reacting to past domestic problems and a very uncomfortable period with Honeywell", and for a time he was fairly incapacitated [23]. In 1970 he left Nuclear Enterprises to become a Research Fellow in Medical Physics at the University of Edinburgh [24]. In 1973 he joined Sonicaid Ltd. to pursue his ambition to develop a 3D ultrasound scanner, as mentioned in section III *B*. The resulting '3D Multiplanar Scanner' [41] did not enjoy much commercial success and production ended in 1979, when Brown gave up his medical ultrasound activities to work in the oil and gas industry. In 1999 he moved back into the medical world, becoming Quality Manager at the Radiological Protection Centre, St George's Hospital, London. He retired in 2002, setting up a small firm, NoStrain, in 2005 to help sonographers who suffered from musculoskeletal disorders as a result of scanning [58].

B. The NE 4102.

Brown's departure from Nuclear Enterprises meant that Fraser again became the main driving force for further development of the Diasonograph to what was to be the NE 4102 (Figures 22 and 23) [60]. The electronics console, previously forming the base of the support cabinet, now became a separate movable unit. This allowed the operator to sit closer to the patient whilst still viewing the screen and gave more freedom of choice in the layout of the scanning room. Instead of one display screen, serving whichever mode the operator selected, there were now two screens, one with a short persistence phosphor, particularly suitable for producing photographic records with a Polaroid camera, and one with a variable persistence phosphor. In place of cathode ray tubes with associated circuitry built in-house, fully assembled and tested display units were bought-in from Hewlett Packard. Push-button switches next to each screen determined whether that screen displayed A-mode, M-Mode or B-mode. An electronic caliper, as pioneered by Duggan, complete with a prominent digital display, could be used with either display screen. The caliper velocity could be set by the user - a facility which sometimes led to confusion when comparing successive BPD measurements of the same fetus at different hospitals [61]. Although A-mode scans were no longer used much to interpret echo patterns, they were sensitive indicators of rapid tissue movement. A valuable application of this was confirmation of fetal life by directing the probe onto the fetal or embryonic heart; M-mode could then be used to provide a photographic record.

Like the display units, the power supplies for the electronics were bought-in as ready-built and tested modules, in this case supplied by Standard Telephones and Cables Ltd. Using ready-built and tested components like these meant that the electronics were more tightly specified and reliable, leading to noticeable improvements to the images, including superior registration to that of the NE 4101. A signal processing option known as
'Differentiation' was introduced. As its name implies, this involved differentiating the rectified echo pulses, so that a very short spike was produced by the rapidly rising leading edge of each demodulated echo. This spike was mixed with the original demodulated echo signal, thereby improving axial resolution, albeit at the cost of a substantial loss of grey tone discrimination. Three controls were provided to set the swept gain characteristics,



Fig.22. The NE 4102 Diasonograph. From Bulletin No. 64 - New Diasonograph NE4102 Diagnostic Ultrasonic Scanner. Nuclear Enterprises Ltd, 1972 [60].

arranged around a graphical representation of how the sensitivity increased with target depth. One control, labelled 'Initial attenuation (dB)' set the sensitivity close to the probe, a second, labelled 'Delay (mm)' set the depth range over which this initial sensitivity was maintained, and the third, labelled 'Slope (dB/cm)', set the rate at which the sensitivity increased with depth beyond the end of the delay.



Fig. 23. a) Patient's view of the probe, the probe support box and the outer frame of the box, on an NE 4102. From Nuclear Enterprises Bulletin No. 64 [60]. b) View of the interior of the probe support box. The X and Y guide rails shown schematically in Figure 14 are prominent. Photo courtesy of the Design Council Slide Collection at Manchester Metropolitan University Special Collections.

As in previous Diasonographs, in order to minimise the ultrasound energy delivered to the patient, the sensitivity was varied by keeping the gain of the RF receiving amplifier as high as electronic noise would allow and using the sensitivity controls to vary the transmission excitation voltage In line with the growing confidence in the safety of diagnostic ultrasound, the standard PRF was increased to 600 Hz although a 'Velocity controlled' option was provided whereby the PRF varied between 60 and 1000 Hz according to the speed at which the probe was scanned across the patient, transmissions stopping altogether if the probe was held still in one position. The scanner's valve circuitry had been overdue for modernization and Fraser gave the task of re-designing the electronics using semiconductor technology to Alan Cole, described by Brown as "a very gifted electronics engineer" [23]. By the time the NE 4102 Diasonograph went on sale in 1972, the only valve remaining was a thyratron, a switch in the form of a gas-filled tube, used to discharge a capacitor across the transducer element. This was soon replaced by a newly developed solid-state switching device, the silicon controlled rectifier (aka thyristor) [57].

An example of a B-scan image of an early pregnancy obtained with this scanner, shown in Figure 24, illustrates the greater detail that could be seen as a result of the improved electronics. Combined with the rigidity and mechanical precision which had always been at the heart of the Diasonograph mechanics, this improvement in registration allowed more accurate size measurements to be made of anatomical structures. Hugh Robinson, First Assistant to Donald from 1972, took advantage of this to obtain accurate measurements of the crown-to-rump lengths of embryos and thereby establish a valuable method for assessing embryo growth [62]. The NE4102 was a marked advancement on the NE4101 and by November 1972 a hundred had been sold [63] in over forty countries around the world [64]. An NE 4102 installed in The Queen Mothers Hospital was in service until 1979 [56].



Fig. 24. B-scan of an early gestation sac, obtained with an NE 4102 Diasonograph. From Nuclear Enterprises Bulletin No. 64 [60].

C. Analogue Scan Converters.

In 1975, a major greyscale update was introduced for use with the NE 4102. Similar upgrades were being incorporated into scanners from other manufacturers at the same time, sometimes being retrofitted by medical physics departments [65]. These took advantage of the recent advances in image storage tubes, a popular example being the 'Lithocon' tube, as used in the PEP 400 and PEP 500 analogue scan converters from Princeton Electronic Products, USA [66]. At one end of an evacuated glass tube was a conducting 'target' consisting of a single crystal of silicon, on which was a mosaic of thousands of tiny non-conducting islands of silicon dioxide. There were three basic modes of operation: write, read and erase, carried out consecutively. In write mode, an electron beam emanating from a cathode, was accelerated and scanned across the target, using an X,Y timebase sweep, matching that of the CRT displays. By modulating the accelerating voltage of the electron beam with the amplified echo signal, negative charge was deposited onto the islands in proportions to that signal. By the end of each ultrasound scan, a charge pattern equivalent to the B-scan image had been painted onto the insulated mosaic. In read mode, this charge pattern could be read non-destructively and displayed on a TV monitor by scanning the same electron beam across the mosaic in a TV raster pattern. However, in this mode the voltage of the target was held only a few volts positive, so that the number of electrons reaching it was strongly influenced by the local negative charge on the island(s) immediately beneath the electron beam. The flow of

these electrons from the target formed the output current used to modulate the brightness of the TV monitor. In erase mode, another raster scan of the electron beam was performed, with the target voltage raised to several volts positive, so that electrons from the beam could flood onto all the islands of the mosaic and raise all their voltages to that of the cathode.

When first introduced, the operator had to monitor the build-up of the B-scan image on a long persistence CRT, since the scan converter had to remain in write mode over this time. Only when the scan was complete, could he/she select read mode to see the greyscale image from the lithocon target on the TV monitor. This limitation was soon overcome by multiplexing between read and write every few lines of the TV raster scan. Gaps in the image during the intervals of reading were avoided by writing for the first (say) 2 ms of a TV field, reading for the next 2 ms, writing for the next 2 ms, and so on, but on the next field reading for the first 2 ms, writing for the next 2 ms, and so on. The brief transitions between reading and writing bands produced thin dark lines across the screen, giving a so-called 'venetian blind' effect, but this was a small price to pay for the ability to see the progressive build-up of the grey scale image as the probe was moved across the patient. Analogue scan converters revolutionized the display of ultrasonic images as they could produce bright images with about ten levels of grey, giving a huge improvement in grey level differentiation between tissues. They also improved spatial resolution on compounded images due to the more controlled build-up of charge on a given island when the corresponding tissue target was repeatedly scanned from different directions. The density of the insulated islands in the target mosaic was sufficiently high to allow four separate images to be written, stored, read and erased independently without noticeable loss of spatial resolution. Read-out using a raster that covered the whole mosaic presented the four images together on the viewing monitor, a facility known as 'quad display' that was incorporated into some later Diasonographs. The relatively bright screen of a TV monitor meant that users could, at last, be freed from the requirement of working in relatively dark scan rooms. The TV format also meant that video storage and multiple viewing screens could be used, for example in consulting rooms or lecture theatres. Notwithstanding its advantages, the advent of B-mode images having a good range of grey tones was not universally welcomed. It was not unknown for some ultrasound users, who had learned to interpret images with no, or very few discernible grey tones, to deliberately throw away the new greyscale information by adjusting the dynamic range controls to produce images with the high contrast appearance they were used to.

A special version of the NE 4102, marketed as the NE 4102B, incorporated this greyscale facility, including the 'quad' display option, as standard, but a separate add-on package for existing NE 4102 scanners was made available as the NE 4104G Greyscale Storage Display [67]. An example of a greyscale B-scan image of an early pregnancy obtained with an NE 4102 equipped with an analogue scan converter is shown in Figure 25. Other accessories for use with the Greyscale Storage Display were introduced at the same time. These were: the NE 4106 Hard Copy Unit, based on a fibre optic recorder that produced approximately A4 sized (216 x 279 mm) grey scale images in just 12 seconds, the NE 4108 Video Cartridge Recorder and the NE 4210 Remote Photographic Facility, comprising a 6 inch (150 mm) TV monitor with a hinged adaptor to accept a Polaroid, or 70 mm, camera.



Fig. 25 Annotated greyscale B-scan of an early pregnancy obtained using an NE4102 fitted with an analogue scan converter. From Nuclear Enterprises Bulletin No. 434 [67].

D. The NE 4200.

In 1976, the NE 4200 was introduced [64]. Two high performance self-contained display units from Hewlett Packard were built into the electronic console, side by side. One was a short persistence HP 1332 for photography, but which could also display the TV image if required. The other was a variable persistence storage HP 1335, with a foot-operated erase switch. The NE 4200 could be ordered with greyscale imaging, based on a PEP 500 analogue scan converter and a separate TV monitor. The concept of greyscale enhancement of contrast resolution was taken further than on the NE 4102B, by providing an optional Colour Conversion Unit (NE 4204C). This comprised a 20-inch (508 mm) colour TV monitor and additional circuitry that added colour to the greyscale image. The signal amplitude range (window) over which the colour was applied could be varied by the operator to highlight subtle changes in echo amplitude, for example when looking for abnormal tissue, generating echo amplitudes that were only slightly different to echo amplitudes from surrounding normal tissue.

Different signal processing options could be selected by a row of four push buttons. One pair of push buttons selected between 'Greyscale' and 'Non-Greyscale'. The latter option provided what the brochure described as "outline-type scans of important structures" [64], but this option also made the machine more acceptable to those users, mentioned above, who were, at least initially, happier with the high contrast images they had become accustomed to. Another pair of buttons selected between 'Diff in' and 'Diff out', where 'Diff' stood for 'Differentiated', as explained earlier for the NE 4102.

Bayonet fitting probes with frequencies of 0.5, 1.5, 2.5, 5 and10 MHz were available. There was also a 2.5 MHz biopsy probe (NE 4167), principally intended for amniocentesis, having a central aperture sufficient for needles up to 1.96 mm in diameter. A handheld 2.5 MHz probe, for cardiology applications, was also available, intended for use with an optional cardiac module (NE 4103C), built into the console. This module allowed simultaneous presentation of M-mode, then known as Time-Position (TP) mode, ECG and PCG traces. The PRF remained at 600 Hz, as in the NE 4102, but it was increased to 1800 Hz in M-Mode when using the cardiac module or at the upper limit of Velocity Controlled mode. An NE 4200 installed in Donald's department in 1976 remained in service until 1985 [56], by which time real-time scanning was starting to become widely established, eventually to make so-called 'static scanners', including the Diasonographs, obsolete.

VI. EMI LTD.

By 1977, Nuclear Enterprises was producing fifteen Diasonographs every month, with a backlog of seven months of orders [68]. Production of ultrasound equipment was starting to dominate the company's activities and this change to the company profile did not sit easily with the directors. EMI, a large international organization with a proven track record in manufacturing medical imaging systems, had increased its shareholding in Nuclear Enterprises to ninety percent in 1976 [69] and in 1977 the directors of Nuclear Enterprises decided to sell their ultrasound division to them.

A. The EMISONIC 4200.

Soon after this takeover, the EMISONIC 4200 Diasonograph was launched. A brochure [70] photograph is shown in Figure 26a. This machine was basically very similar to the NE 4200, although there were a few minor changes, including the layout and style of some of the controls on the console. The 0.5 MHz probe was dropped from the range and a 3.5 MHz probe was added, part of an extended range of over sixteen probes with frequencies of 1.5 MHz, 2.5 MHz, 3.5 MHz, 5.0 MHz and 10 MHz. For probes of all frequencies, a choice of either unfocused, medium or long focal length was offered. A 2.5 MHz, unfocused biopsy/aspiratory transducer was also offered, having a 13 mm diameter and a central 2.4 mm aperture to accommodate a 14 gauge (2.108 mm diameter) aspiratory or biopsy needle. The acoustic power output and PRFs of the EMI 4200 remained as they were in the NE4200, except for a reduction in PRF to 1200 Hz when using the cardiac facility. As in the earlier 4102B model, a 'Quad' option that allowed four greyscale scans to be displayed on the TV monitor at the same time, each being independently written and erased. A new patient safety feature was added in the form of proximity detectors, built into the lower faces of the outer frame to ensure that neither the outer frame nor the probe support box could press down onto the patient. This and other features are indicated in an annotated view of the mechanical system shown in Figure 26b. A greyscale B-scan, obtained with an EMI 4200, of a sagittal cross-section of a liver with metastases, is shown in Figure 27.



Fig. 26 a) The EMISONIC 4200 Diasonograph. b) Annotated image of the mechanical system. From Nuclear Enterprises Bulletin No. 112 (1977) [70].



Fig. 27 B-scan of a liver with metastases, using the EMI 4200. From Nuclear Enterprises Bulletin No. 112 (1977) [70].

B. The EMISONIC 4201.

A second EMI Diasonograph, the EMISONIC 4201 (Figure 28) was launched in 1978 [71]. This machine had motorized movement of the outer frame and the probe support box, including automatic shifts (selectable between 2 mm and 40 mm) of the scan plane in a direction perpendicular to itself to facilitate acquisition of parallel sets of scans. A 9-inch (230 mm) TV monitor screen for greyscale images was built into the electronics console, alongside the short persistence and long persistence display modules. Every displayed and recorded scan could be automatically annotated with information such as the hospital name, patient number, scan serial number, scan plane coordinates and caliper reading. Potentially useful safety related information could also be

included automatically in any of the displays, such as the probe frequency, transmission attenuation, and even the total number of pulses delivered to each patient. The quoted values for maximum temporal average output power were slightly greater than on the EMI 4200. For example, for the NE 4238 long focus, 13mm diameter 2.5 MHz probe, supplied as standard on both machines, the maximum temporal average output power was quoted as 6.92 mW for the NE 4200 and 10.8 mW for the NE4201. Although only a small increase, and quite insufficient to produce significant heating, even of bone [72], this was an early pointer towards a more dramatic trend over the coming two decades for acoustic outputs to be increased in order to improve image quality [73]. Provision was made for the console to interface with the EMISONIC 4264 'Spinner' real-time sector scanner (Figure 37b). An EMISONIC 4201 was in use in the Queen Mother's Hospital, Glasgow, until 1987 [56].



Fig. 28. The EMISONIC 4201. From Nuclear Enterprises Bulletin No. 116 (1978) [71]

VII. FISCHER LTD.

The final chapter of the Diasonograph story began in 1980 when EMI sold its medical ultrasound business to H. G. Fischer Inc., USA [69]. A new company, Fischer Ultrasound, was then formed, located in the former Nuclear Enterprises factory at Sighthill, Edinburgh.

A Fischer 4200S.

A modular ultrasound scanning system was produced, based on a console called the Fischer 4200S [74] (Figure 29a). This was similar to the console of the EMISONIC 4201 but without the long persistence monitor. The analogue scan converter was replaced by a digital scan converter, commercial examples of which were produced from 1976, although it took a few more years for their performance to match that of analogue scan converters [75]. This console could be combined with either the Diasonograph 4200 rectilinear B-scan mechanics, a more flexible articulated B-scan arm mounted on a substantial support column that was clearly from the Diasonograph stable [76] (Figure 29b), or a real-time hand-held sector-scanner probe (Figure 37c).



Fig. 29 a) Fischer 4200S console. From Fischer Ultrasound sales leaflet for 4200S [74]. b) Articulated arm option for the Fischer 4200S. From Fischer Ultrasound sales leaflet for the Articulated Scan Arm [76].

B. Other Fischer Ultrasound Products.

Fischer produced other diagnostic ultrasound products in the 1980s, principally real time systems such as the MARTI mechanical spinner [77], one of which was in the Queen Mother's Hospital between 1980 and 1986 [56]) and the LINUS linear array scanner [78]. Manufacturing continued in Edinburgh until 1995 [68].

VIII. CONTEMPORARY DEVELOPMENTS.

The purpose of this section is to lend some perspective to the Diasonograph story by briefly reviewing developments in medical ultrasonic imaging that were occurring elsewhere at the same time.

A. Other non-commercial B-scanning systems in the late 1950s.

In the late 1950s, before the Glasgow B-scanning work had resulted in a commercial system, researchers in other centres were also developing clinically useful ultrasound B-scanners. The water-bath approach was made more acceptable for clinical use by having the patient in acoustic contact with, but not immersed in, a water-filled bag or tank, within which the transducer was scanned. For example, in Japan, between 1954 and 1957, Surgeons Kenji Tanaka & Toshio Wagai at the Juntendo University, Tokyo, together with physicist Yoshimitsu Kikuchi and engineer Rokuro Uchida, built a scanner involving a water-filled bag that was lowered into contact with a patient lying on a couch [79][80]. In the USA, in 1957, Howry's group developed the 'Pan Scanner'. This consisted of a semi-circular water tank that half-surrounded the seated subject, allowing compound scanning of internal organs from a wide range of angles [81]. In 1960, at the Commonwealth Acoustics Laboratory (CAL) in Australia, later to become the Ultrasonic Institute, engineer David Robinson with physicist George Kossoff and obstetrician William Garret, designed and built a water-tank compound scanner, somewhat on the lines of the Pan Scanner but with a smaller angular width of arc [82]. It was specifically intended for obstetrics and had

much superior signal processing and compounding. The CAL group went on to develop systems for imaging other parts of the body, including eyes and breasts, setting world-beating standards in lateral resolution and signal processing. Some of this work is described in the next section (B).



Fig. 30 The One-point Contact Sector Scanner of Kikuchi [83] being used by to scan a brain c 1957. It was also used successfully, later, in obstetrics and gynecology. Courtesy of the BMUS Historical Collection.

Unknown to Brown, as he worked on his bed-table contact scanner in 1957, a different form of contact scanner was being developed by Kikuchi and the Juntendo group. They called their technique 'One-point contact-sector scanning tomography' [83], since the transducer was constrained to rotate about its face, in contact with a fixed point on the patient's skin (Figure 30). Originally, the system was designed as a means of imaging the brain, for which a fixed point of contact on the skull had the advantage that artefacts due to variations in skull thickness were reduced, but the scanner later proved popular, in Japan, for scanning obstetric, gynecological and general abdominal cases.

B. Commercial B-scanners contemporary with the Diasonograph scanners.



Fig. 31. a) The 'Porta-Scan' articulated-arm scanner designed in 1962, by engineers William Wright and Ralph Meyerdirk and commercially produced in 1963 by their own company, Physionic Engineering Inc., Colarado. b) A more sturdy articulated-arm scanner built by medical physicist Peter Wells, of Bristol General Hospital, UK around the same time as the Porta-scan. This was connected to an NE 4101 Diasonograph console, as shown. Photos courtesy of the BMUS Historical Collection.

In 1963, an articulated arm scanner, the 'Porta-Scan" (Fig. 31a) was produced by Physionic Engineering Inc., in Colarado. This company had been formed in 1962 by engineers William Wright and Ralph Meyerdirk, who had been working with Holmes and the Howry group. This type of probe support arm was much less bulky than the Diasonograph rectilinear rail-based system, and allowed easier probe movement, although it did not share its intrinsic rigidity and positional accuracy. At about the same time, medical physicist Peter Wells, at Bristol General Hospital, UK, developed a more sturdy example [84], which he interfaced to an NE 4101 Diasonograph console (Fig. 31b). Articulated arms became the norm in commercial compound contact B-scanners, other early examples being the Combison 1, from Kretztechnik in 1966, the SSD-10 from Aloka in 1967, the Picker Laminograph, a development of the Porta-Scan, in 1969.

Meanwhile, the era of water-bag scanners was far from over. In fact, the first ultrasound B-scanner to be commercially produced was the SSD-1 water-bag scanner (Figure 32), from the Japanese company, Aloka, in 1960. This company was founded by Uchida, previously with the Juntendo group, and the scanner was a development of their work.



Fig. 32 The Aloka SSD-1 water-bag scanner, introduced in 1960. This was the commercial development of the system developed by the Juntendo University group (Section VIII *A*). Photo courtesy of the BMUS Historical Collection.

In 1965, a real-time water-bag-based mechanical scanner, the 'Vidoson', was commercially introduced by Siemens Medical Systems, Germany (Figure. 33). Developed in-house by engineer Richard Soldner, physicist Heinz Kresse and laboratory head Wolfgang Krause, this device involved the rotation of a wheel with three evenly spaced transducers set into its rim, rotating about the focal axis of a parabolic mirror. The beams reflected from the mirror remained parallel to the mirror's principal axis as they made repeated linear sweeps across the mirror's aperture, albeit at non-uniform speed. The Vidoson was the first commercial real-time ultrasound scanner; it achieved a frame rate of 15 images per second, each made up of 120 lines. The designers had initially planned to create a breast scanner, but the final device found its principal métier in obstetric and gynecological applications.



Fig. 33. a) The 'Vidoson' real-time water-bath scanner, was commercially introduced by Siemens Medical Systems, Germany, in 1965. As each of three transduces was rotated around the focal line of a parabolic mirror, its reflected beam was swept across the aperture, remaining parallel to the principal axis. b) An example of a single frame from an obstetric patient. Courtesy of the BMUS Historical Collection.

The mid-1970s witnessed the zenith of water-tank scanning. This took the form of the Australian 'Octoson', which involved the patient lying on a flexible waterproof sheet, forming the upper surface of a water-filled bath (Figure 34a). This scanner was the commercial version of a prototype annular array compound scanner developed by the team at CAL between 1973 and 1974 [85]. It was marketed from 1975 by Ausonics Pty., a company created by the laboratory (by then renamed the Ultrasonics Institute) for the purpose. Water tanks have a unique advantage in that they allow the use of large aperture annular array transducers, which can produce very narrow, dynamically focused, transmit-receive beams, and hence much better lateral resolution than is possible with a contact scanner. By using eight annular array transducers, arranged in an arc (Figure 34b), the time for each scan was kept to just 4 seconds. Each transducer was rocked through a range of angles such that eight sector-shaped scans were generated, each having 500 lines. These sector scans overlapped in the target region of the patient, producing a compound scan with precisely defined registration, as well as high line density, image uniformity and grey scale (Figure 34c). More than 200 Octosons, costing around \$A100,000 each, were sold world-wide, before real-time, hand-held scanners became dominant.



Fig.34 a) The 'Octoson' water-tank scanner, developed by the Ultrasonics Institute, Sydney and marketed, from 1975, by Ausonics Pty. b) Sector scan images from eight large aperture, dynamically focused annular array transducers, were combined to form a compound B-scan image. The image quality was unrivalled for its time, as illustrated by the obstetric example (c). Images from the Octoson sales brochure.

C. The real-time revolution.

A revolution began in the late 1960s and early 1970s that would ultimately lead to the near universal use of real-time, hand-held scanners. These can be categorized broadly as working either by: electronically stepping the beam along a linear array of transducer elements (linear array probes), electronically deflecting the beam to scan in a sector format (phased array probes), or mechanically sweeping the beam through a sector or in a linear fashion (mechanical scanners).

i. Early linear array probes.

In the west, it was long accepted that the first prototype diagnostic linear array system was one built by a group at Erasmus University, Rotterdam, led by Nicolaas Bom [86]. In fact, unknown to western researchers, at the same time as this group was building a scanner that gave an image of just 20 lines, a vastly more sophisticated prototype linear array scanner, with 181 channels (scan lines) and 200 narrow rectangular transducer elements, acting in groups of 20, was developed in Japan [87]. It was the work of Takasuke Irie and his supervisors Yoshio Hagiwara and Rokuro Uchida of the company 'Japan Radiation and Medical Electronics Inc' (later to become Aloka). Ignorance of this remarkable Japanese achievement continued through the 1970s and beyond, as western researchers and manufacturers produced their own linear array scanners. The first commercial example, in 1972, was the 20-channel Organon Teknika 'Multiscan', a direct implementation of Bom's 20-channel system. This was followed, in 1973, by the much superior and very popular 61-channel ADR scanner (Figure 35), made by the Advanced Diagnostic Research Corporation in the USA. A second ADR scanner, the 'ADR 2130', with electronic focusing, was marketed in 1975. Concurrent with, but unaware of, American developments, the author worked on ways of increasing the number and density of scan lines. The

most successful method was to use adjacent groups of narrow rectangular elements [88] [89]. A commercial spin-off from this work was 'RITA', a 40-channel add-on system from GEC Medical Ltd for enhancing an existing A-mode or M-mode instrument with a real-time B-scan facility. In 1976, a newly formed, Edinburgh-based company, Diagnostic Sonar, produced 'System 85', a 48-channel linear array scanner: This had a simultaneous A-scan display and prominent electronic caliper, reflecting the background of the company founder, Hans Gassert, who had hitherto worked for Nuclear Enterprises in marketing and sales.



Fig. 35. The popular 61-channel ADR linear array scanner, produced by the Advanced Diagnostic Research Corporation in the USA, in 1973. Photo courtesy of the BMUS Historical Collection.

ii. Early phased array (electronic sector scanner) probes.

Phased array probes were first investigated as means of medical diagnostic imaging by Jan Somer at the Institute of Medical Physics-TNO, Utrecht, the Netherlands, in the mid-1960s. His array probe (Figure 36a) covered a 90° sector with only 21 elements, operating at a frequency of just 1.3 MHz, as he was primarily interested in imaging the brain through the intact skull, although some heart imaging was undertaken [90]. The



Fig. 36 a) Phased array probe made by Jan Somer of Utrecht University in 1968. Courtesy of Jan Somer. b) Prototype phased array from Frederick Thurstone's group at Duke University. c) Example of a heart scan from the Duke University. Photos b) and c) reproduced from Kisslo et al (1976) [93].

production version of this system was marketed as the 'Echostat' by the Diagnostic Electronic Corporation, USA in 1976, making it the first commercial diagnostic phased array scanner. However, it was too far ahead of its time and the limited technology available to Somer did not do the concept justice; consequently only a few were sold before it was overtaken by competition from commercial manufacturers [91]. The potential of the technique was further demonstrated by a group of biomedical engineers at Duke University, Durham, N Carolina, led by Frederick Thurstone, using digital technology (Figures 36b and 36c) [92][93]. By the end of the 1970s, technological advances meant that systems with much higher image quality from manufacturers such as Varian and Hewlett Packard entered the market.

iii. Early mechanical real-time probes.

Mechanical real-time probes involving reciprocating, linear scanning of transducers are subject to vibration problems when used with lower frequency, and therefore larger and heavier, transducers. Hence, for abdominal or cardiac use, sector scanners are the norm, and only this type will be mentioned here. The first mechanical real-time probe for scanning the heart was built in 1973 by James Griffith and Walter Henry at the National Institute of Health [94]. A 12mm diameter, 2.25 MHz transducer was driven by a crank attached to an electric motor such that it rocked back and forth continuously through a 30 sector at a rate of 15 Hz. The transmit pulses and echo processing were provided by a Smith Kline Ekoline-20 A-scanner, at a PRF of 2 kHz. Thirty images of clinically useful quality were produced every second, each consisting of 66 scan lines. In an effort to reduce the problem of vibration associated with rocking a transducer back and forth, in 1975, Hans Hendrik Holm and colleagues at the Gentofte Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark built a system featuring a probe containing a 6 cm diameter wheel that spun continuously against an oil film on the patient's skin [95]. Four evenly spaced transducers were set around the rim of the wheel, each being connected, in turn, to the transmit/receive circuitry as it passed over the skin. This produced 16 sector images per second, each consisting of 69 scan lines in a sector width of 50 °.

Commercial mechanical real-time probes, of both 'rocker' and 'spinner' types were produced from the mid-1970's. In 1974, Toshiba, in Japan produced their first prototype real-time mechanical sector scanner, the SSL-51H. It produced 30 images per second, each consisting of 120 scan lines, it had a variable sector width from zero to 65° and the choice of interchangeable focused or unfocused transducers. In 1975, engineers Reginald Eggleton and Kenneth Johnston in Indiana, USA, described an 'add-on' system which could be connected to an existing M-mode heart scanner to enable it to provide real-time sector B-scans [96]. It comprised a compact, hand-held, cylindrical probe with a transducer at one end, rocking through \pm 15° about the principal axis of the cylinder, and a plug-in module of associated electronics. Two transducers, at 2.25 MHz for adults and 3.5 MHz for children, could be interchanged, and the frame rate (0 to 60 Hz), PRF and depth of view could be varied. This system, with its 'rocker' type of probe achieved commercial success as the 'Cardioscan'.



Fig. 37) a) The probe of the Combison 100 mechanical real-time scanner, produced by Kretztechnic in 1976. b) The EMISONIC 4264 'spinner' mechanical real-time sector scanner, offered as an option with the EMISONIC 4200 Diasonograph. This probe was developed by Norman McDicken's medical physics group at Edinburgh University. Photo courtesy of the Science Museum Group Collection © The Board of Trustees of the Science Museum. c) The Fischer 4275 further development of (b), available from around 1980 as an option with the Fischer 4200S. Photo courtesy of Norman McDicken.

In 1976, the Austrian company Kretztechnik produced the Combison 100. The probe of this scanner had a relatively large (approximately 10 cm) diameter continuously spinning wheel within a close-fitting oil bath, which had a roughly 5 cm long aperture, covered by soft plastic, in its rim (Figure 37a). Five 3.5 MHz transducers were evenly spaced around the rim of the spinning wheel, each of which became 'live' as it passed

across the aperture. The large wheel and wide aperture gave the advantage of a wide field of view close to the probe. In 1979, Norman McDicken and his medical physics group at the University of Edinburgh described their system [97] in which 4 transducers, set in the rim of a continuously spinning, 3 cm diameter, wheel at one end of an approximately 20 cm long probe could generate a sector of up to 180°. This system was more compact than previous 'spinner' designs and was produced commercially as a real-time plug-in option (Figure 37b) for the EMISONIC 4200 Diasonograph and later, in an even more compact form (Figure 37c), for the Fischer 4200S, as discussed in Sections VI and VII.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Jan Somer for providing me with reference [87] in English, Norman McDicken for the photograph of the spinner probe shown in Figure 37c, Kevin Martin for electronic copies of the various Nuclear Enterprise, EMI and Fischer sales brochures, referenced in the text and reproduced in the Appendix, and Francis Duck for the list of Diasonograph locations also given in the Appendix. I am also grateful to John Fleming, for sharing his detailed knowledge of the early Diasonographs and to Tom Szabo, formerly of Hewlett Packard, for information about the early commercial development of phased arrays.

References

- 1. McLoughlin RP, Guastavino GN. LUPAM: Localizador ultrasonoscopico para aplicaciones medicas. *Revista Asociacion Medica Argentina*. Sept. 1949, 421-435. Also: Localisation ultra-sonore pour applications médicales. *Electronica*. May 1950.
- Ludwig, GD. and Struthers, FW. Considerations underlying the use of Ultrasound to detect Gallstones and Foreign Bodies in Tissue. *Naval Medical Research Institute Reports*. Project #004 001, Report No. 4, June 1949. Extracts available from: <u>https://www.ob-ultrasound.net/ludwig_june_1949.html</u> [Accessed 9 March 2021].
- Wild JJ. A Historical Review of the Genesis and Early Development of Intrusive Pulse-Echo Ultrasound. Ch. 1 in Endosonography in Gastroenterology, Gynecology and Urology. Feifel G, Hildebrandt U, Mortensen NJM (eds) 1-19. Berlin, Springer-Verlag. 1990.
- 4. Edler I, Hertz CH. The use of ultrasonic reflectoscope for the continuous recording of movements of heart walls. *Kungl Fysiogr Sällsk i Lund firhandl* 1954;24(5):40-58. [Reproduced in *Clin Physiol Funct Imaging* 2004; 24:118-136.]
- 5. Mundt GH, Hughes WF. Ultrasonics in Ocular Diagnosis. Am J Ophthalmol. 1956;41:488-498.
- 6. Gordon D. Echo Encephalography. Br Med J 1963;2:502.
- 7. Hill CR. Notes on the Historical Development of Aspects of Medical Ultrasonics. Typescript, BMUS Papers 1987; 2/96.
- 8. Nicolson M, Fleming JEE. *Imaging and Imagining the Fetus. The Development of Obstetric Ultrasound.* 29-30. Baltimore. The John Hopkins University Press. 2013.
- Salford LG. The development of echoencephalography in Sweden. Ch. 5 in Ultrasound in Clinical Diagnosis. From Pioneering Developments in Lund to Global Application in Medicine Eklőf B, Lindstrőm K, Persson S (eds) 44.. Oxford, UK. Oxford University Press. 2012.
- 10. Leksell L: Echo-encephalography I. Detection of intracranial complications following head injury. Acta Chir Scandinav 1955;110:301-315.
- 11. Holmes JH, Howry DH, Posakony GJ, Cushman CR. The ultrasonic visualization of soft tissue structures in the human body. *Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc.* 1954;66:208-25.
- 12. Posakony G. *Historical Notes from Mr Gerald Posakony*. Available from: <u>www.ob-ultrasound.net/posakony_notes.html</u> [Accessed 9 March 2021].
- 13. Wild JJ, Reid JM. Echographic visualization of lesions of the living intact human breast. Cancer Res. 1954;14:277-282.
- 14. Wild, J J & Neal D. Use of high-frequency ultrasonic waves for detecting changes of texture in living tissues. *The Lancet* 1951; 1:655–657.
- 15. Nicolson M, Fleming JEE. Imaging and Imagining the Fetus. 84
- 16. Donald I, Lord J. Augmented Respiration Studies in Atelectasis Neonatorum. The Lancet 1953;261;6749.
- 17. Willocks J, Barr W. Ian Donald, A Memoir 68-69. Cambridge UK. Cambridge University Press. 2004.
- 18. Donald, I. Medical sonar the first 25 years. In *Recent advances in ultrasound diagnosis. Vol. 2*, Kurjak A (ed) 4-24. Amsterdam. Exerpta Medica 1980.
- 19. Nicolson M, Fleming JEE. Imaging and Imagining the Fetus. 147
- 20. Ibid. 96
- 21. Ibid. 101
- 22. Donald I. Sonar- the story of an experiment. Ultrasound in Medicine & Biology 1974;1:109-117.
- 23. Brown TG. Development of Ultrasonic Scanning Techniques in Scotland 1956-1979. Personal recollections by T G Brown. Available from: <u>https://www.ob-ultrasound.net/brown-on-ultrasound.html</u> [Accessed 9 March 2021].

- 24. Tansey EM, Christie DA (eds). Looking at the Unborn: Historical aspects of obstetric ultrasound. *Wellcome Witnesses to Twentieth Century Medicine, Vol. 5.* London. Wellcome Trust. 2000.
- 25. Nicolson M, Fleming JEE. Imaging and Imagining the Fetus. 110
- 26. Donald I. On launching a new diagnostic science. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 1969;10:609-628.
- 27. Nicolson M, Fleming JEE. Imaging and Imagining the Fetus. 112
- 28. Willocks J, Barr W. Ian Donald, A Memoir. 72-73
- 29. Nicolson M, Fleming JEE. Imaging and Imagining the Fetus. 121
- Donald I, MacVicar J, Brown TG. Investigation of abdominal masses by pulsed ultrasound. *The Lancet* 1958;271:1188-1195.
- 31. McNay M B and Fleming JEE. Forty Years of Obstetric Ultrasound, 1957–1997: From A-scope to Three Dimensions. *Ultrasound in Med. & Biol.* 1999;25:3-56.
- 32. Henderson J, Jago J, Willson K, Whittingham TA. A survey of the acoustic outputs of diagnostic ultrasound equipment in current clinical use in the Northern Region. *Ultrasound Med. Biol.* 1995;21:699-705.
- 33. Holmes JH, Wright WL, Howry DH. Present Status of Ultrasonic Medical Diagnostic Techniques. *Trans. Am. Clin. Climatol. Assoc.*1964;75:117-30.
- 34. Wild JJ, Reid JM. Further pilot echographic studies on the histological structure of tumors of the living intact breast. *Am. J. Path.* 1952;28: 839–861
- 35. Nicolson M and Fleming JEE. Imaging and Imagining the Fetus. 131
- 36. Ibid. 133-134
- 37. Nicolson M, Fleming JEE. James Willocks and the Innovation of Fetal Cephalometry. *Scottish Medical Journal* 2009; 54(4):38-41.
- 38. Willocks J, Donald I, Duggan TC, Day N. Fetal cephalometry by ultrasound. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology of the British Commonwealth* 1964;71:11–20.
- 39. Willocks J, Barr W. Ian Donald, A Memoir. 75
- 40. Nicolson M, Fleming JEE. Imaging and Imagining the Fetus. 150
- 41. Brown T G. Virtual reality in ultrasonic imaging: a project out of time? Available from: www.ob-ultrasound.net/brown-on-ultrasound.html [Accessed 9 March 2021].
- 42. Nicolson M, Fleming JEE. Imaging and Imagining the Fetus. 156
- 43. Ibid. 152
- 44. Maršál K, Sundén B, The development of ultrasound in obstetrics and gynaecology in Sweden. Ch. 6 *in Ultrasound in Clinical Diagnosis. From Pioneering Developments in Lund to Global Application in Medicine*. Eklőf B, Lindstrőm K, Persson S (eds) 50.. Oxford, UK. Oxford University Press. 2012.
- 45. Nicolson M, Fleming JEE.. Imaging and Imagining the Fetus. 161
- 46. Maršál K, Sundén B, The development of ultrasound in obstetrics and gynaecology in Sweden. 51
- 47. Sundén B. On the diagnostic value of ultrasound in obstetrics and gynecology. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 1964; 43 (Supp 6):1-19.
- 48. Nicolson M, Fleming JEE. Imaging and Imagining the Fetus. 163
- 49. Blume SS. Insight and Industry: On the Dynamics of Technological Change in Medicine 107. Cambridge, Massachusetts. MIT Press. 1992.
- 50. Brown TG. Design of medical ultrasonic equipment. (Ultrasonics for Industry 1967 conference paper). Ultrasonics 1968;6:107-111.
- 51. Nicholson D. Secrets of success: the development of obstetric ultrasound in Scotland, 1963-1990. University of Glasgow PhD Thesis 13043, 2003. Available from: http://theses.gla.ac.uk/3400/ [Accessed 9 March 2021].
- 52. Nicolson M, Fleming JEE. Imaging and Imagining the Fetus. 167
- 53. Willocks J, Barr W. Ian Donald, A Memoir. 88
- 54. Fleming JEE, Hall AJ. Two Dimensional Compound Scanning Effects of Maladjustment and Calibration. *Ultrasonics* 1968;6:160-166.
- 55. Nicolson M, Fleming JEE. Imaging and Imagining the Fetus. 170
- Fleming JEE, Spencer I, Nicolson M. 40 years of ultrasound. Ch. 13 in Advances in Perinatal Medicine: The Proceedings of the XV European Congress of Perinatal Medicine. Cockburn F (ed) 92-99. New York. Parthenon Publishing. 1997. ISBN 9781850709442
- 57. Nicolson M, Fleming JEE. Imaging and Imagining the Fetus. 171
- 58. Scottish Engineering Hall of Fame. Thomas Graham Brown (1933-2019).
- Available from: http://www.engineeringhalloffame.org/profile-brown.html [Accessed 9 March 2021].
- 59 Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. Bulletin No. 327- *Diasonograph NE4101*. Edinburgh. Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. February 1970. See Appendix.
- 60. Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. Bulletin No. 64 New Diasonograph NE4102 Diagnostic Ultrasonic Scanner. Edinburgh. Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. September 1972. See Appendix.
- 61. Whittingham TA. The ultrasonic biparietal diameter, expressed in time units. *The British Journal of Radiology* 1971;44; 481–482. See also erratum *The British Journal of Radiology* 1971;44: 649
- 62. Robinson HP. Sonar Measurement of Fetal Crown-Rump Length as Means of Assessing Maturity in First Trimester of Pregnancy. *Br Med J* 1973;4:28
- 63. Nicolson M, Fleming JEE. Imaging and Imagining the Fetus. 172

- 64. Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. Bulletin No. 88 New Diasonograph NE4200 with Greyscale Storage Display. Edinburgh. Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. July 1976. See Appendix.
- 65. For example, by the author's Ultrasound Section at the Northern Regional Medical Physics Department, Newcastle General Hospital, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK.
- 66. Princeton Electronic Products Inc. USA. Electronic Storage Tube Target Structure and Method of Operation. Canadian Patent 1011387. Application April 8 1974. Granted May 31 1977.
- 67. Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. Bulletin No. 434 Ultrasonic Greyscale Facilities. Edinburgh. Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. April 1975. Also: Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. Bulletin No. 90, NE4104G Greyscale Storage Display Accessory for NE4102 Diasonograph Systems, Edinburgh. Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. July 1976. See Appendix.
- 68. Blume S S. Insight and Industry: On the Dynamics of Technological Change in Medicine. 111
- 69. *Grace's Guide to British Industrial History*. Available from: https://www.gracesguide.co.uk/Nuclear_Enterprises_(G.B.) [Accessed 26 March 2021].
- 70. EMI Medical Ltd. Bulletin No. 112 EMISONIC 4200. Hayes, UK. EMI Medical Ltd., October 1977. See Appendix.
- 71. EMI Medical Ltd. Bulletin No. 116 EMISONIC 4201. Edinburgh, UK. Nuclear enterprises Ltd., January 1978. See Appendix.
- 72. Whittingham T A. Estimated Fetal Cerebral Ultrasound Exposures from Clinical Examinations. Ultrasound Med Biol. 2001;27(7) 877-882.
- 73. Whittingham TA. Safety in Medical Ultrasound. BMUS Bulletin. November 1999; 7; 4: 23-26.
- 74. Fischer Ultrasound Ltd. 4200S Console. High Resolution Imaging Combined with Maximum Operating Convenience (Sales leaflet). Edinburgh. Fischer Ultrasound Ltd. See Appendix.
- 75. Ophir J, Maklad NF. Digital Scan Converters in Diagnostic Ultrasound Imaging. Proceedings of the IEEE 1979;67:654-664.
- 76. Fischer Ultrasound Ltd. Articulated Scan Arm (Sales leaflet). Edinburgh. Fischer Ultrasound Ltd. See Appendix.
- 77. Fischer Ultrasound Ltd. MARTI (Sales leaflet). Edinburgh. Fischer Ultrasound Ltd. See Appendix.
- 78. Fischer Ultrasound Ltd. LINUS (Sales leaflet). Edinburgh. Fischer Ultrasound Ltd. See Appendix.
- 79. Wagai T. Studies on the foundation and development of diagnostic ultrasound. Proc. Jpn. Acad., Ser. B Phys Biol Sci. 2007;83(8):256-65.
- Kikuchi T, Uchida R, Tanaka K, Wagai T. Early cancer diagnosis through ultrasonics. J Acoust Soc Amer 1957;29:824– 833
- Posakony G. Historical Notes from Mr Gerald Posakony. Available from: <u>www.ob-ultrasound.net/posakony_notes.html</u> [Accessed 9 March 2021]. In Woo J. A Short History of the Development of Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology. Available from: <u>www.ob-ultrasound.net/history1.html</u> [Accessed 9 March 2021].
- 82. Gill R. Medical ultrasound in Australia: A short history. AJUM 2018; 21(1):3-8
- 83. Tanaka K, Wagai T, Kikuchi Y, Uchida R and Uematsu S. Ultrasonic Diagnosis in Japan, In *Proc.1st International Conf. on Diagnostic Ultrasound*, Pittsburg, 1965. Available from: https://www.ob-ultrasound.net/japan_brainscan2.html [Accessed 9 March 2021].
- 84. Wells PNT: Developments in medical ultrasonics. Wld Med Electron 1966;4:272,
- 85. Carpenter D, Kossoff G, Garrett WJ, Daniel K, Boele P. The UI Octoson A New Class of Ultrasonic Echoscope. *Australasian Radiology* 1977;21(1);85-89.
- Bom N, Lancée CT, Honkoop J, Hugenholtz PG. Ultrasonic viewer for cross-sectional analyses of moving cardiac structures. Bio-medical Engineering 1971;6(11):500-508.
- 87. Uchida R, Hagiwara Y, Irie T. Electro-scanning ultrasonic diagnostic equipment. Jap Med El. 1971;58(141):833-837.
- 88. Whittingham TA. A multiple transducer system for heart, abdominal and obstetric scanning. *Proceedings of the Second European Congress on Ultrasonics in Medicine, Munich 12-16 May 1975*, 59-66, Amsterdam, Excerpta Medica 1975.
- 89. Whittingham T A and Evans J A. Ultrasonic visualization of the heart. Ultrasonics International 1975, Conference Proceedings. 182-189, I.P.C. Science and Technology Press, 1975.
- 90. Somer JC. Electronic sector scanning for ultrasonic diagnosis. *Ultrasonics* 1968;6(3):153-159
- 91. Somer JC. The history of real time ultrasound. International Congress Series 1274. 3-13. Elsevier, 2004.
- 92. Kisslo J, von Ramm OT, Thurstone FL. Cardiac Imaging Using a Phased Array Ultrasound System I. *Circulation* 1976;53(2):258–262
- 93. Kisslo J, von Ramm OT, Thurstone FL. Cardiac Imaging Using a Phased Array Ultrasound System II. Clinical Technique and Application. *Circulation* 1976;53(2):262-267
- 94. Griffith JM, Henry WL. Sector Scanner for Real Time Two-Dimensional Echocardiography. *Circulation* 1974;49:1147-1152.
- 95. Holm HH, Kristensen JK, Pedersen JF, Hanke S, Northeved. A New Mechanical Real-time Ultrasonic Contact Scanner. *Ult Med Biol* 1975, 2; 19-23
- 96. Eggleton RC, Johnston KW. Real Time B-Mode Mechanical Scanning System. *Proc. Proceedings of the SPIE* 1975; 47:96-100.
- 97. Bow CR, McDicken WN, Anderson T, Scorgie RE, Muir AL. A rotating transducer real-time scanner for ultrasonic examination of the heart and abdomen. *British Journal of Radiology* 1979;52:29-33.

Appendix

Reproductions of the sales brochures and leaflets of the Diasonographs and related commercial equipment referred to in this article, as well as a list of the locations of archived Diasonographs, are available in the appendix at the end of this special issue (pp 660-730).

AUTHOR BIOGRAPHY



Tony Whittingham ARCS BSc MSc PhD FInstP FIPEM graduated in Physics and Maths from Imperial College, London in 1965, before working on the dielectric properties of tissues in the Medical Physics Department at Aberdeen University. He became a Lecturer in Ultrasonics there in 1970, giving him the opportunity to become well acquainted with the NE 4101 Diasonograph.

From 1972 until retirement, he was Head of the Ultrasound Section of the NHS Regional Medical Physics Department in Newcastle upon Tyne, making pioneering contributions to linear array scanner design, developing CT and other ultrasound imaging systems, and designing instruments for measuring beam shapes, acoustic pressure, power and intensity. He has written and lectured extensively on beam-forming, ultrasound safety and modern developments in ultrasonic imaging technology. He has chaired the safety committees of BMUS and EFSUMB, co-authored Standards for the IEC and is a Past-President and an Honorary Member of the British Medical Ultrasound Society.

HEWLETT PACKARD - INNOVATIONS THAT TRANSFORMED DIAGNOSTIC ULTRASOUND IMAGING

Thomas L. Szabo, PhD

Biomedical Engineering, Boston University, Boston USA

I. Setting the stage

This is the chronicle of how Hewlett Packard Medical Products in Andover, Massachusetts, USA (HP) became the world's leading echocardiography company starting as a concept at Hewlett Packard Research Laboratories in 1973 until its transfer to Agilent Technologies in November 1999. The author worked at HP in Andover from early 1981, just before the first system shipped, until the transfer of the medical products group in 1999. Before we start, what was the company's interest in medical ultrasound and what was the state of the art in ultrasound imaging?

Hewlett Packard, an instrument company, acquired the Sanborn Company in 1961 with the anticipation of entering the medical instrumentation market. At that time, Sanborn had a number of premier products including electrocardiographs and other medical test and measurement instruments. In that same year, HP's common stock first appeared on the New York Stock Exchange. The original Sanborn had about 950 employees and was located in Waltham, Massachusetts just outside Boston.

After the acquisition of Sanborn, HP explored new diagnostic markets that would add to and complement the recording systems and monitoring equipment that it currently sold. New diagnostic products were aimed at both clinical researchers in academic medical centers. The 7214A Ultrasound Diagnostic Sounder, a general-purpose instrument useful for cardiac, ophthalmological, neurological brain, fetal and kidney examinations was introduced in 1967. It could be used with 1.0, 2.5,5.0 and 10.0 MHz transducers. Interest in neurological ultrasound brain studies led HP to introduce products specifically for neurologists, the 7215A and later the 7215B Ultrasound Echoencephalograph. Their primary purpose was to characterize midline shifts and brain tumors. While the 7215A and 7215B enjoyed interest not only from neurologists but a number of other disciplines as well, the market was judged not to be large enough for more instruments at that time.

John Hart worked on both the 7214A Diagnostic Sounder and the 7215A/B Echoencephaloscope which was used to view the midline of the brain using ultrasound in either a pulse-echo or a through transmission mode. This A-mode (amplitude mode indicating echo amplitudes versus time) device was constructed as a plug-in to an existing HP 140T storage oscilloscope. It had a time gain compensation control, later to become a standard feature in ultrasound.

Just as this product derived from existing HP technology, future HP imaging systems would utilize features of the 78500 series Patient Information Center which centralized the monitoring of patients' vital signs at a nurses' station including ECG) [1] and was designed by the HP Waltham group in 1980. Once again, HP's strengths in waveform display and measurement were evident in the monitoring system as well a new multi-microprocessor architecture which included a newly developed MC5 microprocessor chip. The HP MC5, made with Hewlett Packard's CMOS exclusive silicon-on-sapphire (SOS) process, was one of the fastest 16 bit microprocessors available at 5MHz, and featured a high level instruction set to simplify the routing of data and later played a key role in HP's first ultrasound imaging system.

Meanwhile, in the 1970's, ultrasound imaging was diverging from single transducers on mechanical scanning arms and storage displays into arrays of transducers electronically scanned. The array development was split into linear and phased arrays. Whereas the A (amplitude)-line was one dimensional, the addition of an electronic geometric scanning method introduced the second dimension. In Figure 1, a simple linear array, introduced and popularized by N. Bom [2], in the early 1970's, is shown. Here a row of individual transducers are sequentially addressed by transmitting a pulse and receiving echoes along a line (like an A-line) and displaying each of these lines in their proper sequential geometry on a storage scope. Unbeknown to them, K. Irie at Aloka Japan, had demonstrated [3,4] linear arrays in which overlapping groups of elements were combined and sequenced to provide lines of much higher sensitivity. Whittingham independently had a similar idea of shifting elements in groups along the array and showed abdominal, obstetric and cardiac images using his scheme in 1975 [5]. Even earlier, by the early 1950's, J.J. Wild and J. Reid had taken advantage of World War II surplus radar units to demonstrate ultrasound imaging with handheld linear arrays [6].



Imaging system with electronic scanning

Fig. 1 Basic setup for B (Brightness)-mode imaging in which elements in an array are sequentially switched to produce image lines. (From [8])

Phased arrays, while superficially similar in physical appearance to a linear array, in that array elements are most often arranged in a row, differ in their scanning mechanism. Phased arrays in ultrasound were derived from sonar and radar arrays which swept a radial beam in a full circle or a sector of a circle for a plan position indicator (PPI) display that represented the radar antenna in the center of the display, with the range distance being the radial arm. The distinction between the scanning mechanisms is illustrated in Figure 2 [7]. Linear arrays incrementally scan laterally as Δx , whereas sector scanners change in angle line by line, as $\Delta \theta$.



Fig. 2 Scanning mechanisms: A. Linear translation (rectangular image) B. Angular translation (sector image) (From [8]).

Historically, the term "phased array" came from radar where alterations in phase (within one cyclic period) were used to manipulate the beam. Somer [3,9] realized that for ultrasound, time delays were more appropriate for steering. He reached this conclusion from the need to send short pulses to achieve high axial resolution along the direction of propagation which, in turn, required wider bandwidths. His Electroscan 1 and 2 systems demonstrated [3,10] electronic steering of an ultrasound beam for imaging of the brain. To include wider bandwidths, he employed 30-32 meters of cables for finely tuning the delays needed for steering and three racks of equipment. At a Paris conference in May 1971 [3], Professor Frederick Thurstone asked to borrow a film made by Somer's system as an aid to obtain funding for his imaging work at Duke University.

Working with his student Olaf van Ramm, Thurstone designed a sector scan ultrasound imaging system with a major improvement: focusing. They used a PDP-11 computer to create rapidly the necessary time delays from wideband lumped constant analog delay lines to both steer and focus an ultrasound beam. Their initial system

employed a 1.8 MHz sixteen element array with a footprint (active area) of 14 mm x 24 mm. By compressing the echo signal envelopes logarithmically as brightness modulation on an HP 1311 scope display, they demonstrated a greater range of echo amplitudes in cardiac images than previously possible. They were able to enhance image resolution by introducing dynamic focusing on reception of the echoes. Their work, presented as demonstrations and video tapes at conferences and in two seminal papers [11,12] showed that real-time cardiac imaging was possible and attracted international interest. The present author was amazed to see their images at the IEEE Ultrasonics Symposium in 1976 [13].

II. HEWLETT PACKARD LABORATORIES: PROTOTYPE ULTRASOUND IMAGING SYSTEM

Dave Wilson and John Larson, who worked together in Hewlett Packard's Research Laboratories in Palo Alto were inspired by Thurstone and van Ramm's talk on their new ultrasound imaging system employing twodimensional electronic beam steering, given at an Acoustical Holography conference at a nearby hotel in 1973 [14]. Dave Wilson, a physicist who had been interested in medical imaging, was excited by the talk and became a champion for initiating an ultrasound imaging project at the labs. John Larson, who had just completed his PhD in Electrical Engineering at Stanford in 1971, specializing in piezoelectric ultrasound devices, was also on board. "Let's build one!" exclaimed Dave Wilson. With a four element array and crude imaging system, they helped convince Ed Karrer, who in turn obtained support from higher management for the project.

For Ed Karrer, it was the right idea at the right time. Hewlett Packard was uniquely poised for ultrasound imaging; it had scientists with the relevant expertise, experience in crystallographic quartz resonator standards, analog radar beamformers and chip design, state of the art fabrication facilities, many measurement and instrument products including the HP 2100 real-time minicomputer controller and HPIB interface bus for interconnecting instruments as well as a good relationship with the Stanford Medical School. The team was put together in late 1973 with Ed leading the group including John Larson, Dave Wilson and Rick Pering, a EE design engineer; they put together a prototype imaging system with the HP 2100. Within a few weeks, they had a working system with a 16 element array and the HP controller; however, they found that their array had grating lobe artifacts [15] and insufficient dynamic range. Still, they were able to see valves of the heart. They sought the advice of Dr. Richard Popp, a Stanford physician, who gave valuable feedback for improvements. He explained that they were seeing a heart valve but also other ghost valves which turned out to be artifacts of the imaging system (due to grating lobes). Scaling up the delay line approach to more channels that were needed to improve resolution and eliminate grating lobes would be prohibitively expensive. In 1975, Sam Maslak, a freshly graduated MIT PhD in EE joined the team to work on system architecture. A picture of the system in 1976 is shown in Figure 3. Amin Hanafy, who had some experience in designing phased arrays joined them in 1976 from the HP medical group in Massachusetts. Later Fleming Dias aided with transducer construction.

The overall goal was to develop a working proof-of-principle prototype system and transfer the technology to the HP Andover division for a design of a real-time cardiac ultrasound system. Several major challenges lay ahead for the team. The major ones were to improve image quality and real-time frame rate and to provide an economical solution to the time delay problem.

The key to improved resolution lay with the improving the array design. The team selected a 2.5 MHz array of 64 individually addressable elements. The number of active elements determined the lateral or azimuthal resolution and their spacing on half-wavelength centers eliminated grating lobe artifacts [15] seen in earlier designs. Packaging the array into a compact handheld unit suited for intercostal imaging proved challenging and necessitated the elimination of several artifacts [16,17]. A Mount Fuji artifact, so called because the top of the sector image was obscured by snow like reverberations that extended into the first several centimeters at the top of the image (as seen on a logarithmic image scale), proved especially challenging. Other issues such as inter-element coupling, element connections, directivity, new materials resulted in an impressive number of journal articles [18-27], significant design improvements, inventions [28-38] and frequent consultations with engineers Jim Fearnside, Jerry Leach, Dave Miller, and Gary Seavey from HP Andover. Their efforts [16] resulted in a short axial pulse with a resolution of about three wavelengths. To further improve out of plane resolution, Dave Wilson designed a rubber elevation lens to focus the beam in the elevation plane (perpendicular to the imaging or azimuth plane).

To be successful, phased arrays required precise time delay adjustment so that the waveforms arriving at N different element locations would arrive in synchronism, ideally resulting in a gain of N. Delay lines available at the time provided only approximate coherence because they came in standard available delay lengths.



Fig. 3 Rick Pering images a water balloon with HP labs system in 1976 (Courtesy of Ed Karrer)

In 1975 Hewlett Packard Labs team (Pering, Maslak and Wilson acting as system architects) [16] came up with a cost-effective solution for the beam former that would provide precise control and greatly reduce the number of delay lines needed; Rick Pering [39-41] invented a tapped summing delay line [39] which replaced many individual delay lines. As described in the patent Sam Maslak assigned to Hewlett Packard [42], it was disclosed that these switchable delays of the tapped delay line were combined with finely tuned delays provided by adjusting mixer phases in a heterodyne intermediate frequency scheme. The imaging system consisted of racks of equipment connected together as shown by Fig. 3. Also Dave Wilson developed a pulsed beam-former simulation program to predict the beam quality. By December 1978, Sam Maslak left the labs to pursue other ultrasound imaging interests at a more urgent pace [43]. In 1981, Amin Hanafy joined Maslak to found the startup ultrasound company, Acuson [44].

For their final design thirty-two central elements were used for transmit and all sixty-four could be receive elements. The lateral round trip (pulse echo) resolution for an equal number of transmitters and receivers is estimated by the equation for the best possible full width half maximum (FWHM) (-6 dB) beamwidth,

FWHM=
$$0.886\lambda F/L = 1.36F/(Lf)$$
 (1)

in which F is focal length (mm), λ is wavelength ($\lambda = 1.54(mm/\mu s)/f$ (MHz)) and L is the active aperture, L=np, n being the number of active elements and f the transducer center frequency in MHz. For a well sampled array, L=np=n $\lambda/2$, the period p is a half wavelength and

For the well sampled array, resolution improves inversely by the number of elements. For the prototype system, the resolution at 12 cm can be estimated as midway between a 32 channel and a 64 channel system or 2.91mm. At 2.5 MHz, the prototype system experimentally achieved a -6 dB resolution at 7 cm in water of 2.5 mm in azimuth, 1 mm in range, and 3.5 mm in elevation [17].

John Larson also developed an idea for adding a linear array by a method he called "tractor treading," an idea he invented from working on a farm. The scheme involved moving a group of active elements along a linear array by dropping and gaining an element on each end using a switching mechanism and shifting the focusing coefficients along the active elements; see Fig. 2a.

The prototype system block diagram [16,17] shown in Fig. 4 was described in papers co-authored by Karrer, Dias, Larson, Pering, Maslak and Wilson in 1980. A computer (the central processor was an HP 2100 minicomputer) orchestrated the different functions of the system. First, a command initiated a series of transmit pulses, delayed according to a selected focusing depth and steered for each image line, which were sent to the center transmit elements of the array. Second, pulse echoes arriving at array elements along the transmitted line direction were passed through a series of time gain compensation (TGC) amplifiers where they were sent to mixers. Third, depending on the transducer center frequency f_c , a local oscillator frequency f_0 was selected to produce the signals at an intermediate frequency (I.F.). Mixer local oscillators have a common frequency, but each channel had unique mixer phases which changed to support beam steering (line direction) and focusing by the phased array. Fourth, the delay lines needed to achieve the coarse delays were selected as needed to achieve focusing. Fifth, dynamic focusing was achieved by periodically updating the mixer local oscillator phases with depth. Sixth, the outputs of the delayed signals were summed together. Seventh, each beamformed line was then converted to a rectangular brightness modulated image on a cathode ray tube. The transfer of prototype 64 channel system to the HP group in Andover for conversion into a cart-based ultrasound imaging system began in 1977.



Fig. 4 HP Labs prototype ultrasound imaging system block diagram circa January, 1977([16 17] and modified courtesy of Ed Karrer).

III. HEWLETT PACKARD ANDOVER: DESIGNING AND SHIPPING THE FIRST MODERN CART-BASED ULTRASOUND SYSTEM

A small core group led by John Hart, Director of Engineering, and Dave Perozek, the Division Manager, began working on a new ultrasound imaging system in 1976. In the late summer of 1977, Larry Banks, Arthur Dickey, Ray O'Connell, Ron Gatzke, and John Hart spent several weeks at HP Labs learning about the prototype ultrasound imaging system. On their return, they rattled around the new facility at Andover, Massachusetts, largely empty at the time, which was built on farmland on the shore of the Merrimac River. Their goal was not to replicate the prototype system with its racks of equipment, as shown in Fig. 3, but to design a cart-based, mobile, user friendly, real-time cardiac ultrasound imaging system with high image quality. By early 1978, with the first system block diagram, Ron Gatzke worked on analog and mechanical design, Ray O'Connell on scan conversion, Arthur Dickey on digital design, Larry Banks on the system controller, and Jim Fearnside on software. The transducer was supplied by HP labs. Fifteen boards were designed by three people to put together the first working system. The minicomputer was replaced by three fast MC5's, the same microprocessors that were used in the HP Patient Monitoring Center. The complicated routing of instructions was divided into three subsections: the front end (scanner), back end (display) and user interface(controller).



Fig. 5 Hewlett Packard 77020A phased array ultrasound cardiac imaging system with transducer shown on left side (Illustration by courtesy of Koninklijke Philips N.V).

The first imaging session in the late summer of 1978 was a disaster. The system did function as designed but revealed that some of the assumptions made in the original design fell short of what was necessary for a high quality image. "It was like searching for a polar bear in a snowstorm," recalled John Hart. The image was blocky, full of noise and lacked contrast. A deeper understanding of the significance of small quantization errors and better characterization of the transducer response were needed. The team set to work resolving issues and expanded with new hires. An innovation was that the beamformed data was signal processed, envelope detected, digitized and passed to the digital scan converter for eventual display in real time in an interlaced sixty Hz format. One of the major areas for improvement was the digital scan converter. A group consisting of Hugh Larsen, Steve Leavitt and Barry Hunt designed a new scan conversion algorithm, the r-theta converter, which translated the radial geometry of the sector scan (Figure 2B) into the rectangular world of pixels on the display and eliminated the blockiness

(quantization) and Moire patterns prevalent on previous ultrasound systems [45]. Ron Gatzke and six others achieved the highest part density in the Medical Products Group on their scanner boards each of which had twelve channels [46]. Jim Fearnside led a group on transducers which initiated investigations on transducer properties and their measurement and others examined ways of improving beamforming and system performance.

It is not the purpose of this study to document the design of the first Hewlett Packard diagnostic ultrasound imaging system, the HP 77020A, because it has been already described in incredible detail in a series of articles appearing in three issues of the Hewlett Packard Journal [47-49]. Instead, some of the revolutionary features of the system will be emphasized since the HP 77020A became the forerunner of the modern ultrasound imaging systems that were to follow.



Fig. 6 21200C 2.5 MHz 64 element array (Illustration by courtesy of Koninklijke Philips N.V).

As seen in Figure 5, the HP 77020A was mobile, on a cart with wheels unlike its

predecessors which had racks of equipment, and were fixed or sometimes, on wheels. While not the first commercially available phased array system (a 32 channel Varian system was selling at that time); the HP imaging system struck a death knell to most previous ultrasound imaging systems based on mechanical and rotating single transducers. The future for ultrasound imaging became electronically scanned phased and linear arrays. In Figure 6 is a picture of the first HP phased array, the 21200C with sixty-four 2.5 MHz elements which came with the HP 7702A system. Because of its unique heterodyne beamformer architecture, sixty-four channels were able to fit in a cart-based system for the first time. A lightweight, easily maneuverable, handheld 64 element phased array transducer designed for intercostal spacing provided a small footprint (acoustic window) yet a large interior field of view with a sector scan format. The display offered a large smoothly interpolated, highly detailed, high resolution real-time image unlike previous ultrasound imagers, which often offered repurposed oscilloscope monitors or small displays. For transmitting, the 77020A had thirty two newly designed fast transmitters and for receiving, sixty four receive elements with dynamic focusing. Eight time gain compensation controls helped offset absorption and beam losses.

A single central MC5 microprocessor orchestrated the entire system consisting of three subsystems, two of which had their own microprocessor as illustrated by Figure 7, and juggled peripheral devices and the user interface as well. The user interface provided not only acoustic control of transmit focus and scan depth but also the capabilities to annotate and enter patient data by a keyboard, make measurements on the image via a provided joystick, and control video recording of the display in a centralized location. Another innovation was to include M-mode with B-mode in the first multimode display. A key design strategy for Hewlett Packard to grow their customer base was to provide an upgrade path: HP customers were assured that they could always upgrade their system to the latest version.



Fig. 7 HP 77020A block diagram showing the front end, back end and controller subsystems (Illustration by courtesy of Koninklijke Philips N.V).

Fig. 7 also illustrates some of the other details of the system architecture. The subsystems were linked by the HP-IB interface bus and software which allowed communication and control throughout the HP 77020A system. The stripchart recorder, a holdover from the Sanborn era, was in a separate cart and eventually deleted.

IV. TRANSDUCERS

Each element in an array can be considered to be an individual transducer. Figure 8 shows the construction of an array. Transducers are piezoelectric devices which send pressure waves into the body on the application of voltage impulses and reciprocally convert returning ultrasound pulse echoes back into electrical signals which eventually are assembled into an image. Ideally, each element should be identical to control beam properties which directly affect image quality. Higher frequency arrays required the fabrication of increasingly small elements repeatably to achieve a period, p, of half a wavelength (recall λ =c/f). Fig. 8 shows array construction.



Fig. 8 Array construction showing elements of period p and width w

Early recognition of the importance of transducers resulted in investments in advancing design through simulation, new materials and extensive measurement and fabrication capabilities. Nearly all arrays were fabricated in house and underwent rigorous measurements and quality checks. Improvements in measurement capabilities both in the engineering and manufacturing laboratories took advantage of the latest Hewlett Packard instrumentation in oscilloscopes, spectrum analyzers, network analyzers, computer and digital memories. Realistic internally developed one dimensional transducer design programs considerably sped up the transducer product cycle [50-52]. Later, commercially available programs were used. Finite element programs such as PZFlex modeled more complicated array effects due to unwanted arrav construction interactions [53] and were validated by an

advanced laser probe measurement system [54]. Improvements in array construction reduced these second order effects and unwanted image artifacts. The key to accurate modeling lay in the development and careful characterization of new materials [55] and piezoelectrics [53] used in arrays. Higher performance design depended on finding materials with specific acoustic and mechanical properties. Experts at the forefront of transducer science were added to an already experienced transducer team: T.R. "Raj" Gururaja, inventor of piezoelectric composites, Jie Chen, an expert on piezoelectric materials and Martha Grewe, an expert on designing matching layers.

The steady cutting edge progression in transducer performance tracked the expansion of the bandwidth and sensitivity of arrays as shown in Figure 9. High sensitivity is related to the transducer's ability to receive weak pulse echoes from deep within the body (penetration depth). Bandwidth is highly valued because the greater the fractional bandwidth (usually expressed as -6dB value)FBW =100*($f_{.6dBhigh}$ - $f_{.6dBlow}$)/ f_{center}), the more frequencies of operation can be fit into it. The first generation of transducers had a bandwith appropriate for a single imaging frequency (Figure 9A) 30%. The next improvement, wideband arrays expanded the frequency range to include a Doppler frequency and an imaging frequency (Figure 9B), FBW >40%. In the next "dual" generation of transducers, bandwidth accommodated two imaging frequencies FBW>60%. The following transducer family, the "ultraband" group was wide enough to hold an imaging frequency, f_c , as well as its second harmonic, 2 f_c (Figure 9C), FBW>85%. A single crystal transducer (described later) could replace several narrower band transducers (Figure 9D), FBW>100%.



Fig. 9 Progression of increasing bandwidth for HP transducers from 1981 to 1999 (from [8]).

Until June 1990, most of the HP transducer arrays were of the sector type (Figure 2b). At that time, HP introduced the world's first steerable focusing linear array. With a center frequency of 7.5 MHz, the array was guided by a tractor-treading principle in which the 128 channels of the system were connected to the 288 elements of the array through electronic switches. Unlike previous arrays, the image could be steered in the shape of a

parallelogram, resulting in high resolution images of detailed vessel structures and blood flow in unparalleled clarity. In addition, the formats of Figures 2a and 2b could be combined in a new trapezoidal image format: a rectangular format plus two half sectors on each end. As an added bonus, the 21258B operated at 5.5 and 7.5 MHz, and its sister array, the 21255B, at 3.7 and 4.5 MHz. These new arrays were championed by Rick Snyder and a group led by Ray O'Connell, with Matt Mooney and Martha Grewe Wilson designing the transducer [56].

HP expanded its transducer family by designing arrays specialized for different clinical applications. An assortment of different types available in 1999 is illustrated by Fig. 10.

One specialized type of array is the transesophageal probe, a small high frequency phased array which when placed in the esophagus, provides an unobstructed acoustic window in close proximity to the heart, thus bypassing intervening layers of fat and muscle which could degrade transthoracic cardiac ultrasound imaging. Jim Fearnside was an early advocate for transesophageal probes; Linda Carlson took on the challenge of facilitating clinical evaluation of and training for them. The first Hewlett Packard Transesophageal probe (TEE), introduced in 1986, a 5 MHz 64 element array mounted on the end of a gastroscope, allowed high definition views of the heart and blood flow. The gastroscope was necessary to manipulate the probe into a desired position to see selected features of the heart. An improvement, in terms of viewing capability was the TEE biplane which consisted of two orthogonal switchable 5 MHz 48 element arrays became available in 1990.



Fig. 10 A sampling of HP transducers circa 1999 (Illustration by courtesy of Koninklijke Philips N.V).

Even though others had thought of the concept of a rotatable TEE [57], it wasn't until Jim Fearnside's team, including Mike Peszynski, designed a multiplane or Omniplane transducer as a practical reality [58-60] at HP. The Omniplane TEE, a 5 MHz 64 element array mounted on the distal end of a gastroscope released in 1992, could be rotated precisely through a motorized drive and new gastroscope. This control capability overcame many of the previous positioning difficulties, provided repeatability and produced spectacular images. Because of the clarity of images, cardiac surgeons and anesthesiologists as well as cardiologists wanted the Omni; it was in great demand [61]. The next version, the Omni 2, which could acquire a sequence of images placed at precise angles, made possible the first three dimensional images of a live beating heart. See Fig. 10. A transthoracic version of the Omni for 3D and small pediatric transesophageal probes followed. Mike Peszynski, inventor on four TEE patents assigned to Hewlett Packard continues to innovate these probes for Philips and holds several dozen patents at last count (see matrix arrays).

What was the ultimate performance possible in a transducer? Had the end of the road been reached? Piezoelectric materials used for ultrasound arrays were polycrystalline ceramics whose initially randomly oriented domains could be mainly but imperfectly aligned in the same direction by a process called "poling," the application of a high voltage. Another type of piezoelectrics, initially investigated by Toshiba [62] for medical ultrasound, are single crystalline materials which offer the potential of nearly perfect domain alignment, resulting in extremely high electromechanical coupling and high applied strains.

In the spirit of finding an ultimate transducer material, T.R. Raj Gururaja and Jie Chen began exploring options. Through Jie Chen's connections with the Shanghai Institute of Ceramics, Chinese Academy of Sciences (SICCA), which had the capability to grow these types of crystals under extremely exacting conditions, the first sample, the size of a mustard seed, was obtained in 1996. Realizing that there was no program in the United States to systematically investigate single crystalline materials which would be best suited for transducer arrays, Raj led workshops and helped organize a team suitable for a project of this scope. In January, 1998, we submitted, along with Michael Greenstein and Paul Lum, of HP Research Labs, a single crystal research proposal to Wallace Smith, Office of Naval Research [63] which was ultimately funded. A two year program to develop domestic sources to grow large enough samples suitable for arrays and to characterize the basic anisotropic piezoelectric and dielectric properties of the materials was underway. Meanwhile, Jie Chen received a sample from SICCA from which they were able to make the first array. Even though only twenty elements survived, a fractional bandwidth greater than 100% was achieved in 1998. The transducer group opened a commanding competitive lead in finding sources for larger single crystals and the crystal orientations optimal for arrays. Even though this group [64,65] persisted through a reorganization (Hewlett Packard split into Agilent Technologies and Hewlett Packard in 1999) and an acquisition by Philips, their work led to a new generation of transducer arrays with properties that far surpassed all previously made transducer arrays. After seven years more of development by Philips, this new technology became the highly successful generation of transducers branded "PureWave,"[66] and has led to even greater innovations (see matrix arrays).

V COLOR FLOW/DOPPLER

It is impossible to capture the many innovations over the twenty year period at HP Andover in a short article, so you will find highlights here rather than a comprehensive history. Eventually, the engineering team grew from 50 in 1983 to 200 in 1999. Leaders of the HP Imaging Systems following John Hart included Paul Magnin, Al Kyle and Cynthia Danhier. Each ultrasound imaging system came out as an upgrade usually identified by a letter. This meant that whatever system a customer had, it was "upgradeable" to the latest version, which required technical and software forethought. Shown in Figure 11 are the upgraded HP imaging systems for the first few years.



Fig. 11 HP imaging system upgrade path from 1981 to 1986 (Illustration by courtesy of Koninklijke Philips N.V and annotated by Karl Thiele).

One of the most popular upgrades was Rev K, color flow imaging. Barry Hunt related the back stories behind the addition of Doppler and Doppler color flow imaging to the system. In the early nineteen-eighties, the engineering team working on Doppler was falling behind and an outside word class expert was called in to assess the situation. He identified six major problems with their present approach. For a large consulting fee, he offered his services to fix the problems in a short amount of time. John Hart met with the team behind closed doors. He asked them "Should we hire this expert or solve the problems ourselves? You decide." The team unanimously chose to solve the Doppler issues themselves. The learning process was painful, but they redesigned, added synchronization and routed pulsed wave Doppler through the array and separately isolated continuous wave Doppler. The resulting Doppler upgrades, Rev G in 1984 and H and I in 1985 were successful. Once again, detailed descriptions of the Doppler systems appeared in the HP Journal [49].

One aspect of the HP culture (discussed later) was that engineers were encouraged to innovate. While the scanner engineering group was busy with the next step in the evolution of the system (system 2), a new idea emerged. Paul Magnin did a study of color flow algorithms. Based in part on their experience of the Doppler improvements, Barry

Hunt and Dave Hempstead realized that it may be possible to add a color flow capability to the present system architecture. They submitted a proof of principle proposal, System 1 Flow Mapping Proposal, in April 1984. With Ray O'Connell's help , these ideas were posed to management. Steve Leavitt was tasked to manage a small group including Barry Hunt, Dave Lipshutz and Dave Hempstead to do a paper study on implementing Color Flow Mapping. Dave Lipshutz came up with an innovative scheme. Instead, by the summer, the group decided to build a prototype system using separate scan converters synchronized together to represent the red, blue and green colors and they took advantage of the new pulsed Doppler architecture and used an HP 150 controller. By November 1984, they succeeded in making the first color flow image. This skunkworks approach is shown in Figure 12. Afterwards, serious incorporation of color flow mapping into the existing imaging system began. Management gave a green light to the color flow mapping project and postponed work on system 2.Taking advantage of the inherent flexibility of the system architecture and the Doppler improvements, a larger team including Paul Magnin, Ron Gatzke, Karl Thiele, Tomo Hasegawa and Les Halberg among others, was able to fit color flow into the existing cart. A clinical trial with Dr. J. Kisslo at Duke went well. The introduction of the first color flow mapping in North America as the Rev K upgrade in the fall of 1986 was one of the most successful HP ultrasound innovations. These efforts were described in articles and a series of patents [67-70]



Fig. 12 First HP prototype color flow mapping system, Nov. 1984, Insert: color flow image. (Courtesy, Barry Hunt).

VI. MATRIX ARRAY

The race to obtain better image quality and resolution, was often played out by increasing the number of channels in the system as predicted by Eq. 2. Another fundamental limitation was that this improvement only applied to the azimuth plane which was controlled by electronic control of the focusing and steering of the beam through array elements. The other dimension, orthogonal to the imaging plane, or elevation plane (Figure 8) was typically focused at only one depth by a mechanical lens. The unfortunate consequence of this approach was that strong scatterers lying outside the imaging plane were mapped into the imaging plane. The method needed for perfect three dimensional electronic focusing in both dimensions was well known: a two-dimensional array. The barrier to this approach was that even more elements and system channels were needed: on the order of n-squared. For example, a typical 1D array would have 64 to 128 elements; scaled to a 2D array, this may involve 4000 or 16000 elements!

For many years, the problem of the 2D array seemed insurmountable and compromise solutions, such as sparse arrays and cross arrays, had very high clutter levels and therefore poor image quality [71]. Marty Mason, transducer manager, challenged Bernie Savord to implement 3D imaging electronically. Bernie Savord begrudgingly complied, not thinking it was possible. To his amazement, he found a solution and that it could have been done with technology fifteen years earlier. The breakthrough was to organize the 2D elements in groups, each of which had a set of "microbeamformers" or subarrays for fine delay adjustments and the outputs of which were routed to a summing node [72]. Each summing node corresponded to the usual number of beamformer channels in the system which performed the coarse delay functions. Then, the imaging planes could be stepped across the array. He found the grouping concept in John Larson's earlier patent useful [73]. In 1996, Bernie Savord started on implementations for miniaturizing the microbeamformers to fit within the probe handle [74,75]. One of the challenges of the integration of the large number of microbeamformers was to minimize heat consumption in the handle.

Another major challenge was how to construct the array and connect to thousands of elements, each of which was spaced at about half a wavelength apart. Fortunately, this was a problem that had been worked on for years both at

HP Andover by Rod Solomon [76] and at HP research labs by Michael Greenstein [77-79], so a fitting and practical solution was developed.

In parallel, another effort was needed to transform the acquired array data into three-dimensional visualizations. Arthur Dickey's forethought of this challenge put Karl Thiele in search of a solution. Working together, Karl Thiele and Bernie Savord put together the first working prototype shown in Figure 13. One of the two connectors in Figure 13A was for the analog signals that plugged into the imaging system, and the other was used for the signals needed to program the probe. By 2001, at the American Society of Echocardiography annual meeting, they put on a private demonstration of the matrix array prototype shown in Figure 13.B and real-time 3D imaging to enthusiastic responses. After considerable work by a Philips team, the 2.5 MHz X4 matrix array was shipped as a product in 2002, along with a new system to run it, the SONOS 7500. Not only did this transducer have 2880 elements, but all the microbeamformer electronics also fit in a handle not much bigger than the first 64 element HP phased array (Figure 6) and they served the function of hundreds of front end boards. Later the single crystal transducer design (Pure Wave) was incorporated into a matrix array in the X7-2 with 2500 elements. Similarly, matrix array transesophageal probes with thousands of elements became reality [80]. At the latest count as of this writing, the X-6 matrix array has over 9000 elements [81].



Fig. 13 Matrix arrays with microbeamformers in the handle: A.(left) first working prototype B. (right) close to final product (Courtesy of Karl Thiele).

VII. Optigo

In 1998, a small group began working on the SPUD (Small Portable Utrasound Device) imaging system based on novel concepts. The team included Jim Fearnside, Rachel Kinicki, Joe Fallon, Mike Anthony, Charles Dowdell, Ted Fazioli, Matt Mooney and Steve Leavitt. The goal was to cram an entire imaging system in a size smaller than a laptop and it would be battery-operated, low cost and light weight. The design centered around application specific integrated circuits(ASIC's). Steve Leavitt developed one which included both scan conversion and color flow mapping. The team also created beamformer ASIC's in which there was a processing channel for each element in a phased array transducer . Each beamformer ASIC replaced several scanner boards of earlier full sized imaging systems. Also, other formats such as linear, curved linear and combination formats could be accommodated. The TGC controls were automated and the user-interface consisted of intuitive simple controls. The result was a reconfigurable and scalable ultrasonic imaging system which could adapt to different types of transducers. Output could be stored on a memory card and the display was a 6.5" LCD screen. In addition, different operating modes, processing algorithms and display options were under software control [82]. Even greater miniaturization was achieved by using the microbeamformer principles used for the matrix arrays. Here, for these one dimensional arrays, sub-beamformers, as shown in Figure 14, could be put right in the probe handle, aiding the further miniaturization of the overall device. The device appeared as a Philips product, the OptiGo in 2002 aimed initially at the cardiac screening system. [83], (see Figure 15). The challenge of how to mass-market a low cost ultrasound product. (about ten thousand dollars) delayed the release of the OptiGo. The sales problem was that incentive was always greater for selling a regular sized system with a larger profit margin than that for an OptiGo. A second problem was the lack of a hard copy output needed for medical billing. The beamformer in the handle foreshadowed the Philips' Lumify in which, after considerably more development and miniaturization, the front end and entire

beamformer and processing were fit into the transducer handle by November 2015 and connected to a smartphone for display and communication to the web.[84].



Fig. 14 Block diagram for portable ultrasound imaging system with sub-beamformers in probe handle (From US Patent 6,491,634B1).



Fig. 15 OptiGo portable low cost ultrasound imaging system released by Philips in 2002 (Illustration by courtesy of Koninklijke Philips N.V).

VIII. RESEARCH SYSTEM (PAWS)

In 1992, Steve Leavitt floated the idea of a research ultrasound imaging system to management. His concept was to digitize the radiofrequency inputs of each of the transducer elements and store them in a digital memory for prototyping future systems, new beamforming and signal processing schemes. Management agreed and Steve Leavitt led a group including Dave Lipshutz, Ron Gatzke, Ban Dinh and Bernie Savord to design the system. As shown in Figure 16, the main processor of the Phased Array Work Station (PAWS) was an expensive Convex-240 (240Megaflops) supercomputer which required massive electrical cabling which Ban Dinh installed. A software acquisition controller managed the setting of a SONOS1500 front end the analog output of which was routed into the PAWS cart which included 10 bit 20 MHz analog to digital conversion boards for digitizing the signals from each of the 128 transducer elements. The output of these boards was fed in parallel simultaneously into a bank of random access memory units which in turn streamed their output into the Convex supercomputer which then organized the data into long term digital storage. The Convex then ran algorithms which processed the data and formed images.

The PAWS system was instrumental for trying out different approaches for the future digital system design, nicknamed "Titan," which eventually became the SONOS 5500, released in 1997. PAWS was modified to try out new arrays such as electrostrictors. Steve Leavitt led the Advanced Projects Group for 1992 to 1995 after which it was led by Jim Fearnside. Don Orfino wrote software in MATLAB which emulated the standard delay and sum beamformer, filtering, back end and display processing and controls. He later left and joined Mathworks which produces MATLAB. The present author explored 1.5D electrostrictive arrays (intermediate between 1D and 2D arrays [85]) on the system and the effects of aberration, based on a joint project with Prof. R. Waag at the University of Rochester for obtaining acoustic chest wall data [86]. He also investigated applying seismic algorithms with Dan Burns, a consultant. The seismic processing eliminated much of the clutter in cardiac images but, took too long to run, even on a supercomputer [87].



Fig. 16 PAWS system (Courtesy of Ban Dinh).

After about five years, Moore's law caught up with the Convex supercomputer. Hewlett Packard's state of the art workstations had evolved to be as powerful as a 1992 Convex-240. By then, too, the SONOS 5500 digital imaging system had become both a product and an experimental base for testing new imaging ideas. In an ironic twist, the next generation of Convex computers were based on HP RISC (Reduced Instruction Set Computer) microprocessors (used in workstations) running in parallel. In 1995, Hewlett Packard acquired Convex. PAWS was dismantled and donated to charity. The concept of PAWS, then protected by HP proprietary restrictions, reemerged in present day ultrasound research systems which consist of a software controlled front end, high speed digitization and storage and imaging system simulation in software.

IX. HP vs. Acuson

Sam Maslak left HP labs in November, 1978 after assigning the mixer imaging system architecture patent [42] to HP. By 1981, Maslak and Robert Younge, a colleague at Hewlett-Packard, joined with Amin Hanafy, a key transducer expert at HP medical products and HP labs, to form Acuson in 1981. They were able to raise sufficient venture capital based on their business plan [88,89] by January 1982. Based on the assumption that the plan was executed, a primary emphasis was the radiology market, including obstetrics. The obstetrics segment, which propelled ultrasound imaging into existence [90], continues to be one of the largest ultrasound imaging market segments. Acuson's strategy was to provide a premium image, called the "gold standard" at a premium price. In ten months, a prototype system capable of producing either sector or linear format images passed its first water tank trial [91]. In 1983, Hugh Larsen left HP Medical Products to join the Acuson team. By the end of 1983, Acuson shipped its first thirty systems [92]. How was it possible for Acuson to produce a quality system so quickly? Sam Maslak offered advice for startups: address (and eliminate) technical risk [92] first. From the outset, he was keenly aware of beating the competition [93]. To compare major HP and Acuson events, a timeline is provided by Figure 17.



Fig. 17 Timelines for HP (positive bars) and Acuson (negative bars) product and other events.

Sam Maslak explained how Acuson was able to produce high quality imaging: "Computed Sonography [94]." He emphasized that a hybrid analog/digital computer in the Acuson system managed the imaging parameters. By comparison, HP had a scanner microcomputer for controlling beam characteristics as well as an overall system controller microcomputer (Figure 7). Resolution is mainly controlled by the number of elements, according to Eq. 2. Acuson had 128 elements at its first launch compared to HP's 64. HP did not catch up to 128 elements until 1988 with Rev L. Contrast was another factor Maslak identified which meant low sidelobes obtained through apodizing or weighting the output of the elements [95]. HP was aware of this as well; see Figure 2 in [16], a 1980 paper describing the HP system to which Maslak was a coauthor. The last factor identified in [94] is image uniformity obtained by using a "tracking lens," in the Acuson system as well as by keeping the F number (=F/L) constant (see Eq. 1) in the "tracking lens" with depth. In the HP systems as well as the HP labs prototype an equivalent process was used called "dynamic focusing."Acuson advertised "upgradeability" as a key feature of their systems. By the time Acuson introduced its first system, HP was on its third upgrade, Rev. D.

Relations between HP and Acuson remained cordial until Acuson, which had spectacular growth and success in the radiology and obstetrics markets, decided to enter the echocardiology market, in which HP was the dominant leader. Once this entry happened, Acuson and HP were on a collision course. To recap some of the highlights of HP

development on the timeline, previously described, 1986 saw the introduction of color flow, and in 1990 and 1991, the entry of the first steerable linear arrays. Meanwhile, Hugh Larsen and Sam Maslak filed a strategic patent on behalf of Acuson in November 1985 on linear arrays which was granted in October 1987 [96]. The curious aspect of this patent was that it was entirely dependent on Maslak's mixer patent assigned to HP during his HP labs days; .ie. it could not be implemented unless the company had a license to use the earlier patent [42]. In 1993, HP had strong evidence that Acuson was infringing on their mixer patent [42] and filed a law suit against Acuson [97]. Acuson countersued, claiming that HP had infringed on their linear array patent [96]. By then, HP had two linear array products on the market; it had been using the tractor treading concept that traced back to John Larson, who did not file a patent based on HP interests at the time. Even though the results of negotiations between the two parties were not made public, the fact that HP continued selling linear arrays and Acuson still had their systems indicated a truce was reached.

By 1993, both companies were more interested in their futures. Acuson invested heavily in their new Sequoia platform [88], so much so, that their profits flattened and they began to lose their market share. When Sequoia debuted in 1996, it followed a previous Acuson trajectory of super premium systems that outperformed others and was also, by far, the world's most expensive ultrasound system. Acuson's premise that premium systems create their own market no longer held in changing economic times [88]. Competitors had also produced systems with excellent images and cost consciousness had set in. Meanwhile HP launched their premium digital system, the SONOS 5500 in 1997. In the echocardiology market segment, by 1983, HP quickly rose to the top and stayed there as Figure 18 shows.



Fig. 18 Percentage of total echocardiography market for ATL, HP and Acuson by year (Courtesy of Harvey Klein).

Even greater changes were in store for diagnostic ultrasound. In 1980, before HP's entry, twelve companies shared most of a total ultrasound imaging market of two hundred and seven million dollars [98]. By 1998, three companies held 48% of the overall diagnostic ultrasound two and a half billion dollar market: ATL 18%, HP 16% and Acuson14% [98]. In a surprise move, Philips acquired ATL in late 1998. Due to internal squabbles, Hewlett Packard split into Hewlett Packard (computers, printers, etc.) and Agilent Technologies (instrumentation, electronics) in November 1999. At the time of the split, Hewlett Packard had grown to a forty-two billion dollar company employing eighty-four thousand people worldwide. Recall that Hewlett Packard entered the medical business by acquiring Sanborn and it joined the New York stock exchange in 1961. Siemens acquired Acuson in September 2000 for seven hundred million dollars and Sam Maslak stepped down as CEO. In November 2000, Philips, which had a previous relation with HP, acquired the health care group (including ultrasound) from Agilent Technologies. The CEO of Agilent remarked "We concluded we had higher priorities to invest in and health care came in the bottom of the list."[99]. Today through acquisition of the top ultrasound companies, Philips Health care dominates the health care market and ultrasound imaging and benefitted from Hewlett Packard's legacy of innovation. Now only three large companies lead the medical imaging market: Philips, General Electric and Siemens.

X. HP WAY

The work environment at HP Andover inspired innovation and teamwork. The HP Way evolved from the combined experiences of Bill Hewlett and Dave Packard from decades of company growth [100]. An open, collegiate atmosphere encouraged individual motivation, initiative, creativity, freedom and trust. Consider that this whole ultrasound imaging enterprise began because of an enthusiastic engineer and a physicist at Hewlett Packard Laboratories, not from a top-down directive.

An informal, decentralized management style prevailed based on "management by objective" which allowed some flexibility in how team players could best achieve common purposes. "Management By Walking Around," encouraged open communication between managers and their team. Because Hewlett and Packard realized that company growth depended on a continual influx of new product ideas, engineers were encouraged to innovate and supply stocks remained open so they could try out new ideas. In the beginning, there were two coffee breaks with free doughnuts which led to learning about other projects and forging new collaborations. There were also beer busts, picnics, and community contribution activities. HP tended to hire well qualified people and keep them which led to company loyalty. During downturns in the economy, everyone took a 10% cut (working 9 days out of 10) until the economy recovered. Employees were eligible to participate in profit sharing in the form of buying Hewlett Packard stock at subsidized rates. Also there was a commitment to produce quality high performance products which resulted in greater customer satisfaction.

At its best, the HP Way worked well. In this article are examples of trusting in individuals to make decisions and to recover from failure, ideas arising from within, teamwork required for large complex projects, managers challenging others to do the seemingly impossible, and an overall commitment to excellence.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

In an article of this length, regrettably, I was not able to include many of the people and achievements that occurred at HP Andover. Even though technology was highlighted, other parts of the team such as marketing and manufacturing also played important roles. In particular, marketing's enthusiastic engagement propelled the success of the ultrasound imaging enterprise. Manufacturing's partnership with engineering assured that high quality, reliable and easily reproduceable products found their way to customers worldwide. I am grateful to my former colleagues at Andover and at the former research labs who spent many hours explaining and recalling events for this article. In particular, I would like to thank Linda Bogdanoff, Linda Carlson, Jie Chen, Ron Gatzke, Martha Grewe Wilson, Kurt Guggenberger, Raj Gururaja, Ed Karrer, Barry Hunt, John Larson, Al Kyle, Steve Leavitt, Paul Magnin, Jim Mniece, Mike Peszynski, Bernie Savord, Rick Snyder, and Karl Thiele. Special thanks to Harvey Klein for digging up archival market data. The author takes responsibility for any errors and omissions.

References

- J. M. Rueter, Multi-Processor Architecture and Communications for Patient Monitoring Hewlett Packard Journal, 31(11), November 1980 pp15-18.
- N. Bom, C.T. Lancee, J. Roelandt, F.C. van Egmond, Two Multi-Element Systems For Real Time Cross-Sectional Analysis Of The Heart, Proc. of 1973 Ultrasonics Symp.,1-3.
- 3. J. C. Somer, "The history of real time ultrasound," International Congress Series, 12/ (2004), pp 3-13
- 4. Takasuke Irie and R. Uchida, Aloka, 200 element Linear array Imaging System, Japanese Society of Ultrasonics in Medicine, 1971.
- T.A. Whittingham, "A Multiple Transducer System for Heart, Abdominal and Obstetric Scanning, Excerpta Medica International Congress Series, Proceedings of the Second European Congress on Ultrasonics in Medicine, Munich, 12-16 May, 1975, pp59-60.
- 6. J.J.Wild and J. Reid, "Cancer Detector," Electronics, March 1955
- 7. T. L. Szabo and P. A. Lewin, "Ultrasound Transducer Selection in Clinical Imaging Practice," J Ultrasound Med. 2013; 32:573-582.
- 8. T. L. Szabo, Diagnostic Ultrasound Imaging: Inside Out, Elsevier, Oxford, 2014, p10 and a generic reference to this book.
- 9. J.C. Somer, "Electronic Sector Scanning for Ultrasonic Diagnosis," Ultrasonics, July 1968, pp. 153–159
- 10. T. L. Szabo, Diagnostic Ultrasound Imaging: Inside Out, Elsevier, Oxford, 2014, p15.
- 11. O. T. Van Ramm and F. L. Thurstone, Cardiac Imaging Using a Phased Array Ultrasound System: I. System Design, Circulation, 53 (2), February 1976, pp258-262.
- 12. J. Kisslo, O. T. Van Ramm and F. L. Thurstone, Cardiac Imaging Using a Phased Array Ultrasound System: I. System Design, Circulation, 53 (2), February 1976, pp262-267.
- 13. F. L. Thurstone and O. T. Van Ramm, Acoustical Imaging With A Linear Phased Array, Proc. of 1975 Ultrasonics Symp., 73-74.
- 14. F. L. Thurstone and O. T. Van Ramm, "A New Ultrasound Imaging Technique Employing Two-Dimensional Electronic Beam Steering," ultrasonics Acoustic Holography Conference, Springer, Boston, 1973, pp249-259.
- 15. T. L. Szabo, Diagnostic Ultrasound Imaging: Inside Out, Elsevier, Oxford, 2014, pp 221-224.

- H. Edward Karrer, J. Fleming Dias, John D. Larson, Richard D. Pering, Samuel H. Maslak, David A. Wilson, A Phased Array Acoustic Imaging System For Medical Use, 1980 Ultrasonics Symposium – 757-762.
- Karrer .E., Dias J.F., Larson J.D., Pering R.D., Maslak S.H., Wilson D.A. (1982) A Phased Array Acoustic Imaging System for Medical Use. In: Alais P., Metherell A.F. (eds) Acoustical Imaging. Acoustical Imaging, vol 10. Springer, Boston, MA. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4684-3944-1_5
- J.D. Larson, J.G. Leach, "Tungsten-Polyvinyl Chloride Composite Materials Fabrication and Performance," 1979 Ultrasonics Symposium Proceedings, pp. 342–345, IEEE 79CH1482–9
- 19. John. D. Larson, "A New Vibration Mode in Tall, Narrow Piezoelectric Elements," 1979 Ultrasonics Symposium Proceedings, pp. 108–113, IEEE 79CH1482–9
- 20. John D. Larson, III, An Acoustic Transducer Array for Medical Imaging- Part I, Hewlett Packard Journal 1983,34:10, 17-22
- 21. David G. Miller, An Acoustic Transducer Array for Medical Imaging- Part I, Hewlett Packard Journal 1983,34:10, 22-26
- 22. Amin Hanafy, Characterization of Multielement Acoustic Arrays by Acousto-Optic Diffraction Methods, Ultrasonic Imaging 1980 2:2, 122-134
- 23. Amin Hanafy, Dead Zone Elimination in Acoustic Arrays, Ultrasonic Imaging 1980 2:4, 302-312
- 24. Amin Hanafy and Mauro Zambuto, Real Time Acoustic Imaging by Holographic Interferometry, Ultrasonic Imaging 1980 2:4, 313-323
- 25. Amin Hanafy, Vibration Analysis of Single Element Transducer in Acoustic Arrays, Ultrasonic Imaging 1981 3:2, 173-182
- 26. J. Fleming Dias, Construction and Performance of an Experimental Phased Array Acoustic Imaging Transducer
- 27. Ultrasonic Imaging 1981 3:4, 352-368.
- John D. Larson, III, "Apparatus and method for suppressing mass/spring mode in acoustic imaging transducers," U.S. Patent #4240003AHewlett-Packard Company, 1980-12-16.
- 29. Amin M. Hanafy, "Acoustic electric transducer with shield of controlled thickness," U.S. Patent #4277711A, Hewlett-Packard Company, 1981-07-07.
- 30. Amin M. Hanafy, "Acoustic electric transducer with slotted base," U.S. Patent #4277712A Hewlett-Packard Company, 1981-07-07
- 31. John D. Larson, III David G. Miller, "Acoustic transducer with flexible circuit board terminals," U.S. Patent #4404489A, Hewlett-Packard Company, 1983-09-13.
- 32. J. Fleming Dias, H. Edward Karrer, John D. Larson, III, David A. Wilson, Amin M. Hanafy, "Acoustic imaging transducer," U.S. Patent #4482834A Hewlett-Packard Company, 1984-11-13.
- John D. Larson, III, "Acoustic image signal receiver providing for selectively activatable amounts of electrical signal delay," U.S. Patent #5187403A Hewlett-Packard Company,1993-02-16.
- 34. John D. Larson, III, "2-d phased array ultrasound imaging system with distributed phasing," U.S. Patent #US5229933A, Hewlett-Packard Company, 1993-07-20.
- 35. John D. Larson, III, "Acoustic image acquisition using an acoustic receiving array with variable time delay," U.S. Patent # 5263004A, Hewlett-Packard Company, 1993-11-16.
- 36. David G. Miller, J.D. Larson, III, "Backing for acoustic transducer array," U.S. Patent #5267221A, Hewlett-Packard Company, 1993-11-30.
- 37. J.Fleming Dias, "Ultrasonic sensor with starved dilatational modes," European patent 0397958B1, Hewlett-Packard Company, 1995-04-19.
- 38. J. Fleming Dias, "Method for making integrated matching layer for ultrasonic transducers," U.S. Patent #5511296A Hewlett Packard Company, 1996-04-30.
- 39. Richard D. Pering, "Acoustic imaging apparatus," U.S. Patent #4116229A, Hewlett-Packard Company, 1978-09-26.
- 40. Richard D. Pering, "Delay circuit," European Patent #0167157A2 Hewlett-Packard Company,1986-01-08.
- 41. Richard D. Pering,"Amplitude insensitive delay lines in an acoustic imaging system," U.S. Patent # 4633308A, Hewlett-Packard Company, 1986-12-30.
- 42. S.H. Maslak, "Acoustic Imaging Apparatus," U.S. Patent #4,140,022, Hewlett-Packard Company,1979-02-20.
- 43. Maslak, Smithsonian Institution's Videohistory Program (1997) The History of Acuson Ultrasound Machines. Video transcript, p.86.
- 44. Hanafy, Smithsonian Institution's Videohistory Program (1997) The History of Acuson Ultrasound Machines. Video transcript, p.136-137.
- 45. S.C. Leavitt, B. F. Hunt, and H.L. Larsen, A Scan Conversion Algorithm for Displaying Ultrasound Images, Hewlett Packard Journal 1983,34:10, 30-34.
- 46. R. D. Gatzke, J. T. Fearnside and S. M. Karp, "Electronic Scanner for Phased -Array Ultrasound Transducer," Hewlett Packard Journal December 1983,13:20.
- 47. Hewlett Packard Journal October 1983,34:10.
- 48. Hewlett Packard Journal December 1983,34:12.
- 49. Hewlett Packard Journal June 1986,37:20:48.
- 50. T. L. Szabo, "Miniature Phased-Array Transducer Modeling and Design," Proc. of 1982 Ultrasonics Symp., IEEE Cat #82CH1823-4 SU, pp 810-814z.
- 51. T.L.Szabo, "Principles of Nonresonant Transducer Design," Proc. of 1984 Ultrasonics Symp., IEEE Cat #84CH2112-1 SU, pp 804-808.
- 52. T. L. Szabo, "Transducer Arrays for Medical Ultrasound Imaging," Ultrasound in Medicine, eds. F. A. Duck, A. C. Baker, and H. C. Starritt, (Institute of Physics Publishing, Bristol, UK, 1998), pp 91-111.
- 53. K.E. Guggenberger, "A fiber -optic interferometer for characterizing surface motion of acoustic array," MIT thesis, MIT library.
- D.J. Powell, G.L. Wojcik, C.S. Desilets, T.R. Gururaja, K. Guggenberger, S. Sherrit, and B.K. Mukherjee, "Incremental "Model-Build-Test" Validation Exercise for a 1-D Biomedical Ultrasonic Imaging Array," Proc. of 1997 Ultrasonics Symp., pp 1669-1674.
- 55. T. L. Szabo and J. Wu, "A model for longitudinal and shear wave propagation in viscoelastic media," J. Acoust. Soc. Am., 107(5), May 2000, pp2437-2446.
- 56. M. G. Mooney and M. G. Wilson, "Linear Array Transducers with Improved Image Quality for Vascular Ultrasonic Imaging," Hewlett Packard Journal 1994,45:4, 43-51.
- 57. M. Schluter, B.A. Langenstein, J. Polster, et al., M., "Transesophageal Cross-Sectional Echocardiography with a Phased Array System", Apr. 1982, British Heart Journal, vol. 48: 67–72.
- 58. R. J. Solomon, M.K. Mason, G. Gruner and J.T. Fearnside, "Transducer Positioning System," Hewlett-Packard Company, US Patent 5181514, 1993-01-26.
- 59. M.Peszynski, "Rotatable Ultrasound Transducer Finger Probe," US Patent 5598846, Hewlett-Packard Company, 1997-02-04.
- J. T. Fearnside, "Design Considerationsfor a Transesophageal Probe," Cardiovascular Imaging by Ultrasoundund in Medicine, eds. P. Hanrath, R. Uebis and W. Krebs, (Kluwer Acadmic Publishers, Dorddrecht, the Netherlands, UK, 1993), pp 279-286.

- 61. F.A. Flaschskampf, R. Hoffman, M. Verlande, W. Schneider, W. Ameling and P. Hanrath, "Initial Experience with Multiplane Transesophageal Echo-Transducer: Assessment of Diagnostic Potential," European Heart Journal (1992) 13:1201-1206.
- Y. Yamashita, "Large Electromechanical Coupling Factors in Perovskite Binary Material System," Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, 62. 33(1(9B)),1994,pp 5328-5331.
- 63. T.R. Gururaja, Jie Chen, T.L. Szabo, M. Greenstein and P. Lum, "Medical Ultrasound Imaging Using PMN-PT and PZN-PT Single Crystals with Extremely High Electromechanical Coupling Constant," Proposal submitted to Wallace. A. Smith, Office of Naval Research, January 27, 1998
- 64. T.R. Gururaja, R.K. Panda, J. Chen and H. Beck, "Single Crystal Transducers for Medical Imaging Applications,"
- 65. J. Chen, R. Panda, P.G. Rafter and T.R. Gururaja, "Wideband Piezoelectric Transducer for Harmonic Imaging," US Patent 6,532,819 B1, 2003-18-03, originally assigned to Agilent Technologies, now held by Philips.
- 66. J. Chen, R. Panda, and B. Savord, "Realizing dramatic improvements in the efficiency, sensitivity and bandwidth of ultrasound transducers," Philips white paper, 2006.
- 67. P.A. Magnin, A Review of Doppler Flow Mapping Techniques, Proc. of 1987 Ultrasonics Symp., pp 669-677.
- S. C Leavitt "Method and apparatus for ultrasonic color flow imaging," US Patent 6,370,264, 2002-04-09, assigned to Hewlett Packard.
 S. C Leavitt, "Method and apparatus for signal dependent gain control," US Patent 5,063,931,1991-11-12, assigned to Hewlett Packard
- S. C Leavitt, D. Lipschutz; S.E. Lincoln; K.Thiele; and P.A. Magnin;"Flow imaging detector," US Patent 4,790,323, 1988-12-13, assigned to 70. Hewlett Packard.
- T. L. Szabo, Diagnostic Ultrasound Imaging: Inside Out, Elsevier, Oxford, 2014, pp 243-247. 71.
- 72. B. Savord and R. Solomon, "Fully Sampled Matrix Transducer for Real Time 3D Ultrasonic Imaging," Proc. of 2003 Ultrasonics Symp., pp 945-953.
- 73. John D. Larson, III, "2-d phased array ultrasound imaging system with distributed phasing", US Patent 5229933A, 1993-07-20, originally assigned to Hewlett Packard later to Agilent Technologies Inc , expired.
- 74. B.J. Savord, "Beamforming methods and apparatus for three-dimensional ultrasound imaging using two-dimensional transducer array," US Patent 6013032A, 2000-01-11 originally assigned to Hewlett Packard, now held by Philips.
- B. J Savord, and K. E Thiele, "Phased array acoustic systems with intra-group processors," US Patent, 5997479A, 1999-12-07, originally 75. assigned to Hewlett Packard, now held by Philips.
- R. J Solomon, "Two-dimensional ultrasound phased array transducer" US Patent6894425B1, 2005-05-17, Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V. 76.
- Daane, L; Greenstein, M A demountable interconnect system for a 50 x 50 ultrasonic imaging transducer array," IEEE TRANS. UFFC 77. 44(5),1997, pp978-982
- 78. Michael Greenstein, EP JPH0779498A "Z-axis conductive laminar backing layer for acoustic transducer", 1995-03-20, Hewlett Packard Co
- M. Greenstein, "Electrical interconnecting method for multilayer transducer element in two-dimensional transducer array", US Patent 79. JPH07170600A, 1995-07-04, Hewlett Packard Co
- T.L. Szabo, Diagnostic Ultrasound Imaging: Inside Out, Elsevier, Oxford, 2014, pp409-411. 80.
- http://www.aapm.org/meetings/amos2/pdf/59-17272-97172-944.pdf ,accessed 3/23/2021. 81.
- C Leavitt, J. R Fallon, M. P Anthony, T. P Fazioli, and C. R Dowdell,, "Portable, configurable and scalable ultrasound imaging system," US 82. Patent 6,540,682B1, 2003-04-01, now held by Philips.
- S.C. Leavitt, B. J Savord, B. M Herrick, J. R Fallon and M. Mooney, "Sub-beamforming apparatus and method for a portable ultrasound imaging 83. system," US Patent 6,491,634B1, 2002-12-10, originally assigned to Agilent Technologies, now held by Philips.
- 84 https://www.usa.philips.com/healthcare/sites/lumify, accessed 3/23/2021.
- T.L. Szabo, Diagnostic Ultrasound Imaging: Inside Out, Elsevier, Oxford, 2014, pp234,246-247. 85.
- L. M. Hinkelman, T. L. Szabo, and R. C. Waag, "Measurements of ultrasonic pulse distortion produced by human chest wall," J. Acoust. Soc. 86. Am. 101(4), April 1997, pp 2365-2373.
- T. L. Szabo and D. R. Burns, "Seismic Signal Processing of Ultrasound Imaging Data," Acoustical Imaging Volume 23., eds. S. Lees L.A. 87. Ferrari, (Plenum Press, New York, 1997), pp131-136.
- 88. http://www.fundinguniverse.com/company-histories/acuson-corporation-history/, accessed 3/23/2021.
- https://www.ob-ultrasound.net/acuson a.html ,accessed 3/23/2021. 89.
- T.L. Szabo, Diagnostic Ultrasound Imaging: Inside Out, Elsevier, Oxford, 2014, pp12-13 and Figure 1.12. 90
- 91. Maslak, Smithsonian Institution's Videohistory Program (1997) The History of Acuson Ultrasound Machines. Video transcript, p110.
- Jedrzejewicz, Smithsonian Institution's Videohistory Program (1997) The History of Acuson Ultrasound Machines. Video transcript, p.224 92.
- 93. S.H. Maslak,"Perspectives on Starting and Running a Medical Ultrasound Company," Proc. of 2002 Ultrasonics Symp., pp 1534-1539.
- S.H. Maslak, "Computed Sonography", Ultrasound Annual 1985, R.C.. Sanders and M.C. Hill, eds., Raven Press, New York, 1985. 94.
- 95 J. N. Wright," Resolution issues in medical ultrasound,' Proc. of 1985 Ultrasonics Symp., pp 793-799.
- 96. S.H. Maslak and H. G. Larsen, "Dynamically focused linear phased array acoustic imaging system, US patent 4699009A, 1985-12-17, assigned to Acuson, now held by Siemens.
- 97 Hewlett-Packard Co. v. Acuson Corp., No. C-93-0808 MHP, 1993 WL 149994 at *2 (N.D. Cal. May 5, 1993)
- Amar Bhidé, Srikant Datar Katherine Stebbins, Case Histories of Significant Medical Advances: Ultrasound, Working Paper 20-003, Harvard 98. Business School, 2019 and 2020.
- https://money.cnn.com/2000/11/17/deals/agilent/index.htmmoneyweb, accessed 3/23/2021. 99
- 100. D. Packard, "The HP Way: How Bill Hewlett and I built our company," Harper Collins, New York, 1995.

AUTHOR BIOGRAPHY



Thomas L. Szabo, BS, MS, PhD, has been a Professor of Biomedical and Mechanical Engineering at Boston University since 2001. He started his career doing research on surface acoustic wave devices at AF Cambridge Research Laboratories. While investigating the imaging of coal seams in the UK at Oxford University for a year, he decided to pursue medical imaging. He joined Hewlett Packard in Andover, MA in 1981 to conduct research and development on diagnostic ultrasound. His book, "Diagnostic Ultrasound Imaging: Inside Out", second edition, is a widely used text on the science and technology of medical ultrasound. He is a fellow of the ASA and AIUM and a senior life member of the IEEE.

Email: tlszabo@bu.edu"
HISTORY OF DOPPLER ULTRASOUND

Peter R. Hoskins, DSc, FIPEM, FInstP, FHEA

Professor of Biomedical Engineering, Dept. of Biomedical Engineering, Dundee University, UK. Emeritus Professor of Medical Physics and Biomechanics, Edinburgh University, UK.

I. HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Doppler ultrasound involves measurement of the velocities of blood or tissues by the Doppler principle. The Doppler effect concerns the change in perceived frequency by an observer of a wave as a result of motion of either the source or observer or both. This effect, which was subsequently named after him, was proposed by the Austrian physicist Johann Christian Doppler in 1842 [1], to explain the colour of binary stars. The now classic Doppler equation was deduced:

$$f_o = f_s \left(\frac{c - v_o}{c - v_s}\right) \tag{1}$$

where f_o is the frequency perceived by the observer, f_s is the frequency emitted by the source, c is the wave speed in a stationary medium, v_o is the vector velocity of the observer and v_s the vector velocity of the source.

In fact the effect proposed by Christian Doppler was too small to explain the colour of stars. However the effect was shown to be valid for sound by the Dutch physicist Christophorus Buys-Ballot in 1845. His experiment involved a group of musicians playing on a moving train, with stationary observers on the ground as the train passed. Subsequent work has confirmed that the Doppler effect is valid for any wave, including sound, electromagnetic (radio, microwave, light etc.) and gravitational waves. Figure 1 illustrates the Doppler effect. Further reading of Christian Doppler and early work on the Doppler effect may be found in review articles [2-3].



Fig. 1. Doppler effect; there is relative movement between the source and the 2 observers. a) Wave motion with respect to the source. The wave propagates symmetrically in all directions at a frequency f. b) Wave motion with respect to the observers. Wave propagation is asymmetric; there is contraction of the wave as perceived by Observer 2 who perceives a higher frequency ($f_2>f$); for Observer 1 there is dilation of the wave who perceives a lower frequency ($f_1<f$).

II. EARLY DOPPLER ULTRASOUND

The first medical investigations using the Doppler effect were undertaken by Shigeo Satomura from the Institute of Scientific and Industrial Research of Osaka University in Japan. Working in the area of industrial radar and ultrasound he was encouraged by his supervisor Kinjiro Okabe to investigate medical applications. Satomura's first studies were actually not on blood flow, but on cardiac motion, and therefore the first Doppler ultrasound paper is also the first Tissue Doppler paper. The paper published in 1956 in Japanese was titled 'A new method of the mechanical vibration measurement and its application' [4] A follow-up paper was published in English in 1957 [5]. The Doppler device used a 3 MHz continuous wave probe with a central transmit element surrounded by a ring shaped receive element. The receive signal was demodulated and band-pass filtered from 500-1500 Hz. The Doppler signal was displayed as an amplitude signal along with the ECG and cardiac sounds (Fig. 2). These 2 papers show for the first time the now widely used Doppler equation:

$$f_d = 2\frac{v_o}{\lambda} \tag{2}$$

where f_d is the Doppler frequency, v_o is the velocity component along the ultrasound beam and λ is the wavelength. Noting that:

$$c = f\lambda \tag{3}$$

where f is the transmit frequency and c is the speed of sound, equation (2) can be rearranged to give the modern version of the Doppler equation as applied to medical ultrasound, assuming that transmit and receive beams are aligned:

$$f_d = \frac{2fv\,\cos\theta}{c} \tag{4}$$

where θ is the angle between the beam and the direction of motion.



Fig. 2. Oscillograms obtained by Satomura (1957) from the heart. A: Heart sounds, B: Doppler signal, C: ECG. Reproduced from ; Satomura S. Ultrasonic Doppler method for the inspection of cardiac functions. J Acoust Soc Am1957;29:1181-1185, with permission of the Acoustical Society of America.

In a review paper [7] on early Doppler development it was noted that Satomura and his colleagues identified 2 types of Doppler signal from the heart; those with frequencies below 500 Hz which were thought to arise from heart wall motion and one at 1000 Hz which was thought to arise from valve motion. The first paper reporting detection of blood flow was published by Satomura in a 1959 paper titled 'Study of the flow patterns in peripheral arteries by ultrasonics' [6]. Doppler signals were obtained from water flowing in a tube, and also for flow in the brachial artery and vein (Fig. 3).

The 2 papers by Satomura in 1956 and 1959 represent the first studies of Doppler ultrasound in humans. Satomura went on to develop the 'Ultrasonic Blood Rheograph'. The Rheograph was the first commercial ultrasonic Doppler flowmeter, manufactured by the Nippon Electric Company (NEC) and available from 1959 (Fig. 4). Tragically Shigeo Satomura died of a subarachnoid haemorrhage in April 1960. The work on the Rheograph system was presented by his colleague Ziro Kaneko at the Third International Conference on Medical Electronics in the same year [8].



Fig. 3. Frequency spectra obtained from: a) brachial artery systole, b) brachial artery diastole, c) brachial vein. Reproduced from Ultrasound Med Biol, Vol. no. 12, Kaneko Z, First steps in the development of the Doppler flowmeter, pp. 187-195, copyright Elsevier (1986).



Fig. 4. First commercial Doppler ultrasound system; the 'Blood Rheograph' available in 1959 and developed by the Nippon Electric Company (Japan). Reproduced from Ultrasound Med Biol, Vol. no. 12, Kaneko Z, First steps in the development of the Doppler flowmeter, pp. 187-195, copyright Elsevier (1986).



Fig. 5. Blood flow patterns in the brachial artery registered by 3 methods. Reproduced from Ultrasound Med Biol, Vol. no. 12, Kaneko Z, First steps in the development of the Doppler flowmeter, pp. 187-195, copyright Elsevier (1986).

Satomura's work was carried on by colleagues and a number of developments were made. There was the realisation that the Doppler signal from blood did not arise from turbulence but from red cells, and that the Doppler frequency was correlated with blood velocity [9]. It was recognised that the recording system was a critical component and several different methods were developed (Fig. 5). A frequency discriminator recorded voltages below a set value of 1000 or 2000 Hz. Use of a zero-crossing detector was also attempted [10]. This method, which became popular in early Doppler, was dismissed by the Osaka group as it suffered from interference from low frequency noises present in clinical studies. The final and preferred method was spectral display consisting of a Doppler frequency - time trace [11]. A method of Doppler detection was developed which allowed the Doppler signals arising from forward and reverse flow to be separated [12].

The paper by Kaneko [7] provides more details of the early development of the Doppler flowmeter.

III. CONTINUOUS WAVE (CW) DOPPLER

The first CW Doppler systems were 'blind' in that there was no accompanying B-mode image. The transducers were typically designed in a split-D format with adjacent transmit and receive elements or followed the Satomura approach of a central circular transmit element with a surrounding receive ring element.

Compact non-directional CW Doppler systems were described by the group from the University of Washington in Seattle [13-16]. This followed from work by the same group on the development of invasive probes for measurement of flow in arteries [17-18]. The Doppler output was in the form of an audible signal generated from a zero-crossing detector where hardcopy recordings of the Doppler trace could be made through connection to a chart recorder. Recordings were made of flow in arteries in the upper and lower limbs, carotid arteries and aorta.

In addition the first waveforms during pregnancy were recorded, from the uterine artery and vein, and from the fetus; figure 8 in the 1966 paper by Rushmer [15] identifies 'fetal flow' which looks to be from the fetal aorta.

The compact CW Doppler described in 1966 by Rushmer [15] retained rotation which rotation to be normal rotation and the second described in the second described is the second described described in the second described d



Fig. 6. Doptone CW Doppler system manufactured by the Smith-Kline Instrument Company (Philadelphia, USA). The system was the first fetal heart monitor. The version illustrated was used in peripheral vascular applications. Reproduced with permission from the British Medical Ultrasound Society.

Recordings of Doppler from the fetal heart were reported by Callaghan in 1964 [19] and Johnson et al. in 1965 [14]. The CW Doppler system developed by the Seattle group was commercialised by Smith-Kline Instrument Company (Philadelphia, USA) as the 'Doptone' in 1965 (Fig. 6), which was used for fetal heart detection [20] and for applications in the peripheral vascular system [21].

Subsequent developments paralleled work done in Japan. Directional detection was developed by McLeod in 1967 [22] where audio signals from forward and reverse flow were available as separate audio channels, e.g. using stereo headphones. Single-line display was developed using a zero-crossing detector, and later spectral Doppler display was implemented [23]. The latter involved recording the Doppler signals on magnetic tapes and sending them to Northrop Nortronics (Needham Heights, USA) and waiting 6 weeks for the results [24].

The basis of the original quadrature detector developed by McLeod involved splitting the Doppler signal into 2 paths, phase shifting one channel by 90° to create a direct (D) and a quadrature (Q) signals, and comparing the phase lag between the D and Q signals. Depending on the lag the signal could be switched to either the forward or reverse channel. This system suffered from switching artefacts and for flow in which there was simultaneous forward and reverse flow the flow direction could not be resolved. Later developments overcame these limitations and are described by Coghlan and Taylor in 1976 [25].

The zero crossing detector was widely used in early Doppler systems. The detector in its simplest form produces a signal every time the display goes from negative to positive. With no noise and no offset the output from the zero-crossing detector should be equal to the mean (RMS) Doppler frequency [26]. Noise produces a large number of false crossings, and in practice an offset threshold is implemented using a set-reset procedure; that is a trigger is set if the amplitude exceeds a positive threshold value, and the trigger is reset when the amplitude exceeds a negative threshold value. In this way noise has limited effect and the system is able to provide an output proportional to frequency [27]. Single-line Doppler displays were phased out following the introduction of real-time spectral display as described in the next paragraph.

Early Doppler spectral analysis was performed off-line, commonly using a swept-filter system. Sound spectrographs were developed during World War 2 to help analyse enemy messages [28]. Subsequently sound spectrographs were used in speech therapy and in the recording of bird songs. In the Kay Spectrograph (Kay Electric Company, Pine Brook, USA), charge sensitive paper was attached to a rotating drum (Fig. 7). As the drum rotated the Doppler signal was filtered by a narrow band filter which scanned the frequency range increasing from negative to positive frequencies. The pen touched the paper when there was signal. A two second spectrograph was produced in around 2 minutes. The advent of real-time spectrum analysis [29-33] allowed this feature to be incorporated into commercial systems. The availability of Doppler spectral data opened up the field of Doppler waveform analysis which is discussed in the next section.



Fig. 7. Spectral Doppler tracing made by the Kay Spectrograph (Kay Electric Company, Pine Brook, USA). The tracing is in-place on the paper attached to the recording drum of the machine. Reproduced with permission from the British Medical Ultrasound Society.

In peripheral arteries CW Doppler was used to evaluate the extent and location of arterial disease. Local increases in Doppler frequency occurring as result of stenosis could easily be observed by tracking the transducer along the artery. Peripheral arteries are approximately parallel to the surface, so even though the exact beam-vessel angle is unknown provided that a similar beam-skin angle is adopted the Doppler frequency data could be compared between patients. Spencer and Reid in 1972 [34] demonstrated the increase in maximum frequency with degree of stenosis in carotid arteries. Most quantification involving flow waveforms from CW Doppler has involved quantities related to waveform shape as discussed in section IV.

In cardiology stand-alone CW Doppler was used to measure the flow waveform from the ascending aorta, as an indicator of cardiac output [35]. The transducer was placed on the suprasternal notch and angled down and to the left; the blood flow in the aorta was approximately parallel to the beam axis at this position. The device was subsequently commercially marketed as the 'Transcutaneous Aortovelograph' (Muirhead Medical Ltd, Beckenham, Kent, UK).

CW Doppler had limited clinical impact in cardiology [36], however Feigenbaum [37] notes 'The breakthrough came when Holen then Hatle demonstrated that haemodynamic data could be accurately determined with Doppler ultrasound'. Both groups used CW Doppler to acquire velocity data from which pressure gradient was calculated [38-41], further discussed in section IX. Gradually stand- alone CW Doppler systems became redundant with the widespread availability of duplex then colour flow Doppler systems.

Further reading on the history of CW Doppler may be found in review articles [42-45].

IV. WAVEFORM ANALYSIS

The absence of B-mode imaging meant that stand-alone CW Doppler systems were mainly used in arteries with defined locations and/or defined waveform shapes. Early applications were therefore in the lower and upper limbs and in extra-cranial arteries. The abdomen and fetus were difficult as there are many arteries with similar waveform shapes and there was no easy way of distinguishing from which vessel the Doppler signal arose.

The other limiting feature of stand-alone CW Doppler is the lack of knowledge of the angle θ between the beam and direction of motion. Conversion from Doppler frequency shift to velocity, commonly practiced using duplex Doppler (see below), requires knowledge of the angle θ so is not possible using stand-alone CW Doppler. Quantification of the Doppler waveforms from stand-alone CW Doppler therefore relied on indices related to the Doppler frequency (e.g. maximum Doppler frequency) or indices of waveform shape. As the Doppler signal varies linearly with velocity, indices of waveform shape should (at least in principle) be independent of the angle θ . Some indices of waveform shape are described below and illustrated in Fig. 8.



Fig. 8. Waveform indices. a) Measurements relevant to RI and PI. b) Measurements relevant to the A/B ratio.

Pulsatility index (PI). Early studies using CW Doppler observed that there was considerable variation in the degree of diastolic flow in arteries. Arteries supplying muscle at rest (eg. femoral, brachial) were highly pulsatile with little reverse flow while others (carotid arteries) exhibited a high degree of diastolic flow. Doppler waveforms distal to an arterial stenosis lost pulsatility. In its original formulation by Gosling and King in 1969 [46] PI was defined in terms of Fourier components but was later simplified [47] (Fig 8a) to:

$$PI = \frac{F_{max} - F_{min}}{F_{mean}} \tag{5}$$

Resistance index (RI). The RI also quantifies the degree of diastolic flow. This was developed by Pourcelot in 1974 [48] and is defined (Fig. 8a) as:

$$RI = \frac{F_{max} - F_{min}}{F_{max}} \tag{6}$$

A/B ratio. It was noted that waveforms from the carotid arteries and supraorbital arteries have a second peak whose height increases when there is major carotid atherosclerosis. The A/B ratio was therefore defined as the height of the major systolic peak divided by the height of the secondary peak [47], Fig. 8b. In practice not all waveforms have a clearly distinguishable second peak making this index impossible to calculate in all patients.

The above indices are measured from a single trace; so from the zero-crossing output when there is no spectral display, or from either the mean or maximum Doppler frequency when there is spectral display.

The availability of spectral display offered new possibilities for quantifying waveforms. In particular it was noticed that there was a difference between the waveforms from normal and diseased arteries. Normal arteries have a 'window' beneath the outer maximum Doppler shift where there is little data, as most of the velocities in the Doppler sample volume are travelling at similar velocities. In diseased arteries there is loss of this window as a result of turbulence. Several studies have developed indices which quantify the degree of broadening, reviewed in the book by Evans et al. on page 173 [49]. All the indices have the same intent so only a few are shown below:

$SB = \frac{P_{max} - P_{min}}{F_{max}}$	(Johnston et al. 1981, [50])	(7)
$SB = \frac{F_{min}}{F_{max}}$	(Rittgers et al. 1983, [51])	(8)
$SB = \frac{F_{max}}{F_{mean}}$	(Sheldon et al. 1983, [52])	(9)

In fact there are many sources of spectral broadening other than disease which makes it difficult to compare studies.

Other more complex forms of waveform analysis were explored. Laplace Transform Damping developed by Skidmore et al [53-55] was applied to the maximum Doppler frequency waveform from arteries of the lower limb. The method modelled the artery as a simple equivalent circuit and extracted parameters related to stiffness, distal impedance and diameter. However the model was unrealistic in that it constrained the waveform to start at zero flow which was unrealistic, and it did not account for the large components of reflected waves seen in disease. Principal component analysis is a generic method which breaks down the data into a number of base components, similar to Fourier analysis. This was applied to the whole Doppler spectrum from arteries in the lower limb, treating the Doppler spectrum as an image [56,57]. These more complex methods have not passed into clinical practice.

Research into waveform analysis has continued up to 2020. However the main work in this area was undertaken in the 1960s-1980s and there has been little progress since that time. Waveform analysis was superseded by the area of velocity measurement (section IX), enabled by the advent of duplex Doppler (section VII). Further reading on waveform analysis is provided in reviews [49,58].

V. PULSED WAVE (PW) DOPPLER

For CW Doppler the sensitive area arises from the cross-over of the transmit and receive beams. There may be 2 or more vessels within the sensitive region, and the exact depth from which signals arises is not known. The impetus for pulsed wave Doppler came from the need to control the depth from which Doppler signals arose. Pulsed wave Doppler systems were developed contemporaneously by Baker et al (1967, 1970), Peronneau and Leger (1969), Wells (1969) and Flaherty and Strauts (1969) [59-63]. Later Angelsen (1975, 1976) [64,65] developed a combined PW/CW Doppler unit PEDOF (Pulsed Echo Doppler Flowmeter), marketed by Vingmed (Horten, Norway). A later version of the device was marketed in 1981 as ALFRED (All Frequency Doppler).

Stand-alone PW Doppler systems did not gain the same clinical acceptance as stand-alone CW Doppler. The operator needs to adjust both probe position and depth to obtain a Doppler signal, noting that these are blind systems where the exact depth and location of the vessel is unknown. Pulsed wave Doppler suffers from aliasing, so could not accurately measure high velocity jets in disease. There was limited impact of PW Doppler in cardiac studies; that is until the work by Holen and Hatle using both CW and PW Doppler (see above) [36, 37]. Stand-alone PW Doppler was largely replaced by duplex Doppler in the 1980s. The one area where stand-alone PW Doppler gained clinical acceptance is in transcranial applications; i.e. use in the intra-cerebral circulation. Transcranial Doppler (TCD) was introduced by Aaslid et al. in1982 [66]. TCD has been used for a diagnosis of cerebrovascular disorders such as stroke, vasospasm and subarachnoid haemorrhage and monitoring of cerebral emboli [67,68].

Multi-gate PW Doppler systems were developed in 1974-75 for simultaneous measurement of the Doppler frequencies from several positions across the vessel. This allowed the first ultrasound measurement of the velocity profile in arteries [69-73]. In terms of clinical application the measurement of velocity profile has not, to date, proven to be useful in its own right. However the measurement of velocity profile has contributed to an understanding of haemodynamics in arteries. At the time established techniques for measurement of velocity profile were invasive and typically involved a hot-wire probe, inserted through arterial puncture, where the probe cooling was related to local blood velocity [74]. This method was unsatisfactory in that, apart from its invasive nature, introduction of the probe affected the flow field. The availability of a non-invasive technique which could measure velocity profile was a major advance in haemodynamic measurement.

VI. ULTRASOUND ANGIOGRAPHY

When a CW or multi-gate PW Doppler system was combined with a positioning arm it was possible to build up images of blood flow similar to X-ray angiograms. Ultrasound angiography systems were described for CW Doppler by Reid and Spencer in 1972 [75], for PW Doppler by Hokanson et al. in 1971 [76], and for multi-gate PW Doppler by Mozersky et al. in 1971 [77] and Fish in 1972 [78]. These provide bistable images related to the presence or absence of flow. Curry and White in 1978 [80] developed an ultrasound angiography system in which the image is colour coded dependent on Doppler frequency shift (Fig. 9).

The system developed by Fish [78,79] was further developed by GEC Medical Equipment Ltd (London, UK), later part of Picker International, as the 'Mobile Artery Visualisation and Imaging System' or 'MAVIS'. The device had 30 range gates with a minimum gate separation of 0.64 mm. The device could display 2D images of flow along with the velocity profiles and volumetric flow waveforms (obtained by integration of velocities). Clinical studies were conducted using MAVIS into the 1990s [81-87]. However MAVIS was somewhat ahead of its time; and GEC concluded that 'the complexity of the equipment and its relatively high cost made it uncompetitive in the ultrasound market' [88].



Fig. 9. Scan of the carotid artery using the Echoflow system. The display is colour-coded with higher Doppler frequencies from diseased regions shown in yellow and blue. Reproduced from Ultrasound Med Biol, Vol. no. 4, Curry GR and White DN, Color coded ultrasonic differential velocity arterial scanner (Echoflow), pp. 27-35, copyright Elsevier (1978).

VII. DUPLEX DOPPLER

'Duplex Doppler' refers to the combination of B-mode imaging and Doppler (either CW or PW). Most of the literature below refers to PW duplex Doppler, however CW duplex Doppler has also been reported [89]. Continuous wave duplex continues to be used clinically, particularly in cardiac Doppler to measure high velocities which are subject to aliasing when PW Doppler is used.

The term 'duplex Doppler' was initially introduced by Barber et al in 1974 [90,91] who combined a mechanical sector scanner with an adjacent off-set PW Doppler transducer. This allowed acquisition of real-time B-mode images and real-time Doppler, but not simultaneously. The duplex scanner allowed the operator to identify the vessel of interest, position the sample volume at an exact position within the vessel, freeze the B-mode image and obtain the Doppler waveforms.

The Seattle group continued to develop their duplex system. The review by Beach in 2005 [43] notes that the initial Barber duplex system 'proved too cumbersome to operate', and that the third iteration of the duplex system developed in 1977 had a 'scanhead that could be easily handled'[92,93] (Fig. 10). The Duplex Scanner 3 incorporated a prototype real-time spectrum analyser (Honeywell). Thus the modern duplex system had arrived fully formed, almost.

The company Advanced Technologies Limited (ATL) was established by Baker, as a spin-out from the Seattle group, in 1969. The first commercial duplex system was available in 1974-75. The Mark V Duplex scanner produced by ATL was released in 1980 and used 3 fixed-focus 5 MHz transducers within a rotating wheel (a configuration also called a 'spinner'), described by Breslau in 1982 [94]. During Doppler acquisition the B-mode image was frozen, and one of the transducers was used to generate the Doppler beam (rather than the offset Doppler of previous versions of the system).



Fig. 10. 'Duplex III' transducer developed by Philips et al (1980). The offset Doppler probe is seen on the right of the transducer. Reproduced from Ultrasound Med Biol, Vol. no. 6; Phillips DJ, Powers JE, Eyer MK, Blackshear Jr WM, Bodily KC, Strandness Jr DE, Baker DW; Detection of peripheral vascular disease using the Duplex scanner III, pp. 205-218, copyright Elsevier (1980).

Contemporaneously SRI International (Menlo Park, California, USA) in partnership with the Mayo Foundation in Rochester (USA) developed their 'B-scan / Doppler' device [73,95]. This consisted of a mechanical sector scanner (reciprocating transducer) with an offset PW Doppler with 20 gates. An improved device consisted of a multi-element annular array with an offset PW Doppler [96].

Using early duplex Doppler studies were undertaken on carotid disease. Diagnostic criteria were established based on the spectral Doppler waveforms [97-101].

In the duplex devices described above, simultaneous real-time display of B-mode and PW Doppler is not possible due to the noise generated from the moving transducers. Typical operation involved a Doppler spectral trace with periodic gaps during which time the B-mode image was updated. Real-time B-mode and PW Doppler requires linear or phased array technology. The group from Osaka (Japan) reported cardiac use of a phased array duplex device consisting of an Aloka SSD-120 B-mode imaging system with an offset Hitachi EUD-4Z PW Doppler [102,103]. The same group reported use of one of the first commercial array duplex systems (Toshiba SSH 11A B-mode incorporating SDS 10A PW Doppler) for which the Doppler beam originated from the array [104-106].

Linear array duplex systems for use in obstetrics were described by Eik-Nes et al. in 1982 [107] and Teague et al in 1985 [108]. These were hybrid systems consisting of a real-time B-mode imaging system and an offset PW Doppler system. Toshiba in 1982 produced one of the first duplex linear arrays incorporating PW Doppler into the array (SSL-53M linear array with the SD-10 pulsed Doppler module). Berson et al. in 1987 [109] described a duplex system which incorporated Doppler into the linear array.

The essential features of the duplex system, incorporating real time B-mode, real time PW Doppler and realtime display of the Doppler spectrum have remained unchanged to the present day (2020).

Applications in areas of the body consisting of multiple vessels with similar waveforms were impossible for stand-alone Doppler. These areas were now accessible using duplex scanning, and the first investigations in the fetus [110] and abdomen [111] followed.

It is worth noting that there were only a few years (4-6) between the development of PW Doppler and the development of duplex ultrasound. Very little of the PW Doppler technology from the intervening period survived into clinical practice, emphasising the importance of the development of duplex ultrasound.

VIII. COLOUR IMAGING OF BLOOD FLOW AND TISSUE MOTION

Despite the very considerable developments and technical adventures in Doppler ultrasound since its introduction in 1959 by Satomura, there was actually little clinical penetration by the early 1980s. The introduction of colour flow, initially by Aloka in 1982, moved Doppler ultrasound into mainstream clinical usage. Colour-flow for the first time provided a real-time view of blood flow which could compliment real time B-mode imaging.

The Seattle group continuing the development of the Duplex system produced the 'Duplex scanner IV', with 3 rotating transducers for formation of the B-mode image and an offset PW Doppler. Brandestini et al in 1978 [112] had developed multi-gate PW Doppler, which was incorporated into the Duplex scanner IV by Eyer et al. in 1981 [113], Fig. 11. By scanning the PW Doppler through the field of view the first colour flow images were obtained. Each image involved manual movement of the PW Doppler transducer over about 20 seconds. The system could also be used in M-mode.



Fig. 11. Colour flow images from Eyer et al. (1981). a) Composite echo/flow M-mode of the jugular vein and common carotid artery during a Valsalva manoeuvre. Increasing time is defined to be from left to right with the entire horizontal axis covering 3.0 seconds. b) B-mode flow map of the common carotid artery obtained in the mid-neck region. Reproduced from Ultrasound Med Biol, Vol. 7; Eyer MK, Brandestini MA, Philips DJ, Baker DW; Color digital echo/Doppler image presentation, pp. 21-31, copyright Elsevier (1981).

The move to real-time colour flow was made possible by the development of the autocorrelation technique for direct measurement of the mean Doppler frequency by Kasai, Namekawa and colleagues from Aloka Company Ltd., Japan [114-116]. In 1982 the first commercial colour flow system was based on the autocorrelator and was produced by Aloka. The autocorrelator requires a minimum of 3 ultrasound pulses to produce a value for estimated mean Doppler frequency (compared to 50-100 for spectral Doppler) and was the breakthrough which made possible real-time colour flow imaging. Colour flow was quickly adopted for cardiac use [117-119] with early studies in arteries [120,121].

Developments in signal processing of colour flow systems are covered by reviews by Evans [49,122,123]. This article will discuss only a small number of relevant developments. The original autocorrelator technique described by Kasai was extended by Loupas et al. in 1995 [124,125], who developed '2D autocorrelation' which has been widely adopted in the commercial sector. The clutter filter is a key component of the processing chain. Early colour flow systems had poor ability to visualise low velocities as a result of the simple design of the clutter filter, and the main use of colour flow was in cardiology where jet velocity is high. Improvements in clutter filter design led to an improvement in the ability of colour flow to visualise lower velocities, and this was followed by widespread clinical adoption of colour flow in radiology.

Three quantities are calculated in colour flow; mean Doppler frequency, Doppler signal power and 'variance'. The variance is a measure of the spread of Doppler frequencies within the received signal. Variance increases in turbulence and may be shown together with the mean-frequency in a composite display.

Display of the Doppler power was a feature of early colour flow systems, but the same settings were used as for display of mean frequency [126-128]. Optimisation of the colour flow settings by Rubin et al. [129,130] enabled improved visualisation of small vessels, and 'power Doppler' became of clinical interest. Power Doppler has been widely used to provide qualitative and quantitative data on vascularity.

Optimisation of the colour system also allows visualisation of tissue motion. The technique of 'Tissue Doppler Imaging' or TDI was introduced by McDicken et al. in 1992 [131]. The signals from tissue are some 40dB higher than from blood so the Doppler gain is reduced. The signal from blood is of very low magnitude so is not displayed. The clutter filter and blood tissue discriminator are redundant. The signal strength is high so fewer pulses are needed to estimate mean Doppler frequency. Tissue Doppler imaging has been widely used in cardiac studies (Fig. 12). From the velocity data the local strain may be estimated which is of interest in detection of ischaemic regions where the strain is reduced [132,133].



Fig. 12. Doppler tissue image from the heart.

A major limitation of ultrasound imaging, especially colour flow, has been the frame rate which can be achieved. With multiple receive beam-forming [134] frame rates of 200 s⁻¹ can be achieved for 2D imaging. This is very high, however achieving high frame rates in 3D imaging and in colour flow is far more challenging using conventional beam-forming techniques. The development of synthetic aperture techniques has led to a vast increase in the amount of data available across all ultrasound imaging modalities. Increase in the information available relies on dispensing with focus-on-transmit. Instead a plane wave or spherical wave is transmitted using all transducer elements, and the image is formed using focus-on-receive. For B-mode imaging frame rates of $10,000 - 20,000 \text{ s}^{-1}$ can be generated, with obvious loss of resolution due to the absence of focus-on-transmit. A review of high frame rate techniques for colour flow is provided by Jensen et al. in 2016 [135]. The technique described by Bercoff et al. in 2011 [136] is called 'ultrafast compound Doppler' (UCD) and involves transmission and reception of a series of N plane waves at different angles. Bercoff shows that the frame rate for UCD was 7 times higher than for conventional colour flow, with similar image quality. The availability of such a large amount of data means that choices can be made as to which aspect of image quality to improve. Depending on the application there can be a factor of around 10 increase in frame rate, sensitivity, minimum detectable velocity or minimum detectable vessel diameter. For microvascular imaging, improvements in clutter filtering [137] reduced the minimum detectable velocity from 5 mm.s⁻¹ (conventional colour flow) to 0.5 mm.s⁻¹, and hence visualisation of vessels down to about 50 micron. New clinical applications have arisen from these developments, in particular 'functional ultrasound' (mirroring functional MRI), concerned with measuring changes in brain activity which are associated with changes in blood flow [138,139].

Colour flow has become an essential feature of the modern cardiovascular ultrasound system. Most clinical practice still relies on spectral Doppler for quantification of blood velocity (see below), with colour flow reserved for qualitative visualisation of the flow-field and of vascularity. While Tissue Doppler Imaging has proven popular in research it has had limited impact on clinical practice. The impact of high frame rate techniques on Doppler ultrasound is still rolling out and it is likely that clinical practice will make more quantitative use of data from colour flow in future.

IX. MEASUREMENT OF BLOOD VELOCITY AND RELATED QUANTITIES

A. Estimation of blood velocity

Measurement of blood velocity requires knowledge of the angle between the direction of motion and the Doppler beam. For a single Doppler beam in which the transmit and receive Doppler beams are aligned the velocity may be found by rearranging equation 4:

$v = \frac{c}{2f} \frac{f_d}{\cos \theta}$

(10)

The ultrasound machine knows the speed of sound and transmit frequency; estimation of velocity therefore requires knowledge of the Doppler frequency shift and the angle θ in the subject.

Early attempts (1970-73) to estimate θ were made using CW and PW Doppler systems. Cumbersome techniques involved finding the orientation of the transducer which is at 90° to the vessel (at which point there is positive and negative symmetry of flow), and then orientating the transducer by a known angle (see page 200 of the text by Evans et al. [49]). The use of 2 or more receive transducers provides an automated method for estimating angle. The velocity component in 2 or more directions is estimated allowing the angle to be calculated [140-143]. These were the forerunner of vector-Doppler techniques described in the next section.

The advent of duplex Doppler provided a clinically-useful means for estimating θ , by enabling the operator to align the angle cursor with the vessel wall. The review on velocity measurement described here relates mostly to clinical ultrasound systems; i.e. those with a single Doppler gate using spectral Doppler.

In clinical use criteria were introduced based on measurement of blood velocity, especially for grading of the degree of stenosis, where the blood velocity increases with degree of stenosis [144]. Typically the maximum Doppler frequency shift has been used (rather than mean frequency), as this is relatively invariant with minor changes in transducer alignment and sample volume position within the vessel.

There was a growing understanding of the Doppler measurement process and the causes of velocity measurement errors following the introduction of the duplex scanner in the 1970s. Implicit within the Doppler equation is the assumption that a single velocity will give rise to a single Doppler frequency shift. In fact a single velocity will give rise to a range of Doppler frequencies; a phenomenon called 'spectral broadening'. Newhouse et al. in 1977 [145] demonstrated that the finite width of the transducer gives rise to broadening as a result of the range of angles which the blood velocity subtends at the transducer. It was shown by Censor in 1988 [146] that the 'geometric spectral broadening' f_{gsb} is given by:

$$f_{gsb} = \left(\frac{2fv}{c}\right) \left(\frac{D\sin\theta}{2L}\right) \tag{11}$$

where *D* is the width of the Doppler aperture and *L* is the depth of the Doppler sample volume.

Newhouse et al. in 1976 [147] investigated transit time broadening which is due to the finite time taken for scatterers to cross the beam, then proposed that transit time and geometric spectral broadening were the same phenomenon [148]. This equivalence was accepted for many years before Guidi et al. in 2000 [149] demonstrated that these were different phenomena, however this had actually been proven 14 years previously by Fish in 1986 [150], equation 11.81, p363). The data from Guidi suggest that, around the transducer focus, spectral broadening is dominated by the geometric component (a factor of 6 compared to transit time broadening).

When linear arrays are used to generate the Doppler beam this leads to a large amount of geometric spectral broadening, which in turn leads to overestimation of blood velocity [151,152]. The explanation is that the ultrasound machine angle-corrects to the middle of the array, whereas the highest Doppler frequencies are found at the edge of the array. In fact the equation which is relevant for the highest Doppler frequency shift f_{max} is a combination of equation 4 and 11 [153]:

$$f_{max} = \left(\frac{2fv}{c}\right) \left(\cos\vartheta + \frac{D}{2L}\sin\theta\right) \tag{12}$$

The error in estimated maximum velocity varies with angle, depth and machine. Typical errors are in the range 0-40% for clinical settings and potentially lead to impact on selection of patients for surgery [154]. Despite the known errors there has been no move on the part of manufacturers to provide correct estimation of blood velocity.

B. Estimation of pressure gradient

A method for estimation of pressure gradient across cardiac valves was reported by Holen and then by Hatle [38-41]. The method is based on a consideration of the Bernoulli equation which concerns energy in flow. The pressure drop is:

$$P_1 - P_2 = \frac{1}{2}\rho(v_2^2 - v_1^2) + \rho \int_1^2 \frac{dv}{dt} ds + R(v)$$
(13)

where suffix 1 denotes the fluid position element in front of the valve and suffix 2 in the valve jet; P is the pressure, v is the velocity vector of the fluid element, and ds is the path element.

The first term relates to change in kinetic energy, the second term represents acceleration caused by change in velocity with time, and the third term represents viscous loss.

Holen and Hatle argued that the second and third terms were small compared to the first term. Noting also that $v_2 \gg v_1$, a simplified equation results:

$$P_1 - P_2 = \frac{1}{2}\rho v_2^2 \tag{14}$$

Inserting the value for density, and expressing the pressure difference in mm Hg, the final equation is derived:

$P_1 - P_2 = 4v_2^2$

(15)

This technique has had widespread clinical adoption, initially using stand-alone CW/PW Doppler systems, then with duplex Doppler.

C. Estimation of volumetric flow

The first attempts to measure volumetric flow were undertaken using multi-gate PW Doppler systems in 1974-75 [69-73]. These systems did not incorporate B-mode imaging so the procedures described in subsection A were used to measure the beam-vessel angle. Assuming that flow was axial (non-rotational) and axially symmetric, the velocity profile could be integrated to produce an estimate of the instantaneous volumetric flow. The mean volumetric flow could then be obtained by integration over the cardiac cycle.

Volumetric flow Q was estimated using a duplex scanner with measurement of diameter d from the B-mode image (from which area is calculated assuming that the vessel is circular) and measurement of the velocity waveform from the Doppler spectral data, noting that this has been angle-corrected by alignment of the angle cursor with the vessel wall:

$$Q = V_{ta} \frac{\pi d^2}{4} \tag{16}$$

where V_{ta} is the time-averaged velocity obtained from the Doppler waveforms.

Early reports of volumetric flow measured using duplex Doppler were published from 1979-1985 [110,155-157]. While the equation used to estimate volumetric flow is straightforward, there are several sources of error which must be considered. The principle problem is the relationship between the Doppler statistic and the mean velocity. Commonly the mean Doppler frequency is used, and it is assumed that the mean frequency when angle corrected is equal to the instantaneous mean velocity. This might be the case were the vessel uniformly insonated. However a typical Doppler beam is thin compared to the vessel diameter so that the mean velocity calculated from mean frequency is usually overestimated; for example for a very thin beam in steady flow the overestimation is 33% [158]. Further complexity arises in pulsatile flow as the velocity profile changes through the cardiac cycle. In addition mean frequency is highly sensitive to small changes in alignment between the vessel and the beam. An extensive discussion of the errors in volumetric flow is provided in by Gill [159], Evans [160] and in chapter 11 of the textbook by Evans et al. [49]. When compared with 'gold standard' measurements it was found the median rms error in flow measurement across several studies was 16% (range 11-34%) [58]. The mean Doppler frequency has remained the statistic of choice in the literature, despite the known problems and errors.

An alternative approach is to use the maximum Doppler frequency, noting that the overestimation of velocity as a result of geometric spectral broadening must be corrected. Maximum frequency has the advantage over mean frequency of not varying for small misalignments of the transducer caused by movement of the operator or patient. The maximum velocity is estimated from the maximum Doppler frequency shift, and there are 2 methods which have been developed which allow estimation of flow from maximum velocity. For estimation of time-averaged flow rate it can be assumed that the average velocity profile is parabolic, provided that flow is fully-developed [161]. In this case the time-average maximum velocity V_{ta-max} is estimated and flow Q can be calculated:

$$Q = \frac{V_{ta-max}\pi d^2}{2} \tag{17}$$

The second method for estimation of volumetric flow from the maximum velocity waveform makes use of the Womersley equations [162]. These equations describe the velocity profiles during fully-developed flow for a Newtonian fluid. The equations are formulated in terms of diameter and flow rate, however these can be modified to allow input of the diameter and the centre-line (maximum velocity) waveform [163] with output of the time-varying velocity profile data is available, volumetric flow can be obtained by integration of the profile data, and in addition this technique also gives the time-varying wall shear rate [164] (Fig. 13).



Fig. 13. Estimation of volumetric flow and wall shear stress (Blake et al. 2008 [164]).



Fig. 14. Estimation of 2D velocity profile and flow. Reproduced from Ultrasound Med Biol, Vol. 21; Picot PA, Fruitman M, Rankin RN, Fenster A; Rapid volume flow rate estimation using transverse colour Doppler Imaging, pp. 1199-1209, copyright Elsevier (1995).

Colour flow provides multi-gate velocity information and has been used to provide estimation of volumetric flow. This has been used to measure the 1D velocity profile, from which volumetric flow has been calculated assuming axially symmetric fully-developed flow [165]. Colour flow has also been used to estimate volumetric flow from the 2D velocity profile using an oblique cross section through the vessel [166], Figure 14.

The discussion of this section has emphasised the difficulties and assumptions in estimation of volumetric flow using the duplex system. Ideally what is required is a method which does not make assumptions related to fullydeveloped flow or axial symmetry. It is likely that the techniques, discussed in the next section, which are able to measure 3D and 3-component velocity field data are likely to provide accurate and clinically useful information on flow rate and other haemodynamic quantities.

$X.\,3D$ and vector doppler

This section will cover 3D and vector Doppler. These are deliberately combined in that they are attempting to solve the same problem which is a more complete characterisation of the flow field. Early studies, described above, on velocity measurement largely assumed that the blood is flowing parallel to the vessel wall; this assumption is embedded in the phrase 'beam-vessel angle' to describe the angle between the beam and the direction of motion. Understanding of haemodynamics gained momentum in the 1980s and 1990s due to the availability of tools which could measure flow patterns. In the lab optically transparent phantoms were developed where complex flow patterns could be seen in a carotid model [167]. The first numerical simulations were undertaken of blood flow by Perktold et al in 1984 [168] and Friedman and Ehrlich in 1984 [169]. Both ultrasound and MRI were used to demonstrate spiral flow in arteries [170-172]. A key concept is the idea of 'fully developed flow'. This can be understood with reference to flow from a reservoir into a long straight pipe. Near the entrance to the pipe the velocity profile is flat and after a certain distance called the 'inlet length' the velocity profile settles down to a fixed shape (for Newtonian flow this is a parabola). Any change of geometry such as a bend, bifurcation or disease will cause alterations in velocity profile. The underlying assumption of much of the discussion on velocity measurement in section IX is that the flow is fully-developed. In some arteries in health flow may well be fullydeveloped, for example in the distal regions of arteries in the arm and leg. However many arteries are short with strong curvature and flow will not be fully developed. In addition there are helical components to flow. There is helical flow in the normal aorta [173] and bending of arteries and bifurcations will induce helical flow [174]. Disease such as atherosclerosis and aneurysms will also affect flow profiles and can cause non-axial flow. The common carotid artery has been the subject of considerable interest in ultrasound. Figure 15 is an image of streamlines of flow calculated using computational fluid dynamics showing highly complex flow patterns. A full characterisation of flow requires 3 spatial components, 3 velocity components and time, so 7 components in all. Full time-varying flow field data is sometimes referred to as '7D flow'. It will be seen that the history of Doppler ultrasound is one of progression towards 7D flow.

Early work on 3D Doppler involved mechanically scanning the array [172]. A series of transverse images were acquired while moving the transducer along the length of the artery. There is change in diameter of the artery during the cardiac cycle, so ECG gating was necessary in order to collect data at the same point in the cycle. Colour flow images were acquired which made one of the first observations of helical flow in the carotid artery (Fig. 16). The development of 3D ultrasound is described in the review by Fenster in 2011 [175]. Early commercial 3D systems used a swept linear array. The first 3D ultrasound system based on a 2D array was developed by Volumetrics Medical Imaging (Durham, North Carolina, USA) and available at the end of 1990s (Fig. 17). The Volumetrics system was based on technology developed by the group at Duke University [176]. Later Philips Medical Systems produced a 2D array system with part of the beam-forming within the transducer. In 2020 commercial 3D ultrasound systems are a mix of swept array, 2D array, and (for endoprobe systems) mechanical pullback.



Fig. 15. Streamlines of flow in a diseased carotid artery; showing helical flow and recirculation in the bulb.



Fig. 16. 3D colour flow images of the carotid artery. From Aaron Fenster, London, Ontario.



Fig. 17. 3D colour flow imaging using the Volumetrics system from 1999.



Fig. 18. Vector Doppler images showing spiral flow in the femoral artery. a) and b) colour flow images obtained with the beam pointed to the left then right, c) velocity magnitude, d) vector angle, e) vector display. From Hoskins PR, Fleming A, Stonebridge P, Allan PL, Cameron D. Scan-plane vector maps and secondary flow motions. European Journal of Ultrasound 1994;1:159-169.

Single-beam Doppler systems provide information on 1 velocity component; the component aligned with the ultrasound beam. Vector Doppler involves estimation of velocity components from different directions and compounding these to obtain the velocity magnitude and direction. Vector Doppler systems based on single element transducers were able to make measurements from a single sample volume of 2 velocity components [177-180] or 3 components [178-184]. 2D vector Doppler images may be obtained by using colour flow, with the colour beam steered in 2 different directions [172,185-189]; Fig. 18.

In addition it is possible to use the spectral width to estimate the direction of motion. Combining equations 4 and 11 gives the fractional spectral width:

$$\frac{f_{sw}}{f_{mean}} = \frac{D \tan \theta}{L} \tag{18}$$

where f_{mean} is the mean Doppler frequency, and f_{sw} is the spectral width. Rearranging equation 11 gives:

$$\theta = \tan^{-1} \left(\frac{L}{D} \frac{f_{sw}}{f_{mean}} \right) \tag{19}$$

Equation 12 allows the angle θ to be estimated using a single beam, provided that it is only geometric spectral broadening that is contributing to the spectral broadening. This method has been used to estimate 2 components using a single beam system and 3 components in a 2-beam system [181,182].

A patent was published by Hall et al. in 1995 [190] for an array vector Doppler system in which the array was divided into a central transmit aperture with receive apertures on either side. A prototype array based vector Doppler system was produced by ATL Ultrasound using a similar approach, which proved successful in phantoms and in normal volunteers in acquiring velocity measurements which were angle-independent [191,192]. However despite the ease with which vector Doppler could be adopted on array based systems, there was no commercial adoption of cross-beam vector Doppler and hence no clinical penetration. A review of cross-beam vector Doppler is provided by Dunmire et al. in 2000 [193].

The first commercial colour vector Doppler system was available from BK Medical using the transverse oscillation (TO) method [194,195]. This method creates an oscillation in the transverse direction from which the transverse velocity component can be estimated. Creation of the transverse oscillation is performed in reception; this produces 2 beams from which the transverse velocity component can be estimated. The transmit beam is unchanged in TO from conventional Doppler, so that TO has a higher frame rate and larger field of view than comparable cross-beam techniques.

The TO method has been modified for 3 component velocity estimation [196,197] with 2D 3-component velocity profiles obtained from carotid arteries [198]. The same methodology was also used to acquire 3D 3-component flow in the heart using ECG gating at 50 frames per second [199].

The techniques above, involving cross-beam and transverse oscillation provide real-time 2D imaging with 2 velocity components, so 5 of the 7 dimensions. As noted above recent years have seen the development of high frame rate synthetic aperture techniques involving either plane wave insonation or spherical wave insonation, with focus on receive. Frame rates of over 3000 s⁻¹ were achieved for real-time 2D 3-component imaging of flow in the carotid artery [200]. It is using synthetic aperture imaging that real-time 3D 3-component (i.e. 7D) flow imaging is likely to become available in the near future. Further details of recent developments in vector Doppler are available in the reviews by Jensen et al. [135,201].

XI. CHRONOLOGICAL SUMMARY OF MAJOR DEVELOPMENTS BY DECADE

1950s

CW Doppler systems developed by Satomura (Osaka, Japan) for measurement of heart wall motion and blood flow.

Commercial Doppler system; the Ultrasonic Blood Rheograph (Nippon Electric Company). Invasive Doppler probes developed by Franklin (Seattle, USA).

1960s

Development of CW Doppler technology; flow discrimination methods, real-time single-line display of mean Doppler frequency from a zero-crossing detector, off-line spectral display. PW Doppler systems.

1970s

Multi-gate Doppler systems, allowing measurement of velocity profile.

Ultrasound angiography.

Duplex Doppler.

Colour flow system using slow-sweep of Doppler beam.

Methods for angle-estimation (based on multiple single elements).

Identification of causes of spectral broadening; geometric and transit time.

Formulation of RI and PI for waveform analysis.

Methods for estimation of pressure gradient across cardiac valves from Doppler measurements of velocity. Volumetric flow estimation using duplex scanners.

1980s

Real-time colour flow system with applications in the heart, and later in vessels.

Theoretical understanding of the origin of Doppler spectra.

Doppler waveform analysis; quantification of waveform shape and spectral content for use in diagnosis.

Vector Doppler systems (based on multiple single elements).

1990s

Tissue Doppler Imaging (of heart motion, and later vessel wall motion).

Power Doppler.

Colour vector Doppler (off-line then later real-time).

3D colour-flow.

Improved understanding of the estimation of blood velocity and related quantities using Doppler.

2000-2020

High frame rate Doppler and related applications (colour flow, spectral Doppler, vector Doppler, microvascular imaging, functional ultrasound).

References

 Doppler CA. Über das farbige licht der Doppelsterne und einiger anderer Gestirne des Himmels ("On the coloured light of the binary stars and some other stars of the heavens"). Abhandlungen der königl böhm. Gesellschaft der Wissenschafen. 1842;2:465-482.

2. White DN. Johann Christian Doppler and his effect - a brief history. Ultrasound Med Biol 1982;8:583-591.

Eden A. The beginnings of Doppler. In: Ed. R Aaslid R; Transcranial Doppler sonography (Springer-Verlag/Wien, New York) 1986; pp. 1-9.

- 4. Satomura S, Matsubara S, Yoshioka M. A new method of mechanical vibration measurement and its application. *Memoirs of the Institute of Scientific and Industrial Research*, Osaka University. 1956;13:125. (in Japanese)
- 5. Satomura S. Ultrasonic Doppler method for the inspection of cardiac functions. J Acoust Soc Am 1957;29:1181-1185
- 6. Satomura, S. Study of the flow patterns in peripheral arteries by ultrasonics. J Acoust Soc Jap 1959;15:151. (in Japanese)

7. Kaneko Z. First steps in the development of the Doppler flowmeter. Ultrasound Med Biol 1986;12:187-195.

8. Satomura S, Kaneko Z. Ultrasonic blood rheography. In: Proc 3rd IEEE Int Conf Med Elec, London. 1960;pp.239-242.

- Kato K, Kido Y, Motomiya M, Kaneko Z, Kotani H. On the mechanism of generation of detected sound in ultrasonic flowmeter. Memoirs
 of the Institute of Scientific and Industrial Research, Osaka University. 1962;19:51-57.
- 10. Kato K, Motomiya M, Izumi T, Kaneko Z, Shiraishi J, Omizo H, Nakano S. Linearity of readings on ultrasonic flowmeter. Dig 6th Int Conf Med Elec Biol Eng 1965, p. 284.

- 11. Kaneko Z, Shiraishi J, Omizo H, Kato K, Motomiya M. An analyzing method of ultrasonic blood-rheography with sonograph. *Dig 6th Int Conf Med Elec Biol Eng* 1965, pp.286-287.
- 12. Kato K, Izumi T. A new ultrasonic flowmeter that can detect flow direction. Jap Med Ultrason 1966;5:28-30.
- 13. Baker DW, Stegall HF, Schlegel WA. A sonic transcutaneous blood flowmeter. Proc 17th Ann Conf Eng Med Biol 1965; p. 76 (abstract).
- 14. Johnson WI, Stegall HF, Lein JL, Rushmer RF. Detection of fetal life in early pregnancy with an ultrasonic Doppler flowmeter. Obstetric Gynecol 1965;26:305-307.
- Rushmer RF, Baker DW, Stegall HF. Transcutaneous Doppler flow detection as a nondestructive technique. J App Physiol 1966;21:554-566.
- Strandness DE, McCutcheon EP, Rushmer F. Application of a transcutaneous Doppler flowmeter in evaluation of occlusive arterial disease. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1966;122:1039-1045.
- 17. Franklin DL, Baker DW, Ellis RM. A pulsed ultrasonic flowmeter. IRE Trans Med Electron 1959;6:204-206.
- 18. Franklin DL, Schlegel W, Rushmer RF. Blood flow measured by Doppler frequency shift of back-scattered ultrasound. *Science* 1961;134:564-565.
- 19. Callaghan DA, Rowland TC, Goldman DE. Ultrasonic Doppler observation of the fetal heart. Obstetric Gynecol 1964;23-637 (abstract).
- 20. Bishop EH. Instrument & method: the Doppler ultrasonic motion sensor. Obstetric Gynecol 1966;28:712–713.
- Sigel B, Popky GL, Boland JP, Wagner DK, Mapp EM. Augmentation flow sounds in the ultrasonic detection of venous abnormalities: a preliminary report. *Invest Radiol* 1967;2:256-258.
- 22. McLeod FD. A directional Doppler flowmeter. Dig 7th Int Conf Med Biol Eng Stockholm 1967;213. (abstract).
- Strandness DE Jr, Schultz RD, Sumner DS, Rushmer RF. Ultrasonic flow detection. A useful technic in the evaluation of peripheral vascular disease. Am J Surg 1967;113:311–320.
- 24. Zierler RE. Dr. Strandness, Vascular surgery and the noninvasive vascular lab (a brief personal history). Dinner Speech. http://www.strandness.org/~str4nd5/images/Zierler Vascular Forum Dinner Program.pdf
- 25. Coghlan BA, Taylor MG. Directional Doppler techniques for detection of blood velocities. Ultrasound Med Biol 1976;2:181-188.
- 26. Rice SO. Mathematical analysis of random noise. Bell System Tech J 1944;23:282-322.
- Lunt MJ. Accuracy and limitations of the ultrasonic Doppler blood velocimeter and zero-crossing detector. Lunt MJ. Ultrasound Med Biol 1975;2:1-10.
- 28. Koenig W, Dunn HK, Lacy LY. The sound spectrograph. J Acoust Soc Am 1945;18:19-49.
- 29. Langenthal IM. Real time time compression spectrum analysis. *Honeywell Technical Bulletin TB-11*, Honeywell Inc, Test Instrument Division, Denver, CO, USA. April 1971 (10 pages).
- 30. Coghlan BA, Taylor MG, King DH. On-line display of Doppler shift spectra by a new time compression analyser. In: Ed. R S Reneman; Cardiovascular Applications of Ultrasound (Amsterdam: North Holland) 1974; pp. 55-56.
- Coghlan BA, Taylor MG. Improved real time spectrum analyser for Doppler shift blood velocity waveforms. *Med Biol Eng Comput* 1979;17:316-322.
- 32. Barnes RW. Noninvasive diagnostic techniques in peripheral vascular disease. Am Heart J 1979;97:241-258.
- 33. Rittgers SE, Putney WW, Barnes RW. Real-time spectrum analysis and Doppler ultrasound in vascular disease display of directional Doppler ultrasound blood velocity signals. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng* 1980;BME-27:723-728.
- 34. Spencer MP, Reid JM. Quantitation of carotid stenosis with continuous-wave (C-W) Doppler ultrasound. Stroke 1979;10:326-330.
- 35. Light LH, Cross G. In: Ed. Roberts C: Blood flow measurements (London: Sector Publishing) 1972:60-63.
- 36. Baker DW. The present role of Doppler techniques in cardiac diagnosis. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 1978;21;79-91.
- 37. Feigenbaum H. Evolution of echocardiography. Circulation 1996;93:1321-1327.
- Holen J, Aaslid R, Landmark K, Simonsen S. Determination of pressure gradient in mitral stenosis with a non-invasive ultrasound Doppler technique. Acta Medica Scand 1976;199:455-460.
- Holen J, Simonsen S. Determination of pressure gradient in mitral stenosis with Doppler echocardiography. Brit Heart J 1979;41:529-535.
- Hatle L, Brubakk A, Tromsdal A, Angelsen B. Noninvasive assessment of pressure drop in mitral stenosis by Doppler ultrasound. Brit Heart J 1978;40:131-140.
- 41. Hatle L, Angelsen B, Tromsdal A. Noninvasive assessment of aortic stenosis by Doppler ultrasound. Brit Heart J 1979;43:284-292.
- 42. Sigel B. A brief history of Doppler ultrasound in the diagnosis of peripheral vascular disease. Ultrasound Med Biol 1998;24:169-176.
- 43. Beach KW. D. Eugene Strandness, Jr, MD, and the revolution in non-invasive vascular diagnosis. Part 1: Foundations. J Utrasound Med 2005;24:259-272.
- 44. Beach KW. D. Eugene Strandness, Jr, MD, and the revolution in non-invasive vascular diagnosis. Part 2: Progression of vascular disease. J Utrasound Med 2005;24:403-414.
- 45. Cardullo PA. Continuous-wave Doppler ultrasound. J Vasc Ultrasound 2011;35:201-207.
- 46. Gosling R G, King D H, Newman D L and Woodcock J P. Transcutaneous measurement of arterial blood velocity ultrasound, Ultrasonics for Industry Conference Papers (Guildford: IPC) 1969;16-32.
- 47. Gosling RG, King DH. Continuous wave ultrasound as an alternative and complement to X-rays in vascular examination. In: Ed. R S Reneman; *Cardiovascular Applications of Ultrasound* (Amsterdam: North Holland) 1974; 266-282.
- 48. Pourcelot L. Applications cliniques de l'examen Doppler transcutane Velocimetrie Ultrasonore Doppler (Paris: Seminaire INSERM) 1974; pp 213-240.
- 49. Evans DH, McDicken WN, Skidmore R, Woodcock JP. Doppler Ultrasound: Physics, Instrumentation and Clinical Applications (Chichester: John Wiley); 1989.
- Johnston KW, de Morais D, Kassam M, Brown PM. Cerebrovascular assessment using a Doppler carotid scanner and real time frequency analysis. J Clin Ultrasound 1981;9:443-449.
- 51. Rittgers SE, Thornhill BM, Barnes RW. Quantitative analysis of carotid artery Doppler spectral waveforms: diagnostic value of parameters. Ultrasound Med Biol 1983;9: 255-264.
- Sheldon CD, Murie JA, Quin RO. Ultrasonic Doppler spectral broadening in the diagnosis of internal carotid artery stenosis. Ultrasound Med Biol 1983;9:575-580.
- Skidmore R, Woodcock JP. Physiological interpretation of Doppler shift waveforms I Theoretical considerations. Ultrasound Med Biol 1980a;6:7-10.
- 54. Skidmore R, Woodcock JP. Physiological interpretation of Doppler-shift waveforms II Validation of the Laplace transform method for characterisation of the common femoral blood velocity/time waveform. Ultrasound Med Biol 1980b;6:219-225.
- Skidmore R, Woodcock JP, Wells PNT, Bird D, Baird RN. Physiological interpretation of Doppler shifted waveforms III Clinical results. Ultrasound Med Biol 1980c;6:227-231.
- 56. Sherriff SB, Barber DC, Martin TRP, Lakeman JM. Use of principal component factor analysis in the detection of carotid artery disease from Doppler Ultrasound. *Med Biol Eng Comput* 1982;20:351-356.
- Mcpherson DS, Evans DH, Bell PRF. Common femoral artery Doppler waveforms: a comparison of three methods of objective analysis with direct pressure measurements Brit J Surg 1984;71:46-49.
- 58. Hoskins PR. Measurement of arterial blood flow by Doppler ultrasound. Clin Phys Physiol Meas 1990;11:1-26.

- 59. Baker DW, Watkins. A phase coherent pulse Doppler system for cardiovascular measurement. Proc 20th Ann Conf Eng Med Biol 1967; paper 27-2 (abstract).
- 60. Baker DW. Pulsed ultrasonic Doppler blood flow sensing. IEEE Trans Son Ultrason 1970:SU-173;170-185.
- 61. Peronneau PA, Leger F. Doppler ultrasonic pulsed blood flowmeter. In: Proc 8th Conf Med Biol Eng 1969:7;641-652.
- 62. Wells PNT. A range gated ultrasonic Doppler system. Med Biol Eng 1969;7:641-652.
- 63. Flaherty JJ, Strauts EJ. Ultrasonic pulse Doppler instrumentation, Proc 8th Int Conf Med Biol Eng Chicago, USA. 1969; paper 10-10.
- 64. Angelsen BAJ. Transcutaneous measurement of aortic blood velocity by ultrasound. a theoretical and experimental approach. Division of Engineering Cybernetics, Norwegian Institute of Technology, University of Trondheim, Norway. 1975; report 75-78-W.
- 65. Angelsen BAJ. Analog estimation of the maximum frequency of doppler spectra in ultrasonic blood velocity measurements. Division of Engineering Cybernetics, Norwegian Institute of Technology, University of Trondheim, Norway. 1976; report 76-21-W.
- 66. Aaslid R, Markwalder TM, Nornes H. Noninvasive transcranial Doppler ultrasound recording of flow velocity in basal cerebral arteries. J Neurosurg 1982;57:769-774.
- 67. Purkayastha S, Sorond F. Transcranial Doppler ultrasound: technique and application. Seminar Neurol 2012;32:411-420.
- 68. Alexandrov AV, Sloan MA, Tegeler CH, Newell DN, Lumsden A, Garami Z, Levy CR, Wong LKS, Douville C, Kaps M, Tsivgoulis G, American Society of Neuroimaging Practice Guidelines Committee. Practice standards for transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasound. Part II. Clinical indications and expected outcomes. J Neuroimag 2012;22:215-224.
- 69. Brunner HH, Bollinger A, Anliker M, Zweifel HJ, Rutishauser W. Bestimmung instantaner Stromungsgeschwindigkeitsprofile in der A. femoralis communis mit gepulstem Doppler-Ultraschall bei Stenosen und Verschlüssen der Beckenarterien. *Deutsche Medizinische Wochenschrift*. 1974;99:3-7. [Measuement by pulsed Doppler ultrasound of instantaneous flow velocity profiles in the common femoral artery of patients with stenoses or occlusion of the pelvic arteries].
- 70. Peronneau PA, Bournat JP, Bugnon A, Barbet A, Xhaard M. Theoretical and practical aspects of pulsed Doppler flowmetry: Real-time applications to the measure of instantaneous velocity profiles. In: Ed. R S Reneman; *Cardiovascular Applications of Ultrasound* (Amsterdam: North Holland) 1974;66-84.
- 71. McLeod FD. Multichannel pulse Doppler techniques. In: Ed. R S Reneman; Cardiovascular Applications of Ultrasound (Amsterdam: North Holland) 1974:85-107.
- 72. Fish PJ. Multichannel direction resolving Doppler angiography. In: Ultrasonics in Medicine, Proceedings of the 2nd European Congress of Ultrasonics in Medicine (Exerpta Medica, Amsterdam) 1975; 153-159.
- 73. Ramsey SD, Taenzer JC, Holzemer JF, Suarez JR, Green PS. A real-time ultrasonic B-scan / Doppler artery-imaging system. Proc IEEE Ultrason Symp 75CH0994-45U 1975;10-12.
- 74. Nerem RM, Seed WA. An in vivo study of aortic flow disturbances. Cardiovasc Res 1972;6:1-14.
- 75. Reid JM, Spencer MP. Ultrasonic Doppler Technique for Imaging Blood Vessels. Science 1972;176:1235-1236.
- 76. Hokanson DE, Mozersky DJ, Sumner DS, Strandness Jr DE. Ultrasonic Arteriography: A non-invasive method of arterial visualisation. Biomed Eng 1971;6:420.
- 77. Mozersky DJ, Hokanson DE, Baker DW, Sumner DS, Strandness Jr DE. Ultrasonic Arteriography. Arch Surg 1971;103:663-667.
- Fish PJ. Imaging blood vessels by ultrasound. In; Ed: Roberts VC; *Blood flow measurement* (Sector Publishing Limited, London) 1972;29-32.
- 79. Fish PJ, Kakkar VV, Corrigan T, Nicolaides AN. Arteriography using ultrasound. Lancet 1972;1269-1270.
- 80. Curry GR, White DN. Color coded ultrasonic differential velocity arterial scanner (Echoflow). Ultrasound Med Biol 1978;4:27-35.
- 81. Day TK, Fish PJ, Kakkar VV. Detecton of deep vein thrombosis by Doppler angiography. Brit Med J 1976;1:618.
- Baird RN, Lusby RJ, Bird DR, Giddings AE, Skidmore R, Woodcock JP, Horton RE, Peacock JH. Pulsed Doppler angiography in lower limb arterial ischemia. Surgery 1979;86:818-825.
- 83. Warlow CP, Fish PJ. Pulsed Doppler imaging of the carotid bifurcation. J Neuro Sci 1980;45:135-141.
- 84. Clifford PC, Skidmore R, Bird DR, Lusby RJ, Baird RN, Woodcock JP, Wells PNT. Pulsed Doppler and real-time "duplex" imaging of dacron arterial grafts. Ultrasonic Imaging 1980;2:381-390.
- 85. Ellis MR, Green IL, Greenhalgh RM, Kirk CJC, Whittle DE. Imaging and volume flow assessment with MAVIS in the investigation of asymptomatic carotid artery disease and a comparison with oculoplethysmography and carotid phonoangiography. In: Eds; Greenhalgh RM, Clifford Rose F *Progress in Stroke Research 2* (London: Pitman Medical Inc) 1983:113-119.
- Harpold GJ, Wood CPL, Biller J, Ball M, McHenry Jr LC. Vertebral artery occlusion producing lateral medullary syndrome diagnosed by pulsed Doppler Ultrasound. J Utrasound Med 1985;4:93-96.
- 87. Scheffler P, Gross J, Markwirth T, Maier J, Schieffer H. Progress in the Prostaglandin E1-therapy of the Intermittent Claudication by Means of Bolus Injections of LIPO-prostaglandin E1 (LIPO-PGE1). Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1996;51:235-239.
- 88. Clayton R, Algar J. The GEC research laboratories, 1919-1984. IET, 1989; p. 310.
- McHugh R, McDicken WN, Thompson P, Boddy K. Blood flow detection by an intersecting zone ultrasonic Doppler unit. Ultrasound Med Biol 1981;7:371-375.
- 90. Barber, FE, Baker, DW, Nation, AWC. Ultrasonic duplex echo Doppler scanner. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 1974a;21:109-113.
- 91. Barber, FE, Baker, DW, Strandness, DE. Duplex scanner II for simultaneous imaging of artery tissues and flow. *IEEE Ultrason Symp* Proc1974b;74CH0896-ISU.
- 92. Phillips DJ, Blackshear WM, Strandness DE Jr., Powers JE, Eyer MK, Baker DW. Use of Duplex scanner III in the assessment of peripheral vascular disease. Proc 23rd Meet Am Inst Ultrasound Med 1978;p.109. (abstract).
- 93. Phillips DJ, Powers JE, Eyer MK, Blackshear Jr WM, Bodily KC, Strandness Jr DE, Baker DW. Detection of peripheral vascular disease using the Duplex scanner III. Ultrasound Med Biol 1980;6:205-218.
- 94. Breslau PJ. Ultrasonic duplex scanning in the evaluation of carotid artery disease. PhD thesis, Maastricht University. 1982
- 95. Green PS, Taenzer JC, Ramsey Jr. SD, Holzemer JF, Suarez JR, Marich KW, Evans TC, Sandok BA, Greenleaf JF. A real-time ultrasonic imaging system for carotid arteriography. Ultrasound Med Biol 1977;3:129-139.
- Marich KW, Ramsey SD, Wilson DA, Holzemer JF, Burch DJ, Taenzer JC, Green PS. An improved medical ultrasonic imaging system for scanning peripheral arteries. Ultrason Imag 1981;3:309-322.
- Blackshear WM, Philips DJ, Thiele BL, Hirsch JH, Chikos PM, Marinelli MR, Ward KJ, Strandness DE. Detection of carotid occlusive disease by ultrasonic imaging and pulsed Doppler spectrum analysis. *Surgery* 1979;86:698-706.
- 98. Phillips PJ, Kadi AP, von Ramm OT. Feasibility study for a 2-dimensional diagnostic ultrasound velocity mapping system. Ultrasound Med Biol 1995;21:217-229.
- Fell G, Phillips DJ, Chikos PM, Harley JD, Thiele BL, Strandness Jr. DE. Ultrasonic duplex scanning for disease of the carotid artery. Circulation 1991;64:1191.
- 100.Breslau PJ, Fell G, Philips DE, Thiele BL, Strandness DE. The role of common carotid patterns in the evaluation of carotid bifurcation disease. Arch Surg 1982;58:117.
- 101.Breslau PJ, Knox RA, Philips DJ, Beach KW, Chikos PM, Thiele BL, Strandness DE. The accuracy of ultrasonic Duplex scanning as compared with contrast arteriography in extra-cranial carotid disease. *Vasc Diag Ther* 1982;3:17-22.
- 102.Nimura Y, Matsuo H, Kitabatake A, Hayashi T, Asao M, Terao Y, Senda S, Sakakibara H, Abe H: Studies on the intracardiac blood flow with a combined use of the ultrasonic pulsed Doppler technique and two-dimensional echocardiography from a transcutaneous approach. In: Eds. White D, Brown RE Ultrasound in Medicine (New York, Plenum) 1977;1279.

- 103.Miyatake K, Kinoshita N, Nagata S, Beppu S, Park Y, Sakakibara H, Nimura Y: Intracardiac flow pattern in mitral regurgitation studied with combined use of the ultrasonic pulsed Doppler technique and cross-sectional echocardiography. Am J Cardiol 1980;45:155-162.
- 104.Miyatake K. Okailoto M. Kinoshita N. Matsuhisa M, Nagata S, Beppu S. Park Y. Sakakibara H. Nimura Y: Pulmonary regurgitation studied with the ultrasonic pulsed Doppler technique. *Circulation* 1982a;65:969-976.
- 105.Miyatake K. Nimura Y, Sakakibara H, Kinoshita N, Okamoto M, Nagata S, Kawaazoe K, Fujita T. Localisation and direction of mitral regurgitant flow in mitral orifice studied with combined use of ultrasonic pulsed Doppler technique and two-dimensional echocardiography. *Brit Heart J* 1982b;48:449-458.
- 106.Miyatake K, Okamoto M, Kinoshita N, Ohta M, Kozuka K, Sakakibara H, Nimura Y. Evaluation of tricuspid regurgitation by pulsed Doppler and two-dimensional echocardiography. *Circulation* 1982c;66:777-784.
- 107.Eik-Nes SH, Marsal K, Brubakk AO, Kristofferson K, Ulstein M. Ultrasonic measurement of human fetal blood flow. J Biomed Eng 1982;4:28-36.
- 108. Teague MJ, Willson K, Battye CK, Taylor MG, Griffin DR, Campbell S, Roberts VC. A combined ultrasonic linear array scanner and pulsed Doppler velocimeter for the estimation of blood flow in the foetus and adult abdomen I: Technical aspects. Ultrasound Med Biol 1985;11:27-36.
- 109.Berson M, Roncin A, Arbeille PH, Patat F, Pourcelot L. A linear array system for deep vessel explorations. Ultrasound Med Biol 1987;13:267-274.
- 110.Griffin DR, Teague MJ, Tallet P, Willson K, Bilardo C, Massini L, Campbell S. A combined ultrasonic linear array scanner and pulsed Doppler velocimeter for the estimation of blood flow in the fetus and adult abdomen. II - Clinical evaluation. Ultrasound Med Biol 1985;11:37-41.
- 111.Taylor KJW, Burns PN, Woodcock JP, Wells PNT. Blood flow in deep abdominal and pelvic vessels: ultrasonic pulsed Doppler analysis. *Radiology* 1985;154;487-493.
- 112.Brandestini MA. Topoflow a digital full range Doppler velocity meter. IEEE Trans Son Ultrason 1978;25:287-293.
- 113. Eyer MK, Brandestini MA, Philips DJ, Baker DW. Color digital echo/Doppler image presentation. Ultrasound Med Biol 1981;7:21-31.
- 114.Namekawa K, Kasai C, Koyano A. Imaging of blood flow using auto-correlation. Ultrasound Med Biol 1982a;8:138.
- 115.Namekawa K, Kasai C, Tsukamoto M, Koyano A. Realtime bloodflow imaging system utilizing auto-correlation techniques. In: Eds. Lerski RA, Morley P Ultrasound 82 (Pergamon, Oxford)1982b;203–208
- 116.Kasai C, Namekawa K, Koyano A, Omoto R. Real time two-dimensional blood flow imaging using an autocorrelation technique. IEEE Trans Son Ultrason 1985;32:458-464.
- 117.Omoto R, Yokote Y, Takamoto S, et al. The development of real-time two-dimensional Doppler echocardiography and its clinical significance in acquired valvular diseases. With special references to the evaluation of valvular regurgitation. Jap Heart J 1984;25:325-340.
- 118. Miyatake K. Okamoto M. Kinoshita N. et al. Clinical application of a new type of real-time two-dimensional Doppler flow imaging system. *Am J Cardiol* 1984;54:857-868.
- 119. Takamoto S, Kyo S, Adachi H, Matsumura M, Yokote Y, Omoto R. Intraoperative color flow mapping by real-time two-dimensional Doppler echocardiography for evaluation of valvular and congenital heart disease and vascular disease. *J Thoracic Cardiovasc Surg* 1985;90:802-812.
- 120.Zierler RE, Phillips DJ, Beach KW, Primozich JF, Strandness DE Jr. Noninvasive assessment of normal carotid bifurcation hemodynamics with color-flow ultrasound imaging. *Ultrasound Med Biol* 1987;13:471-476.
- 121.Rosenfield K, Kelly SM, Fields CD, Pastore JO, Weinstein R, Palefski P, Langevin Jr. RE, Kosowsky BD, Razvi S, Isner JM. Noninvasive assessment of peripheral vascular disease by color flow Doppler/two-dimensional ultrasound. Am J Cardiol 1989;64:247-251.
- 122. Evans DH, Jensen JA, Nielsen MB. Ultrasonic colour Doppler imaging. Interface Focus 2011;1:490-502.
- 123.Evans DH. Colour flow and motion imaging. J Eng Med 2010:224;241-253.
- 124.Loupas T, Peterson RB, Gill RW. Experimental evaluation of velocity and power estimation for ultrasound blood flow imaging by means of a two-dimensional autocorrelation approach. *IEEE Trans Ultrason Ferroelec Freq Cont* 1995a;42:689-699.
- 125. Loupas T, Power JT, Gill RW. An axial velocity estimator for ultrasound blood flow imaging, based on a full evaluation of the Doppler equation, by means of a two-dimensional autocorrelation approach. *IEEE Trans Ultrason Ferroelec Freq Cont* 1995b;42:672-688.
- 126.Sahn DJ. Instrumentation and physical factors related to visualization of stenotic and regurgitant jets by Doppler color flow mapping. J Am Coll Cardiol 1988;12:1354-1365.
- 127.Simpson IA, Valdes-Cruz LM, Sahn DJ, Murillo A, Tamura T, Chung KJ. Doppler color flow mapping of simulated in vitro regurgitant jets: evaluation of the effects of orifice size and hemodynamic variables. J Am Coll Cardiol 1989;13:1195-1207.
- 128. Jain SP, Fan PH, Philpot EF, Nanda NC, Aggarwal KK, Moos S, Yoganathan AP. Influence of various instrument settings on the flow information derived from the power mode. *Ultrasound Med Biol* 1991;17:49-54.
- 129. Rubin JM, Bude RO, Carson PL et al. Power Doppler US: A potentially useful alternative to mean frequency based color Doppler US. *Radiology* 1994;190:853-856.
- 130.Bude RO, Rubin JM. Power Doppler sonography. Radiology 1996;200:21-23.
- 131.McDicken WN, Sutherland GR, Moran CM, Gordon LN. Colour Doppler velocity imaging of the myocardium. Ultrasound Med Biol 1992;18:651–654.
- 132. Fleming AD, Xia X, McDicken WN. Myocardial velocity gradients detected by Doppler imaging. Brit J Radiol 1994;67:679-688.
- 133.Abraham TP, Dimaano VL, Liang HY. Role of tissue Doppler and strain echocardiography in current clinical practice. *Circulation* 2007;116:2597-2609.
- 134. Whittingham T, Martin K. Transducers and beam-forming. In: Eds. Hoskins PR, Martin K, Thrush A Diagnostic ultrasound: physics and equipment (Taylor Francis, Boca Raton) 2019;37-75.
- 135.Jensen JA, Nikolov SI, Yu AC, Garcia D. Ultrasound vector flow imaging Part II: Parallel systems. *IEEE Trans Ultrason Ferroelec* Freq Cont 2016;63:1722-1732.
- 136.Bercoff J, Montaldo G, Loupas T, Savery D, Mézière F, Fink M, Tanter M. Ultrafast compound Doppler imaging: Providing full blood flow characterization. IEEE Trans Ultrason Ferroelec Freq Cont 2011;58:134-147.
- 137.Demené C, Pernot M, Biran V, Alison M, Fink M, Baud O, Tanter M. Ultrafast Doppler reveals the mapping of cerebral vascular resistivity in neonates. J Cerebral Blood Flow Metabol 2014;34:1009-1017.
- 138. Mace E, Montaldo G, Cohen I, Baulac M, Fink M, Tanter M. Functional ultrasound Imaging of the brain. *Nature Methods* 2011;8:662-664.
- 139.Demené C, Mairesse J, Baranger J, Tanter M, Baud O. Ultrafast Doppler for neonatal brain imaging. *Neuroimage* 2018 April 10. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.04.016.
- 140.Fahrbach K. Ein beitrag zur Blutgeschwindigkeitsmessung unter Anwendung des Doppler effek. Electromedizin 1970:15;26-36.
- 141.Peronneau PA, Xhaard M, Nowicki A, Pellet M, Delouche P, Hinglais J. Pulsed Doppler ultrasonics flowmeter and flow pattern analysis, In: Ed. Roberts VC; Blood flow measurement (Sector, London) 1972;24-28.
- 142.Peronneau P, Sandman W, Xhaard M. Blood flow patterns in larger arteries. In: Eds. White DN, Brown RE Ultrasound in medicine 3B (Plenum Press, New York) 1977;1193-1208.

143.Duck FA, Hodson CJ. A practical method of eliminating the angular dependence of Doppler flow measurements. *Excerpta Med Int Cong* Series 1973;277:15-16.

144. Robinson ML, Sacks D, Perlmutter GS, Marinelli DL. Diagnostic criteria for carotid duplex sonography. Am J Roentgenol 1988;151:1045-1049.

145.Newhouse VL, Varner LW, Bendick PJ. Geometric spectral broadening in ultrasonic Doppler systems. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng* 1977;24:478-480.

146.Censor D, Newhouse VL, Vantz T, Ortega HV. Theory of ultrasound Doppler-spectra velocimetry for arbitrary beam and flow configuration. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 1988;35:740-751.

147.Newhouse VL, Bendick PL, Varner LW. Analysis of transit-time effects on Doppler flow measurements. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng* 1976;23:381-387.

148.Newhouse VL, Furgason ES, Johnson GF, Wolf DA. The dependence of ultrasound Doppler bandwidth on beam geometry. *IEEE Trans* Son Ultrason 1980;27:50-59.

149.Guidi G, Licciardello C, Falteri S. Intrinsic spectral broadening (ISB) in ultrasound Doppler as a combination of transit time and local geometrical broadening. *Ultrasound Med Biol* 2000;26:853-62.

150.Fish PJ. In: Ed Hill CR. Physical principles of medical ultrasound. Ells Horwood; Chichester. 1986;pp.338-76.

- 151.Daigle RJ, Stavros AT, Lee RM. Overestimation of velocity and frequency values by multi-element linear array Doppler. J Vasc Technol 1990;14:206-213.
- 152. Hoskins PR, Li SL, McDicken WN. Velocity estimation using duplex scanners. Ultrasound Med Biol 1991;17:195-199.
- 153. Tortoli P, Guidi G, Newhouse VL. Improved velocity estimation using the maximum Doppler frequency. Ultrasound Med Biol 1995;21:527-532.

154. Hoskins PR Accuracy of maximum velocity estimates made using Doppler ultrasound systems. Brit J Radiol 1996;69:172-177.

155.Gill RW. Pulsed Doppler with B-mode imaging for quantitative blood flow measurement Ultrasound Med Biol 1979;5:223-225.

156.Eik-Nes SH, Marsal K, Kristofferson K. Methodology and basic problems related to blood flow studies in the human fetus Ultrasound Med Biol 1984;10:329-337.

157. Avasthi PS, Greene ER, Voyles WF, Eldridge MW. A comparison of echo-Doppler and electromagnetic renal blood flow measurements. *J Utrasound Med* 1984;3:213-218.

158. Evans DH. Some aspects of the relationship between instantaneous volumetric blood flow and continuous wave beam width on the output of maximum frequency, mean frequency and RMS processors. *Ultrasound Med Biol* 1982;8:605-609.

159.Gill RW. Measurement of blood flow by ultrasound: accuracy and sources of error. Ultrasound Med Biol 1985;11:625-641.

- 160. Evans DH. Can ultrasonic duplex scanners really measure volumetric flow? In: Evans JA, editor. *Physics in medical ultrasound*. York: Institute of Physical Sciences in Medicine; 1986.
- 161.Evans DH. On the measurement of the mean velocity of blood flow over the cardiac cycle using Doppler ultrasound. Ultrasound Med Biol 1985;11:735-741.
- 162.Womersley JR. Method for the calculation of velocity, rate of flow and viscous drag in arteries when the pressure gradient is known. J Physiol 1955;127:553–563.

163.Holdsworth DW, Norley CJD, Frayne R, Steinman DA, Rutt BK. Characterization of common carotid artery blood-flow waveforms in normal human subjects. *Physiol Meas* 1999;20:219-240.

164.Blake JR, Meagher SC, Fraser KH, Easson WJ, Hoskins PR. A method to estimate wall shear rate with clinical ultrasound scanners. Ultrasound Med Biol 2008;34:760-774.

165.Struijk PC, Stewart PA, Fernando KL, et al. Wall shear stress and related hemodynamic parameters in the fetal descending aorta derived from color Doppler velocity profiles. Ultrasound Med Biol 2005;31:1441-1450.

166.Picot PA, Fruitman M, Rankin RN, Fenster A. Rapid volume flow rate estimation using transverse colour Doppler Imaging. Ultrasound Med Biol 1995;21:1199-1209.

167.Ku DN, Giddens DP. Pulsatile flow in a model carotid bifurcation. Arteriosclerosis 1983;3:313-319.

- 168. Perktold K, Gruber K, Kenner T, Florian H. Calculation of pulsatile flow and particle paths in an aneurysm-model. *Basic Res Cardiol* 1984;79:253-261.
- 169. Friedman MH, Ehrlich LW. Numerical simulation of aortic bifurcation flows: the effect of flow divider curvature. J Biomech 1984;17:881-888.
- 170.Napel S, Lee DH, Frayne R, Rutt BK. Visualizing three-dimensional flow with simulated streamlines and three-dimensional phasecontrast MR imaging. J Mag Reson Imag 1992;2:143-153.

171.Picot PA, Rickey DW, Mitchell R, Rankin RN, Fenster A. Three-dimensional colour Doppler imaging. Ultrasound Med Biol 1993;19:95-104.

- 172. Hoskins PR, Fleming A, Stonebridge P, Allan PL, Cameron D. Scan-plane vector maps and secondary flow motions. *Eur J Ultrasound* 1994;1:159-169.
- 173.Kilner PJ, Yang GZ, Mohiaddin RH, Firmin DN, Longmore DB. Helical and retrograde secondary flow patterns in the aortic arch studied by three-directional magnetic resonance velocity mapping. *Circulation* 1993;88:2235-2247.
- 174.Pedley TJ. The fluid mechanics of larger blood vessels (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge) 1980.
- 175.Fenster A, Parraga G, Bax J. Three-dimensional ultrasound imaging. Interface Focus 2011;1:503-519.

176.Light ED, Davidsen RE, Fiering JO, Hruschka TA, Smith SW. Progress in two-dimensional arrays for real-time volumetric imaging. Ultrason Imag 1998;20:1-15.

177. Uematsu S. Determination of volume of arterial blood flow by an ultrasonic device. J Clin Ultrasound 1981;9:209-216.

178. Fox MD, Gardiner WM. Three-dimensional Doppler velocimetry of flow jets. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 1988;35:834-841

179. Schrank E, Philips DJ, Moritz WE, Strandness DE. A triangulation method for the quantitative measurement of arterial blood velocity magnitude and direction in humans. *Ultrasound Med Biol* 1990;16:499-509.

- 180.Overbeck JR, Beach KW, Strandness DE. Vector Doppler accurate measurement of blood velocity in 2 dimensions. Ultrasound Med Biol 1992;18:19-31.
- 181.Newhouse VL, Dickerson KS, Cathignol D, Chapelon JY. Three dimensional vector flow estimation using two transducers and spectral width. IEEE Trans Ultrason Ferroelec Freq Cont 1994;41:90-95.
- 182.McArdle A, Newhouse VL, Beach KW. Demonstration of 3-dimensional vector flow estimation using bandwidth and 2 transducers on a flow phantom. *Ultrasound Med Biol* 1995;21:679-692.
- 183.Dunmire BL, Beach KW, Detmer PR, Strandness DE. A vector Doppler ultrasound instrument. Proc IEEE Ultrason Symp 1995;1477-1480.

184. Vilkomerson D, Chilipka T. An instrument for screening carotid stenosis. IEEE Ultrason Symp Proc 2005;393-398.

185.Fei DY, Fu CT, Brewer WH, Kraft KA. Angle independent Doppler color imaging: Determination of accuracy and a method of display. Ultrasound Med Biol 1994;20:147-155.

- 186.Maniatis TA, Cobbold RSC, Johnston KW. Two-dimensional velocity reconstruction strategies for color-flow Doppler ultrasound images. Ultrasound Med Biol 1994;20:137-145.
- 187.Philips PJ, Kadi AP, von Ramm OT. Reasibility study for a two-dimensional diagnostic ultrasound velocity system. Ultrasound Med Biol 1995;21:217-229.

188.Giarre M, Dousse B, Meister JJ. Velocity vector reconstruction for color flow Doppler: experimental evaluation of a new geometrical method. Ultrasound Med Biol 1996;22:75-88.

- 189. Hoskins PR. Peak velocity estimation in arterial stenosis models using colour vector Doppler. Ultrasound Med Biol 1997;23:889-897.
- 190.Hall AL, Bernardi RB. Method for detecting two-dimensional flow for ultrasound color flow imaging. US Patent No. 5398216. 1995.
- 191.Steel R, Davidson F, Hoskins PR, Fish PJ. Angle-independent estimation of maximum velocity through stenoses using vector Doppler ultrasound. Ultrasound Med Biol 2003;29:575-584.
- 192.Steel R, Ramnarine KV, Criton A, Davidson F, Allan PL, Humphries N, Routh HF, Fish PJ, Hoskins PR. Angle-dependence and reproducibility of dual-beam vector Doppler ultrasound in the common carotid arteries of normal volunteers. Ultrasound Med Biol 2004;30:271-276.
- 193.Dunmire B, Beach KW, Labs KH, Plett M, Strandness DE. Cross-beam vector Doppler ultrasound for angle-independent velocity measurements. *Ultrasound Med Biol* 2000;26:1213-1235.
- 194. Jensen JA, Munk P. A new method for estimation of velocity vectors. IEEE Trans Ultrason Ferroelec Freq Cont 1998;45:837-851.
- 195. Anderson ME. Multi-dimensional velocity estimation with ultrasound using spatial quadrature. *IEEE Trans Ultrason Ferroelec Freq* Cont 1998;45:852-861.
- 196.Pihl MJ, Jensen JA. A transverse oscillation approach for estimation of three-dimensional velocity vectors. Part I: Concept and simulation study. IEEE Trans Ultrason Ferroelec Freq Cont 2014;61:1599-1607.
- 197.Pihl MJ, Stuart MB, Tomov BG, Rasmussen MF, Jensen JA. A transverse oscillation approach for estimation of three-dimensional velocity vectors. Part II: Experimental validation. *IEEE Trans Ultrason Ferroelec Freq Cont* 2014;51:1608-1618.
- 198. Holbek S, Lindskov KH, Bouzari H, Ewertsen C, Stuart MB, Thomsen C, Nielsen MB, Jensen JA. Common carotid artery flow measured by 3-D ultrasonic VFI and validated with MRI. Ultrasound Med Biol 2017;43:2213–2220.
- 199.Wigen MS, Fadnes S, Rodriguez-Molares A, Bjastad T, Eriksen M, Stensæth KH, Støylen A, Løvstakken L. 4-D intracardiac ultrasound vector flow imaging-reasibility and comparison to phase-contrast MRI. *IEEE Trans Med Imag* 2018;37:2619–2629.
- 200. Villagomez-Hoyos CA, Stuart MB, Hansen KL, Nielsen MB, Jensen JA. Accurate angle estimator for high frame rate 2-D vector flow imaging. *IEEE Trans Ultrason Ferroelec Freq Cont* 2016;63:842–853.
- 201.Jensen JA, Nikolov SI, Hansen KL, Sturat MB, Hoyos CAV, Schou M, Ommen ML, Oygard SH, Jorgensen LT, Traberg MS, Nguyen TQ, Thomsen EV, Larsen NB, Beers C, Tomov BG, Nielsen MB. History and latest advances in flow estimation technology: From 1-D in 2-D to 3-D in 4-D. *IEEE Ultrason Symp Proc* 2019; pp.1-4.

AUTHOR BIOGRAPHY



Peter Hoskins graduated from Oxford University with a Physics degree in 1980. He was a hospital medical physicist in Boston (UK) then Edinburgh till 2002 when he transferred to the University of Edinburgh to 2021, and is now an Emeritus Professor. He is also Professor of Biomedical Engineering at Dundee University from 2021. His work in Doppler ultrasound has involved waveform analysis, estimation of blood velocity and related quantities, 3D ultrasound, vector Doppler, wall motion measurement and Doppler test objects. Since 2000 he has run a parallel career in patient specific modelling, involving integration of 3D medical imaging with computational modelling in cardiovascular disease. P.Hoskins@ed.ac.uk

A HISTORY OF HIGH INTENSITY FOCUSED ULTRASOUND (HIFU) THERAPY

G.R. ter Haar¹

¹ Physics Department, Division of Radiotherapy & Imaging, The Institute of Cancer Research, London, UK

Abstract— Therapy ultrasound has, for many decades, been thought of as the poor relation of diagnostic ultrasound imaging. However, its roots predate the scanning applications of this most versatile of energy forms used in medicine. In this review the history of high intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU) is traced from its first mention in 1942 until 1970 at which point there was a lull in interest until its resurgence in the 1980's.

Keywords- therapy ultrasound, minimally invasive, brain, transducer, cancer

I. INTRODUCTION

It could not easily have been predicted that the report by Wood & Loomis in 1927 that ultrasound energy can adversely affect living organisms would trigger areas of research that have led to the development of a number of different therapies [(1)]. The appeal of ultrasound energy for therapeutic purposes is enhanced by its physical characteristics when propagating through water at low megahertz frequencies. These allow tight focusing into volumes and distances from the source that are clinically relevant.

While ultrasound has many potential therapeutic uses, including for physiotherapy treatments of soft tissue injuries [(2, 3)], the acceleration of healing of bone fractures [(4)], and the improvement of drug delivery through the skin (sonophoresis) [(5)], it has been its applications in neurosurgery and cancer therapy that have been the most commonly adopted to date, with the use of high intensity focused ultrasound beams being the most highly favoured, especially in the early days. This technique is referred to interchangeably as HIFU or FUS (focused ultrasound surgery). Historically, it was the applications in the brain that largely drove the development of HIFU devices. In this review, the history of HIFU from its inception until 1970 will be presented.

As can be seen from Figure 1, there was a lull in developments in this area in the 1970's, with a rapid resurgence of interest from the mid 1980's.



Fig. 1 Timeline, showing introduction of new HIFU applications

From a medical physics perspective HIFU provides many challenges. The different aspects of a HIFU treatment involve initial imaging and treatment planning, treatment delivery and its monitoring, and then follow up. Although early HIFU was always performed under ultrasound guidance (USgHIFU), more recently, magnetic resonance imaging (MRgHIFU) has found favour, largely because of the ability to run thermometry sequences.

II. PRINCIPLES OF HIFU

It has been known since the time of the early Egyptians that heat can play a role in cancer therapy [(6, 7)]. The field of hyperthermia, in which tumours are subjected to either radio- or chemotherapy and elevated temperatures has been extensively explored clinically, and pre-clinically. For this application temperatures of 42-45°C are maintained for times of up to 60 minutes. The heat and adjuvant therapy are applied simultaneously, or, where this is not possible, as close together in time as possible. There are a number of disadvantages to this technique as it requires repeated treatments and, perhaps more difficult technically, it is important that the chosen temperature remains within defined limits for the duration of the heating period. This is difficult to maintain as the body's response is to increase blood flow to provide cooling, adding to the problem of accurate intratumoural thermometry over the entire heated volume.



Fig 2. Schematic showing the necessary components of a HIFU system.

HIFU, in contrast, relies on the fact that higher temperatures (in excess of 56°C held for \sim 1 second) can lead to instantaneous cell death (thermal ablation). This can be achieved in a single, short treatment, and as long as thermal necrosis is seen, there is no need for thermometry. Thus, if heating to these temperatures can be achieved selectively in a desired volume (for example, a tumour), with no damage to surrounding tissues, then thermal ablation becomes a viable therapeutic option. While it is often possible to insert a probe capable of generating ablative temperatures into the target (and indeed the Egyptian Edwin Smith papyrus [(8)] suggests the use of a 'fire drill' – a heated stick – inserted into a breast tumour), the non-invasive solution offered by HIFU appears to have significant advantages,

Figure 2 shows a schematic of the principles on which a HIFU treatment works, and the components that are essential to delivering such a treatment. Histologically, the ellipsoidal region of damage created (the 'lesion') has what has been described as an 'island and moat' appearance [(9, 10)], with the boundary between normal and affected tissue being very sharp. Tissue within the 'island' appears almost normal, with cells being heat fixed, and in the 'moat' cells are severely disrupted, with liquefaction, deformed nuclei, and absence of structure.

III. HIFU DELIVERY

While Wood & Loomis' 1927 observations of stimulating and lethal effects in unicellular organisms, small fish and animals, made using a plane transducer [(1)] generated a considerable amount of interest, Lynn et al [(11)] (working in Columbia University, New York) were the first to publish biological effects in focused fields (1942). They claimed that it was the finding of Grűtzmacher that ultrasound waves could be focused with a gain of 150 using a curved quartz surface [(12)] that stimulated their studies. Grűtzmacher had described a constant thickness spherical piezo-electric quartz shell (concave – convex) cut so that the X- crystallographic axis coincided with the beam axis (X-cut), and with electrodes plated on both surfaces.

In their first published paper, Lynn et al describe using 835 kHz ultrasound, generated by putting an oscillating electric potential across the opposite faces of such an X-cut concave quartz crystal. This potential was supplied by "what amounts to a small 0.5 kW radiotransmitter, such as used for code signaling". The power supply design is described as a "full wave mercury rectifier circuit (type 866) with choke input filter". Lynn et al's design of crystal mount [(11)] is one that has been replicated by many. The mounting of a transducer to maximize its acoustic output for therapy has specific requirements. The crystal must be held securely and evenly around its circumference, with as little damping of its vibrations as possible. The



Fig. 3 Transducer mount used by Lynn et al (11).

method of mounting should be such that there is minimum restraint as this can lead to reduced output and mechanical failure. Their solution was to air back the quartz crystal, in a way suggested by earlier authors. Figure 3 shows their transducer design [(11)]. The air backing minimizes damping, but also serves as a total reflector of the sound wave, thus enhancing the forward power from this transducer. This method has been used to effect to the present day.

Changes in focal depth for this system were achieved by mounting the transducer and its immediate casing on a piston structure that enabled it to be moved forwards and backwards relative to the 'thin cellophane diaphragm' that was in contact with the skin. Cooling was provided in part by surrounding the transducer, mounted on a universal joint, with clear transformer oil.

These authors describe the calibration of their system in delightful detail. They placed 'several millimetres' of oil on the top of the front cellophane membrane, and describe the acoustic fountain obtained when the

transducer is activated, pointing vertically upwards : 'a conical column, from the top of which oil droplets were thrown upward and outward so that the entire phenomenon resembled an erupting volcanic cone'. They claimed the height of the cone to be a 'reliable (but crude)' indicator of output, reporting that a plate current of 220 mA, potential 2400V gave a peak output of 900 mA of RF current, and a cone 12.5 cm high with spray extending to twice this height. More details of early calibration methods are discussed in section V below.

Further studies with the Columbia group's device showed that they could produce focal damage in blocks of beef liver only when full power was applied for 10-15 seconds. Follow up experiments in the brains of 3 cats and 2 dogs, resulted in scalp damage in all subjects, and with brain damage only being seen in the 2 animals who were exposed to maximum acoustic power. The necessity of applying sufficient energy very fast when seeking selective focal damage is discussed in this paper. They cite the work of Gohr & Wedekind [(13)] in recognizing that the presence of blood perfusion has an effect on the ability to produce focal lesions.

A. Brain studies

Lynn's group was also the first to publish detailed histology of lesions created in the brain [(14)]. They exposed the spinal columns of 3 dogs, 30 cats and 4 monkeys to 835 kHz ultrasound from a 5.5 cm focal length transducer. They reported 'partial success' with trans-cranial and trans-vertebral focal lesions of the central nervous system. While they were able, at will, to produce irreversible, reversible or partially reversible damage which they refer to as 'disabilities', they inevitably created damage to the overlying skin and soft tissues. The damage included cortical blindness, cerebellar ataxia, monoparesis, and bilateral paresis of the hind extremities. The lesions were conical in shape, and this paper is one of the first to report mechanical tearing and formation of cavities, which, they postulated were due to the 'sudden explosive release of dissolved gases from tissue solution'. They found that ganglion cells were more susceptible to damage than glial elements, and also that the least affected components of the brain were the blood vessels.

A number of other people were also working on this topic at this time (1949 - 1952) but were deterred by the extent of damage to the scalp, and their inability to create lesions deep in the brain when exposing transcranially [(15-18)]. Zubiani [(19)] managed to get lesions deep into the brain, but only by using a moving transducer and crossed beams, but he gives little detail about the exposures. He treated 30 patients with brain disorders using low intensities $(0.6 - 1.5 \text{ W cm}^2)$ at 500 kHz and reported that 'subjective symptoms' disappeared with no concomitant cellular damage. Denier [(20)] also reported treating 3 patients with dementia, Parkinsonism and torticollis to 'some benefit'. Wall et al [(21)] used a focused beam to create lesions in cat and monkey brains through a skull opening.

Petter Lindström (Swedish neurosurgeon, married to the actress Ingrid Bergmann for a while) performed a trephine opening in the skull vaults of dogs and rabbits in order to gain direct access to the brain for 1 MHz ultrasound. This work was published in 1954 [(22, 23)]. They used cone shaped cups of different lengths and angles filled with saline to achieve focusing and to couple sound into the brain. Unsurprisingly, he found that the degree, extent and depth of the tissue damage was a function of intensity, exposure time and size of the sound beam at the entry point into the brain. He discovered that exposing through the dura mater resulted in smaller lesions than when it was turned back. Lindström reported that he could make graded, controllable lesions extending deep into the white matter with comparatively little damage to the cortex. He therefore concluded that the risks and complications arising from the use of ultrasound to produce functional changes to replace lobotomy clinically would be minor compared to operative lobotomy. The team went on to try this on 20 patients between May & October 1953, 17 of whom had intractable pain from inoperable cancers, exposing through a 1.5 inch (3.8 cm) 'button' opening in the calvaria. 1MHz ultrasound was used, with the output being described as 7 W cm⁻² 'close to the crystal', but being focused using the cone shaped cup described above [(23)]. It is reported that there were no post-operative complications, and 10/17 had practically complete relief from pain over the 2 week - 11 month observation period, appeared to be 'more relaxed' and had 'better appetites'. Four more patients showed improvement with pain decreasing after treatment. The remaining three patients gained no relief from the treatment, although one was offered two more, after which pain relief resulted. 15 patients died from their cancers following (but not connected with) treatment, providing access to post mortem treated brain tissue. Apart from the expected minimal damage under the dural flaps that were lifted in the first patients treated, most patients appeared normal, with minimal damage, where seen, being in the white matter.

Lindström recognized the fact that it would be important to keep the head stationary while treating, and worked with his Swedish colleague Lars Leksell to produce a stereotactic device that would enable ultrasound treatment of psychiatric disorders. There is little published record of this, but in a 1951 paper, Leksell [(24)] shows his frustration with the need for a craniotomy, and moved on, developing stereotactic frame based radiosurgery, and later developing the gamma knife for which he is most famous (1967). Figure 4 shows the transducer and frame developed by Lindstrom and Leksell in 1949-1950. They successfully produced a system for creating periventricular lesions.



Fig. 4 Transducer head and stereotactic frame developed by Lindstrom & Leksell. (photo courtesy of Dan Leksell)

Lindström concluded that the methods he used needed further improvement. Although the required skin incision was not troublesome, the trephining was unpleasant, with patients complaining of the 'noise' and the 'shaking'. In a footnote, we are told that higher intensities (12 W cm⁻²) had been trialed. In Lindström's opinion, a multiple beam system as described by Dussik [(25)] would only have restricted use in clinical neurosurgery since it would require several holes, or a large bone flap to be created. However, the same conclusion was not reached by the Fry brothers (William & Frank) working in the Bioacoustics Laboratory in Urbana, Illinois. After 5 years working with simple systems, they developed a treatment head that used four focused transducers mounted so that the beams overlapped at a common point, thus creating a high intensity region [(26)]. Quartz crystals, resonant at 1 MHz, fronted by polystyrene lenses were used. Coupling was achieved using physiological saline degassed by boiling. In their preclinical work, an acoustic window was created by removing a portion of bone overlying the target region. The animal's head was held in a standard stereotactic apparatus, and the depth of the focal region altered by vertical movement of the transducer mount. The system was tested on 31 cats. It was found that nerve fibres were damaged most readily, with nerve cells and blood vessels remaining intact, even in the focal zone. The paper describes the methods used to localize the focal region in the brain and to calibrate the acoustic output. This group has



Fig. 5 4-transducer head developed by the Frys in Illinois for use producing HIFU lesions in the brain

described an absorbing probe that can be used for mapping acoustic fields (see Section V below) [(27, 28)].

The Illinois team published prolifically on their research into the effects of ultrasound in the brain in the 1950's and early 60's [(10, 21, 26, 29-47)]. A publication in Science describes the lower threshold required to produce lesions in white matter (given as 51 atmospheres of acoustic pressure, acoustic particle velocity 4.8×10^3 cm s⁻¹, 1 second exposure) than in grey (53 atmospheres of acoustic pressure, acoustic particle velocity 4.9×10^3 cm s⁻¹, 2.5 second exposure) [(42)]. This was followed up a decade later by more very detailed studies in feline white matter which showed a linear relationship (with log(acoustic intensity) decreasing with increasing log(pulse duration)) in the threshold conditions for producing a lesion in the range $10^2 - 2.10^4$ W cm⁻², 7 -2.10⁻⁴ seconds at 1,3 and 4 MHz [(48)]. Here they took a closer look at possible mechanisms involved, and hypothesized that at the low intensity/long pulse end of the graph the mechanism was thermal, and at the high intensity, short pulse end it was predominantly cavitational.

Frank Fry outlined the devices used by the Illinois group in a detailed, and informative paper [(31)]. He lists the required components for a HIFU system as a means for focusing the sound waves, coupling medium, rigid mechanical supports and moving devices for the transducer, supporting structure for the specimens, electronic drives and precision timing devices. They were refreshingly rigorous in also requiring a calibrating and field plotting system. The first system built by the Fry brothers was said to be designed as a prototype for human neurosurgery, and was far from portable. They used a double layer room structure. The upper room contained the positioning and support system for the transducer and the power amplifier driving it. The animal support structure, and the electronic controls were all in the lower room. The co-ordinate system and the connection between the two rooms is described as being accurate and rigid, allowing placement accuracy of 'a few thousandths of an inch' in the brain.

A smaller system, which also included the 4-transducer head configuration, was built in Urbana and installed in the University of Iowa hospital. This too was designed to be very rigid, with the patient's head being held in position by 4 steel pins located in 'depressions' drilled into the skull. X-ray imaging was incorporated into the system in order to establish the co-ordinates of relevant structures within the brain. The 'replacement accuracy' is quoted as being a few thousandths of an inch, allowing the patient to return for treatment after a planning session. Coupling was achieved using an air inflated 'rubber gasket' between the bottom of the open pan in which the 4-transducer head is immersed and the patient's head [(49)]. This system was used to expose the ansa lenticularis or substantia nigra of Parkinson's patients to treat their tremor [(50)]. Its use to expose human pituitary glands for patients with breast cancer met with limited success [(46)]. A second generation, simpler, clinical device was set up in the University of Indiana University Medical School in 1970. This was fully computer controlled and had 5-degrees of freedoms for spatial coordinate control. It had the added novelty that it provided B-mode ultrasound images that were synchronized with the HIFU transducer for targeting and monitoring treatments. It was used for treatment of brain cancer, and was called the "Candy machine" after a young lady who had brain cancer and was treated by Dr. Heimburger [(51)].

At the same time as the Illinois group were working in this area, there were teams in Massachusetts following similar lines. Padmaker Lele (a neurophysiologist with a laboratory at MIT) described a modified system that used a single transducer for producing lesions in the cat brain. He discussed ceramic piezo-electric transducers, but dismissed them on the grounds of their temperature dependent acoustic power output, and consequent accuracy and stability of calibration. He recommended the use of plane X-cut quartz crystal plano-concave plastic lens combinations, the lens being attached to the silvered front face of the transducer by a uniform thin film of degassed castor oil and held in place by a retainer ring. Conical applicators of different lengths were attached to the transducer/lens combination to give different available depths of the focus in tissue. The applicator's open end was sealed with a rubber condom. Coupling was achieved through distilled water or normal saline that was boiled for more than an hour, and stored under a layer of degassed mineral oil until siphoned off for use [(52, 53)]. Lele used this system to perform extensive studies of the reproducibility of lesioning in plastics and in tissue.

At Massachusetts General Hospital (MGH) a team (comprising Ballantine, Ball (a neurosurgeon), Hueter, Bell, Nauta (a neuroanatomist), and Cosman) were also creating a HIFU delivery device [(54-58)]. They describe single transducer heads operating at 1 or 2.5 MHz. These frequencies were chosen to provide appropriately sized foci for the small animal studies they were conducting. The choice made in Massachusetts from the outset was to use a single transducer head comprising a quartz crystal fronted by a tuned steel plate, a plano-concave polystyrene lens and a conical water filled applicator. They used both frequencies to study paraplegia following the exposure of mouse spinal cords. A study was undertaken to investigate the ultrasound dose (here defined by the intensity and exposure time) required to produce damage, the correlation between dose and extent of damage, interdependence of intensity and time as measured by the paraplegia endpoint, and, importantly, the mechanism of action. It was found that damage was much more extensive at 1 MHz, which was attributed to the larger focal region at this lower frequency. The mechanistic studies indicated that when the intensity exceeded 150 W cm⁻² the damage was predominantly thermal in nature, whereas at lower intensities mechanical stresses appeared to be more important.

The studies with this system in mice led to work on larger mammals in 1960, with human exposures being the end goal [(56)]. A stereotactic device was developed. This combined a support for the subject (here, a cat), a counter-balanced column of a mobile X-ray set, a calibrated cross feed to allow vertical and lateral movement of the transducer and a commercial Horsley-Clarke machine (a stereotactic frame designed for making electrolytic lesions in the brains of large animals [(59)]). The radiofrequency generators and transducer head were developed by Bernard Cosman, who also worked on RF lesioning of the brain, and went on to start his own company, Cosman & Co., which became Radionics in the 1950's [(60)]. The frontal plane was targeted by moving the animal's support. It was still necessary to create an acoustic window by removing a portion of the overlying skull. This system was used to conduct a dosimetric study in cat brain, the exposure conditions for lesion production being found to be comparable to those used in the earlier mouse experiments. Presciently, one of the conclusions to their 1956 paper is that use of 'ultrasound lesions may offer a useful method for investigation of the nature of the blood brain barrier' [(57, 61)].

In the UK, a group working in the anatomy department of Guy's Hospital Medical School, also developed a system for studying HIFU lesions in the brains of large animals [(62-66)]. This was a collaboration between Roger Warwick (Professor of anatomy and one of the authors of the renowned Gray's Anatomy), researcher John Pond (physicist and inventor) and later Ken Taylor, research student. This team was the first to use a spherical segment (focused bowl) piezo-electric transducer to provide the acoustic field. In the reverse of the usual stereotactic procedure, the animal was placed on a milling machine that allowed its positioning with a quoted accuracy of a thousandth of an inch in 3 perpendicular planes relative to the transducer. Two different transducers were available, with focal lengths of 7.8 and 9.0 cm, and fundamental frequencies of 1 and 2 MHz respectively. Most of the work reported in their 1968 paper was conducted at 3 MHz (the third harmonic of the 1 MHz transducer, used because a 1 MHz transducer is more robust than its thinner 3 MHz counterpart). The focal position was determined using a thermocouple, its position then being indicated by a pointer fixed in relation to the transducer. In common with the other systems described above, the transducer head had a truncated Perspex cone attached to allow beam coupling to the brain. Both the Guy's and the MGH groups used goldbeater's skin to close these coupling cones. This is made from the gut of oxen, soaked in a dilute solution of potassium hydroxide, washed, stretched and beaten flat. This versatile membrane has been used to laminate gold in order that several sheets can be beaten at a time in producing gold leaf, and also, amongst other things is used for the repair of vellum, construction of early airships and the sealing oboe reeds [(67)]. In the ultrasound context, it has the attraction of being strong, elastic, hydrophilic and very thin ($\sim 25 \mu m$), and so is better for transmitting high acoustic powers than, for example, latex.

Warwick & Pond describe in detail the microscopic appearance of the lesions obtained in the brains of cats and monkeys. They were able to confirm the 'island' and 'moat' appearance first described by Barnard et al [(10)]. While agreeing in the main with previously published histology (68) they found that whereas, for example, Bakay et al [(69)] had found that although there may be some changes in vessel walls, blood flow was not impaired, in these UK studies apparently intact blood vessels could be blocked.

The HIFU systems described above were typical of those used until the advent of phased array technology for high power applications [(70-79)]. This allows electronic movement of the focal volume without the need for mechanical translation of the transducer head. Similarly, the introduction of time reversal and other phase correction (adaptive focusing) techniques obviated the need for skull bone removal to provide an acoustic window, as judicious choice of signal phase and amplitude allows focusing behind a highly scattering medium [(80-86)].

B. Ophthalmology, cancer and other applications

Probably the first indication that high intensities of ultrasound can destroy specific ocular structures came in 1952 from Lavine et al [(87)] working at The Catholic University of America, Washington, DC, who demonstrated that cataracts were formed when the lens was targeted. Similar studies were carried out in Western Reserve University School of Medicine, Cleveland, Ohio by Purnell and colleagues [(88)]. In contrast to laser treatments in the eye, ultrasound effects are not reliant on absorption by pigmented structures, and can be focused at any point in the eye independently of the optical properties. It can be focused through the cornea and lens, through the conjunctiva and sclera, through a combination of these routes or onto the back of the eye. In the 1960's, the Ohio team used 3.5 and 7 MHz ultrasound to create circumscribed chorioretinal lesions and localized destruction of the ciliary body and suggested possible uses of this type of exposure in repair of retinal tear detachment, cyclodiathermy and destruction of intraocular tissue [(88-92)]. They used plane quartz transducers, 55 mm in diameter, with polystyrene lenses. The 3.5 MHz treatment head had an estimated maximum acoustic power at the focus of 900 W cm⁻², was in the form of a 'round bottomed cylinder' sealed by a polyethylene membrane, with the focal point capable of being positioned between 1 and 28 mm from the front.

For the 7 MHz head, the reach of the focal point is said to be 1-17 mm from the front of the truncated cone sealed with a vinylidene chloride membrane, and the maximum focal power is quoted as being 60 W cm⁻². 240 rabbit eyes were used in a study that demonstrated that selective chorioretinal lesions could be created [(90)]. Despite encouraging results, the team suggested that the danger of inadvertent cataract production and the prolonged exposure times made treatment of retinal detachment hazardous at that time.

The team best known for its work on therapy ultrasound and ophthalmology was a collaboration between the physicist Fred Lizzi at Riverside Research Institute, New York, and Jackson Coleman, an ophthalmic surgeon at Cornell University [(93-98)]. They worked on a number of conditions of the eye including the treatment of glaucoma, retinal detachment and vitreous haemorrhage, and founded the company Sonocare. The timing was perhaps unfortunate as laser techniques were being developed at the same time, with these being perceived as being simpler to use.

For many years, patients with Ménière's disease had limited options for treatment. Krejci applied ultrasound in an attempt to provide relief from the vertiginous attacks that are a symptom of this affliction [(99, 100)]. He used a narrow ultrasound beam to irradiate the vestibular portion of the inner ear, after doing an operation to expose the bony labyrinth. He eliminated the vestibular function, but preserved cochlear function. Michele Arslan, working in Padua took his technique further, using a narrow beamed 0.8 - 1.0 MHz ultrasound transducer to expose the bony wall of the lateral semicircular canal in order to destroy vestibular function [(101, 102)]. He took care to prevent lateral transmission of sound to the facial nerve by shielding, and heating was prevented by cooling. The technique appeared to resolve the problem of vertigo in 95% of patients, and so was taken up by a number of other centres [(103-114)]. In some cases, it was not possible to get sufficient intensity through the lateral semi-circular canal to get the require effect. A Bristol team under Angell James therefore developed a method of reducing the thickness of this structure to aid transmission.

Although there is now considerable interest in using HIFU (sometimes in conjunction with radiotherapy or chemotherapy) for the treatment of cancer, in the time frame under discussion here, there was little activity in this area. Probably the first mention of the use of ultrasound for the treatment of cancer was in 1933. Szent Györgyi from Budapest wrote a letter to Nature about an ultrasound exposure of 723 kHz; 'The effect of this radiation on Ehrlich's carcinoma has been studied by B Gözzi and found to have no specific effect on this tumour' [(115)]. The final sentence of this letter is dispiriting : 'For lack of funds our investigation has been broken off'. This discouraging view of ultrasound in cancer therapy (albeit, not strictly for HIFU) continued for more than 2 decades, despite some encouraging pre-clinical results from Carl Dittmar in Frankfurt [(116)]. The Congress on Ultrasound in Medicine in Erlangen, Germany in 1949 published a resolution (unsurprisingly, the 'Erlangen Resolution') which stated that 'Ultrasound is not suitable for cancer therapy and its clinical use should be discontinued'. Pohlman [(117)] performed an analysis of 133 clinical cases, finding improvement in only 17% of patients. Stuhlfauth [(118)] added to this stance, pointing out that, apart from Woeber's work combining X-rays with ultrasound therapy [(119)], "..the fact that tumours have never been successfully treated in human beings is due to the too low ultrasound intensities used which may also lead to an opposite effect'. He therefore called for people to 'refrain from sound treatment of tumors, since rapid growth of metastases was observed after sound treatment'. It is clear that there was little outside knowledge of research being carried out in the USSR in the 1950's, most probably because the publications were only in the Russian literature. An extraordinary man, Andrey Konstantinovich Burov, was head of the Laboratory of Anisotropic Structures, Academy of Sciences, and corresponding member of the Academy of Construction and Architecture



Fig. 5. System used by AK Burov & co-workers to treat Brown Pearce tumours in rabbits. (Photo courtesy of Burov archives)

of the USSR. At the end of a stellar career as an architect, where he worked with many of the greats of that era, including Le Corbusier, and he designed film sets for Eisenstein, he turned his attention to treating tumours with ultrasound. They used unfocused 1.5 MHz beams produced by quartz transducers, operating at 200 W cm⁻² (continuous wave) (~ 500 W cm⁻² in a pulsed regime) [(120, 121) (see Figure 5)]. They used the pulsed regime to treat Brown-Pearce tumours in rabbit testicles, finding that in 40-80% of cases, the tumour was resolved completely several months later, and a clear immune response was observed with metastases in the rabbit eyes disappearing [(122, 123)]. This was said to be a non-thermally induced response to the short (1-2 sec) exposure. The team also conducted clinical trials of melanoma treatments at the N.N.Blokhin Institute of Experimental Pathology and Therapy of Cancer. They treated 10 patients mainly in terminal stages of melanoma. Complete resorption of the tumour was seen in some, but not all, patients [(120)].

IV. HIFU TREATMENT PLANNING & MONITORING

In the 1950's and 60's pre-clinical HIFU was planned and monitored, if at all, using ultrasound imaging. The quality of the imaging was limited by the technology available in those years. Ultrasound lesions appear as hyperechogenic regions on a B-mode image. MRI was not proposed for guiding these treatments until 1992, but soon took off, especially for treatments in the brain [(83, 124-130)]. A major advantage of MR guidance of ultrasound therapies is the ability to overlay temperature rise maps on top of anatomical images. Ultrasound guidance of HIFU in patients is first mentioned in a paper by Heimburger in 1974 [(131, 132)]. Further descriptions of ultrasound guidance wait until the late 1990's with the advent of the ultrasound guided clinical devices being developed by groups in China, the UK, France and the USA for use in cancer, uterine fibroids and the prostate [(133-155)].

V. HIFU MODELLING & CALIBRATION

Gerald W. Willard and H.T. O'Neil, working at Bell Telephone Labs in New Jersey studied focused sources in some detail. In a 1949 seminal paper, O'Neil developed the theory for describing the field from a concave spherical transducer [(156)]. Despite only dealing with linear conditions, this is still used as the basis for field modelling by many people today. He was foresighted in suggesting that the results might be useful for design purposes and for correcting measured pressures and intensities to take into account the finite size of the measuring device. The solutions presented are for the distributions of pressure, particle velocity and intensity along the beam axis, but, perhaps more interestingly, also in the focal plane.

The source modelled is a concave spherical radiator with a circular boundary of diameter large relative to a wavelength (λ) and to the depth of the concave surface. Constant amplitude and phase are assumed, with the amplitude being sufficiently small that cavitation and non-linearity can safely be ignored. The pressure amplitude P_A at the centre of curvature is given by P_A = $\rho cu_0 kh$ where ρ is the mean density, c is the speed of sound in water, u_0 is the normal velocity of the surface, h is the depth of the concave surface, and k is given by $2\pi/\lambda$. This is close to the highest pressure in the field, except when kh is small. The relative pressure in the focal plane at an angle θ from the axis is the same as that at a large distance from a flat circular piston (2J₁(ka sin θ)/ ka sin θ) where J₁ is a first order Bessel function and a is the transducer radius. O'Neil notes that his theory matches Willard's experimental data [(157, 158)].

It is imperative that, when these high intensity focused fields are used for therapeutic benefit, they can be accurately characterised. Willard and Virginia Griffing & Francis Fox (from The Catholic University of America, Washington, DC) [(159)] were amongst the first to take this seriously, with both teams describing the use of the fountain obtained when the beam is fired through water on to an angled reflector, and thence to an air interface, to assess transducer output, as first described by Wood & Loomis [(1)].

Willard's 1949 paper [(157)] shows some of the first Schlieren images of focused fields, although probably the first reference to this method is in Richardson in 1940 (160) who in turn cites its description by Hiedemann & Osterhammel in 1937 [(161)]. While focused fields can be readily visualized using Schlieren techniques, this has only recently become quantitative [(162, 163)]. He also describes the use of highly attenuating, non-reflecting materials placed at the beam focus for investigating the beam. He refers to rubber, phenol fibre and methacrylate plastics (eg. Lucite) as being suitable. He described the appearance of 'little protuberances of melted material, and an 'odour of overheating' in rubber and phenol fibre. He was able to produce localized internal heating using plastics that were less absorbing. This builds on the work of the Columbia group who used paraffin blocks to demonstrate melting [(11)].

Willard also mentions, as an aside, that 'when a person's finger is placed at the focus, an input of >100 volts (1W) produces a sensation of burning, though none of the normal burn characteristics (redness or blistering....). He does not recommend this as a method of determining the focal position, providing the caveat that there may be considerable danger of causing 'serious internal injury' if the feeling of discomfort is ignored.

This paper also describes a simple radiation force balance [(157)]. This allowed what Willard termed 'fairly quantitative' estimation of the acoustic intensity. An absorbing target is mounted on a vertical arm mounted on to a horizontal bar resting on two supports. Two horizontal arms are attached to the axle supporting the vertical bar. These have moveable weights mounted on them. On one side is a counterweight whose position can be adjusted to give a zero (horizontal) setting in the absence of a sound beam. The other arm mounts a balance weight. The radiation force from a sound beam incident on the absorber upsets the equilibrium until the position of the balance weight is adjusted to bring the system back to the zero position. Hill [(164)] also describes this type of system. The insertion of a diaphragm with a hole between the target and the source allows assessment of, for example, the intensity at the focus. Figure 6. shows the radiation force balance used to perform acoustic power measurements at the Institute of Cancer Research. The reflecting stainless steel coated target (A), horizontal rod (B), masses (D) and counter-balance masses (C) are shown. The length of the vertical rod (l), mass displacement (x) and direction of the acoustic field are also seen. Measurements were made after first balancing the horizontal rod following submersion of the target in degassed water. On the horizontal bar, accurately known masses (m) were placed at measured distances from the pivot (l_1) in order to counter-balance the radiation force. The radiation force (F_{rad}) could then be calculated by equating moments around the pivot, $F_{rad} l_0 = m g l_1$ where the target is a distance l_0 from the pivot. The conversion of force to acoustic power for an absorbing target is 69 mg/Watt [(54)]. The development of radiation force methods for the measurement of acoustic power and intensity is described in more detail elsewhere in this history: www.mpijournal.org/pdf/2021-SI-05/MPI-2021-SI-05.pdf pp519-536.



Fig. 6 Equilibrium balance for measuring radiation force

Safe and effective delivery of an ultrasound treatment also necessitates detailed knowledge of the pressure distribution. Fry & Fry described the use of thermocouples for this purpose [(27, 28)]. The probe consisted of a 12 µm wire thermocouple whose junction was imbedded in sound absorbing medium (a thin disc of castor oil) that matched the impedance of water. The oil is encased in a thin polyethylene membrane. The thermal emf is recorded on a galvanometer. They describe an initial steep temperature rise when the probe is in an ultrasound field, followed by an 'almost linear' portion of the curve. The steep rise is attributed to viscous heating due to the relative motion of the wire and the oil. These probes have been described in more detail in www.mpijournal.org/pdf/2021-SI-05/MPI-2021-SI-05.pdf p540. More recently thermistor probes coated in absorbent rubber have also been explored [(165)]. Modern beam plotting is more likely to use miniaturized ceramic piezoelectric probes or PVDF membrane hydrophones [(166)].

VI. CONCLUSIONS

Therapy ultrasound in general, and HIFU in particular has generated considerable interest with consequent potential applications in the 21st century. While it is generally recognized that this field has its roots in the 1940's and 50's, even before imaging ultrasound techniques, the intervening history is often overlooked. In many ways, current pre-clinical knowledge of HIFU and the way in which it interacts with tissue has not moved on far, but what has changed is technology. We now have the ability to image targets at depth within the body, to reconstruct a focus after transit through a strong scatterer such as the skull, and create ablated volumes using phased arrays. Used judiciously, for appropriate applications, there is no doubt that HIFU will continue to play a role in a number of medical specialties.

Contacts of the corresponding author:

Gail ter Haar The Institute of Cancer Research London UK Email:gail.terhaar@icr.ac.uk

References

1. Wood RW, Loomis AL. XXXVIII. The physical and biological effects of high-frequency sound-waves of great intensity. The London, Edinburgh, and Dublin philosophical magazine and journal of science. 1927;4(22):417-36.

2. ter Haar G. Therapeutic applications of ultrasound. Prog Biophys Mol Biol. 2007;93(1-3):111-29.

3. Watson T. Ultrasound in contemporary physiotherapy practice. Ultrasonics. 2008;48(4):321-9.

4. Busse JW, Kaur J, Mollon B, Bhandari M, Tornetta P, 3rd, Schunemann HJ, et al. Low intensity pulsed ultrasonography for fractures: systematic review of randomised controlled trials. BMJ. 2009;338:b351.

5. Azagury A, Khoury L, Enden G, Kost J. Ultrasound mediated transdermal drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2014;72:127-43.

6. Falk M, Issels R. Hyperthermia in oncology. International Journal of Hyperthermia. 2001;17(1):1-18.

7. Horsman MR, Overgaard J. Hyperthermia: a potent enhancer of radiotherapy. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2007;19(6):418-26.

8. Breasted JH. The Edwin Smith Surgical Papyrus: published in facsimile and hieroglyphic transliteration with translation and commentary in two volumes. 1930.

9. Warwick R, Pond J. Trackless lesions in nervous tissues produced by high intensity focused ultrasound (high-frequency mechanical waves). Journal of anatomy. 1968;102(Pt 3):387.

10. Barnard J, Fry W, Fry F, Brennan J. Small localized ultrasonic lesions in the white and gray matter of the cat brain. AMA Archives of Neurology & Psychiatry. 1956;75(1):15-35.

11. Lynn JG, Zwemer RL, Chick AJ, Miller AE. A new method for the generation and use of focused ultrasound in experimental biology. The Journal of general physiology. 1942;26(2):179-93.

12. Gruetzmacher J. Piezoelektrischer kristall mit ultraschallkonvergenz. Zeitschrift für Physik. 1935;96(5-6):342-9.

13. Gohe H, Wedekind T. Der ultraschall in der medizin. Klinische Wochenschrift. 1940;19(2):25-9.

14. Lynn JG, Putnam TJ. Histology of cerebral lesions produced by focused ultrasound. The American journal of pathology. 1944;20(3):637.

15. Gregg Jr E. Ultrasonics: biologic effects. Medical Physics, Chicago, The Year Book Publishers, Inc. 1944;1:1591-6.

16. Leonhardt H. Untersuchungen über die Einwirkung von Ultraschall auf das Gehirn. Med Klin. 1949;44(36):1162.

17. Heyck H, Höpker W. Hirnveränderungen bei der Ratte durch Ultraschall. European Neurology. 1952;123(1):42-64.

18. Peters GD. Ultraschall in der Medizin. Zürich. 1949;1:166.

19. Zubiani A. On the application of ultrasound energy to the central nervous system. Minerva Med. 1951;1:421-36.

20. Denier A. Les ultrasons: Leurs applications au diagnostic: Ultra-Sonoscopie et a la therapeutique Ultra-Sonoscopie. Journal Radiology Electrocardiology. 1946;27:281-3.

21. Wall P, Tucker D, Fry F, Mosberg Jr W. The use of high intensity ultrasound in experimental neurology. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 1953;25(2):281-5.

22. Lindstrom P. Studies of the technic and effects of cerebral ultrasonic irradiation. Ultraschall in Med. 1954;7:85-93.

23. Lindstrom PA. Prefrontal ultrasonic irradiation—a substitute for lobotomy. AMA Archives of Neurology & Psychiatry. 1954;72(4):399-425.

24. Leksell L. The stereotactic method and radiosurgery of the brain. Acta chir scand. 1951;102:316-9.

25. Dussik KT. Weitere ergebnisse der ultraschalluntersuchung bei gehirnerkrankungen. Acta Neurochirurgica. 1952;2(3):379-401.

26. Fry WJ, Mosberg W, Barnard J, Fry F. Production of focal destructive lesions in the central nervous system with ultrasound. Journal of neurosurgery. 1954;11(5):471-8.

27. Fry WJ, Fry RB. Determination of absolute sound levels and acoustic absorption coefficients by thermocouple probes— Theory. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 1954;26(3):294-310.

28. Fry WJ, Fry RB. Determination of absolute sound levels and acoustic absorption coefficients by thermocouple probes—experiment. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 1954;26(3):311-7.

29. Barnard JW, Fry WJ, Fry FJ, Krumins RF. Effects of high intensity ultrasound on the central nervous system of the cat. Journal of Comparative Neurology. 1955;103(3):459-84.

30. Fry F, Ades H, Fry W. Production of reversible changes in the central nervous system by ultrasound. Science. 1958;127(3289):83-4.

31. Fry FJ. Precision high intensity focusing ultrasonic machines for surgery. American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation. 1958;37(3):152-6.

32. Fry W, Brennan J, Barnard J. Histological study of changes produced by ultrasound in the gray and white matter of the central nervous system. Ultrasound Med Biol. 1957;3:110-30.

33. Fry W, Fry F. Fundamental neurological research and human neurosurgery using intense ultrasound. Phys Med. 1958;37:148.

34. Fry W, Tucker D, Fry F, Wulff V. Physical factors involved in ultrasonically induced changes in living systems: II. Amplitude duration relations and the effect of hydrostatic pressure for nerve tissue. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 1951;23(3):364-8.

35. Fry W, Wulff V. Ultrasonic Irradiation of Nerve Tissue. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 1950;22(5):682-.

36. Fry WJ. Intense ultrasound in investigations of the central nervous system. Advances in biological and medical physics.6: Elsevier; 1959. p. 281-348.

37. Fry WJ. Action of ultrasound on nerve tissue—a review. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 1953;25(1):1-5.

38. Fry WJ. Use of intense ultrasound in neurological research. Am J Phys Med. 1958;37(3):143-7.

39. Fry WJ. Intense ultrasound; a new tool for neurological research. J Ment Sci. 1954;100(418):85-96.

40. Fry WJ, Barnard JW, Fry FJ, Brennan JF. Ultrasonically produced localized selective lesions in the central nervous system. American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation. 1955;34(3):413-23.

41. Fry WJ, Dunn F. Ultrasonic irradiation of the central nervous system at high sound levels. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 1956;28(1):129-31.

42. Fry WJ, Fry F, Barnard J, Krumins R, Brennan J. Ultrasonic lesions in mammalian central nervous system. Science. 1955;122(3179):1091-.

43. Fry WJ, Fry FJ, Meyers R, Eggleton R, editors. The use of ultrasound in neurosurgery. Proceedings of the Third International Conference on Medical Electronics; 1960: Institution of Electrical Engineers London.

44. Hickey R, Fry W, Meyers R, Fry F, Bradbury J, Eggleton R. Ultrasound irradiation of the hypophysis in disseminated breast cancer. The American journal of roentgenology, radium therapy, and nuclear medicine. 1963;89:71-7.

45. Hickey RC, Fry WJ, Meyers R, Fry FJ, Bradbury JT. Human pituitary irradiation with focused ultrasound. An initial report on effect in advanced breast cancer. Arch Surg. 1961;83(4):620-33.

46. Meyers R, Fry FJ, Fry WJ, Eggleton RC, Schultz DF. Determination of topologic human brain representations and modifications of signs and symptoms of some neurologic disorders by the use of high level ultrasound. Neurology. 1960;10(3):271-7.

47. Meyers R, Fry WJ, Fry FJ, Dreyer LL, Schultz DF, Noyes RF. Early experiences with ultrasonic irradiation of the pallidofugal and nigral complexes in hyperkinetic and hypertonic disorders. Journal of neurosurgery. 1959;16(1):32-54.

48. Fry F, Kossoff G, Eggleton R, Dunn F. Threshold ultrasonic dosages for structural changes in the mammalian brain. the Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 1970;48(6B):1413-7.

49. Fry FJ. Ultrasonic transducer. Google Patents; 1958.

50. Fry W, Meyers R, Fry F, Schultz D, Dreyer L, Noyes R. Topical differentia of pathogenetic mechanisms underlying Parkinsonian tremor and rigidity as indicated by ultrasonic irradiation of the human brain. Trans Am Neurol Assoc. 1958;16. 51. Heimburger R, Fry F, Franklin T, Eggleton R. Ultrasound in Medicine vol. DN White. New York: Plenum; 1975.

52. Basauri L, Lele P. A simple method for production of trackless focal lesions with focused ultrasound: statistical evaluation of the effects of irradiation on the central nervous system of the cat. The Journal of physiology. 1962;160(3):513-34.

53. Lele P. A simple method for production of trackless focal lesions with focused ultrasound: physical factors. The Journal of physiology. 1962;160(3):494-512.

54. Åström K, Bell E, Ballantine Jr H, Heidensleben E. An experimental neuropathological study of the effects of high-frequency focused ultrasound on the brain of the cat. Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology. 1961;20(4):484-520.

55. Bakay L, Ballantine HT, Jr., Hueter TF, Sosa D. Ultrasonically produced changes in the blood-brain barrier. AMA Arch Neurol Psychiatry. 1956;76(5):457-67.

56. Ballantine H, Bell E, Manlapaz J. Progress and problems in the neurological applications of focused ultrasound. Journal of neurosurgery. 1960;17(5):858-76.

57. Ballantine Jr H, Hueter T, Nauta W, Sosa D. Focal destruction of nervous tissue by focused ultrasound: Biophysical factors influencing its application. The Journal of experimental medicine. 1956;104(3):337.

58. Hueter TF, Bolt RH. Sonics: techniques for the use of sound and ultrasound in engineering and science: Wiley New York; 1955.

59. Horsley V, Clarke RH. The structure and functions of the cerebellum examined by a new method. Brain. 1908;31(1):45-124.

60. Cosman B, Hueter T. Instrumentation for ultrasonic neurosurgery. Electronics. 1959;5:53-7.

61. Bakay L, Hueter T, Ballantine H, Sosa D. Ultrasonically produced changes in the blood-brain barrier. AMA Archives of Neurology & Psychiatry. 1956;76(5):457-67.

62. Warwick R, Pond J. Trackless lesions in nervous tissues produced by high intensity focused ultrasound (high-frequency mechanical waves). J Anat. 1968;102(Pt 3):387-405.

63. Pond J. A study of the biological action of focussed mechanical waves (focussed ultrasound): doctoral thesis, University of London; 1968.

64. Warwick R, Pond J. Anatomical investigations with ultrasound. Journal of Anatomy. 1962;96(3):413.

65. Taylor K. Ultrasonic damage to spinal cord and the synergistic effect of hypoxia. The Journal of pathology. 1970;102(1):41-7.

66. Taylor K, Pond J. The effects of ultrasound of varying frequencies on rat liver. The Journal of pathology. 1970;100(4):287-93.

67. Bigelow SL. The permeabilities of collodion, gold beater's skin, parchment paper and porcelein membranes. Journal of the American Chemical Society. 1907;29(12):1675-92.

68. Åstrom K, Ballantine Jr H, Bell E, Adams R. Etude de neuropathologie experimentale sur l'effet des ultrasons sur le cerveau du chat. Neuropathology: Elsevier; 1959. p. 111-2.

69. Bakay L, Astrom K, TF H, Bell E, editors. A study of the blood brain barrier through its response to focused ultrasound. Proceedings of the First National Biophysics Conference H; 1959.

70. Cain CA, Umemura S-I. Concentric-ring and sector-vortex phased-array applicators for ultrasound hyperthermia. IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques. 1986;34(5):542-51.

71. Ebbini ES, Cain CA. A spherical-section ultrasound phased array applicator for deep localized hyperthermia. IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering. 1991;38(7):634-43.

72. Ebbini ES, Cain CA. Multiple-focus ultrasound phased-array pattern synthesis: optimal driving-signal distributions for hyperthermia. IEEE transactions on ultrasonics, ferroelectrics, and frequency control. 1989;36(5):540-8.

73. Ebbini ES, Umemura SI, Ibbini M, Cain CA. A cylindrical-section ultrasound phased-array applicator for hyperthermia cancer therapy. IEEE transactions on ultrasonics, ferroelectrics, and frequency control. 1988;35(5):561-72.

74. Fan X, Hynynen K. A study of various parameters of spherically curved phased arrays for noninvasive ultrasound surgery. Physics in Medicine & Biology. 1996;41(4):591.

75. Gavrilov LR, Hand JW, Abel P, Cain CA. A method of reducing grating lobes associated with an ultrasound linear phased array intended for transrectal thermotherapy. IEEE transactions on ultrasonics, ferroelectrics, and frequency control. 1997;44(5):1010-7.

76. Hynynen K, McDannold N. MRI guided and monitored focused ultrasound thermal ablation methods: a review of progress. Int J Hyperthermia. 2004;20(7):725-37.

77. Seip R, VanBaren P, Cain CA, Ebbini ES. Noninvasive real-time multipoint temperature control for ultrasound phased array treatments. IEEE transactions on ultrasonics, ferroelectrics, and frequency control. 1996;43(6):1063-73.

78. Wan H, VanBaren P, Ebbini ES, Cain CA. Ultrasound surgery: Comparison of strategies using phased array systems. IEEE transactions on ultrasonics, ferroelectrics, and frequency control. 1996;43(6):1085-98.

79. Daum DR, Hynynen K. A 256-element ultrasonic phased array system for the treatment of large volumes of deep seated tissue. IEEE transactions on ultrasonics, ferroelectrics, and frequency control. 1999;46(5):1254-68.

80. Aubry JF, Pernot M, Marquet F, Tanter M, Fink M. Transcostal high-intensity-focused ultrasound: ex vivo adaptive focusing feasibility study. Phys Med Biol. 2008;53(11):2937-51.

81. Aubry JF, Tanter M, Gerber J, Thomas JL, Fink M. Optimal focusing by spatio-temporal inverse filter. II. Experiments. Application to focusing through absorbing and reverberating media. J Acoust Soc Am. 2001;110(1):48-58.

82. Pernot M, Aubry J-F, Tanter M, Boch A-L, Marquet F, Kujas M, et al. In vivo transcranial brain surgery with an ultrasonic time reversal mirror. Journal of neurosurgery. 2007;106(6):1061-6.

83. Hynynen K, Freund WR, Cline HE, Chung AH, Watkins RD, Vetro JP, et al. A clinical, noninvasive, MR imagingmonitored ultrasound surgery method. Radiographics. 1996;16(1):185-95.

84. Hynynen K, Jolesz FA. Demonstration of potential noninvasive ultrasound brain therapy through an intact skull. Ultrasound in medicine & biology. 1998;24(2):275-83.

85. Hynynen K, McDannold N, Vykhodtseva N, Jolesz F. Non-invasive opening of BBB by focused ultrasound. Brain Edema XII: Springer; 2003. p. 555-8.

86. Jolesz FA, Hynynen KH. MRI-guided focused ultrasound surgery: CRC Press; 2007.

87. Lavine O, Langenstrass KH, Bowyer CM, Fox FE, Griffing V, Thaler W. Effects of ultrasonic waves on the refractive media of the eye. AMA Arch Ophthalmol. 1952;47(2):204-19.

88. Torchia RT, Purnell EW, Sokollu A. Cataract production by ultrasound. American journal of ophthalmology. 1967;64(2):305-9.

89. Purnell E, Sokollu A, Holasek E. The production of focal chorioretinitis by ultrasound: A Preliminary Report. American journal of ophthalmology. 1964;58(6):953-7.

90. Purnell E, Sokollu A, Torchia R, Taner N. Focal chorioretinitis produced by ultrasound. Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science. 1964;3(6):657-64.

91. Purnell EW. Therapeutic use of ultrasound. Ultrasonics in Ophthalmology, Diagnostic and Therapeutic Applications. 1967:145-59.

92. Rosenberg RS, Purnell EW. Effects of ultrasonic radiation to the ciliary body. American journal of ophthalmology. 1967;63(3):403-9.

93. Coleman D. Ultrasound in vitreous surgery. Transactions-American Academy of Ophthalmology and Otolaryngology. American Academy of Ophthalmology and Otolaryngology. 1972;76(2):467-79.

94. Coleman DJ, Lizzi FL, El-Mofty AA, Driller J, Franzen LA. Ultrasonically accelerated resorption of vitreous membranes. American journal of ophthalmology. 1980;89(4):490-9.

95. Coleman DJ, Lizzi FL, Jakobiec FA. Therapeutic ultrasound in the production of ocular lesions. American journal of ophthalmology. 1978;86(2):185-92.

96. Lizzi F, Driller J, Coleman D, Franzen L, Leopold M. Effects of pulsed ultrasound on the choroid and retina. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 1978;63(S1):S13-S.

97. Lizzi FL, Burt WJ, Coleman DJ. Effects of ocular structures on propagation of ultrasound in the eye. Archives of ophthalmology. 1970;84(5):635-40.

98. Lizzi FL, Coleman DJ, Driller J, Franzen LA, Jakobiec FA. Experimental, ultrasonically induced lesions in the retina, choroid, and sclera. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 1978;17(4):350-60.

99. Krejci F, Bornschein H. Der Einfluss Chronischer Lärmschädigung Auf Die Cochlearpotentiale Von Meerschweinchen: (Ein Beitrag zur biologischen Testung von Lärmbetrieben). Acta Oto-Laryngologica. 1951;39(1):68-79.

100.Krejci F, Bornschein H. New Neurosurgical Approach for Treatment of Otosclerosis. MANUEL BORDES-VALLS, Valencia, Spain. Archives ofOtolaryngology, 1950, li, 96. Through a temporal craniotomy, the dura is elevated until the arcuate eminence becomes visible. The tegmen tympani is perforated and through the hole in the tegmen the window is made in the anterior portion of the lateral. Archives of Otolaryngology. 1950;51:149.

101. Arslan M. An Improved Technique of the Ultrasonic Irradiation of the Vestirular Apparatus by Ménière's Disease. Acta oto-laryngologica. 1962;55(1-6):467-72.

102. Arslan M. Direct Application of Ultrasonics on the Osseous Labyrinth in Treatment of Labyrinthosis. Minerva otorinolaringologica. 1953;3(4):141-55.

103.Altmann F, Hager E. Ultrasonic Treatment for Meniere's Disease. Otolaryngologic Clinics of North America. 1968;1(2):575-86.

104.Altmann F, Waltner JG. The present status of the treatment of Meniere's disease with ultrasound. Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine. 1961;37(9):621.

105.Altmann F, Waltner JG. LIV The Treatment of Ménière's Disease with Ultrasonic Waves: Further Observations. Annals of Otology, Rhinology & Laryngology. 1959;68(3):750-63.

106.James JA, Dalton G, Bullen M, Freundlich H, Hopkins J. The ultrasonic treatment of Meniere's disease. The Journal of Laryngology & Otology. 1960;74(10):730-57.

107.Lumsden R. Treatment of Ménière's disease with ultrasound. Proceedings of the Royal Society of Medicine. 1958;51(8):617-23.

108.Lumsden R. Meniere's disease: treatment with ultrasound. Scottish medical journal. 1959;4(11):519-22.

109. Ariagno RP. Treatment of Meniere's disease with ultrasound. AMA Arch Otolaryngol. 1960;71(3):573-80.

110. Ariagno RP. Four years of ultrasound in Meniere's disease. Archives of Otolaryngology. 1962;76(1):18-22.

111.James JA. New Developments in the Ultrasonic Therapy of Meniere's Disease: Hunterian Lecture delivered at the Royal College of Surgeons of England on 14th March 1963. Annals of the Royal College of Surgeons of England. 1963;33(4):226. 112.Sjoberg A, Stahle J. Treatment of Meniere's Disease With Ultrasound: A Follow-Up Report on 117 Cases Using a New Ultrasound Apparatus With an Electronystagmographical Analysis of the Caloric Reaction. Archives of Otolaryngology.

1965;82(5):498-502. 113.Sjöberg A, Stahle J, Johnson S, Saiil R. Treatment of Meniere's disease by ultrasonic irradiation. Acta oto-laryngologica. 1963;56(2-6):171-5.

114.Sørensen H, Andersen MS. The effect of ultrasound on Meniere's disease. Acta oto-laryngologica. 1976;82(1-6):312-5.

115.Szent-Györgyi A. Chemical and biological effects of ultra-sonic radiation. Nature. 1933;131(3304):278-.

116.Dittmar C. Die Wirkung von Ultraschallwellen auf Carcinomzellen in vitro. Zeitschrift für die gesamte experimentelle Medizin. 1949;115(1-2):82-90.

117.Pohlman R. Die Ultraschalltherapie in Ihrer Heuligen Entwicklung. American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation. 1951;30(2):129.

118.Stuhflauth K. Successful application of ultrasonic therapy. South African Journal of Physiotherapy. 1958;13(5):10.

119.Woeber K. Kombinierte Röntgen-und Ultraschallbehandlung von Tumoren als Mittel zur Verminderung therapeutischer Röntgendosen. Archiv für klinische und experimentelle Dermatologie. 1957;206(1):100-4.

120.Burov A, editor High-intensity ultrasonic vibrations for action on animal and human malignant tumours. Dokl Akad Nauk SSSR; 1956.

121.Burov A, Andreevskaya G. Effect of high intensity supersonic oscillations on malignant tumors in man and animals. Doklady Akademii Nauk Sssr. 1956;106(3):445-8.

122.Dmitrieva N. The effect of high intensity ultrasound on the growth and metastasization of inoculated brown-pearce tumors in rabbits. Bulletin of Experimental Biology and Medicine. 1958;46(5):1383-8.

123.Dmitrieva N. Resistance of rabbits with Brown-Pearce tumor adsorbed following exposure to high intensity ultrasounds to repeated transplantation of tumor. Biulleten'eksperimental'noi biologii i meditsiny. 1957;43(6):60-2.

124.Cline HE, Hynynen K, Watkins RD, Adams WJ, Schenck JF, Ettinger RH, et al. Focused US system for MR imagingguided tumor ablation. Radiology. 1995;194(3):731-7.

125.McDannold N, Hynynen K, Wolf D, Wolf G, Jolesz F. MRI evaluation of thermal ablation of tumors with focused ultrasound. Journal of magnetic resonance imaging. 1998;8(1):91-100.

126.Cline H, Schenck J, Watkins R, Hynynen K, Jolesz F. Magnetic resonance-guided thermal surgery. Magnetic resonance in medicine. 1993;30(1):98-106.

127.Cline HE, Hynynen K, Hardy CJ, Watkins RD, Schenck JF, Jolesz FA. MR temperature mapping of focused ultrasound surgery. Magnetic resonance in medicine. 1994;31(6):628-36.

128.Cline HE, Hynynen K, Schneider E, Hardy CJ, Maier SE, Watkins RD, et al. Simultaneous magnetic resonance phase and magnitude temperature maps in muscle. Magnetic resonance in medicine. 1996;35(3):309-15.

129.Cline HE, Schenek J, Hynynen K, Watkins RD. MR-guided focused ultrasound surgery. Journal of computer assisted tomography. 1992;16:956-.

130.Jolesz FA. MRI-guided focused ultrasound surgery. Annu Rev Med. 2009;60:417-30.

131.Fry F, Eggleton R, Heimburger R. Transkull visualization of brain using ultrasound; an experimental model study. Exerpta Medica. 1974;97:103.

132. Heimburger R. Ultrasound augmentation of central nervous system tumor therapy. Indiana Medicine. 1985;78:469-76.

133.Wu F. Extracorporeal high intensity focused ultrasound in the treatment of patients with solid malignancy. Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol. 2006;15(1):26-35.

134.Wu F, Chen W-Z, Bai J, Zou J-Z, Wang Z-L, Zhu H, et al. Pathological changes in human malignant carcinoma treated with high-intensity focused ultrasound. Ultrasound in medicine & biology. 2001;27(8):1099-106.

135.Wu F, Wang ZB, Cao YD, Chen WZ, Bai J, Zou JZ, et al. A randomised clinical trial of high-intensity focused ultrasound ablation for the treatment of patients with localised breast cancer. Br J Cancer. 2003;89(12):2227-33.

136.Blana A, Walter B, Rogenhofer S, Wieland WF. High-intensity focused ultrasound for the treatment of localized prostate cancer: 5-year experience. Urology. 2004;63(2):297-300.

137.Chaussy C, Thuroff S, Rebillard X, Gelet A. Technology insight: High-intensity focused ultrasound for urologic cancers. Nat Clin Pract Urol. 2005;2(4):191-8.

138.Foster RS, editor Noninvasive ultrasound-produced volume lesion in prostate. Lasers in Urology, Laparoscopy, and General Surgery; 1991: International Society for Optics and Photonics.

139.Gelet A, Chapelon J, Bouvier R, Rouviere O, Lyonnet D, Dubernard J. Transrectal high intensity focused ultrasound for the treatment of localized prostate cancer: factors influencing the outcome. European urology. 2001;40(2):124-9.
140.Sanghvi N, Foster R, Bihrle R, Fry F, Phillips M, Hennige C, editors. Transrectal ablation of prostate tissue using focused ultrasound. 1993 Proceedings IEEE Ultrasonics Symposium; 1993: IEEE.

141.Chapelon J-Y, Rouvière O, Crouzet S, Gelet A. Prostate focused ultrasound therapy. Therapeutic Ultrasound: Springer; 2016. p. 21-41.

142.Chapman A, ter Haar G. Thermal ablation of uterine fibroids using MR-guided focused ultrasound-a truly non-invasive treatment modality. European Radiology. 2007;17(10):2505-11.

143.Fan TY, Zhang L, Chen W, Liu Y, He M, Huang X, et al. Feasibility of MRI-guided high intensity focused ultrasound treatment for adenomyosis. Eur J Radiol. 2012;81(11):3624-30.

144.Fennessy FM, Tempany CM. MRI-guided focused ultrasound surgery of uterine leiomyomas. Acad Radiol. 2005;12(9):1158-66.

145.Liberman B, Gianfelice D, Inbar Y, Beck A, Rabin T, Shabshin N, et al. Pain palliation in patients with bone metastases using MR-guided focused ultrasound surgery: a multicenter study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;16(1):140-6.

146.Stewart EA, Gedroyc WM, Tempany CM, Quade BJ, Inbar Y, Ehrenstein T, et al. Focused ultrasound treatment of uterine fibroid tumors: safety and feasibility of a noninvasive thermoablative technique. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2003;189(1):48-54.

147.ter Haar G, Coussios C. High intensity focused ultrasound: physical principles and devices. Int J Hyperthermia. 2007;23(2):89-104.

148.Illing RO, Kennedy JE, Wu F, ter Haar GR, Protheroe AS, Friend PJ, et al. The safety and feasibility of extracorporeal high-intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU) for the treatment of liver and kidney tumours in a Western population. Br J Cancer. 2005;93(8):890-5.

149.Kennedy JE, Wu F, ter Haar GR, Gleeson FV, Phillips RR, Middleton MR, et al. High-intensity focused ultrasound for the treatment of liver tumours. Ultrasonics. 2004;42(1-9):931-5.

150.Ritchie RW, Leslie T, Phillips R, Wu F, Illing R, ter Haar G, et al. Extracorporeal high intensity focused ultrasound for renal tumours: a 3-year follow-up. BJU Int. 2010;106(7):1004-9.

151.ter Haar GR. High intensity focused ultrasound for the treatment of tumors. Echocardiography. 2001;18(4):317-22.

152.Wu F, ter Haar G, Chen WR. High-intensity focused ultrasound ablation of breast cancer. Expert review of anticancer therapy. 2007;7(6):823-31.

153.Wu F, Chen W-Z, Bai J, Zou J-Z, Wang Z-L, Zhu H, et al. Tumor vessel destruction resulting from high-intensity focused ultrasound in patients with solid malignancies. Ultrasound in medicine & biology. 2002;28(4):535-42.

154.Van Leenders G, Beerlage H, Ruijter ET, De La Rosette J, Van De Kaa C. Histopathological changes associated with high intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU) treatment for localised adenocarcinoma of the prostate. Journal of clinical pathology. 2000;53(5):391-4.

155.Napoli A, Alfieri G, Scipione R, Leonardi A, Fierro D, Panebianco V, et al. High-intensity focused ultrasound for prostate cancer. Expert review of medical devices. 2020;17(5):427-33.

156.O'Neil H. Theory of focusing radiators. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 1949;21(5):516-26.

157. Willard G. Focusing ultrasonic radiators. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 1949;21(4):360-75.

158. Willard G. Radiation Characteristics of Ultrasonic Focusing Radiators. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 1948;20(4):589-.

159. Fox FE, Griffing V. Experimental investigation of ultrasonic intensity gain in water due to concave reflectors. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 1949;21(4):352-9.

160.Richardson E. Sound. Reports on Progress in Physics. 1944;10(1):120.

161.Hiedemann E, Osterhammel K. Optische Untersuchungen der Richtcharakteristik von Ultraschallquellen. Zeitschrift für Physik. 1937;107(3-4):273-82.

162.Hanafy A, Zanelli C, editors. Quantitative real-time pulsed Schlieren imaging of ultrasonic waves. IEEE 1991 Ultrasonics Symposium; 1991: IEEE.

163.Kaczkowski PJ, Bailey MR, Khokhlova VA, Sapozhnikov OA. Quantitative Schlieren imaging of continuous and pulsed high-intensity ultrasonic fields using narrow band spatial filters. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 2010;128(4):2280-.

164. Hill C. Calibration of ultrasonic beams for bio-medical applications. Physics in Medicine & Biology. 1970;15(2):241.

165.Martin C, Law A. Design of thermistor probes for measurement of ultrasound intensity distributions. Ultrasonics. 1983;21(2):85-90.

166. Shaw A, Hodnett M. Calibration and measurement issues for therapeutic ultrasound. Ultrasonics. 2008;48(4):234-52.

AUTHOR BIOGRAPHY



Gail ter Haar is Professor of Therapy Ultrasound at The Institute of Cancer Research, London. She studied for her PhD in Physics at Guy's Hospital, in London, holds a D.Sc. in clinical medicine from Oxford. Gail's research interests have always lain primarily in understanding the way in which medical ultrasound interacts with tissue, especially the physical mechanisms involved in producing bio-effects (primarily heating & acoustic cavitation) with a view to understanding its safety when used in diagnosis, and to harnessing these effects for therapeutic benefit. Most recently her research has concentrated on developing devices and protocols for ultrasound based treatments of cancer.

Gail is founding President of the International Society for Therapy Ultrasound (ISTU). She is an honorary member of BMUS, honorary fellow of the American Institute for Ultrasound in Medicine, and fellow of the Acoustical Society of America and IPEM. She is Deputy Editor of

"Ultrasound in Medicine and Biology", associate editor of "Ultrasonics" and on the editorial boards of International Journal of Hyperthermia and Medical Physics. Gail has written 5 books and 32 book chapters, and over 250 peer reviewed research papers.

THE DIASONOGRAPH STORY.

Tony Whittingham

Appendix

Sections A - K of this appendix contains copies of Diasonograph and related sales brochures and leaflets

Section L contains a list of the locations of archived Diasonographs in the UK

- A. Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. Bulletin No. 327- Diasonograph NE4101. February 1970.
- B. Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. Bulletin No. 64 New Diasonograph NE4102 Diagnostic Ultrasonic Scanner. September 1972.
- C. Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. Bulletin No. 88 New Diasonograph NE4200 with Greyscale Storage Display. July 1976.
- D. Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. Bulletin No. 434 Ultrasonic Greyscale Facilities. Edinburgh. April 1975.
- E. Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. Bulletin No. 90 NE4104G Greyscale Storage Display Accessory for NE4102 Diasonograph Systems, July 1976.
- F. EMI Medical Ltd. Bulletin No. 112 EMISONIC 4200. October 1977.
- G. EMI Medical Ltd. Bulletin No. 116 EMISONIC 4201. January 1978.
- H. Fischer Ultrasound Ltd. 4200S Console. High Resolution Imaging Combined with Maximum Operating Convenience.
- I. Fischer Ultrasound Ltd. Articulated Scan Arm.
- J. Fischer Ultrasound Ltd. MARTI.
- K. Fischer Ultrasound Ltd. LINUS.
- L. Locations of archived Diasonographs in the UK.

A

Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. Bulletin No. 327- Diasonograph NE4101. February 1970.



DIASONOGRAPH NE 4101



The Diasonograph is a multi-purpose system for the investigation of soft-tissue structures in the body by pulsed ultrasonic waves. The operating principle is basically the same as that of underwater echo sounding or 'sonar'. However, the sound waves used have a much higher frequency, corresponding to a wavelength in tissues of 1 mm or less.

The ultrasound is emitted in short pulses, and echoes are detected from discontinuities in the tissues through which the sound pulses pass. Since the velocity of sound in soft tissue is known to be approximately the same from one tissue type to another, the elapsed time between transmission of a sound pulse and reception of the echo gives a measure of the distance of the tissue structure from the transmitting and receiving probe.

NE 4101 DIASONOGRAPH



The Control Panel of the Diasonograph

THREE ALTERNATIVE DISPLAY SYSTEMS

A-Scope Display

Just before each of a rapid succession of sound pulses is transmitted, the spot of a cathode ray tube is made to start moving rapidly over the screen from left to right. As echoes are received, these cause vertical deflections of this 'time base', producing a series of vertical 'spikes'. Each spike represents a separate echoing structure, and is displaced to the right by a distance proportional to the distance of the structure from the probe.

This is the type of display most commonly used for detecting mid-line shifts in the brain, i.e. "echoencephalography". For this application it is convenient to be able to invert the picture, so that comparative echo patterns from opposite sides of the head may be recorded on a twice-exposed photograph of the screen.

Cross—sectional Display

(Note: Cross-sectional display is sometimes incorrectly described as 'B-scope' display, which is more properly a certain, rather limited, type of cross-sectional display).

Echo patterns received from most sites of the body are rather complex, and may change very rapidly with small movements of the ultrasonic probe or of the patient. Interpretation is often very difficult, if not impossible. This has stimulated the development of pictorial display systems, which present the echo information as a cross—sectional 'picture' of the tissues being examined. In the Diasonograph, the ultrasonic probe is supported within a measuring frame. This generates electrical signals defining the position of the probe, and the direction of propagation of the sound into the body. These electrical signals control the display system so that echoes are made to appear as spots of light on the cathode ray tube screen in positions corresponding to the structures causing them. By the use of a long-persistence screen, or a time-exposure photograph, the many individual echo patterns produced as the probe is moved round the body surface, can be summated to yield a cross—sectional picture of the soft tissue structures being investigated.

By this means it is possible, for example, to visualise the gestation sac only a few weeks after conception, to locate the placenta and define its precise margins with a great deal of confidence, and to carry out many other diagnostic investigations on soft tissues which have no counterpart in conventional radiological, or isotopic techniques.

Time/Position Display

Many soft tissue structures of the body move, for example, with the heartbeat, or with respiration. In some instances the form of this movement has diagnostic significance.

The best-known examples are possibly the movement pattern of the mitral valve as an index of the severity of rheumatic heart disease, and the separation and synchronous movement of the pericardium and myocardium which reveals the presence and degree of pericardial effusion.

The Time/Position display system utilises the horizontal timebase of the A-scope system and presents the echo signals as bright spots on this line, rather than as deflection 'spikes'. At the touch of a button, the whole trace moves, relatively slowly, from the bottom to the top of the screen. Echoes from stationary structures thus trace out straight vertical lines, while structures which are moving trace out the pattern of the movement in great detail.

The speed of the slow vertical sweep is adjustable over wide limits, enabling the operator to choose a speed best suited to the time scale of the phenomenon he is investigating.

APPLICATIONS

A Summary

Without doubt the principal routine clinical applications of the Diasonograph lie in the obstetric field, though the practical significance of the instrument in gynaecology, and the investigation of the liver, spleen, and renal disorders, should not be overlooked. The following is only a brief summary of the main applications which have already been extensively investigated.

OBSTETRIC APPLICATIONS

Early Pregnancy

Positive confirmation of pregnancy from six weeks amenorrhoea onwards, diagnosis of extra-uterine pregnancy, multiple pregnancy, blighted ovum, level of nidation, and incomplete abortion.

Positive diagnosis of hydatidiform mole, and, more significantly, exclusion of this possibility in cases of threatened abortion.

Placentography

The Diasonograph may be used to locate the placenta, and define its margins with a high degree of confidence from around the 28th week of pregnancy. In some cases it may be possible to observe unusual thickness, or other abnormalities of the placenta.

Much earlier in pregnancy, 14–16 weeks, the approximate placental site may be identified, but a positive location and the firm exclusion, or confirmation, of placenta praevia should await a later stage of pregnancy.

Much clinical experience of this application has been built up, and the ultrasonic method appears to be preferable on grounds of cost, confidence, and general convenience to either soft-tissue radiography or isotope techniques.

Fetal Cephalometry

The fetal head is readily recognised by ultrasonography and a refinement of the technique permits the accurate measurement of the bi-parietal diameter.

For this purpose, the NE 4131 Ultrasonic Caliper (see Bulletin No. 284) is used in conjunction with the Diasonograph. The bi-parietal diameter is first identified by cross—sectional scanning, after which the two bright marker spots generated by the Caliper are superimposed on the display of the echo pattern. When the markers are properly aligned with the entry and exit echoes from the fetal head, the diameter can be read off directly to an accuracy of better than one millimetre.

It has been suggested that fetal head diameter as measured in this manner, is a very reliable and accurate index of fetal maturity.

General Obstetric Applications

Determination of fetal presentation in the obese patient or otherwise difficult situation. Diagnosis of hydramnios, anencephaly and hydrocephaly. Investigation of multiple pregnancy and the determination of the relative sizes of the fetal heads. Avoidance of the placenta in amniocentesis. Investigation of all cases of antepartum haemorrhage. Determining co-existence of pregnancy and pelvic tumour.

GYNAECOLOGICAL APPLICATIONS

Diagnosis of ovarian cyst, and determination of whether unilocular or multilocular. Differential diagnosis of ovarian cyst, fibroid, and other pelvic tumours. Differentiation of different types of ascites. Study and management of retention of urine.

GENERAL MEDICAL APPLICATIONS

Investigation of hepatic tumours, and hepatomegaly. Investigation of splenomegaly. Demonstration of hydronephrosis, and diagnosis of polycystic disease. Abdominal abcesses and hematomata. Demonstration of abdominal aortic aneurysm by cross—sectional scanning and time/position display. Demonstration of Pericardial effusion and mitral stenosis by time/position display. A—scope "echoencephalography".

MECHANICAL FACILITIES

In many applications the diagnostic information can only be obtained if the plane of the cross-sectional scan passes through a particular small region. Also there are instances when the inclination of this plane relative to the tissue structures is critical

A unique and very important feature of the Diasonograph is the extreme degree of freedom of adjustment of the measuring frame – and hence the cross-section examined – relative to the patient. This is achieved by the combination of three linear, and two angular movements. The whole measuring frame can be rotated about a vertical pivot from the transverse to the longitudal direction, and may be locked in position at 5° steps. Further the plane of the scan may be tilted out of the vertical, and also locked at 5° steps (see illustration).

Calibrated scales are provided for each of these five degrees of freedom of adjustment, so that the position of any particular scan may be recorded and repeated.

It is this convenience and stability of this freedom of adjustment of the plane of the scan which accounts for much of the versatility and clinical utility of the Diasonograph.



SPECIFICATION

Dimensions

Overall Height	:	202cm (79.5in)
Maximum width without couch	:	108cm (42.5in)
Overall Length of measuring frame assembly and supporting guide tubes	:	233cm (91.7in)
Height of couch top	:	76cm (30.0in)
Width of couch top	:	59cm (22.0in)
Overall Length of couch	:	198cm (78.0in)
Gross weight, inclusive of packing for transit by air	:	Approx 800kg (1760lb

Power Requirements

Suitable for use on ac mains of 50 or 60Hz. (Frequency and operating voltage should be specified at time of ordering). Power consumption approx 600 watts.

Photographic Recording

An NE 4135 camera is supplied as part of the Diasonograph system. This has an object/image ratio of 1:0.7. The camera uses Polaroid type 107 film packs which give 8 exposures 83 x 108mm (3.25in x 4.25in).

Ultrasonic Probes

3 special focussed probes are provided as part of the Diasonograph system. These operate at 1.5MHz (NE 4161), 2.5MHz (NE 4162) and 5MHz (NE 4163). In addition, hand-held, non-focussed "low-noise" single transducer probes are available at extra cost.

Recommended Operating Frequencies For most abdominal work, 1.5MHz and 2.5MHz will be found to give best results. 5MHz may be used for experimental investigations but its use is generally confined to the examination of tissue structures close to the skin surface.

Transmitting System

The electrical input to the transducer does not exceed 0.001 joules per pulse.

A stepped attenuator on the output of the transmitting system provides 0-45dB attenuation in nominal 5dB steps.

CROSS-SECTIONAL DISPLAY ("Section Scan")

The picture scale, as measured on a finished print from the NE 4135 camera may be selected as $\frac{1}{5}$ or $\frac{2}{5}$ of full size.

The measuring frame allows the transducer freedom of measured movement within a rectangle 50 x 25cm (20 x 10in approx). The transducer may be rotated through $\pm 100^{\circ}$ from the medial position.

The display system will follow any scanning pattern chosen by the operator, though the most useful type of scan is usually the "compound sector scan" described in the literature.

A long-persistance cathode ray tube is provided for visual monitoring. This reproduces exactly the information on the photographed display, but the 'afterglow' effect enables the operator to carry out a systematic visual search for particular sections which contain data of diagnostic significance.

Special circuits are incorporated in the Diasonograph which enable echo signals of widely-differing amplitudes to be recorded on the same display. The signal processing circuits also decrease the apparent pulse length, thus improving the resolving power of the equipment, and preventing small signals following closely on larger ones from being lost.

A-SCOPE DISPLAY

Time base ranges are 30mm and 100mm nominal, in soft tissue for full-scale range, with a continuously adjustable range multiplier from X1 to X5. The start of the timebase may be delayed relative to the instant of transmission of the sound pulse enabling the operator to study in detail the echo pattern obtained from a small region some distance from the body surface. A delay "Set/Use" switch enable the operator to pre-select the region to be examined.

The A-scope display is normally arranged to occupy half the available screen height, and may be inverted by the function selector switch.

TIME/POSITION DISPLAY

The slow-speed vertical timebase is initiated by a push button, or an external signal, and causes the horizontal, intensity-modulated, trace to move at an adjustable speed from the bottom to the top of the screen.

SWEPT GAIN SYSTEM

A swept gain system is incorporated which compensates both for the sensitivity-versus-range characteristics of the probes in use, and also for the progressive weakening of echo signals from tissue structures remote from the probe.

Not all applications require the same swept gain conditions and for the convenience of the user, four separate sets of pre-set swept gain controls are provided. These are selectable by a four-position switch. As supplied from the factory, the four positions give progressively increasing degrees of swept gain compensation. However, a user may modify these settings as he sees fit for his particular clinical or research applications.

FEBRUARY, 1970

BULLETIN NO. 327

NUCLEAR ENTERPRISES LIMITED



SIGHTHILL, EDINBURGH EH11 4EY, SCOTLAND TELEPHONE 031-443 4060 CABLES: NUCLEAR, EDINBURGH TELEX 72333 BATH ROAD, BEENHAM RG7 5PR, READING, ENGLAND TEL. 07-3521 2121 CABLES: DEVISOTOPE, WOOLHAMPTON TELEX 84475

Nuclear Enterprises GmbH, Karlstrasse 45, 8 München 2, Germany. Tel: 55-30-03 Telex: 529938 Nuclear Enterprises Inc., 935 Terminal Way, San Carlos, California 94070, U.S.A. Tel: 415-593-1455

В

Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. Bulletin No. 64 - New Diasonograph NE4102 Diagnostic Ultrasonic Scanner. September 1972.

NEW DIASONOGRAPH NE 4102 Diagnostic Ultrasonic Scanner



Diasonograph NE 4102 in operation at Queen Mother's Hospital, Glasgow



FOETUS BLADDER Longitudinal cross-sectional picture of nine week old foetus (Courtesy Queen Mother's Hospital, Glasgow)

- ★ Very high resolution combined with fine control, for detailed examination of small structures
- Twin cathode-ray tube displays for simultaneous search and identification of structures
- ★ Wide choice of scan planes, simply selected and extremely stable
- ★ A-scan, Cross-sectional and Time/Position Displays
- ★ Integrated circuitry, for high electrical stability, accuracy, and extreme reliability
- ★ Caliper System with large-scale direct digital readout
- Compact and flexible, permitting considerable freedom in patient examination
- ★ Designed for a single operator
- ★ Wide range of Obstetric, Gynaecological and General Medical applications
- ★ Lowest possible ultrasonic output

DIAGNOSIS BY ULTRASOUND

The new Diasonograph NE 4102 has been developed and evaluated by groups of workers whose involvement in diagnostic ultrasonic scanning equipments extends over the past twenty years. Typical of the thought and expertise designed into the NE 4102 are the methods used to ensure that the ultrasonic power output is reduced to the lowest possible level. Firstly, for fixed pulse rate applications the number of pulses transmitted per second is held at 600. Some equipments use pulse repetition rates up to three or four times higher than this. Secondly, during searches, a unique velocity controlled pulse repetition system ensures that transmission only takes place whilst scanning is being carried out and at a rate controlled by the speed of scanning. Thirdly, the sensitivity of the equipment is controlled by reducing the transmitted power rather than using high power and reducing the gain of the system.

Some features can be considered traditional. The NE 4102 measuring system has long been shown to have exceptional freedom of positioning of the scanning plane, whilst maintaining extremely tight control of the chosen scanning plane. The one-to-one measuring system directly coupled to the scanning probe has unequalled measuring accuracy which contributes to the outstanding ability of the NE 4102 to find and resolve structures smaller than hitherto possible.

Very comprehensive display facilities and a wide choice of operating modes enable the new Diasonograph to cover a wide field of applications. The controls are simple. Colour coding is used to indicate function, and illumination to indicate choice (see specifications p. 6).

Most investigations carried out by ultrasound come within three main groups:

- Accurate measurement of structural dimensions in vivo, e.g. Foetal Cephalometry— A-scan
- 2. Visualisation of a structure, e.g. Placental Localisation—Section Scan
- 3. Visualisation of moving structure, e.g. Mitral Valve Investigation—*Time/Position Scan*

It is often necessary to observe in two modes simultaneously, as in Foetal Cephalometry. With the new Diasonograph, accurate measurements can be made on the A-scan Display of echoes identified on the Section Scan Display.

Display Systems

The NE 4102 has two display oscilloscopes which are interchangeable. Display of section scan, A-scan or time/position scan may be presented independently on either of the two units (see illustration right).

The upper display unit consists of a short persistence oscilloscope. The lower incorporates a variable persistence oscilloscope and Caliper System, which uses a large scale illuminated digital readout. This layout permits unobscured viewing of both displays and digital readout while the caliper settings are being adjusted. This is the standard arrangement but it can be modified to suit individual requirements. For specification details see page 6.



Positioning of the scanning plane is achieved with push-button controlled magnetic locks (Courtesy Design Magazine and Philip Sayer)

PRINCIPLE OF OPERATION

The technique for investigations of soft tissue structures in the body by pulsed ultrasonic waves is basically the same as that employed in underwater echo-sounding or sonar. However, the sound waves used have a much higher frequency, corresponding to a wavelength in tissue of 1mm or less. The ultrasound is emitted in short pulses, and echoes are detected from discontinuities in the tissues through which the sound pulses pass. Since the velocity of sound in soft tissues is known to be approximately the same from one tissue type to another, the elapsed time between transmission of a sound pulse and reception of the echo gives a measure of the distance of the tissue structure from the transmitting and receiving probe.



THREE ALTERNATIV

A-Scan Display

A-scan display is most commonly used for detecting mid-line shifts in the brain (echoencephalography). For this application it is convenient to be able to invert the picture so that comparative echo patterns from opposite sides of the head may be recorded on a twiceexposed photograph of the short persistence screen, or on the variable persistence oscilloscope.

When the echo comparison is not required, the full screen is used to make accurate location of the caliper markers easier.

Just before each of a rapid succession of sound pulses is transmitted, the spot of a cathoderay tube is made to start moving rapidly across the screen from left to right. As echoes are received, the time base is deflected producing a series of vertical 'spikes'. Each spike represents a separate echoing structure.

Cross-sectional Display

With the new Diasonograph's cross-sectional display facility, it is now possible to visualise the gestation sac only a few weeks after conception. The placenta can be located and its precise margins defined with a great deal of confidence. Many other diagnostic investigations on soft tissues, which have no counterpart in conventional radiological or radioisotope techniques, can be carried out. Formerly, because of the complex nature of the echo patterns received from most sites on the body, and lack of stability of probe positioning on the patient, interpretation of results was very difficult, if not impossible. Now, crosssectional pictorial display is combined with the very high system resolution of the new Diasonograph and an extremely accurate and stable measuring frame. Consequently, the pictures of small structures obtained with the NE 4102 are exceptionally detailed.

In the new Diasonograph, the ultrasonic probe, supported within a measuring frame, generates electrical signals defining the position of the probe and the direction of propagation of the sound into the body. These electrical signals control the display system so that echoes are made to appear as spots of light on the cathode-ray tube screen in positions corresponding to the structures causing them. By the use of a long-persistence screen, or a timeexposure photograph, the many individual echo patterns produced as the probe is moved round the body surface, can be integrated to yield a cross-sectional picture of the soft tissue structures under investigation.

Time/Position Display

Many soft tissue structures of the body move, for example with the heartbeat, or with respiration. The form of this movement can have diagnostic significance. For example, the movement pattern of the mitral valve gives an indication of the severity of rheumatic heart disease, and the separation and synchronous movement of the pericardium and myocardium can reveal the presence and degree of pericardial effusion.

In the Time/Position display mode, the pattern of movement of the structure under examination is shown. The vertical sweep velocity is adjustable over wide limits permitting the operator to select conditions best suited to the particular investigation. The Time/Position display system uses the horizontal timebase of the A-scan system and presents the echo signals as bright spots on this line, rather than deflection 'spikes'. The whole trace can be made to move relatively slowly from the bottom to the top of the screen. Echoes from stationary structures trace out straight vertical lines, while structures which are moving trace out the pattern of their movement.

E DISPLAY MODES



Echoencephalography Trace



Foetal Cephalometry Trace



Longitudinal cross-section of an early gestation sac (Courtesy Queen Mother's Hospital, Glasgow)

		*	•	*	*	•	

Cross-sectional picture of a matrix of wires spaced at 0.5in (12.7mm) intervals in a water tank



Time Position Trace showing the movement of a mitral valve



Time Position Trace of identical mitral valve showing larger number of heartbeats

WIDE RANGE OF APPLICATIONS

Applications

Obstetric Positive confirmation of pregnancy from six weeks amenorrhoea onwards, diagnosis of extra-uterine pregnancy, multiple pregnancy, blighted ovum, level of nidation and incomplete abortion.

> Positive diagnosis of hydatidiform mole, and, perhaps more important, exclusion of this possibility in cases of threatened abortion.

Placentography

The Diasonograph may be used to locate the placenta and to define its margins with a high degree of con-fidence from around the 28th week of pregnancy. In some cases it may be possible to observe unusual Much earlier in pregnancy, 14-16 weeks,

Much earlier in pregnancy, 14-16 weeks, the approximate placental site may be identified, but the positive location and the exclusion or confirmation of placenta praevia should await a later stage of pregnancy

Much clinical experience of this application has been built up, and the ultrasonic method is often preferred on grounds of cost, confidence, safety, and convenience to either soft-tissue radiography or radioisotope techniques.

Gvnaecological Applications

Diagnosis of ovarian cyst, and determination of whether unilocular or multilocular. Differential diagnosis of ovarian cyst, fibroid, and other pelvic tumours.

General Medical Applications

Investigation of hepatic tumours, and hepatomegaly. Investigation of splenomegaly. Demonstration of hydronephrosis, and diagnosis of polycystic disease, abdominal abcesses and hematomata. Demonstration



Transverse scan of foetal head at 36 weeks gestation*



Cross-sectional scan of normal eyest



Early pregnancy (see right for enlarged picture of gestation sac)†



Transverse scan of foetus, 26 weeks gestation, with anterior placenta*



Cross-section of infant kidneyst



Life-size picture of embryot

Foetal Cephalometry

The foetal head is readily recognised by ultra-sonography and a refinement of the technique permits the accurate measurement of the bi-parietal diameter. The bi-parietal diameter is first identified by cross-sectional scanning, after which the two bright marker spots generated by the Caliper are superimposed on the display of the echo pattern. When the markers are properly aligned with the entry and exit echoes from the foetal head, the diameter can be read off directly to an accuracy of better than one millimetre. It has been suggested that the measurement of foetal head diameter obtained in this manner, is a very reliable and accurate index of foetal maturity.

General Obstetric Applications

Foetal presentation may be determined in the obese patient and in otherwise difficult situations. Diagnosis of hydramnios, anencephaly and hydrocephaly may also be made. Other applications include the investigation of multiple pregnancy and the determination of the relative sizes of the foetal heads, the avoidance of the placenta in amniocentesis, investigation of all cases of antepartum haemorrhage, and determining the co-existence of pregnancy and pelvic tumour.

Differentiation of different types of ascites. Study and management of retention of urine.

of abdominal aortic aneurysm by cross-sectional scan-ning and time/position display. Demonstration of pericardial effusion and mitral stenosis by time/position display. A-scan 'echoencephalography'.



TYPICAL RESULTS

References

Hydatidiform mole*

- S. Campbell, J. Obstetrics and Gynaecology of Brit. Com., **75**, p. 568, 1968. I. Donald and U. Abdulla, J. Obstetrics and Gynaecology of Brit. Com., **75**, p. 993, 1968. P. Morley and E. Barnett, Brit. J. Radiology, **43**, p. 602, 1970.
- Barnett and P. Morley, Brit. J. Radiology, 44, p. 733, 1971.
- E. A. Lyons et al, Brit. Med. J., p. 2689, 1972. R. A. Mountford et al, Brit. J. Radiology, 44,
- p. 860, 1971. R. A. Underhill et al, Brit. Med. J., p. 3736, 1971.
- S. Campbell and C. J. Dewhurst, Lancet,
- S. Campbell and C. J. Dewnurst, Lancet, p. 1002, 1971. I. Donald et al, J. Obstetrics and Gynaecology of Brit. Com., **79**, p. 304, 1972. Investigations into Possible Chromosome Damaging Effects of Ultrasound, Brit. J. Radiology, **45**, p. 319, 1972.
- * Courtesy St Bartholomew's Hospital, London † Courtesy Queen Mother's Hospital, Glasgow

NE 4102 SPECIFICATION

Two cathode-ray tube display units are provided, one with a short persistence cathode-ray tube, and the other with a variable persistence storage type tube. The short persistence tube is most useful for the photographic recording of section scans, where the optimum system resolution is required, or for foetal cephalometry with the Caliper. The variable persistence tube is most valuable when 'searching' during a section scan, since it is possible to vary the fade on the tube, and having located the required place of scan, to store the required picture. Photographs of the stored picture may be taken if required. A-scan, cross-section or time/position display may be set up independently on either display unit.

Operating controls are distributed in ergonomic groupings to assist operators without specialised knowledge of physics or electronics. Operating controls are calibrated in cm (or mm) in tissue where appropriate (see Control Panel below).

Maximum available ultrasonic

intensity is a function of the

standard range of probes the

following figures are typical.

probe in use. Using the

1.5MHz - 0.70 microwatt

2.5MHz – 6.92 microwatt 5.0MHz – 84.0 microwatt

1.5MHz - 7.0 milliwatt

2.5MHz - 6.92 milliwatt 5.0MHz - 2.7 milliwatt

Note Maximum operating

controlled by adjustment of the output power.

sensitivity of the equipment is



Frequencies

Energy

Normal Mean Acoustic Power

Maximum Available Mean Acoustic Power

Plan of Layout



Transmitter Pulse Repetition Rate

Sensitivity Control by Transmitter Attenuator Swept Gain

Picture Scales (Cross-Section only) Scanned Area (Cross-Section only) measuring frame in vertical position

Cross-Section Display

A-Scan Display

A-Scan Range

A-Scan Delay

Time/Position Display Vertical Sweep (Time/position Display only) (a) Fixed PRF 600 pulses/ second
(b) Velocity Controlled PRF (Section Scan only) 60 to 1000 pulses/second
0 to 50db in 10db steps
+ 0 to 8db in 2db steps
Initial reduction:
0 to 80db in 10db steps
Initial delay:
0 to 25cm continuously variable
Slope:
1.5 to 7.5db/cm continuously variable
1/5, 2/5, 3/5, 4/5, or 5/5 of full scale
Horizontal:
20ip (500mm) pominal

20in (500mm) nominal Vertical: 10in (250mm) nominal Probe rotation: $\pm 100^{\circ}$ from vertical in the plane of scan Intensity modulation of compound scan pattern on a 7.5 x 9.9cm display area. A-scan display occupying half or whole available screen height. (Selected by preset switch.) Inversion by panel switch to enable accurate photographic comparison to be made between two successive echo patterns. 5, 10, 20, 50, 100, 200 and 500mm switched steps. 0 to 500mm continuously variable A delay set/use switch allows the operator to preselect the region to be examined. Intensity modulation of horizontal sweep. Single vertical sweeps triggered by push button. Sweep speed continuously variable between $x \frac{1}{2}$ and x 2of the following switched ranges: 1, 2.5, 10, 25, 50, 100, 250mm/second A-scan controls operative.

Horizontal Range and Delay (Time/ position Display)



In the new Diasonograph, maximum use has been made of floor space without any sacrifice in the facility of selecting the more difficult scanning planes. The construction of the scanning system and the control cabinet affords considerable **freedom of choice in the layout** of the examination room. Total system weight is 650kg. (Photo courtesy Design Magazine and Philip Sayer)

NUCLEAR ENTERPRISES LIMITED

Sighthill, Edinburgh EH11 4EY, Scotland Telephone 031-443 4060 Cables: Nuclear, Edinburgh Telex 72333 Bath Road, Beenham, Reading RG7 5PR, England Telephone 073-521 2121 Cables: Devisotope, Woolhampton Telex 84475 Associate Companies

Associate Companies Germany: Nuclear Enterprises GmbH, Karlstrasse 45, 8 Munchen 2 Telephone: 55-30-03 Cables: Nuclear Muenchen Telex: 529938 U.S.A.: Nuclear Enterprises Inc, 935 Terminal Way, San Carlos, California 94070 Telephone: 415-593-1455 Telex: 348371

Bulletin No. 64 September 1972 С

Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. Bulletin No. 88 - New Diasonograph NE4200 with Greyscale Storage Display. July 1976.

NUCLEAR ENTERPRISES



0.0

0.0

0-0

New NE4200 Diasonograph



with Greyscale Storage Display

New NE4200 Diasonograph with Greyscale Storage Display

The NE 4200 Diasonograph is the latest addition to the world-leading range of diagnostic ultrasonic scanners developed by Nuclear Enterprises over the past ten years. It has full greyscale capability with colour option for expansion of greyscale, and maintains the high standard of resolution and the same outstanding operational capability as the Award-winning NE 4102 Diasonograph now in use in hospitals in over forty countries. Improved control console facilities are a major feature of the new scanner which operates with the exceptionally stable scanning system and a wide choice of accessories.

The basic Control Console (opposite) now includes improved display oscilloscopes and the following facilities are provided as standard: display of swept gain waveform; calibrated intensity controls for oscilloscopes; and amplifier processing mode selection. Careful ergonomic grouping and colour coding of pushbutton controls ensure simplicity of operation. The recording facilities offered include: photographs (Polaroid, 70mm film), hard copy, strip chart and video.

The Nuclear Enterprises policy of seeking equipment evaluation from groups of workers with widespread experience in the field of medical ultrasound continues and the new NE 4200 is designed to meet individual requirements as fully and as simply as possible. The system can be supplied complete with the NE 4204G Greyscale Storage Display and NE 4103C Cardiac Module (as illustrated on the front cover); with either facility or in its basic form. Nuclear Enterprises Ultrasonic Division will gladly advise on selection.

Scanning Assembly with exceptional Measuring Accuracy



Measuring System

The NE 4200 measuring system affords an operator exceptional freedom in positioning the scanning frame and allows the chosen scanning plane to be easily maintained and reproduced. The one-toone measuring system coupled to the scanning probe has unequalled measuring accuracy, and all movements are calibrated. Rapid changing from longitudinal to transverse scanning is another important facility offered by the 4200 measuring system.

The NE 4162 2.5MHz focused probe is supplied as standard with the system but a wide choice of interchangeable bayonet fitting probes for different applications is available. These probes may be exchanged without switching off the equipment, and changed from one side of the assembly to the other to suit the examination. The probe may be locked at a specific angle within its travel both for calibration and operational requirements as when it is used with an NE 4167 Biopsy Probe. Optional facilities for locking the X and Y movements are also available.

New Improved Control Console



Basic Control Console

Two recently introduced high performance cathode ray display units are now included in the trolley-mounted electronics console. One is a short persistence HP 1332 and the other is a variable persistence/storage HP 1335, with footoperated erase switch. A caliper device, a calibrated swept gain display, calibrated oscilloscope intensity controls and amplifier processing mode selection are now standard facilities in the electronic system. The controls on the console are simple. Colour coding is used to indicate function and illumination to indicate choice.

The very comprehensive display facilities with the wide choice of operating modes enables the Diasonograph to cover a wide field of applications. It is possible to display section-scans (B mode), A scan, inverted A scan, time-position scan (M mode) and "open shutter" greyscale scans, including those from the storage greyscale unit, independently on each cathode ray tube display.

Accurate measurements of structural dimensions *in vivo* are possible with the caliper system which has a large scale illuminated digital readout. The caliper pips can be displayed simultaneously on all modes.

The basic NE 4200 Diasonograph has a maximum dynamic range of 40dB, which may be reduced to 22dB by the panel control. The operator may vary the appearance of the scan he wishes to observe by using the combination of the dynamic range control and the amplifier mode selection. "Non-Greyscale" gives a non-greyscale picture ideal for producing outline-type scans of important structures. "Greyscale" operates with two types of signal processing ,"Diff In" and "Diff Out" which provide a scan with a range of grey tones. The incorporation of the NE 4204G Greyscale Storage Display described below allows the complete range of grey tones to be observed.

Integral NE4204G Greyscale Storage Display



Greyscale Storage Display

The NE 4204G Greyscale Storage Display offers the clinician the benefits of conventional storage tubes and, at the same time, a picture on the video monitor with the full range of grey tones. This can enormously simplify the obtaining and interpreting of pictures of more complex structures.

With the NE 4204G it is possible to achieve almost complete freedom from

the overwriting effects which can seriously degrade a compound scan result. The user may, without writing out the picture, "compound" a scan in order to collect as much clinically useful information as possible. This significantly improves quality and simplifies diagnosis in some types of examination.

A ten step wedge greyscale may be displayed on the screen for standardisa-

tion of the greyscale displays and thereby optimum discrimination of the tissue under examination is obtained.

The NE 4204G time share, read/write facility allows the operator to see the build-up of a picture during the scanning process. Any area of interest may be preselected and with the use of the zoom control switched to cover the total screen width. A magnification $4 \times$ life size is possible without significant loss of resolution. Time-position and Section Scans may be displayed. Permanent records may be obtained by conventional Polaroid photography or by the addition of a hard copy unit. Alternatively, 70mm film recordings can be made.

As electronic signals are now available in standard TV form, slave or remote TV monitors may be used for display and video tape recorders employed to store and replay information. Thus monitors may be sited in lecture theatres or in consulting rooms.

3

Typical Greyscale Results





Fetus at 22 weeks with marked ascites due to severe Rhesus iso-immunisation.





Illustrations on this page courtesy Queen Mother's Hospital, Glasgow



Fetus at 24 weeks.



Longitudinal scan of 9 week pregnancy.

Applications in :

- *** Obstetrics**
- * Gynaecology

- * Cardiology
- * Ophthalmology
- * Abdominal and Pelvic Pathology * Oncology





Longitudinal scan—spleen and aorta. Clinically unsuspected aneurism of the aorta behind the enlarged spleen. A crescent of thrombosis present is in the aneurism.





Illustrations on this page courtesy Northwick Park Hospital, Harrow



Longitudinal scan—liver. Shows inferior vena cava and portal vein.



Longitudinal scan—liver and right kidney. A large pleural effusion is present above the diaphragm.

For Application Notes, (available on request) see p. 8.

Accessories



The ultrasonic power output in all Nuclear Enterprises scanners is reduced to the lowest possible level. The sensitivity of the equipment is controlled by reducing the transmitted power rather than using high power and reducing the gain of the system. For fixed pulse rate applications the pulse repetition frequency is held at 600. During searches a unique velocity controlled pulse repetition system ensures that transmission only takes place while scanning is being carried out at a rate controlled by the speed of scanning.

NE 4211 Patient Trolley with paper sheet dispenser and facility for raising or lowering the patient's head to allow adjustment of posture for comfort and/or ease of investigation.

2

NE 4161 1.5MHz focused bayonet fitting probe.

5

NE 4166 5MHz non-focused bayonet fitting probe.

NE 4155 2.5MHz hand held probe (cardiology).

NE 4167 Biopsy probe—especially useful for amniocentesis 2.5MHz.

NE 4141 Water Bath for immersion scanning techniques.

NE 4110 Echo Generator for system calibration checks.

8

Shackman Super Seven Camera with Polaroid or 70mm film backs.

9

NE 4210 Remote Photographic facility for use with the NE 4204G Greyscale Storage Display comprises a 6in (152 mm) TV monitor with hinged adaptor to accept a Polaroid or 70mm camera. This TV monitor can be used as a remote viewing monitor and may be placed away from the main ultrasonic scanning area.

10

NE 4204C Colour Conversion Unit is all that is required to upgrade a greyscale storage display to full colour capability. It comprises a special 20in (508mm) colour TV display monitor and additional circuitry. The addition of a colour "window" to the greyscale picture allows much simpler differentiation between adjacent grey shades and this makes examination of fairly homogeneous structures such as livers more easily visualised.

11 NE 4108 Video Cartridge Recorder is basically a PAL Colour $\frac{1}{2}$ in (12.7mm) magnetic tape recorder. It is specially modified to suit the particular requirements of recording scans from the greyscale/colour storage display. Operation is extremely simple, all major operations being pushbutton. The standard $\frac{1}{2}$ in

(12.7mm) cartridge tapes supplied have a

playing time of 36 minutes and it is possible to produce a simultaneous audio recording using the dubbing facility.



NE 4106 Hard Copy Unit produces high quality paper copies of the greyscale information stored on the NE 4204G Greyscale Storage Display video monitors. The copies are large $(8\frac{1}{2} \text{ in } \times 11 \text{ in})$ or 216mm \times 279mm), and are produced quickly (approximately 12 seconds).

NE 4103C Cardiac Module extends the use of Diasonograph systems in the field of cardiology. This module allows simultaneous presentation of Time-Position Scan, ECG and PCG traces. In addition, the display of ECG triggered crosssection scans of moving structures is possible. The pulse repetition rate is raised to 1,800 pulses per second and synchronisation of the Time-Position Scan from the ECG waveform can be achieved.

14

NE 4105 Fibre Optic Recording Oscilloscope provides a flexible, non-integrating display-record facility. In addition to continuous chart recording (m-mode) conventionally used in cardiological investigation, the NE 4105 can provide permanent hard copy records of section scans, time-position scans and A scans. All NE 4200 series Diasonographs are manufactured with a fibre optic recorder interface socket.

pecifications



Control Panel

NE4200 Specification

Operating controls are distributed in ergonomic groupings to assist operators without specialised knowledge of physics or electronics. Controls are calibrated in cm (or mm) in tissue where appropriate (see Control Panel above).

Sensitivity Control by Transmitter Atten-

uator:

o to 50dB in 10dB steps +o to 8dB in 2dB steps

Swept Gain (Depth Compensation): Initial reduction: 0 to 80dB in 10dB steps

Initial Delay: 0 to 25cm continuously variable. Slope: 1.5 to 10.5dB/cm continuously variable.

Picture Scales: (short persistence, vari-able persistence and scan converter displays)—Section Scan only: 1/5, 2/5, 3/5, 4/5, 5/5 of full-scale.

Scanned Area: Horizontal: 500mm nominal Vertical: 250mm nominal Probe rotation: $\pm 135^{\circ}$ from vertical in the plane of scan.

A-Scan Display: Occupies half or whole of screen (preset switch selection). Inversion of $\frac{1}{2}$ scale by panel switch to enable accurate photographic comparison to be made between two successive echo patterns. Swept-gain characteristic can be superimposed on the Ascan display (selected by pushbutton control).

A-Scan Range: 5, 10, 20, 50, 100, 200, 500mm switched steps.

A-Scan Delay: 0 to 500mm continuously variable. A delay set/use switch allows the operator to preselect the region to be examined.

Time-Position Display: Intensity modulation of horizontal sweep.

Vertical Sweep (Time-Position only): Single vertical sweeps triggered by push button. Scan period continuously variable between $\times 0.5$ and $\times 2$ of the following ranges :-

50, 20, 5, 2, 1, 0.5, 0.2 in seconds.

Horizontal Range (Time-Position Display): 5, 10, 20, 50, 100, 200, 500mm switched steps (same control as A-Scan range).

Operating Frequencies:

0.5, 1.5, 2.5, 5, 10MHz.

Energy: Maximum available ultrasonic intensity is a function of the probe in use. Using the standard range of probes, the following figures are typical. Normal mean

Acoustic Power: 1.5MHz 0.70 microwatt 2.5MHz 6.92 microwatt

5MHz 84.0 microwatt lable Mean Acou Available Maximum Acoustic Power: 1.5MHz 7.0 milliwatt 2.5MHz 6.92 milliwatt 5MHz 2.7 milliwatt

NOTE: Maximum operating sensitivity of the equipment is controlled by adjustment of the output power.

Transmitter Pulse Repetition Rate:

Fixed 600 pulses/second.

- (b) Velocity controlled (section scan only) o to 1800 pulses/second.
- (c) With cardiac facility (time position scan) 1800 pulses/second.

(d) Triggered section scan with cardiac facility 10 to 100 pulses/cardiac cycle.

Horizontal Delay (Time-Position Display):

o to 500mm continuously variable (same control as A-Scan range).

Dynamic Range of Echoes: 22 to 40dB continuously variable.

Ultrasonic caliper: Marker separation o to 199.9mm in 0.1mm steps over entire A-Scan range.

Power requirements: 100 to 120/200 to 240V ac, 50/60Hz 800VA.

NE4204G Greyscale Storage Display Specification

Description: High resolution unit for storage and display of video and graphic information. Storage Medium: Princeton Electronic Products PEP 400R Scan Conversion and Image Storage Unit.

Resolution: 1350* to 2100**

*TV lines per diameter at 50% depth of modulation.

**TV lines per diameter limiting resolution.

Output: Television IV video signal with composite synch.

625 lines, 50 fields or 525 lines, 60 fields.

Display Unit: Electrohome 28cm monochrome monitor.

Front Panel Controls:

(Continuously variable)

'Zoom"-magnifies the image being viewed. "X"-controls horizontal position of the area

being magnified by zoom. "Y"—controls vertical position of the area being magnified by zoom.

Pushbutton switch selection:

'Norm"-normal full-size viewing of the

"Set Zoom"—normal full-size image with "region of interest" superimposed—this is a rectangular box defining the area to be covered by the zoom. Its position and size are controlled by the X, Y and "Zoom" controls. "View Zoom"—enlarges area within "region of interest" to fill the screen. "Invert"—changes the displayed picture from

positive to negative. Used for making positive pictures on negative. Used "Read only"—stops the v

-stops the writing of images on the storage unit when the probe is moved.

"Erase"—clears screen for the next scan. "SS"—selects section scan picture storage.

"TP"-selects time-position scan picture storage.

Preset Controls on the Storage Unit: "Read"—Preset control for optimisation of image read from the silicon storage target. "Focus"—Focus of image read from the storage target.

Rear Panel Outputs/Inputs: "Video Out"—IV composite synch video signal for TV monitor or video tape recorder. BNC 750hm socket. "Video In"—IV composite synch video input

for colour processing. "Colour TV"—Multiway connector for colour

TV monitor for NE 4204C.

Dynamic Range of system with NE 4200: 36dB.

Grevscales Displayed: 10.

Power Requirements:

100 to 120/220 to 240V ac, 50/60Hz, 200VA.

The following Application Notes are available on request:

 Ophthalmic Ultrasonography—
 G. R. Sutherland FRCP(E), FFR. Southern General Hospital, Glasgow.
 & 3. Obstetric Ultrasonography—
 Hugh P. Robinson MRCOG. Queen Mother's Hospital, Glasgow.
 Echocardiography—D. A. R. Robertson FRCR. Southern General Hospital, Glasgow.
 Ultrasonic Scanning of the Abdomen— Patricia Morley MB, DMRD, and Ellis Barnett FRCP, FRCR. Western Infirmary, Glasgow.
 & 7. Short Case Notes on Abdominal Scanning—Hylton B. Meire MB, BS, pobst RCOG, FRCR. Northwick Park Hospital, Harrow.



NUCLEAR ENTERPRISES LIMITED

SIGHTHILL, EDINBURGH EH11 4EY SCOTLAND * Telephone: 031-443 4060 Cables: Nuclear, Edinburgh Telex 72333

Bath Road, Beenham Reading RG7 5PR England Tel: 073-521 2121 Cables: Devisotope, Woolhampton Telex: 848475

Associate Companies

Nuclear Enterprises GmbH Schwanthalerstrasse 74, 8 München 2 Germany Tel: 53-62-23 Telex: 529938

Nuclear Enterprises Inc. 935 Terminal Way, San Carlos, California 94070 Tel: 415 593 1455 Telex: 348371

* Registered Office. Registration No. 31256, Scotland.

Bulletin No 88 July 1976

D

Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. Bulletin No. 434 - Ultrasonic Greyscale Facilities. Edinburgh. April 1975.

DIAGNOSIS BY ULTRASOUND

GREYSCALE FACILITIES



with DIASONOGRAPHS NE 4102 & 4102A



Nuclear Enterprises Limited

ULTRASONIC

Interest is becoming very widespread in the application of greyscale techniques. A summary of equipment available for Storage Display and details of the capability of Nuclear Enterprises standard scanners in this field are given below. For full information please contact the Ultrasonic Sales Department, Tel: 031-443 4060.

NEW GREYSCALE STORAGE DISPLAY

The new NE 4104 Greyscale Storage Display offers the clinician the benefits of conventional storage tubes and, at the same time, a picture on the screen with the full range of grey shading. This can enormously simplify the obtaining and the interpretating of pictures of more complex structures. (The four pictures on this page are printed by kind permission of the Queen Mother's Hospital, Glasgow).

Easier Operation and Improved Picture Quality

With the NE 4104 it is possible to achieve almost complete freedom from the overwriting effects which ruin many potentially good pictures obtained with conventional (non-storage) greyscale techniques. The user is encouraged to 'compound' every scan in order to collect as much clinically useful information as possible. This automatically improves quality and simplifies diagnosis. Ten discernible shades of grey may be displayed on the screen for optimum discrimination of tissues under examination. In addition, special dynamic range compression and contrast enhancement circuitry allow the echo emplitudes of interest to be spread across the grey range of display.

Display and Record Facilities Increased

The NE 4104 time share, store /view facility allows the operator to see the build-up of a picture during the scanning process. Any area of interest can be selected and magnified to cover the screen and a maximum overall magnification 4x life size is possible without significant loss of resolution. TP and Section-scans may be displayed, and, with Diasonograph NE 4102B only, up to 4 section scans may be stored and viewed. Permanent records may be obtained by conventional Polaroid photography or by the addition of a hard copy unit.

As electronic signals are now available in standard TV form, slave or remote TV monitors may be used for display and video tape recorders employed to store and replay information. Thus monitors may be sited in lecture theatres or in consulting rooms.



LONGITUDINAL SECTION OF EARLY PREGNANCY



LONGITUDINAL SECTION OF EARLY PREGNANCY (NO GREYSCALING)



LONGITUDINAL SCAN OF ABDOMEN

HIGH TRANSVERSE SCAN

S GREYSCALE FACILITIES

GREYSCALE CAPABILITY OF STANDARD EQUIPMENTS

NE 4102 and NE 4102A Diasonographs

All Nuclear Enterprises scanners can be used to produce greyscale pictures by time exposure photography of the nonstorage display. The technique can also be used on the variable persistence display when this is switched to the non-store (conventional) mode. However, signal processing on the NE 4102 and NE 4102A includes differentiation for resolution enhancement which reduces greyscale contrast. Nuclear Enterprises can now supply a Modification Kit which permits non differentiated signals to be used and ensures maximum greyscale contrast for applications where greyscale is the most important picture characteristic.

The Kit is easily incorporated in all equipments and, when the standard NE 4102 has been modified, two signal processing modes are available. The first mode "Differentiation," is suitable for high resolution greyscale visualisation. The second Mode, "Non - Differentiation", emphasises greyscale, but compromises boundary resolution or "sharpness" of the displayed result.

N.B. All the greyscale conditions specified above for the modified standard NE 4102 (or NE 4102A) are automatically included in the NE 4102B, so no modification is required for NE 4102B. The four pictures on pages 3 and 4 were taken with the



LARGE NECROTIC AMOEBIC LIVER ABSCESS

TRANSVERSE SCAN. LARGE ABDOMINAL AORTIC ANEURISM



NE 4102B and are printed by kind permission of Dr. D. A. R. Robertson, Dept. of Radiology, Southern General Hospital, Glasgow and Dr. R. Railton, Dept. of Clinical Physics and Bio-Engineering, Glasgow.

NE 4105 Fibre Optic Recording Oscilloscope

The NE 4105 can be fitted to the NE 4121 Diasonoscope and to all the NE 4102 Series Diasonographs to provide permanent records at comparativelow cost. The IV differentiated and nondifferentiated signal processing option is a standard facility in this unit. The NE 4105 reproduces up to five grey tones unequivocally and, in the section scan mode, considerable over scanning without deterioration of picture quality is possible

Records of single frame time position scans, Ascans, and continuous time position scans for long term observation of moving structures, can also be obtained with the NE 4105.

NE 4107 Greyscale Calibration Unit

The NE 4107 provides a calibration signal into the input of the receiver amplifier, and a drive waveform to the swept gain unit. This enables a thorough check to be made of the performance of all critical elements affecting the greyscale performance — not merely as individual elements but as a complete system.



LONG SCAN, LARGE METASTASIS IN RIGHT LOBE LIVER

TRANSVERSE SCAN, BLADDER. TUMOUR: INTRA-LUMINAL PLUS EXTRA-VESCICAL SPREAD



Nuclear Enterprises Limited

Bulletin No. 434 April 1975

Bath Road, Beenham, Reading RG7 5PR, England.

Tel: 073-521 2121 Cables: Devisotope, Woolhampton Telex: 848475

Associate Companies

Nuclear Enterprises GmbH, Schwanthalerstrasse 74, 8 Munchen 2, Germany. Tel: 53-62-23 Telex: 529938 Nuclear Enterprises Inc., 935 Terminal Way, San Carlos, California 94070. Tel: 415 593 1455 Telex: 348371

* SIGHTHILL, EDINBURGH EH11 4EY, SCOTLAND Telephone: 031-443 4060 Cables: Nuclear, Edinburgh Telex: 72333

Printed by The Tweeddale Press Ltd., Hawick.

E

Nuclear Enterprises Ltd. Bulletin No. 90 - NE4104G Greyscale Storage Display Accessory for NE4102 Diasonograph Systems, July 1976.



NE4104G GREYSCALE STORAGE DISPLAY ACCESSORY FOR NE4102 DIASONOGRAPH SYSTEMS

HIGH DEFINITION LARGE SCREEN NON-INTEGRATING GREYSCALE STORAGE DISPLAY CAPABILITY

The NE 4104G has been designed for use with the NE 4102, NE 4102A and NE 4102B Diasonographs. The unit is supplied in its own cabinet which fits on the trolley below the main electronics console together with the necessary interfacing circuitry and display unit.

The NE 4104G Greyscale Storage Display offers Diasonograph users the benefits of conventional storage tubes and, at the same time, a picture on the TV monitor screen with the full range of grey shading. This can enormously simplify the obtaining and the interpreting of pictures of more complex structures.

Easier Operation and Improved Picture Quality

With the NE 4104G it is possible to achieve almost complete freedom from the overwriting effects which spoil many potentially good pictures obtained with conventional (non-storage) greyscale techniques. The user may, without writing out the picture, 'compound' a scan in order to collect as much clinically useful information as possible. This significantly improves quality and simplifies diagnosis in some types of examination.

Ten discernible shades of grey may be displayed on the screen for optimum discrimination of tissues under examination. In addition, special dynamic range compression and contrast enhancement circuitry allow the echo amplitudes of interest to be spread across the grey range of display.



Typical Results



Top left: Longitudinal section of early pregnancy

Top right: Longitudinal section of early pregnancy — no greyscaling Courtesy Queen Mother's Hospital, Glasgow

Display and Record Facilities Increased The NE 4104G time share, read/write facility allows the operator to see the build-up of a picture during the scanning process. Any area of interest can be selected and magnified to cover the total screen width. A maximum overall magnification $4 \times$ life size is possible without significant loss of resolution. TP and section scans may be displayed and, with Diasonograph NE 4102B only, up to 4 section scans may be stored and viewed. Permanent records may be obtained by conventional Polaroid photography or by the addition of a hard copy unit.

As electronic signals are now available in standard TV form, slave or remote TV monitors may be used for display, and video tape recorders employed to store and relay information. Thus monitors may be sited in lecture theatres or in consulting rooms.

 $Bottom \ left: \ Transverse \ section \ of \ a \ female \ bladder \ with \ a \ left \ posterior \ carcinoma$

Bottom right: Same study as shown left but without greyscaling. Both results courtesy Northwick Park Hospital, Harrow



Technical Description

The NE 4104G Greyscale Storage Display has been designed to give greyscale pictures from Diasonographs. The heart of the system is the scan converter tube which stores the image. The stored picture cannot, however, be viewed directly but is electronically processed so that it is in the format of a standard television video waveform and is viewed on standard TV monitors.

The image is stored on a silicon chip or target within the scan converter. The principle of operation is for the target to be charged to a high voltage. The signals, which drive the display tubes on a Diasonograph, are used to discharge the voltage on this target, and thus the pattern of charge remaining on the target is the same as the pattern on a storage oscilloscope tube. The target is scanned by a beam of electrons, the scanning being in the same pattern as on a TV screen. The number of electrons in the scanning beam is determined by the charge on the target where the beam is aimed, and since the movement of electrons is an electric current then these current changes can be used to present the information on the target as a TV type signal. The *scanning* format of the Diasonograph has been *converted* to a TV picture.

The greyscale capability of the scan converter is due to its non-integrating method of writing the information on the target. On the standard oscillographic display the intensity is an additive process so that several small echoes received from one point scanned from various positions are displayed with the same intensity as one large echo from one point.

The charged silicon target of the scan converter is a non-integrating or non additive process. Several repeated echoes from the same point do not cause overwriting. The 4104G does not only consist of the scan conversion circuits. It is possible to enlarge the image on the target by a zoom facility, the area of the zoom being defined by the 'region of interest' or 'new zoom' circuits. The TV signal can also be inverted to give a negative picture, and this facility is particularly useful for recording results on negative film. The scan conversion process is also carried out in such a way that the target can be scanned and the image viewed at the same time as information is being written on to the target.

Interfacing is supplied to enable the signals to be derived from the Diasonograph in a suitable manner for scan conversion and the TV monitor picture to be displayed (and photographed) on one of the Diasonograph's display tubes.

Accessories

1 NE 4210 Remote Photographic facility for use with the NE 4104G Greyscale Storage Display comprises a 6 inch TV monitor with hinged adaptor to accept a Polaroid or 70mm camera. This TV monitor can be used as a remote viewing monitor and may be placed away from the main ultrasonic scanning area. 2 NE 4108 Video Cartridge Recorder is basically a PAL Colour $\frac{1}{2}$ inch recorder. It is specially modified to suit the particular requirements of recording scans from the greyscale display. Operation is extremely simple, all major operations being pushbutton. The standard $\frac{1}{2}$ inch cartridge tapes supplied have a playing time of 36 minutes and it is possible to produce a simultaneous audio recording using the dubbing facility. 3 NE 4106 Hard Copy Unit produces high quality paper copies of the greyscale information stored on the NE 4104G Greyscale Storage Display video monitors. The copies are large, 216×279 mm $(8\frac{1}{2} \times 11$ in), and they are produced quickly (approximately 12 seconds).

NE4104G Specification

Description: High resolution unit for storage and display of video and graphic information.

Storage Medium: Princeton Electronic Products PEP 500R Scan Conversion and Image Storage Unit.

Resolution: 1350* to 2100**

*TV lines per diameter at 50% depth of modulation

**TV lines per diameter limiting resolution

Output: Television 1V video signal with composite synch. 625 lines, 50 fields or 525 lines, 60 fields.

Display Unit: Electrohome 28cm monochrome monitor.

Front Panel Controls: Continuously variable.

'Zoom'—Control to magnify the image being viewed.

'X'—Controls the horizontal position of the area being magnified by the zoom.

'Y'—Controls the vertical position of the area being magnified by the zoom.

Pushbutton switch selection:

'Norm'— Normal full-size viewing of the image.

'Set Zoom'—Normal full-size image with 'region of interest' superimposed—this is a rectangular box defining the area to be covered by the zoom. Its position and size are controlled by the X, Y and 'zoom' controls. 'View Zoom'—Enlarges area within 'region of interest' to fill the screen.

Toggle Switches:

'Invert'—Changes the displayed picture from positive to negative. Used for making positive pictures on negative film.

'Write permit'—Enables the circuitry to write images on the storage unit when the probe is moved.

'Erase'—Clears the screen for the next scan.

Preset Controls on the Storage Unit 'Read'—Preset control for optimisation of the image read from the silicon storage target.

'Forms'—Focus of image read from the storage target.

Rear Panel Outputs/Inputs

'Footswitch erase'—For remote erase facility. Multiway.

'Video Tape'—IV composite synch video signal for video tape recorder. BNC 750hm socket.

'TV Monitor'—IV composite synch video signal for TV monitor. BNC 750hm socket.

'Graph'—Multiway connector to Diasonograph.

'Front Panel'—Multiway connector to front control panel.

'Colour TV'—Multiway connector for colour TV monitor for NE 4104C. 'Mains Input'—Mains power supply.

Dynamic Range of system with NE 4102 36dB

Greyscales Displayed 10.

Power Requirements 220 to 240V, 50Hz or 110 to 120V, 60Hz 200VA



NUCLEAR ENTERPRISES LIMITED

SIGHTHILL, EDINBURGH EH11 4EY SCOTLAND * Telephone: 031-443 4060 Cables: Nuclear, Edinburgh Telex 72333

Bath Road, Beenham Reading RG7 5PR England Tel: 073-521 2121 Cables: Devisotope, Woolhampton Telex: 848475

Associate Companies Nuclear Enterprises GmbH Schwanthalerstrasse 74, 8 München 2 Germany Tel: 53-62-23 Telex: 529938 Nuclear Enterprises Inc. 935 Terminal Way, San Carlos, California 94070 Tel: 415 593 1455 Telex: 348371

* Registered Office. Registration No. 31256, Scotland.

Bulletin No. 90 July 1976

NE4104G Specification (contd)

F

EMI Medical Ltd. Bulletin No. 112 - EMISONIC 4200. October 1977.

EMISONIC 4200

Nuclear Enterprises
EMISONIC 4200 (Formerly Nuclear Enterprises Diasonograph 4200)

Following the merger of Nuclear Enterprises with EMI in October, 1976, Nuclear Enterprises is now a full member of the EMI Group of Companies, world leaders in medical imaging systems.

Nuclear Enterprises pioneered the design and manufacture of advanced Ultrasound Scanners, which have been internationally acknowledged as setting performance standards in this field.

The combined research, development and manufacturing resources now provide a new, and expanded range of advanced Ultrasound Systems. This new range is being marketed under the 'EMISONIC' trade name through Nuclear Enterprises/ EMI Medical and their associated subsidiaries and representatives.

The EMISONIC Ultrasound range of equipment is supported worldwide, in all overseas markets, by specialised teams in marketing, installation and after-sales service.

EMISONIC 4200 with Greyscale Storage Display.

The EMISONIC 4200 is the latest addition to the world-leading range of diagnostic pulse echo, ultrasonic scanners developed by Nuclear Enterprises over the past ten years. It has full greyscale capability and provides a high standard of resolution, outstanding operational capability and reliability. The 4200 single transducer contact scanner incorporates as standard, facilities for



displaying A-scan, Cross-Section (B-scan) and Time-Position (M Mode) scans. These facilities enable a comprehensive diagnostic service to be provided in the fields of obstetrics, gynaecology, general abdominal examinations of soft tissue structures, neurology, ophthalmology, endocrinology, gastroenterology and cardiology.

The basic Control Console includes well established high quality displays and the following facilities are provided as standard: display of swept gain waveform; calibrated intensity controls for displays; and amplifier processing mode selection. Careful ergonomic grouping and colour coding of pushbutton controls ensure simplicity of operation. The recording facilities offered include: photographs (Polaroid, 70mm film, X-ray film), strip chart and video.

The 4200 is designed to meet individual clinical requirements as fully and as simply as possible. The system is supplied complete with the 4205G Greyscale Storage Display and the 4103C Cardiac Module is an optional facility. The 4200 can be supplied in its basic form without storage greyscale if required. 1

² Scanning Assembly with exceptional measuring accuracy.

The 4200 measuring system affords an operator maximum freedom in positioning the scanning frame and allows the chosen scanning plane to be easily maintained and reproduced. The one-to-one measuring system coupled to the scanning probe has unequalled measuring accuracy, and all movements are calibrated. Rapid changing from longitudinal to transverse scanning is another important facility offered by the 4200 measuring system.

The 4238 2.5MHz long internal focus probe is supplied as standard with the system but a wide choice of interchangeable bayonet fitting probes for different applications is available. These probes may be exchanged without switching off the equipment, and changed from one side of the assembly to the other to suit the examination. The probe may be locked at a specific angle within its travel both for calibration and operational requirements as when it is used with a 4167 Biopsy Probe.

The unique probe frequency selection controls enable the operator to match the amplifier tuning to the transducer being used – thus optimising information production for a particular examination. 1.5MHz, 2.5MHz, 3.5MHz, 5.0MHz and 10MHz optimised frequency tuning is available as standard.

Patient proximity detectors are provided to ensure that no hazard to a patient occurs from accidental lowering of the measuring frame or probe.



gain of the system. For most routine investigations a pulse repetition frequency of 600 pulses per second is used. A unique selectable velocity controlled pulse repetition system ensures that ultrasound transmission to the patient only takes place whilst scanning is being carried out at a rate controlled by the speed of scanning.

using high power and reducing the

The transmitter output power and attenuation controls are accurately calibrated in decibels (dB).



3

An essential requirement for an ultrasonic scanning system is that the cross-sectional plane of interest in the patient is reproduced accurately and reliably. The exceptional freedom of positioning of the 4200 measuring system allows the operator to change the plane of scan rapidly and minimises user fatigue.

The majority of clinical investigations require a series of scans to be taken both transversely and longitudinally. Rapid interchangeability between planes is an important facility offered by the 4200. This is especially significant in busy clinics where the patient throughput is high.

⁴ Control Console.

Two high performance display units are included as standard in the trolleymounted electronics console. One is a short persistence HP 1333 and the other is a variable persistence/storage HP 1335, with foot-operated erase switch. A caliper device, a calibrated swept gain display, calibrated oscilloscope intensity controls, and amplifier processing mode selection are standard facilities in the electronics system. **The controls on the console are simple.** Colour coding is used to indicate function and illumination to indicate choice.

The comprehensive display facilities with the **wide choice of operating modes enables the 4200 to cover a wide range of applications.** It is possible to display section-scans (B-mode), A-scan, inverted A-scan, time-position scan (M-mode), and "open shutter" greyscale scans, including those from the storage greyscale unit, independently on each display.

Accurate measurements to ± 0.1mm of structural dimensions in vivo are possible with the caliper system. This has a large scale illuminated digital readout. The "brightup" caliper pips can be displayed simultaneously on all modes.

The basic 4200 has a maximum dynamic range of 40dB, which may be reduced to 22dB allowing maximum grey tone range to be obtained of echoes of very similar amplitude arising from relatively homogeneous tissues.

Short Persistence Variable Persistence Display Oscilloscope REPLET HOOSE 1000 100 ALA -+ + + + + SIART O NUCLEAR ENTERPHISES LTD. DIASONOGRAPH Greyscale Storage Display Caliper System Amplifier Mode Selection

4205G Greyscale Storage Display.

The 4205G Greyscale Storage Display allows the clinician to obtain high resolution greyscale scans, which are viewed and stored on the (300mm) TV monitor.

In greyscale scanning the grey level intensity is determined by the amplitude of the echo. A large echo is recorded as peak white, a low-level as very dark grey and intermediate strength echoes at the appropriate grey scale range. High quality scans showing the full range of greytones simplify the visualisation and interpretation of complex structures. Examination times are minimised and confident diagnoses can be made. A feature of the 4205G is that it is possible to achieve almost complete freedom from overwriting effects which can seriously degrade a compound scan. The user may, without writing out the picture, "compound" a scan in order to collect as much clinically useful information as possible.

The quad option allows four scans to be viewed simultaneously on the monitor. Each of these scans may be erased independently or viewed at full screen size.

The 4205G time share, read/ write facility allows the operator to see the build-up of a picture during the scanning process. Any area of interest may be preselected and, with the use of the zoom control, switched to cover the total area. A magnification $4 \times life$ size is possible without significant loss of resolution. Time-Position and Section Scans may be displayed. By depressing the 'SC' button on the mode selection panel, the stored greyscale picture can be transferred to either console display for photography.

Selection of the "invert" pushbutton changes the displayed picture from positive to negative to facilitate negative film photography.

Permanent records may be obtained by conventional Polaroid photography. Alternatively, 70mm or X-ray film recordings can be made. As electronic signals are now available in standard TV form, slave or remote TV monitors may be used for display, and video tape recorders employed to store and replay information. Thus video monitors may be sited in lecture theatres or in consulting rooms.



5

⁶ Clinical results.

All result photographs on these pages are reproduced by courtesy of the Clinical Research Centre and Northwick Park Hospital, Harrow, Middlesex.



- 5. Transverse scan showing head and body of normal pancreas.6. Transverse scan showing slightly enlarged head of pancreas with dilated ducts within the head.

- 7. Longitudinal scan (anterior view) of fetus showing both orbits.8. Longitudinal scan of fetus at 14 weeks.
- 9. Cross section of fetal abdomen at 36 weeks.
 10. Longitudinal scan of fetus at 13 weeks showing detail of face.



³ Accessories.

- 1. 4211 Patient Trolley with paper sheet dispenser and facility for raising or lowering the patient's head to allow adjustment of posture for comfort and/or ease of investigation.
- 2. 4141 Specially designed Water Bath for immersion scanning techniques.
- 3. 4110 Echo Generator for system calibration checks.
- 4. 4126 Calibration Jig for system registration checks.
- 5. 4210 Photographic Facility for use with the 4205G Greyscale Storage Display comprising a 6 inch (152mm) TV monitor, hinged camera adaptor and a Shackman Super Seven Polaroid Camera. This TV monitor can be used as a remote viewing monitor and may be placed away from the main scanning area.
- 6. 4232 Shackman Super Seven Polaroid Camera as used in the 4210 except that it is supplied with an AS20 adaptor allowing photographs to be taken from the HP 1335 and HP 1333 oscilloscopes.
- 4235 70mm Linhof Film Holder and M4 International Module for the Shackman Super Seven Camera as an alternative to the Polaroid Back.
- 4143 Multi-Format X-ray Film Holder for the Shackman Super Seven Camera giving six photographs, each 63 × 78mm, on one sheet of 203 × 254mm X-ray film. (Bulletin No. 103.)
- 9. 4108 Video Cartridge Recorder is basically a PAL Colour half inch (12.7mm) magnetic tape recorder. It is specially modified for recording high resolution scans from the 4205G Greyscale Storage Display. Operation is extremely simple, all major controls being operated by pushbuttons. The standard half inch (12.7mm) cartridge tapes supplied have a playing time of 36 minutes and it is possible to produce a simultaneous audio recording using the dubbing facility. (Bulletin No. 99.)
- 10. 4103C Cardiac Module extends the use of 4200 systems in the field of cardiology. This module allows simultaneous presentation of the Time-Position Scan (M-mode) ECG and PCG traces. In addition, the display of ECG triggered cross-section scans of moving structures is possible. The pulse repetition rate is raised to 1,200 pulses per second and synchronisation of the Time-Position Scan from the ECG waveform can be achieved. (Bulletin No. 95.)

- 4105 Fibre Optic Recording Oscilloscope provides a flexible, non-integrating display-record facility. In addition to continuous chart recording (M-mode) conventionally used in cardiological investigation, the 4105 can provide permanent hard copy records of section scans, time-position scans (M-mode) and A scans. All 4200 systems are manufactured with a fibre optic recorder interface socket. Details of other recorders available on request. (Bulletin No. 91.)
- 12.

11

4144 Video Character Generator enables the operator to type information onto the greyscale scan displayed on the video monitor. Patient details, date and areas of anatomical interest may be marked and recorded. This facility is of particular importance if negative film recording methods are used. (Bulletin No. 101.)



Ultrasonic Transducers.

A 2.5MHz flat faced, 13mm diameter, long internal focus probe is supplied as standard with every 4200 system. This is suitable for most routine diagnostic imaging. However, large improvements in resolution and lesion detection can be expected in a limited area of interest by selection of a specialised transducer from the wide range available for both scanning and hand-held applications.

Each transducer is marked with a reference number, frequency, diameter and focal length. Metal-based bayonet fitting transducers ensure good grounding and freedom from external electrical interference.

Full details of the complete range are available on request. The following list details some of the most commonly used transducers.

Recommended Scanning Transducers

2.

- 1. 4238 Long Internal Focus Bayonet Fitting Probe 2.5MHz, 13mm active element diameter.
 - 4310 Non-focused Bayonet Fitting Probe. 1.5MHz, 19mm active element diameter. Good angular resolution in far range.
- 3. 4311 Long Internal Focus Bayonet Fitting Probe. 1.5MHz, 19mm active element diameter. Angular resolution improved in mid range.
- 4. 4325 Non-focused Bayonet Fitting Probe. 2.5MHz, 13mm active element diameter. Optimum angular resolution in far range
- 5. 4323 Long Internal Focus Bayonet Fitting Probe. 2.5MHz, 19mm active element diameter.
- 4383 Medium Internal Focus Bayonet Fitting Probe. 3.5MHz, 13mm active element diameter. Lower penetration, high angular and range resolution in mid range.
- 4388 Long Internal Focus Bayonet Fitting Probe.
 3.5MHz 19mm active element diameter. High angular and range resolution at mid range.
- 8. 4351 Non-focused Bayonet Fitting Probe. 5.0MHz, 13mm active element diameter. High range resolution penetration limited.
- 9. 4354 Long Internal Focus Bayonet Fitting Probe. 5.0MHz, 13mm active element diameter. Improved angular resolution in mid range.
- 10. 4167 2.5MHz Biopsy Probe with a central aperture allowing use of needles up to 1.96mm in in diameter.
- 11. 4364 Long Internal Focus Probe. 1.5MHz, 19mm active element diameter.
- 12. 4367 Medium Internal Focus Probe. 2.5MHz, 13mm active element diameter.
- 13. 4394 Medium Internal Focus Probe. 3.5MHz, 13mm active element diameter.
- 14. 4343 Non-focused Probe. 5.0MHz, 13mm active element diameter.
- 15. 4340 Non-focused Probe. 5.0MHz, 6mm active element diameter.
- 16. Aspiration/Biopsy Transducer. Non-focused, 2.5MHz, 13mm active element diameter with 2.4mm central aperture (aperture accommodates 14 gauge aspiration or biopsy needle).



Supplied as standard

Designed primarily for amniocentesis but also useful for cyst aspiration.

Echoencephalography

General purpose cardiac

Adult and paediatric cardiac

Neonate and paediatric cardiac

Ophthalmic





¹⁰ EMISONIC 4200 Specification.

Operating controls are distributed in ergonomic groupings to assist operators without specialised knowledge of physics or electronics. Controls are calibrated in tissue where appropriate (see Control Panel right).

Sensitivity Control by Transmitter Attenuator:

0 to -50dB in 10dB steps,+0 to -8dB in 2dB steps

Swept Gain (Depth Compensation): Initial reduction:

0 to 80dB in 10dB steps Initial Delay: 0 to 250mm continuously variable. Slope: 1.5 to 10.5dB/cm continuously variable.

Picture Scales: Section Scan only: 1/5, 2/5, 3/5, 4/5, 5/5 of full-scale. Scanned Area: Horizontal: 500mm nominal Vertical: 250mm nominal Probe Rotation: ±135° from vertical in the plane of scan.

A-Scan Display:

Half screen or whole screen or Swept Gain. Inverted V on half or whole screen. **A-Scan Range:** 5,10, 20, 50, 100, 200, 500mm switched steps.

A-Scan Delay: 0 to 500mm continuously variable. A delay set/use switch allows the operator to preselect the region to be examined.

Time-Position Display: Intensity modulation of horizontal sweep.

Vertical Sweep (Time-Position only): Single vertical sweeps triggered by push button. Scan period continuously variable between $\times 0.5$ and $\times 2$ of the following ranges:-

50, 20, 5, 2, 1, 0.5, 0.2 in seconds.

Horizontal Range (Time-Position Display): 5, 10, 20, 50, 100, 200, 500mm switched steps (same control as A-Scan range).

Operating Frequencies: 1.5, 2.5, 3.5, 5.0, 10MHz

Energy: Maximum available ultrasonic intensity is a function of the probe in use. Using the standard range of probes, the following figures are typical. Normal Mean

Acoustic Power: 1.5MHz 0.70 microwatt 2.5MHz 6.92 microwatt

5MHz 84.0 microwatt Maximum Available Mean Acoustic

Power: 1.5MHz 7.0 milliwatt 2.5MHz 6.92 milliwatt 5MHz 2.7 milliwatt

NOTE: Maximum operating sensitivity of the equipment is controlled by adjustment of the output power.

Transmitter Pulse Repetition Rate: (a) Fixed 600 pulses/second.

- (b) Velocity controlled (section scan only) 0 to 1800 pulses/second.
- (c) With cardiac facility (time position scan) 1200 pulses/second.
- (d) Triggered section scan with cardiac facility 10 to 100 pulses/cardiac cycle.

Horizontal Delay (Time-Position Display): 0 to 500mm continuously variable (same control as A-Scan range).

Dynamic Range of Echoes: 40 to 22dB continuously variable.

Ultrasonic Caliper: Marker separation 0 to 199.9mm in 0.1mm steps over entire A-Scan range.

Power Requirements: 100 to 120/200 to 240V ac. 50/60Hz 800VA.



0

0

0

60

0

EL

.=

10 to

FIF

4200 Control Panel





4205G Greyscale Storage Display Specification.

Description: High resolution unit for storage and display of video and graphic information.

Storage Medium: Princeton Electronic Products Scan Conversion and Image Storage Unit. (Special Version).

Resolution: 1350* to 2100**

- TV lines per diameter at 50% depth of modulation.
- TV lines per diameter limiting resolution.

Output: Television IV video signal with composite synch.

625 lines, 50 fields or 525 lines, 60 fields.

Display Unit: 300mm monochrome monitor.

Front Panel Controls:

(Continuously variable) "Zoom"-magnifies the image being viewed.

"X"-controls horizontal position of the area being magnified by zoom.

"Y"- controls vertical position of the area being magnified by zoom.

Pushbutton switch selection: "Norm"-normal full-size viewing of the image. "Set-Zoom"-normal full-size image with "region of interest" superimposed. This is a region of interest superimposed. This is a rectangular box defining the area to be covered by the zoom. Its position and size are controlled by the X, Y and "Zoom" controls. "View Zoom"–enlarges area within "region of interest" to fill the screen.

"Invert"-changes the displayed picture from positive to negative. Used for making positive pictures on negative film.

"Read only"-stops the writing of images on the storage unit when the probe is moved.

"Erase"-clears the screen for the next scan. "SS"-selects section scan picture storage.

"TP"-selects time-position scan picture storage.

"Quad Option"-allows 4 scans to be viewed simultaneously and erased independently.

Rear Panel Outputs/Inputs: "Video Out 1 and 2" –Two independent IV composite synch video signals for TV monitor or video tape recorders.

Dynamic Range of system with 4205G 36dB

Greyscales Displayed: 10

12	Space saving The ergonomic design of the EMISONIC 4200 system ensures maximum use of the available floor space and affords considerable freedom of choice in the layout of the examination room.	Patient Length Width Height Weight	Trolley: 2.0m 720mm 660mm 51kg on four castors 15cm diameter	
	Control Console Cabinet:Width560mmHeight670mmDepth780mmWeight163kg on 4 castors 10cm diameter			
	Scanning Assembly: Maximum vertical extension 2.1m T-shaped Base 1.2m Base "Toe" extension 1.22m Weight 440kg on 3 pads giving floor loading of 9360kg/m			
	Scale 1. 20 0 10 20 30			

POWER REQUIREMENTS: 100 to 120/200 to 240V ac, 50/60Hz, 800VA. Typical Current Readings

T

4200 only	Standing Current	Initial Surge
System Standing Raising Frame Lowering Frame	870mA 3.7A 3.65A	4.2A 4.2A
4200 & 4205 & 300mm TV	Standing Current	Initial Surge
System Standing Raising Frame Lowering Frame	1.77A 4.6A 4.5A	6A 5A





Nuclear Enterprises Limited Sighthill, Edinburgh EH11 4EY, Scotland* Telephone 031-443 4060 Cables: Nuclear, Edinburgh Telex 72333 *Registered Office Registration No 31256 Scotland



A member of EMI. The international music, electronics and leisure group.

Bulletin No.112 October 1977

G

EMI Medical Ltd. Bulletin No. 116 - EMISONIC 4201. January 1978.

EMISONIC 4201

A Compact Ultrasound Scanner with Automatic Entry of Scanning Parameters and Motorised Operation of the Scanning Frame.

Nuclear Enterprises

EMISONIC 4201

The EMISONIC 4201 extends the EMISONIC Range of Ultrasound Scanners. In addition to providing the high clinical performance and reliability of the EMISONIC 4200, the 4201 provides a number of supplementary feature benefits.

Compact 3-Display Control Console

This incorporates an 'A' MODE DISPLAY for TGC curve and depth recognition, a video greyscale PHOTOGRAPHIC DISPLAY and a large screen VIEWING DISPLAY. The viewing display and the photographic display have the capability of independent video invert, which allows the operator to view the scans in one format and simultaneously take photographs of the clinical scans in another.

Automatic Patient Data Entry with Unique Data Security Interlocks

Patient details and scanning parameters are entered automatically into viewing and display monitors. Special interlock circuitry ensures complete protection of patient data.

Motorised or Manual Operation of the Scanning Frame

Operator fatigue is minimised by the use of the motorised drive of the scanning frame between scans.

Incremental Power Assisted Drive with 2mm to 40mm Range

Precisely separated parallel scans in increments of 2mm, 5mm, 10mm, 20mm, 30mm or 40mm can be activated by finger tip controls in either the longitudinal or transverse direction. In addition, accurate digital readout of the scanning frame position is displayed on the scanning frame control panel for convenient viewing.

Unique Resolution Enhancement Facility

This allows clinical details and information on the high resolution greyscale storage display to be maximised.

Pushbutton Auto-Centering of Image

Plus an independent 'Y' position control.

Simultaneous Viewing 'A' Scan and TGC Waveforms

Electronic Joy Stick Control of Region of Interest Box

Subsequent depression of the 'view zoom' magnifies this region to full screen size.

Pushbutton Tuned Amplifier Frequency Selection

1.5, 2.5, 3.5, 5.0 and 10MHz operation.

Keyboard Control of Alpha-Numeric Data

Information in addition to that automatically displayed on the scan may be added using the manual keyboard. If required, the digital reading of the caliper separation may also be incorporated into the data displayed by simple pushbutton operation.

High Resolution Transducers

Two specially selected transducers are provided as standard. One 2.5MHz 19mm diameter long internal focus 4323 and one 3.5MHz 19mm diameter long internal focus 4388. A standard range of transducers and optional accessories is available with all EMISONIC systems.

Adjunctive Real-Time Option Available Request details of the EMISONIC Spinner System (Bulletin No 118)



EMISONIC Range

Following the merger of Nuclear Enterprises with EMI in October 1976, Nuclear Enterprises is now a full member of the EMI Group of Companies, world leaders in medical imaging systems.

Nuclear Enterprises pioneered the design and manufacture of advanced Diasonograph Ultrasound Scanners, which have been internationally acknowledged as setting standards in this field.

The combined research, development and manufacturing resources now provide a new, and expanded range of advanced Ultrasound Systems. This new range is being marketed under the 'EMISONIC' trade name through Nuclear Enterprises, EMI Medical and their associated subsidiaries and representatives.

The EMISONIC Ultrasound range of equipment is supported world-wide, in all overseas markets, by specialised teams in marketing, installation and after-sales service. The EMISONIC 4201 has been designed with the needs of the clinician in mind. Minimum patient discomfort and trauma, high patient throughput, trouble free system operation and high resolution clinical data provided by the 4201 make a major contribution to a sophisticated ultrasound scanning service.



High definition photographic display.



0.1% accurate digital caliper. Pushbutton readout onto display.



Pushbutton automatic centering of image, colour coded controls of 'B' Scan, 'A' Scan and 'M' mode operations.



Keyboard entry of patient data to displays.



EMISONIC 4201 Condensed Specification	Attenuation	ATT +2 digits as selected on electronic console	Marker Separation	'B' 4 digits with decimal
The EMISONIC 4200 specification (see 112) is also applicable to the EMISONIC In addition, EMISONIC 4201 includes the following features:	Bulletin 24201. ne	transmitter setting. DOSE +4 digits ×100. This count is the number of transmitter pulses received by the patient. »» Indicates a dose of		point. Entered onto display by depressing "ENTER READING" pushbutton on console front panel. May be updated at any time.
Assembly (3 Modes) Manual: Functions as EMISC 4200 Step: Selectable in 2mm, 10mm, 20mm, 30m 40mm discrete ste Actuation is by pushbutton on scal frame control pane probe assembly pushbuttons. Direc travel preselected L-, T+, T (L=Longitudinal, T=Transverse.) Run: Continuous motor movement along L axes dependent on selected. Actuation Step. Alpha Numeric Data Displayed on Scanning Frame The position of the scanning plane with reference to a predetermined anatom landmark is shown continuously on a c display (±1mm accuracy). The angles or rotation of the scanning plane are also displayed.	straine DNIC 5 mm, im or ps. aning el or by stion of for L+, sed + or T+ axis as for naise base for Aning el or by tion of for L+, State Longitudinal Movement Transverse Movement Rotational Movement Tilt Movement	 greater than 10° puises. The internal dose counter is reset when the PAT NO is changed. SER NO +2 digits. Option 1: Updates by one for each combination of photograph and storage greyscale erase. Option 2: Updates by one for every storage greyscale erase. Option 1 and 2 are switch selectable; on both SER NO is automatically reset to 0 when PAT NO is changed. 'L' 3 digits with sign, either + or Units mm. 'T' 3 digits with sign, either + or Units degrees. /2 digits with sign, either + or Units degrees. 	Interlock Manual Alpha Num Data may be enter display by use of t keyboard. Page 2. Unrestrict No interlock arra entered as require character generat	If any of the above parameters, with the exception of marker separation, are changed during a scan further writing of the picture will be prevented, thus ensuring integrity of alpha numeric data. meric Data Entry red in the free area of the he video character generator ted Data Entry ngements. Data may be ed by use of the video cor keyboard.
Keyboard Data Entry: 2 pages of disavailable Page 1: Automatic Fixed Data Entry The following protected and interlock numeric data can be displayed on all m Title Preprogrammed to customer's required e.g. hospital name Patient Number Frequency PAT NO +6 digits FREQ +2 digits with point as selected on scanning frame.	ed alpha onitors. ments, n decimal			

Nuclear Enterprises Limited * Sighthill, Edinburgh EH11 4EY Scotland Telephone 031-443 4060 Cables: Nuclear, Edinburgh Telex 72333 *Registered office. Registration No 31256 Scotland.

North America

EMI Medical Inc. 3605 Woodhead Drive, Northbrook, Illinois 60062 Telephone (312) 291 4444 Telex 289450

Bulletin No. 116 January 1978



A member of the EMI group International Leaders in music, electronics and leisure.

H

Fischer Ultrasound Ltd. 4200S Console. High Resolution Imaging Combined with Maximum Operating Convenience

FISCHERULTRASOUND 4200S CONSOLE

HIGH RESOLUTION IMAGING COMBINED WITH MAXIMUM OPERATING CONVENIENCE



One of the comprehensive range of modular diagnostic ultrasound units designed by Fischer Ultrasound to meet individual clinical requirements as simply and cost effectively as is possible.

Connected with the appropriate probes or scanning arms, A mode, M mode and B mode (real time with the addition of the 4260 module) high resolution images can be displayed in greyscale and manipulated using the Digital Memory.

The 4200S console which has been designed for standing or seated operation is mounted on a wheeled trolley and in addition to incorporating a Digital Memory Matrix of over 1 million bits, features high quality displays and an ultrasonic caliper facility. Careful ergonomic grouping and colour coding of push button controls ensure simplicity of operation.

FISCHER ULTRASOUND LTD.

Bankhead Crossway South, Edinburgh EH11 4EY, Scotland Telephone 031-443 4166 Telex 727045 Fischr G

TECHNICAL DATA

Displays

Hewlett Packard 1333A short persistence display unit. (White phosphor 1332A optional) 9-inch monochrome TV monitor.

Dynamic Range of Echoes

40 to 22dB continuously variable. Dynamic range of system not less than 36 dB

Operating Frequencies

2.5, 3.5, 5, 7.5, 10MHz and Wide Band.

Operating Controls

Sensitivity controlled by transmitter attenuator. 0 to - 50 dB in 10 dB steps 0 to -8 dB in 2 dB steps Swept gain (TGC time gain compensation) controlled by Initial attenuation 0 to 80 dB in 10 dB steps 0 to 250mm continuously variable Initial delay Slope 1.5 to 10 dB/cm continuously variable

A Mode

Displayed on short persistence display. Displays available are A Scan, Inverted A Scan or superimposed A Scan and TGC waveform. A Scan ranges: 5, 10, 20, 50, 100, 200 500mm switched ranges A Scan delay: 0 to 500mm continuously variable

B Mode

Displayed on both displays.

Scanned Area

Range Selected	Imag	ge Size
10cm	10cm (X axis)	8cm (Y axis)
20cm	20cm ,,	16cm ,,
30cm	30cm ,,	24cm ,,
40cm	40cm ,,	32cm ,,

M Mode

Scrolling on both displays.

3 ranges 100, 200 and 500mm selected on console. 7 speeds 0.5, 0.8, 1.0, 1.5, 1.8, 3 and 5 seconds, selected on console.

Marker dots written every 0.5 sec along X axis and every 1cm along Y axis. (Each dot has a black and white area to enable identification of markers for all picture grey levels.)

Transmitter Pulse Repetition Rate

a) Fixed PRF is 800 pulses per second

b) Variable rate 'Velocity'. Proportional to the rate of movement of the scanning probe, from zero (when the probe is stationary) to a maximum of 800 pulses/second.

Ultrasonic Caliper

Caliper separation: 0 to 199.0mm may be displayed independently along vector on short persistence display on A Mode, B Mode or M Mode displays.

System velocity Caliper velocity Caliper separation

May be displayed digitally on a panel meter, selected by a rotational control in cabinet access door on the right hand side of the console.

Omnidirectional caliper with digital readout may be displayed on B Mode displays utilising the Digital Memory. Two moveable reference crosses positioned by joystick control. Marker crosses separated by 1cm marker dots. Digital readout accuracy ±1mm on all ranges.

Digital Memory

Image matrix size: Memory size: Number of grey level Tissue Texture Proce greyscale input trans Greyscale emphasis- storage (display) gre	512 × 512 pixels 1,048,576 bits s: 16 essing — four operator-selectable ofer curves. — four operator-selectable post y level enhancement programmes.
Live Vector: Line of along d	dots separated by 1cm (displayed lirection of ultrasound vector)
Image magnification Read Zoom Write Magnify	$2 \times$ area to be magnified is selected by a moveable box cursor. $2 \times$ and $4 \times$ area to be rescanned is selected by a moveable box cursor.
Image writing modes Survey Compound Greyscale Wedge	s: Overwrite in which the most recent pixel data is written into the memory while simultaneously erasing old data. Peak writing mode. 16-level reference greyscale on left hand side of image.

Dimensions

68cm .	
29cm	
84cm	
	68cm 29cm 84cm

Power Requirements

240 V + 5%-10% 100 V + 5%-10%
220 V + 5%-10% 120 V + 5%-10%
47 to 63Hz
800 VA

Options for use with 4200S Consoles

8200 OR	Flexible Articulated B Scan Arm
4200	Rectilinear B Scan Frame
4260	Real Time Sector Scan Facilities
	Photographic and Alphanumeric Data Entry
	Systems
	Fischer's range of probes developed to suit specific applications

For further information on the above and other Fischer Ultrasound products please contact your local Fischer representative or write directly to:

FISCHER ULTRASOUND FISCHER ULTRASOUND LTD. FISCHER ULTRASOUND U.S.A. BANKHEAD CROSSWAY SOUTH EDINBURGH EH11 4EY, SCOTLAND PHONE: 031-443-4166

TELEX: 727045 FISCHR G

10516 UNITED PARKWAY SCHILLER PARK, ILLINOIS 60176 PHONE: 312-671-7966 TELEX: 433-0258 HGFI UI

Ι

Fischer Ultrasound Ltd. Articulated Scan Arm

FISCHER ULTRASOUND

ARTICULATED SCAN ARM



ACCURATE - EASY TO USE

- Offers smooth, simple and repeatable positioning of the transducer for high resolution scanning.
 Readily adjusted for transverse, sagittal and oblique scanning, improving the efficiency of scanning procedures.
- Ease of movement and finger-touch controls minimise operator fatigue.
- Provides consistently accurate measurement capability.
- Compatible with Fischer B-scanner console range.

FISCHER ULTRASOUND LTD.

Bankhead Crossway South, Edinburgh EH11 4EY, Scotland Telephone 031-443 4166 Telex 727045 Fischr G

Readily interchangeable frequency encoded bayonet fitting transducers.

Microprocessor control of traverse movements and angular detection.

Display of positional information and operational frequency.

Electrically activated locks secure stability.

Flexible range of movements allows scanning of sitting, standing or prone patients.

Accurate scan registration through the use of precision electronics.

A.I.U.M. phantom registration accuracy better than ±1mm.

Rigidity for maintenance of a precise scanning plane.

Motor drive assistance allows accurate scan plane positioning in selected increments.

Controls are optimally located for range of movements required during a scanning procedure.

SPECIFICATION

Position accuracy of transducer ±1mm. Absolute accuracy of scan arm position readout ±1mm. Probe angulation ±170°. Scan arm tilt ±110°. Scan arm rotation ±360°. Traverse movement ±20cm from central position. Vertical movement available 120cm. The diameter of a semicircle capable of being scanned by the arm is 70cm. Preset Automatic Traverse – 2, 5, 10, 20, 30 or 40mm steps (accuracy ±0.3mm). All electrical locks are controlled from a single 3-position switch. The following movements may be activated – Column rotation, Traverse Box rotation, Horizontal slide and Scan arm tilt.

Transducers can be changed with or without power on.

Height234cmBase width100cmBase depth95cmElectrical requirementsVoltage.

 Voltage.
 240V±10% 120V±10% 220V±10% 110V±10%

 Frequency
 40 to 63Hz

 Power
 200 VA maximum

FISCHER ULTRASOUND

FISCHER ULTRASOUND LTD. BANKHEAD CROSSWAY SOUTH EDINBURGH EH11 4EY, SCOTLAND PHONE: 031-443-4166 TELEX: 727045 FISCHR G

FISCHER ULTRASOUND U.S.A. 10516 UNITED PARKWAY SCHILLER PARK, ILLINOIS 60176 PHONE: 312-671-7966 TELEX: 433-0258 HGFI UI J

Fischer Ultrasound Ltd. MARTI

FISCHER ULTRASOUND FISCHER ULTRASOUND FISCHER ULTRASOUND FISCHER ULTRASOUND FISCHER ULTRASOUND FISCHER ULTRASOUND FISCHER ULTRASOUND



MARTI

FISCHER ULTRASOUND

MARTI

MARTI is a compact and transportable real time sector scanner. Advanced digital scan conversion techniques combined with rotating transducer technology provide a solution to real time imaging problems in Radiology, Obstetrics and Internal Medicine.

MARTI provides A-mode, B-mode real time sector scan and M-mode facilities in a single unit. A variable image frame rate is available for optimum visualisation of rapidly or slowly moving structures. The high resolution real time images are displayed with 64 greylevels and may be frozen without loss of resolution for detailed viewing and recording. Pre and Post storage image processing makes it possible to improve delineation of subtle tissue differences.

Complete patient identification, dual electronic calipers, automatic Area, Perimeter, BPD and CRL computation are standard. All measured data appears alphanumerically on the monitor screen. Permanent recording may be made on Polaroid film, multiformat imagers or video tape recorders.

"Freeze" Of Images

Two methods of obtaining a static image are available to allow detailed study or permanent recordings. "Frame freeze" provides instantaneous freezing of real time images. "Frame grab" allows frozen images to be obtained at low rotational speeds which ensures the highest possible resolution of the stored image. Advanced Digital Scan Converter The large capacity digital memory allows greyscale B-mode sector scan images with 64 greylevels to be stored and displayed.

TV Compatibility

Outputs are available for direct interfacing to remote monitors, multiformat imagers and video recorders.



Pre and Post Data Storage Processing

The greyscale emphasis of the image may be allocated both prior to obtaining a stored scan and after the image has been stored. Four different functions are available for both pre and post processing.

Automatic TGC

Time gain compensation (TGC) may be manually adjusted in a conventional manner or the new automatic optimisation feature may be selected.

Scale Change and Zoom

The size of the scanned image may be varied and areas of interest magnified $\times 2$ for detailed examination.

Reverse Polarity Image

A simple rotational control provides black on white or white on black presentation.

Touch Sensitive Keyboard

Provides full alphanumeric patient identification. Time, date and operating frequency are automatically displayed.

Mechanical Rotating Transducer Probe

Four transducers are mounted on a rotating drum housed within the real time probe. The small patient contact area allows access through small acoustic windows eg. intercostal spaces. The probes are vibration free and patient discomfort is minimal.

Electronic Calipers

Two simultaneous measurements of distance may be made using the dual caliper markers. These markers may be moved in all directions over the image (either B-mode sector or M-mode).

Area/Perimeter

In additional to linear measurements, Area and Perimeter measurements may be made. Alphanumeric readout of the measured data appears on the display.

Automatic Display of Gestational Period

Following either a crown rump length (CRL) or biparietal diameter (BPD) measurement, a display in weeks and days of the gestational period may be obtained.

Display

A-mode. When selected a bright marker line appears which can be steered within the 90° sector. The A-mode along this vector is shown on the left hand side of the display.

B-mode sector. 90° sector scan images are displayed with 64 greylevels on the high brightness white phospher display.

M-mode. Selection displays an M-mode which scrolls horizontally across the screen. This may be frozen by use of the footswitch. The electronic calipers may be used to provide depth and slope information. In M-mode the rotation of the transducers within the probe is stopped and the probe can be used in the conventional manner to provide M-mode information.









SYSTEM SPECIFICATIONS

Sector Display:	90° sector image, 64 greylevel wedge A-mode, A-mode marker, range scale marks and alphanumeric annotation of high brightness, white phospher TV r display.	e, e on aster
Rotating Probe:	3.5 MHz (standard) other frequencies available on request.	
Operating Modes:	A-mode, B-mode sector or M-mode.	
Digital Memory:	480 pixels × 640 pixels × 6 bits, Scan Converter. 64 greylevels displayed on B-mode. M-mode 400 pixels × 640 pixels × 4 16 greylevels displayed on M-mode.	bits. g
Frame Rate:	Variable. Maximum 24 frames/sec. Minimum 6 frames/sec.	
Maximum Depth of Scan:	24 cm from apex.	
Display Ranges:	8cm, 10cm, 15cm, 22cm, 24cm, plus Zoom \times 2.	- * -
Dynamic Range:	40dB.	
Sensitivity Control:	By transmitter attenuator 0 to -50dB 10dB steps. 0 to -8 dB in 2 dB steps.	in 🔺
Time Gain Compensation:	Initial gain 0 to 80 dB in 10 dB steps. Initial delay 0 to 250mm continuously variable.	
Pre-processing:	4 selectable modes.	
Post-processing:	4 selectable modes.	945
Omnidirectional Electronic Calipers:	Distance — between any two points the image in B and M-modes. Dual calipers allow two independent mease ments of distance. Readout in cms.	on Jre-
M-mode Markers:	Markers at ½ sec apart in time and 1 apart in depth.	cm 🕂
Alphanumeric Keyboard:	Touch sensitive keyboard allows entr — 1 line of 20 characters for patient identification. 1 line of 18 characters 1 line of 16 characters for patient not	y of: olus es.
Recording:	Polaroid photography standard. Options:— Multiformat camera, video tape recor	der.
Computation Facilities:	Area Perimeter Slope: Depth: Crown Rump Length (CRL) Biparietal Diameter (BPD)	Automatic reado Automatic reado Automatic reado Automatic reado Display of gesta Display of gesta
Mains Voltage:	240V +5% -10% 120V +5% -10% 220V +5% -10% 110V +5% -10%	
Power:	400VA	
Net Weight:	90kg	

Fischer Ultrasound is the Fischer Imaging Corporation company specialising in Diagnostic Ultrasound.

An extensive range of Ultrasound scanners have been developed and assembled at our Edinburgh, Scotland headquarters by experts in this technology.

If needed, rapid service assistance can be provided by fully trained engineers to ensure the optimum performance of your system.

For further information on MARTI and other Fischer Ultrasound products please contact your local Fischer respresentative or write directly to Fischer Ultrasound.

DIMENSIONS Units mm







510

utomatic readout in sq. cms. utomatic readout in cms. utomatic readout on M-mode in mm/sec utomatic readout on M-mode in cm. splay of gestation period in weeks and days. splay of gestation period in weeks and days.

FISCHER ULTRASOUND LTD. BANKHEAD CROSSWAY SOUTH EDINBURGH EH11 4EY. SCOTLAND PHONE: 312-671-7966 TELEX: 727045 FISCHR G K

Fischer Ultrasound Ltd. LINUS

TRAS(**ISCHER UL FISCHERULTRASOL IJITRAS** FISCHER **FRAS** SCHER TRAS SCHER 5 SC B/A B 6 6 B R (0)



LINUS

FISCHER ULTRASOUND

The LINUS real time system is a compact, portable linear array from Fischer Ultrasound. In the Fischer tradition Linus's image quality maintains the highest standards. Simplicity of operation, portability, reliability are all featured in an economical package.

Advanced ultrasound technology provides high quality real time images by means of electronic and lens focusing. The lightweight transducer is easy to position and an image reversal facility helps to maintain correct anatomical orientation.

The freeze frame facility enables dynamic images to be frozen for photography. One ³/₄ scale or two ¹/₂ scale images may be photographed with the Polaroid camera. Brightness and focus are automatically adjusted. A greyscale wedge is displayed on the CRT. Numeric keys are available for patient identification and date. Omnidirectional calipers with digital readout allow accurate measurements to be made.

Simple three control Time Gain Compensation (TGC) and adjustable scale size of $\frac{1}{2}$ or $\frac{3}{4}$, allows the operator to adjust the field of view to suit the examination.

Optional transducers, camera and display systems are available for expanded capability.

LINUS has the in-built flexibility to guarantee a system with continuing viability for further applications.



LINUS - A COMPACT PORTABLE UNIT







The lightweight transducer



High quality real time images may be frozen for photography

FISCHER ULTRASOUND



SYSTEM SPECIFICATIONS

General Scanning method:	Linear electronic scanning with electronic focusing and lens focusing
Frequency:	2.25, 3.5, 5 MHz
Focal length:	50 mm approx.
Field of View:	85 mm wide, 20 mm deep (with standard 3.5 MHz Transducer)
Dynamic Range:	40 dB
Number of scanning lines:	114
Frame Rate:	24 per second
TGC:	Near Gain 0 to –50 dB Far Gain 0 to 30 dB Overall Gain 0 to <u>+</u> 40 dB
Grey Scale:	8 Shades of Grey, Grey Bar Display
Caliper:	Dual joystick control 3 Integer display including one decimal unit Accuracy of ±0.1 cm, ±1 mm
Annotation:	13 digit display numerals 0 to 9, decimal point and space.
Power:	Input power – 100V, 117V, 220V, 240V, AC <u>+</u> 10%; 200V A. Input frequency: 50 or 60 Hz
Environment:	Ambient operating temperature 15°C to 35°C
Weight:	Transducer 330 gm, Main Unit 25 Kg.

STANDARD CONFIGURATION

Main Unit incorporating 8 inch display, 3.5 MHz transducer and Polaroid camera.

DIMENSIONS Units mm



Main Unit





Standard 3.5 MHz Transducer

Fischer Ultrasound is the Fischer Imaging Corporation company specialising in Diagnostic Ultrasound.

An extensive range of Ultrasound scanners have been developed and assembled at our Edinburgh, Scotland headquarters by experts in this technology.

If needed, rapid service assistance can be provided by fully trained engineers to ensure the optimum performance of your system.

For further information on LINUS and other Fischer Ultrasound products please contact your local Fischer representative or write directly to:-

> FISCHER ULTRASOUND LTD. BANKHEAD CROSSWAY SOUTH EDINBURGH EH11 4EY, SCOTLAND PHONE: 031-443-4166 TELEX: 727045 FISCHR G
Locations of archived Diasonographs in the UK

Date,	Location	Equipment	Origin	Manufacturer
c. 1957	Hunterian Museum Glasgow	The first contact scanner	Queen Mother's Hospital Glasgow	Operational prototype
c. 1960	Glasgow Museums Resource Centre	The first automatic contact scanner	Queen Mother's Hospital Glasgow	Operational prototype
c. 1965	Science Museum store	Diasonograph	Queen Charlotte's Hospital London	Nuclear Enterprises Ltd
c. 1970	Glasgow Museums Resource Centre	Diasonograph	Queen Mother's Hospital Glasgow	Nuclear Enterprises Ltd
c. 1972	Glasgow Museums Resource Centre	NE 4102	Queen Mother's Hospital Glasgow	Nuclear Enterprises Ltd
c. 1980	National Museum of Scotland Edinburgh	NE4200	Newcastle General Hospital	Nuclear Enterprises Ltd
c. 1986	Science Museum store	NE4200S	Hillingdon Hospital, London	Fischer Ultrasound
c. 1989	Science Museum display	Emisonic 4264 "spinner"	Queen Charlotte's Hospital	Nuclear Enterprises/EMI

List compiled by Francis Duck

INFORMATION FOR AUTHORS



PUBLICATION OF DOCTORAL THESIS AND DISSERTATION ABSTRACTS

A special feature of Medical Physics International (on line at www.mpijournal.org) is the publication of thesis and dissertation abstracts for recent graduates, specifically those receiving doctoral degrees in medical physics or closely related fields in 2010 or later. This is an opportunity for recent graduates to inform the global medical physics community about their research and special interests.

Abstracts should be submitted by the author along with a letter/message requesting and giving permission for publication, stating the field of study, the degree that was received, and the date of graduation. The abstracts must be in English and no longer than 2 pages (using the MPI manuscript template) and can include color images and illustrations. The abstract document should contain the thesis title, author's name, and the institution granting the degree.

Complete information on manuscript preparation is available in the INSTRUCTIONS FOR AUTHORS section of the online journal: www.mpijournal.org.

For publication in the next edition abstracts must be submitted not later than Април 1, 2019.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR AUTHORS

The goal of the new IOMP Journal Medical Physics International (http://mpijournal.org) is to publish manuscripts that will enhance medical physics education and professional development on a global basis. There is a special emphasis on general review articles, reports on specific educational methods, programs, and resources. In general, this will be limited to resources that are available at no cost to medical physicists and related professionals in all countries of the world. Information on commercial educational products and services can be published as paid advertisements. Research reports are not published unless the subject is educational methodology or activities relating to professional development. High-quality review articles that are comprehensive and describe significant developments in medical physics and related technology are encouraged. These will become part of a series providing a record of the history and heritage of the medical physics profession.

A special feature of the IOMP MPI Journal will be the publication of thesis and dissertation abstracts for will be the publication of thesis and dissertation abstracts for recent doctoral graduates, specifically those receiving their doctoral degrees in medical physics (or closely related fields) in 2010 or later.

MANUSCRIPT STYLE

Manuscripts shall be in English and submitted in WORD. Either American or British spelling can be used but it must be the same throughout the manuscript. Authors for whom English is not their first language are encouraged to have their manuscripts edited and checked for appropriate grammar and spelling. Manuscripts can be up to 10 journal pages (approximately 8000 words reduced by the space occupied by tables and illustrations) and should include an unstructured abstract of no more than 100 words.

The style should follow the template that can be downloaded from the website at:

http://mpijournal.org/authors_submitapaper.aspx

ILLUSTRATIONS SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS

Illustrations can be inserted into the manuscript for the review process but must be submitted as individual files when a manuscript is accepted for publication.

The use of high-quality color visuals is encouraged. Any published visuals will be available to readers to use in their educational activities without additional approvals.

REFERENCE WEBSITES

Websites that relate to the manuscript topic and are sources for additional supporting information should be included and linked from within the article or as references.

EDITORIAL POLICIES, PERMISSIONS AND

APPROVALS

AUTHORSHIP

Only persons who have made substantial contributions to the manuscript or the work described in the manuscript shall be listed as authors. All persons who have contributed to the preparation of the manuscript or the work through technical assistance, writing assistance, financial support shall be listed in an acknowledgements section.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

When they submit a manuscript, whether an article or a letter, authors are responsible for recognizing and disclosing financial and other conflicts of interest that might bias their work. They should acknowledge in the manuscript all financial support for the work and other financial or personal connections to the work.

All submitted manuscripts must be supported by a document (form provided by MPI) that:

• Is signed by all co-authors verifying that they have participated in the project and approve the manuscript as submitted.

Stating where the manuscript, or a manuscript has similar substantially been presented, published, or is being submitted for publication. Note: presentation of a paper at a conference or meeting does not prevent it from being published in MPI and where it was presented can be indicated in the published manuscript.

· Permission to publish any copyrighted material, or material created by other than the coauthors, has been obtained.

· Permission is granted to MPI to copyright, or use with permission copyrighted materials, the manuscripts to be published.

• Permission is granted for the free use of any published materials non-commercial for educational purposes.

MEDICAL PHYSICS INTERNATIONAL Journa

MEDICAL PHYSICS INTERNATIONAL INSTRUCTION FOR AUTHORS

A. FamilyName¹, B.C. CoauthorFamilyName², D. CoauthorFamilyName ¹ Institution/Department, Affiliation, City, Country ² Institution/Department, Affiliation, City, Country

Account:- raper abstract should not exceed 300 wor Detailed instructions for preparing the papers are available guide the authors during the submission process. The offic language is English.

Keywords- List maximum 5 keywords, separated by commas.

I. INTRODUCTION

These are the instructions for preparing papers for the Medical Physics International Journal. English is the official language of the Journal. Read the instructions in this template paper carefully before proceeding with your paper.

II. DETAILED INSTRUCTIONS

Size: A4 : The ma: ximum document size is usually 8 page

orgh: The maximum document size is usually longer papers please contact the Editor(s). *Iarginz:* The page margins to be set to: gims", top margin 4 cm, bottom margin 2,5 cr gim 1.9 cm and outside margin 1.4 cm. *Cage Layout:* 2 columns layout. *Iiggment:* Junified. *Contr:* Times: New Roman with single line over the next set.

Times New Roman with single line spacing un the paper. Maximum length - 2 lines. Avoid unusual tions. Font size - 14 point bold, uppercase mames and affiliations (InstitutionDepartment untry) shall span the entire page. Anton: 8 point after the titls, 10 point after the names and affiliations, 20 point between author's access and affiliations, 20 point between author's

nes and affiliations, 20 point between author's beginning of the paper. Font - 9 point bold. Maximum length - 300

separate sections for it ts and ref

expensions and references. ingg: Enumerate Chapter Headings 18 (c. II., etc.). For Chapter Headings use er of Chapter Heading is font size 12, r. tress are font 8 regular syle. Indents and 10 point after each Chapter *err Headings* are font 10, indix. ter Headings by capital letters (4., 8., etc.)

15 point before and 7,5 point after each Subchapter

eading. Body Text: Use Roman typeface (10 point regular) roughout. Only if you want to emphasize special parts of is text use *Italics*. Start a new paragraph by indenting it rom the left margin by 4 mm (and not by inserting a blank cm use sex margin oy 4 mm (and not by inserting a b ise). Font sizes and styles to be used in the paper mmarized in Table 1. *Tablez:* Insert tables as close as possible to where ine). Font

affizie in rates =. Note: as possible to wares =..., entoned in the text. If accessary, span them over both and ... Summerste them, consecutively using Arabie, ers and provide a caption for each table (e.g. Table 1, low 1 arguing for the new of table caption and table and 2 arguing for the new of table caption and table d. Place table captions and table legend above the ... Ladean - 15 point before and 5 point after the Table 2,

Four Four Index. Title 14 Bold Adar. 15 Andrar 12 Ragibar Adar. 10 Adar. 10 Andrar 12 Ragibar Adar. 10 Adar. 10 Andrar 9 Bold Adar. 10 Andrar 9 Bold Control adar. 10 Represert 8 Ragibar Adar. 10 Bolds Montagor - One Interno 8 Ragibar Adar. 10 Bolds Adar. 10 Schapper Adar Interno 8 Ragibar Adar. 10 Bolds Adar. 10 Schapper Adar Interno 8 Ragibar Adar. 10 Adar. 10 Schapper Adar. 10 Ragibar Terre liss inft-fram. Adar. 10 Adar. 10 Adarchingmant 8 Ragibar Terre liss inft-fram. Adar. 10 Adar. 10 </th <th colspan="6">Table 1 Font sizes and styles</th>	Table 1 Font sizes and styles					
Annum Gina yr Syste point Tofa 4 Bold Amer. 6 Andrar affo 9 Ragitar Amer. 10 Andrahr affo 9 Ragitar Amer. 10 Ahventor 9 Bold Kondrav afford 9 Bold Chapatra 9 Bold Chapatra 10 Bold Softwards Amer. 10 Roding-1 former 10 Ragitar Amer. 10 Roding-1 former 10 Ragitar Farel Issiel. 4tem. Advanvidgmant 10 Ragitar Softwards. 13 Captin. If "Inter 10 Ragitar Softwards. 13 Captan Affert 10 Ragitar Softwards. 13 Captan Affert Ragitar 14 Captan	Trans	Font	Font	Indent,		
Title 14 Bold Ather: Andrar 12 Kagdur Ahr: 10 Andrar 9 Kagdur Ahr: 10 Andrar 9 Bold - Koynerch 9 Bold - Rownerch 8 Bold - Bonding-Yole Intell 12 Kagdur Ahr: 10 Schapper Andrag 10 Ragdur Frei Intell Arb: 10 Schapper Andrag 10 Ragdur Frei Intell Arb: 10 Advance Addur Johne 10 Ragdur Frei Intell Arb: 10 Advance Addur Johne 10 Ragdur Frei Intell Arb: 10 Cardian - Schape A 10 Ragdur Frei Intell Arb: 10 Intell Ar	Item	Size, pt	Style	points		
Andrar 12 Rapidar Adher: 10 Andrar' allo P Rapidar Adher: 10 Alvared 9 Bold Krywerdh 9 Bold Chapters 2 Bold Hondigs - 1' firster 8 Bolder Adher: 10 Hondigs - Code Intern 10 Bold Schweit J. Adher: 10 Schwahren Adher 10 Rapidar Adher: 10 Advanvidguast 10 Rapidar Farel lise Idt: 4ma Advanvidguast 10 Rapidar Schwast 31 Captian - Taber 2 Rapidar Schwast 31 Captian - Captan Advant 34 Rapidar 34 Rapidar 34 Captan - Captan Advant 34 Rapidar 34 Rapidar 34 Captan - Captan Advant 34 Rapidar 34 Rapidar 34 Captan - Captan Advan 34 Rapidar 34 Rapidar 34 <td>Title</td> <td>14</td> <td>Bold</td> <td>After: S</td>	Title	14	Bold	After: S		
Anthorn info 9 Rangiture Adur: 20 Advancer, 9 Bold Represerie - Conserts Honding-Yoll Parks 12 Rangiture Adur: 20 Schaperspecture 8 Rapiture Adur: 20 Schaperspecture 10 Rapiture Adur: 20 Schaperspecture 10 Rapiture Three Instant-from Advance/Gamman 8 Advance/Sampant 10 Rapiture Three Instant-from Advance/Gamman 7 Zadar Conjunt - Theore 10 Rapiture Three Instant-from Advance/Gamman 8 Zadar Conjunt - Theore 10 Rapiture Advance 10 Capital - Theore 10 Rapiture Advance 10 Rapiture Advance Capital - Theore 10 Rapiture Advance 10 Rapiture Advance Capital - Theore 10 Rapiture Advance 10 Rapiture Advance Capital - Theore 10 Rapiture Advance 10 Rapiture Advance Capital - Theore 10 Rapiture Advance 10 Rapiture Advance <	Author	12	Regular	After: 10		
Abunc 9 Bold Chuperts 9 Bold Chuperts 12 Rapider Sefers: 20 Hooding - 1' firme 10 Bold Sefers: 20 Sefers: 20 Hooding - 1' firme 10 Bold Sefers: 13, Adv. 71, 50 Sefers: 13, Adv. 71, 50 Body and the intervence 10 Rapider Fare lines left: 4mm Acharonizegianet 10 Rapider Fare lines left: 4mm Andreir Address 10 Rapider Gammer Capida. I' faire 10 Rapider Gammer	Authors' info	9	Regular	After: 20		
Represent 9 Bold Houngar, 10 12 Ranghur & Befres, 20 Houngar, 10 ² Inter, 10 Ranghur & Adar, 10 Stochapper Anning, 10 Baller, Adar, 10 Stochapper Anning, 10 Ranghur & Terrillis, 144: fram, 10 Advance Mathematic, 10 Ranghur Franciski, 44m, 10 Advance Mathematic, 10 Ranghur Franciski, 44m, 10 Anderson, 10 Ranghur Franciski, 44m, 10 Advance, 10 Ranghur Franciski, 44m, 10 Advance, 10 Ranghur Franciski, 44m, 10 Capita, 1 ⁴ Inter, 10 Ranghur Edense, 15 Cap	Abstract	9	Bold			
Chapter Chapter Series Default Series Default Series Default Series Default Series Default Series Default Series Series <th< td=""><td>Keywords</td><td>9</td><td>Bold</td><td></td></th<>	Keywords	9	Bold			
Honding - 1/ Hume 12 Kaptur Before 10 Honding - rober Hump Rapitur Admr. 10 Stochapper Anding 10 Rapitur Perilla Infet: from Advance Haden 8 Rapitur Perilla Infet: from Advance Haden 8 Rapitur Perilla Infet: from Advance Haden 8 Rapitur Ferri Inia Heft: from Andren's robustion 8 Rapitur Ferri Inia Heft: from Advance Haden 8 Rapitur Ferri Inia Heft: from Option I - from Init 8 Rapitur Ferri Inia Heft: from Caption I - from Init 8 Rapitur Caption I - from Init 8 Rapitur Caption I - from Init 8 Rapitur Dan 8 Rapitur Caption I - from Init 8 Rapitur Caption I - from Init 7 Rapitur Caption I - from Init 8 Rapitur Caption I - from Init Rapitur 10 Caption I - from Init 10 Rapitur	Chapters					
Hosting - order litters F Applie: A Ahr. 10 Stochapper banding: Iolic Softwart, A Ahr. 10 Softwart, A Ahr. 10 Body set 10 Iolic Softwart, A Ahr. 10 Body set 10 Rapide: Fire liss left: 4ma Achamidiguest 8 Rapide: Fire liss left: 4ma Andre's dates 10 Rapide: Fire liss left: 4ma Andre's dates 10 Rapide: Softwart, 13 Caption, 11' lister, 10 Rapide: Softwart, 13 Lapsed Caption, 12' lister, 10 Rapide: Ahr. 13 Lapsed Chamartide, 10 Rapide: Ahr. 13 Lapsed Chamartide, 10 Rapide: Total Lapsed Option, 14' lister, 10 Rapide: Total Lapsed Chamartide, 10 Rapide: Softwart, 13 Caption: Lapsed Caption, 12' lister, 10 Kapide: Ahr. 13 Caption: Lapsed	Heading - 1" letter	12	Regular	Before: 20		
Solchapper Janding 10 Isalie Seferes 13, Advert-75 Solchymatt 10 Kapither Three lines left-terms Ackarotidipaset 8 Kapither Three lines left-terms Ackarotidipaset 8 Kapither Three lines left-terms Caption - other letters 10 Kapither Three lines left-terms Caption - other letters 10 Kapither Caption - other letters 8 Ragither Data 8 Ragither Data 8 Ragither Data 8 Ragither Caption - filters 10 Kapither S1 Caption - other letters 8 Ragither	Heading - other letters	8	Regular	After: 10		
Bodynast 10 Ragible Thru liss left: 4ma Ackanvirdiganast 8 Ragible Thru liss left: 4ma Ackanvirdiganast 8 Ragible Thru liss left: 4ma Andreir Addenso 8 Ragible Thru liss left: 4ma Coham Grade Hente 8 Ragible Thru liss left: 4ma Coham Grade Thru liss left: 4ma 8 Ragible Thru liss left: 4ma Coham Grade Hente 8 Ragible Thru liss left: 4ma Coham Grade Thru liss left: 4ma 8 Ragible Thru liss left: 4ma Coption Lift Instrument 8 Ragible Thru liss left: 4ma Coption Lift Instrument 8 Ragible Thru liss left: 4ma	Subchapter heading	10	Italic	Before: 15, After:7,5		
Adamsinganan i Kapular Parelina inde-tum Adamsinganan i Rapular Parelina inde-tum Andari vadamsi i Rapular Caption - other Internet Lapadi i Rapular Adamsi J Captan - Other Internet Cabana other Internet Data i Rapular Data i Rapular Data i Rapular Data i Rapular Data i Rapular Caption - future I Rapular Caption - future I Rapular Caption - future I Rapular Caption - future I Rapular	Body text	10	Regular	First line left: 4mm		
References 0 Regular Fare line left: 4um Tabler 0 Regular Color Coption, 1'Inform 10 Regular Software Coption, 1'Inform 0 Regular Software Software Coption, 1'Inform 0 Regular Software Software Software Cohum choice 8 Regular Regular Software Software Des 8 Regular Regular Software Software Coption - 1'Inform 10 Regular Software Software Software Coption - 1'Inform 6 Regular Software Software Software	Acknowledgment	8	Regular	First line left: 4mm		
Andra's values E Regular Capital, Tablet Capital, 10 Regular Capital, 10 Regular Legend 8 Regular Cohum, trills 8 Regular Data 8 Regular Data 8 Regular Data 8 Regular Cohum, trills 8 Regular Data 8 Regular Capital, - L'Amer 10 Regular Capital, - Capital, ether, 15 Capital, ether, 15 Capital, ether, 15	References	8	Regular	First line left: 4mm		
Table: Table: Option, 1'lime: 0 Ragular Bafors: 13 Option - order lime: 1 Ragular Legend 1 Ragular Column tolins 1 Ragular Data 8 Ragular Data 1 Ragular Option - 1'lime: 1 Ragular Option - 1'lime: 10 Ragular Marc: 3 Option - other lime: 8 Ragular Ader: 3	Author's address	8	Regular			
Caption. Time 10 Ranging the Before 13 Coption - other lenters 8 Ranging the Amer. 3 Lapsed Column others 8 Ranging the Amer. 3 Lapsed Data Seguing the Amer. 3 Data 8 Ranging the Amer. 3 Lapsed Column others Data Seguing the Amer. 3 Caption. 1" lenter 10 Ranging the Amer. 3 Caption. 4" lenter. 13 Caption. 4" lenter. 3 Lapsed 8 Ranging the Amer. 3 Lapsed Ranging the Amer. 3 Lapsed. 8 Ranging the Amer. 3 Lapsed. Ranging the Amer. 3 Lapsed. 8 Ranging the Amer. 3 Lapsed. Ranging the Amer. 3 Lapsed. 8 Ranging the Amer. 3 Lapsed. Ranging the Amer. 3 Lapsed. 8 Ranging the Amer. 3 Lapsed. Ranging the Amer. 3 Lapsed. 8 Ranging the Amer. 3 Lapsed. Ranging the Amer. 3 Lapsed. 8 Lapsed.	Tables					
Ception - other lines 8 Regular After: 3 Legand 6 Regular Data 8 Regular Terrets Ception - 1 ⁴ Inter 10 Regular Buffers: 13 Ception - 14 Inter 10 Regular Buffers: 13 Ception - Other lines 8 Regular After: 5	Caption, 1" letter	10	Regular	Before: 15		
Legend 8 Regular Column stills 8 Regular Data 8 Regular Farenzis Caption - 1 th lemar 10 Regular Caption - 1 th lemar 10 Regular Regular Legeod 8 Regular Regular	Caption - other letters	8	Regular	After: 5		
Column titles S Regular Data S Regular Farers: Caption - 1 th smort 10 Regular Before: 15 Caption - other letters S Regular After: 5 Legendar Equence S Regular After: 5 Legendar	Legend	8	Regular			
Data S Regular <u>Figures</u> E Caption - 1 st letter 10 Regular Caption - other letters S Regular Legend S Regular	Column titles	8	Regular			
Figures Regular Before: 15 Caption - other letters 8 Regular: After: 5 Legend 8 Regular: After: 5	Data	8	Regular			
Caption - 1" letter 10 Regular Before: 15 Caption - other letters S Regular After: 5 Legend S Regular	Figures					
Caption - other letters S Regular After: 5 Legend S Regular	Caption - 1" letter	10	Regular	Before: 15		
Legend S Regular	Caption - other letters	8	Regular	After: 5		
	Legend	8	Regular			



Write the equi Equation Enumerate

A + B = C(1)

X = A×est +2lkt (2) Items/Bullets: In ext, use either bulle

- First item Second item
- Numbered first item Numbered second ite

References: Use Arabic numbers in square brackets to mber references in such order as they appear in the text st them in numerical order as presented under the heading

III. CONCLUSIONS

e of cit :RAFEKENCES: Examples of citations for Journal articles [1], books [2], the Digital Object Identifier (DOI) of the cited literature [3], Proceedings papers [4] and electronic publications [5].

only in electronic form deadline. Check the on

A CKNOWLEDGMENT

Acknowledgment headli

References

and that be uld only i on. Cita he text should be iden nd the list of reference he paper should on trance in the text. a papers that hav the included in the

for the accuracy of the : bbreviated according with correct punctu

LeadingAuthor A. CoAuthor B. CoAuthor C et al. (2012) Paper Title

Journal 111:220-230 LeadingAuthor D, CoAuthor E (2000) Title. Publisher, London LeadingAuthor A, CoAuthor B, CoAuthor C (2012) Paper Title. Journal 111:330-340 DDI 123455789 LeadingAuthor F, CoAuthor G (2012) Title, IOMP Proceedings. vol. 4. World Congress on Med. Phys. & Biomed. Eng., City, Country, 4. World Congress on Med. Phys. & Biomed. Eng., City, Country, 4. World Congress on Med. Phys. & Biomed. Eng., City, Country, 4. World Congress on Med. Phys. & Biomed. Eng., City, Country, 4. World Congress. 2.

4, World Congress 2012, pp 300-304 MPI at http://www.

SUBMISSION OF MANUSCRIPTS

Manuscripts to be considered for publication should be submitted as a WORD document to: Slavik Tabakov, Co-editor: slavik.tabakov@emerald2.co.uk

MANUSCRIPT PROPOSALS

Authors considering the development of a manuscript for a Review Article can first submit a brief proposal to the editors. This should include the title, list of authors, an abstract, and other supporting information that is appropriate. After review of the proposal the editors will consider issuing an invitation for a manuscript. When the manuscript is received it will go through the usual peer-review process.

MEDICAL PHYSICS INTERNATIONAL J

REFERENCES', Exa